CHARACTERIZATION OF SOME SOLITONS WITHIN THE FRAMEWORK OF VARIOUS DIFFERENTIABLE MANIFOLDS



Thesis Submitted for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Science) of Jadavpur University

by

Dipen Ganguly

Department of Mathematics Jadavpur University Kolkata-700032, India

April, 2022



DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS JADAVPUR UNIVERSITY KOLKATA - 700032, INDIA

CERTIFICATE FROM THE SUPERVISOR

This is to certify that thesis entitled "CHARACTERIZATION OF SOME SOLI-TONS WITHIN THE FRAMEWORK OF VARIOUS DIFFERENTIABLE MANIFOLDS" submitted by Sri Dipen Ganguly who got his name registered on 13th September, 2018 (INDEX NO : 170/18/Maths./26) for the award of Doctor of Philosophy (Science) degree of Jadavpur University, is absolutely based upon his own work under the supervision of **Prof. Arindam Bhattacharyya** and that neither this thesis nor any part of it has been submitted for either any degree/diploma or any other academic award anywhere before.

anye 11/04/2022

(Signature of the Supervisor, date with official seal)

Dr. Arindam Bhattacharyya Professor Department et Mathematics Jadavpur University Kolkata - 700032 This Thesis is Dedicated to My Beloved Parents Sri Dilip Ganguly and Smt. Rama Ganguly

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Arindam Bhattacharyya for his continuous support, timely advice and meticulous scrutiny that made this thesis possible. At times, whenever I got stuck in my work he was always there to teach me with patience and supported me at every step of my research. I cannot thank him enough for many insightful discussions on all aspects of life throughout this period and for this I feel blessed to be his student.

I owe my sincere gratitude to Prof. Manjusha Majumdar (Tarafdar), of Department of Mathematics, University of Calcutta, for introducing me to this beautiful subject of Differential Geometry and motivating me to take up my research career in this field.

I am very much grateful to Dr. Santu Dey and Dr. Nirabhra Basu and I would like to thank both of them from the bottom of heart, for their constant guidance and discussion throughout this work.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Prof. Swapna Debnath (H.O.D.), Prof. Pratulananda Das (RAC member) and all other teaching faculties of Department of Mathematics, Jadavpur University for their support and encouragement.

I would also like to thank all the non-teaching staff of the Department of Mathematics and Accounts Section of Jadavpur University, for providing me various facilities during my research work. I am thankful to the National Board for Higher Mathematics (NBHM), India, for their financial help to pursue this research.

I would like to thank Dr. Sampa Pahan, Dr. Shouvik Dutta Chowdhury, Sumanjit

Sarkar and my other fellow research scholars of the Department of Mathematics, Jadavpur University for valuable communication and suggestions.

Finally, my sincere thanks goes to my family for their unconditional love and support. Above all, I am grateful and indebted to my parents, Dilip Ganguly and Rama Ganguly, for all their sacrifices and compromises in their own lives, along with their encouragement and belief in me, without which I could not have come this far. Last but not least, I want to thank Sathi for always staying beside me with her constant motivation and support.

Dipen Ganguly

Preface

The present thesis entitled, "Characterization of some solitons within the framework of various differentiable manifolds" consists of five chapters. The first chapter provides an introduction to different types of smooth manifolds and solitons.

In chapter two, first we study conformal Ricci soliton on generalized Sasakian space form and characterize the soliton in terms of shrinking steady and expanding. We consider the cases when the potential vector field is, pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field and when it is of gradient type.

Next, we characterize almost coKähler manifolds admitting conformal Ricci soliton. We also investigate conformal Ricci soliton on a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold and prove the non-existence of conformal gradient Ricci soliton in this setup.

Then, we give some characterization of conformal Ricci soliton on $(LCS)_n$ manifolds and also consider the cases when the manifold is ξ -projectively flat, ξ -conharmonically flat and ξ -concircularly flat. After that, conformal Ricci soliton on $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds satisfying certain curvature conditions are studied.

Next, we prove that if an warped product of two Riemannian manifolds admits a conformal Ricci soliton, then the base and the fiber both admit conformal Ricci soliton. Then, the converse of this result is discussed when the potential function is of gradient type. Also, we show that an warped product admitting conformal Ricci soliton is an Einstein one provided the potential vector field is Killing or concurrent. Finally, some applications of conformal Ricci soliton on generalized Robertson Walker spacetime are discussed.

In chapter three, we consider ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting conformal η -Ricci soliton. Then, conformal η -Ricci solitons are characterized on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold with Codazzi type, cyclic parallel and cyclic η -recurrent Ricci tensor and satisfying certain curvature conditions. After that, we study ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting conformal η -Ricci soliton with torse-forming and gradient type potential vector field.

Next, we study conformal η -Ricci soliton on almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold and characterize the nature of the soliton when the manifold is projectively flat and conharmonically flat. Finally, we study gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton on Kählerian spacetime manifold.

In chapter four, first we study some curvature properties of 3-dimensional quasi-Sasakian manifold with respect to Zamkovoy connection and then, the nature of Ricci soliton on 3-dimensional quasi-Sasakian manifold with respect to Zamkovoy connection is characterized.

Next, we study the nature of η -Ricci-Yamabe soliton on almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold. Finally, it is shown that on a generalized Sasakian space form, a quasi-Yamabe soliton, with potential vector field pointwise collinear to the Reeb vector field, reduces to a Yamabe soliton.

In chapter five, we characterize η -Einstein soliton on a 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifold. Then, η -Einstein solitons are studied on 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifold with Codazzi type and cyclic parallel Ricci tensor and satisfying some curvature conditions. Finally, η -Einstein solitons with torse forming vector field are characterized on 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifold.

The thesis contains the subject matter of the following papers whose titles, journal information and chapterwise distribution are given below:

Authors	Title of the paper and journal information	Chapter
Dipen Ganguly,	"Conformal Ricci soliton and quasi-Yamabe soli-	2 and 4
Santu Dey, Akram	ton on generalized Sasakian space form", Journal	
Ali and Arindam	of Geometry and Physics, 169 (2021) 104339.	
Bhattacharyya		
Dipen Ganguly and	"Conformal Ricci soliton on almost co-Kähler	2
Arindam Bhat-	manifold", Advances in Mathematics: Scien-	
tacharyya	tific Journal, 9 (2020) no.10, 8399-8411.	
Dipen Ganguly and	"A study on conformal Ricci solitons in the	2
Arindam Bhat-	framework of $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds", GANITA ,	
tacharyya	Vol.70(2), 2020, 201-216.	
Dipen Ganguly,	"Characteristics of conformal Ricci soliton warped	2
Nirabhra Basu and	product spaces", has been accepted for publication	
Arindam Bhat-	in Thai Journal of Mathematics.	
tacharyya		
Yanlin Li, Dipen	"Conformal η -Ricci solitons within the framework	3
Ganguly, Santu Dey	of indefinite Kenmotsu manifolds", AIMS Math-	
and Arindam Bhat-	ematics , 2022, 7(4), 5408-5430.	
tacharyya		
Dipen Ganguly, Santu	"Certain metrics on Kählerian spacetime mani-	3 and 4
Dey and Akram Ali	folds", Communicated	
Dipen Ganguly	"A note on quasi-Sasakian manifold with respect	4
	to the Zamkovoy connection" Communicated.	
Dipen Ganguly, Santu	"On trans-Sasakian 3-manifolds as η -Einstein soli-	5
Dey and Arindam	tons", Carpathian Math. Publ., 2021, 13(2),	
Bhattacharyya	460-474.	

Contents

1	Int	roduction	1
	1.1	Introduction to manifolds	1
	1.2	Introduction to solitons	14
2	On	conformal Ricci solitons	22
	2.1	Introduction	22
	2.2	Preliminaries	23
	2.3	Conformal Ricci soliton on generalized Sasakian space form	25
	2.4	Examples of generalized Sasakian space form admitting conformal Ricci	
		soliton	33
	2.5	Conformal Ricci soliton on almost co Kähler manifold $\ .$	35
	2.6	Conformal Ricci soliton on (k,μ) -almost co Kähler manifold	37
	2.7	Conformal gradient Ricci soliton on $(k,\mu)\text{-almost}$ co Kähler manifold	38
	2.8	Conformal Ricci soliton on $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds	41
	2.9	Conformal Ricci soliton on $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds satisfying certain curvature	
		conditions	46
	2.10	Conformal Ricci soliton on warped product manifolds $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	51
	2.11	Effect of certain special types of vector fields on conformal Ricci soliton on	
		warped product manifolds	54

	2.12	Warped product manifolds admitting conformal Ricci soliton with concur-	
		rent vector field	. 59
	2.13	Application of conformal Ricci soliton on generalized Robertson-Walker	60
		spacetimes	. 63
3	On	conformal η -Ricci solitons	66
	3.1	Introduction	. 66
	3.2	Preliminaries	. 67
	3.3	$\epsilon\text{-Kenmotsu}$ manifold admitting conformal $\eta\text{-Ricci}$ soliton	. 69
	3.4	Conformal η -Ricci soliton on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold with certain special	
		types of Ricci tensor	. 73
	3.5	Conformal η -Ricci soliton on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold satisfying some curva-	
		ture conditions	. 75
	3.6	Conformal η -Ricci soliton on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold with torse-forming vec-	
		tor field	. 81
	3.7	Gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold	. 82
	3.8	Example of a 5-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting conformal η -	
		Ricci soliton	. 85
	3.9	Conformal η -Ricci soliton on almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime	
		manifold	. 87
	3.10	Gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton on almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian	
		spacetime manifold	. 92
4	On	some Ricci solitons and Yamabe solitons	95
	4.1	Introduction	. 95
	4.2	Preliminaries	. 95
	4.3	Geometry of quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold with respect to the Zamkovoy con-	
		nection	. 96
	4.4	Ricci soliton on quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold with respect to the Zamkovoy	
		connection	. 101
	4.5	Almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold admitting η -Ricci-	
		Yamabe soliton	. 105

On	η -Einstein solitons 11
5.1	Introduction
5.2	Preliminaries
5.3	$\eta\text{-}\mathrm{Einstein}$ soliton on trans-Sasakian 3-manifold \hfill
5.4	Example of an $\eta\text{-}\mathrm{Einstein}$ soliton on a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold
5.5	$\eta\text{-}\mathrm{Einstein}$ soliton on trans-Sasakian 3-manifold with Codazzi type and
	cyclic parallel Ricci tensor
5.6	$\eta\text{-}\mathrm{Einstein}$ soliton on trans-Sasakian 3-manifold satisfying $R(\xi,X)\cdot S=0$
	and $W_2(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$
5.7	Einstein semi-symmetric trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting $\eta\text{-}\mathrm{Einstein}$
	soliton
5.8	$\eta\text{-}\mathrm{Einstein}$ soliton on trans-Sasakian 3-manifold satisfying $B(\xi,X)\cdot S=0$. T
5.9	$\eta\text{-}\mathrm{Einstein}$ soliton on trans-Sasakian 3-manifold satisfying $S(\xi,X)\cdot R=0$. T
5.10	$\eta\text{-}\mathrm{Einstein}$ soliton on trans-Sasakian 3-manifold with torse-forming vector
	field

1 Introduction

1.1 Introduction to manifolds

In the study of geometry, a manifold is a topological space that mimics Euclidean space locally around each point. Each point on a *n*-dimensional manifold has a neighbourhood that is homeomorphic to the *n*-dimensional Euclidean space. Lines and circles are examples of one-dimensional manifolds. Surfaces are another name for two-dimensional manifolds. The plane, sphere, and torus are all examples of objects that can be embedded (made without self-intersections) in three-dimensional real space. While a manifold may resemble Euclidean space locally, it may not do so globally. The sphere's surface, for example, is not an Euclidean space. As solution sets of systems of equations and graphs of functions, manifolds emerge spontaneously. Since it permits more sophisticated structures to be represented and understood in terms of the relatively well-known features of Euclidean space, the concept of a manifold is important to many sections of geometry and current mathematical physics.

Additional features may be present in manifolds. Differentiable manifolds are an important subclass of manifolds. Calculus on manifolds is possible thanks to this differentiable structure. Distances and angles can be measured using a Riemannian metric on a manifold. In the Hamiltonian formalism of classical mechanics, symplectic manifolds serve as phase spaces, whereas four-dimensional Lorentzian manifolds model spacetime in general relativity.

A differentiable manifold is a type of manifold that is comparable enough to an Euclidean space to allow calculus to be performed on it. A collection of charts, usually called as an atlas, can be used to describe any manifold. Since each chart sits within an Euclidean space to which the standard principles of calculus apply, ideas from calculus can therefore be applied while working within the various charts. Calculations performed in one chart are valid in any other differentiable chart if the charts are adequately compatible (that is, the transition from one chart to another is differentiable or smooth).

A topological manifold with a globally defined differential structure is called a differentiable manifold. Any topological manifold can be equipped with a differential structure locally with the help of the homeomorphisms in its atlas and the standard differentiable structure on an Euclidean space. From the local coordinate systems induced by the homeomorphisms, a global differentiable structure can be induced by taking their composition on chart intersections in the atlas as differentiable functions on the corresponding Euclidean space.

We start with, some curvature tensors which play an important role in the study of differential geometry and are used frequently throughout this thesis.

The projective curvature has an one-to-one correspondence between each coordinate neighbourhood of an *n*-dimensional Riemannian manifold and a domain of Euclidean space such that there is a one-to-one correspondence between geodesics of the Riemannian manifold with the straight lines in the Euclidean space. A transformation of a Riemannian manifold M of dimension n, which transforms every geodesic circle of M into a geodesic circle, is called a concircular transformation.

Definition 1.1.1. On an n-dimensional Riemannian (or, pseudo-Riemannian) manifold (M,g) the projective curvature tensor P [100], the concircular curvature tensor C [97], the conharmonic curvature tensor H [99], the W_2 -curvature tensor [74], are defined by

$$P(X,Y)Z = R(X,Y)Z - \frac{1}{(n-1)}[g(QY,Z)X - g(QX,Z)Y], \quad (1.1.1)$$

$$C(X,Y)Z = R(X,Y)Z - \frac{r}{n(n-1)}[g(Y,Z)X - g(X,Z)Y], \qquad (1.1.2)$$

$$H(X,Y)Z = R(X,Y)Z - \frac{1}{n-2}[g(Y,Z)QX - g(X,Z)QY + S(Y,Z)X - S(X,Z)Y]$$
(1.1.3)

$$W_2(X,Y)Z = R(X,Y)Z + \frac{1}{n-1}[g(X,Z)QY - g(Y,Z)QX], \qquad (1.1.4)$$

where r is the scalar curvature, Q is the Ricci operator given by g(QX, Y) = S(X, Y),

S denotes the Ricci tensor and R is the Riemannian curvature tensor defined by

$$R(X,Y)Z = \nabla_X \nabla_Y Z - \nabla_Y \nabla_X Z - \nabla_{[X,Y]} Z, \qquad (1.1.5)$$

for all vector fields $X, Y, Z \in \chi(M)$, where $\chi(M)$ denotes the set of all smooth vector fields on the manifold M.

In differential geometry and mathematical physics, an Einstein manifold is a Riemannian (or pseudo-Riemannian) differentiable manifold whose Ricci tensor is proportional to the metric. M. C. Chaki and R. K. Maity [23] introduced the concept of η -Einstein (or, quasi-Einstein) manifold as a natural generalization of Einstein manifolds.

Definition 1.1.2. A Riemannian (or, pseudo-Riemannian) manifold (M, g) of dimension n is said to be an η -Einstein manifold if its Ricci tensor S satisfies

$$S(X,Y) = ag(X,Y) + b\eta(X)\eta(Y),$$
 (1.1.6)

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$ and smooth functions a, b on the manifold (M, g) and η is a 1-form given by $g(X, \xi) = \eta(X)$, where ξ is a unit vector field.

Definition 1.1.3. A Riemannian (or, pseudo-Riemannian) manifold (M, g) of dimension n with non-zero Ricci tensor S is said to have,

i) Codazzi type [44] Ricci tensor if,

$$(\nabla_X S)(Y, Z) = (\nabla_Y S)(X, Z), \qquad (1.1.7)$$

ii) cyclic parallel [44] Ricci tensor if,

$$(\nabla_X S)(Y, Z) + (\nabla_Y S)(Z, X) + (\nabla_Z S)(X, Y) = 0, \qquad (1.1.8)$$

for all vector fields $X, Y, Z \in \chi(M)$.

Definition 1.1.4. A smooth vector field V on a Riemannian (or, pseudo-Riemannian) manifold (M, g) of dimension n is said to be a conformal vector field [99, 100] if

$$\mathcal{L}_V g = 2\rho g, \tag{1.1.9}$$

for some smooth function ρ on M and $\mathcal{L}_V g$ denotes the Lie derivative of the metric galong the direction of the vector field V. In particular, if the smooth function ρ vanishes, i.e., if, $\mathcal{L}_V g = 0$, then the vector field V is called a Killing vector field. In this case, V is also called an infinitesimal isometry, as the local 1-parameter group of transformations generated by V in a neighbourhood of each point of M consists of local isometries.

K. Yano [97] investigated concircular vector fields to study concircular mappings, which are basically conformal mappings that preserve geodesic circles. In Mathematical Physics and General Relativity concircular vector fields have many applications. B.Y. Chen in [24] proved that a Lorentzian manifold is a generalised Robertson-Walker spacetime if and only if it admits a timellike concircular vector field.

Definition 1.1.5. [24] A vector field V on a Riemannian (or, pseudo-Riemannian) manifold M is called a concircular vector field, if the vector field V satisfies

$$\nabla_X V = \alpha X, \tag{1.1.10}$$

for all vector fields $X \in \chi(M)$ and where α is a non-trivial smooth function on M.

Furthermore, the vector field V is called a concurrent vector field [25], if the smooth function α is constant function one, i.e., if

$$\nabla_X V = X. \tag{1.1.11}$$

for all vector fields $X \in \chi(M)$.

Definition 1.1.6. A smooth vector field V on a Riemannian (or, pseudo-Riemannian) manifold (M, g) of dimension n is said to be a torse-forming vector field [99] if

$$\nabla_X V = fX + \gamma(X)V, \tag{1.1.12}$$

where f is a smooth function and γ is a 1-form.

We start with the definition of contact manifold. D. E. Blair [15] introduced the notion of an almost contact manifold, given by the following definition:

Definition 1.1.7. Let M be a (2n+1)-dimensional differentiable manifold and ϕ, ξ, η be a field of endomorphisms of the tangent spaces TM as a (1, 1)-tensor field, a vector field and a 1-form on M respectively. If this triplet (ϕ, ξ, η) satisfies

$$\phi^2 = -I + \eta \otimes \xi, \quad \eta(\xi) = 1,$$
 (1.1.13)

for all vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$ and I is the identity endomorphism, then (ϕ, ξ, η) is called an almost contact structure and M is called an almost contact manifold. Furthermore, if the manifold M is equipped with a Riemmanian metric g, then the almost contact manifold is called an almost contact metric manifold or an almost contact Riemannian manifold with almost contact metric structure (ϕ, ξ, η, g) .

Theorem 1.1.1. For an almost contact metric manifold the following relations hold:

$$\eta(X) = g(X,\xi), \quad \phi(\xi) = 0, \quad \eta(\phi X) = 0, \quad (1.1.14)$$

$$g(\phi X, \phi Y) = g(X, Y) - \eta(X)\eta(Y),$$
 (1.1.15)

$$g(X,\phi Y) + g(Y,\phi X) = 0, \qquad (1.1.16)$$

for all vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$.

Definition 1.1.8. A smooth differentiable manifold M^{2n+1} with $1-\text{form } \eta$ is said to be a contact manifold if $\eta \wedge (d\eta)^n \neq 0$. In particular, $\eta \wedge (d\eta)^n \neq 0$ is a volume element on M. The structure (ϕ, ξ, η, g) on M^{2n+1} is called contact metric structure or contact Riemannian structure and the manifold M^{2n+1} with a contact metric structure (ϕ, ξ, η, g) is said to be a contact metric manifold or contact Riemannian manifold.

The fundamental 2-form Φ on an almost contact metric manifold is defined as:

$$\Phi(X,Y) = g(X,\phi Y) = d\eta(X,Y),$$
(1.1.17)

for all vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$.

Definition 1.1.9. A smooth vector field V on a contact metric manifold is said to be an infinitesimal contact transformation [90] if $\mathcal{L}_V \eta = h\eta$ for some smooth function h. In particular, if h = 0, then V is said to be a strict infinitesimal contact transformation.

Now we mention some of the important contact manifolds which forms the basis of this thesis. These manifolds have been used extensively throughout the thesis.

Definition 1.1.10. Let M be a (2n+1) dimensional contact metric manifold with contact metric structure (ϕ, ξ, η, g) . If the contact metric structure of M is normal, then M is said to have Sasakian structure or normal contact metric structure. The manifold M is called the Sasakian manifold or normal contact metric manifold. We recall the following theorems on almost contact metric structure:

Theorem 1.1.2. An almost contact metric structure (ϕ, ξ, η, g) in M is called a Sasakian structure if

$$(\nabla_X \phi)Y = g(X, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X$$

for all vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$ and ∇ is the Levi-Civita connection.

K. Kenmotsu [55] introduced a special class of contact Riemannian manifolds, satisfying certain conditions, which was later named as Kenmotsu manifold. Kenmotsu proved that a locally Kenmotsu manifold is a warped product $I \times_f N$ of an interval I and a Kähler manifold N with warping function $f(t) = ke^t$, where k is a non-zero constant.

Definition 1.1.11. If the Levi-Civita connection ∇ of an almost contact metric manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) satisfies

$$(\nabla_X \phi)Y = g(\phi X, Y) - \eta(Y)\phi X,$$

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$, then the manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) is said to be a Kenmotsu manifold.

In differential geometry, the sectional curvature of a Riemannian manifold plays a very important role. A Sasakian manifold with constant ϕ -sectional curvature c is called a Sasakian space form. Similarly, a Kenmotsu space form is a Kenmotsu manifold with constant ϕ -sectional curvature c. As a natural generalization of these spaces, P. Alegre, D. E. Blair and A. Carriazo [3] introduced the concept of generalized Sasakian space form.

Definition 1.1.12. An almost contact metric manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) is called a generalized Sasakian space form if there exist three smooth functions f_1 , f_2 , f_3 on M such that the curvature tensor R satisfies

$$R(X,Y)Z = f_{1}[g(Y,Z)X - g(X,Z)Y] + f_{2}[g(X,\phi Z)\phi Y - g(Y,\phi Z)\phi X + 2g(X,\phi Y)\phi Z] + f_{3}[g(X,Z)\eta(Y)\xi - g(Y,Z)\eta(X)\xi + \eta(X)\eta(Z)Y - \eta(Y)\eta(Z)X],$$
(1.1.18)

for all vector fields $X, Y, Z \in \chi(M)$.

In particular, for $f_1 = \frac{c+3}{4}$, $f_2 = f_3 = \frac{c-1}{4}$ M becomes a Sasakian space form. Again, if $f_1 = \frac{c-3}{4}$, $f_2 = f_3 = \frac{c+1}{4}$ then M is a Kenmotsu space form. M is a cosymplectic space form if $f_1 = f_2 = f_3 = \frac{c}{4}$.

In [4] the authors constructed various examples of generalized Sasakian space forms and showed that any three dimensional trans-Sasakian manifold under certain conditions is a generalized Sasakian space form. Also in [35], it has been proved that a conformally flat generalized Sasakian space form is locally ϕ -symmetric if and only if f_1 is constant.

The notion of trans-Sasakian manifold was introduced by J. A. Oubina [70] as a generalization of Sasakian and Kenmotsu manifolds. Later J. C. Marrero [60] completely characterized the local structures of trans-Sasakian manifolds of dimension $n \geq 5$ and showed that, a trans-Sasakian manifold of dim ≥ 5 is either cosymplectic or α -Sasakian or β -Kenmotsu. So, proper trans-Sasakian manifold exists only for dimension 3. The geometry of the almost Hermitian manifold $(M \times \mathbb{R}, G, J)$ gives rise to the geometry of the almost contact metric manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) , where G is product metric of the product manifold $M \times \mathbb{R}$ with the complex structure J defined by

$$J(X, f\frac{d}{dt}) = (\phi X - f\xi, \eta(X)\frac{d}{dt}),$$

for all $X \in \chi(M)$ and smooth function f on the product manifold $M \times \mathbb{R}$.

Definition 1.1.13. An almost contact metric manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) is called a trans-Sasakian manifold if the product manifold $(M \times \mathbb{R}, G, J)$ belongs to the class W_4 [45]. Equivalently, the expression for which an almost contact metric manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) becomes a trans-Sasakian manifold is given by

$$(\nabla_X \phi)(Y) = \alpha[g(X, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X] + \beta[g(\phi X, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)\phi X], \qquad (1.1.19)$$

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$ and for some smooth functions α, β on the manifold M. Then such kind of manifold is called a trans-Sasakian manifold of type (α, β) . In particular trans-Sasakian manifolds of type (0,0), $(\alpha, 0)$ and $(0,\beta)$ are called cosymplectic, α -Sasakian and β -Kenmotsu manifolds respectively.

In 1967, D. E. Blair [14] introduced the notion of quasi-Sasakian manifold as a normal almost contact metric manifold with closed fundamental 2-form ϕ , with an intention to unify the concepts of Sasakian and cosymplectic structures. He also proved that a quasi-Sasakian structure is locally the product of a Sasakian manifold and a Kähler manifold. Later, S. Tanno [92], S. Kanemaki [54], J. A. Oubina [70] and many other mathematicians studied quasi-Sasakian manifolds and developed some very important properties of these structures. **Definition 1.1.14.** An almost contact metric manifold M is said to be a quasi-Sasakian manifold if the almost contact structure (ϕ, ξ, η) is normal and the fundamental 2-form Φ is closed (i.e., $d\Phi = 0$).

Z. Olszak [67] proved that, in a conformally flat three-dimensional Quasi-Sasakian manifold if the structure function β is constant, then (a) the manifold is a cosymplectic manifold, which is locally a product of the real line \mathbb{R} and a two-dimensional Kähler space of constant Gauss curvature, or, (b) the manifold is of constant positive curvature and its structure can be obtained by a homothetic deformation of a Sasakian structure. Lately, Quasi-Sasakian manifolds have become a subject of great interest not only to mathematicians but also to theoretical physicists as it has wide applications in super gravity and string theory [1, 42].

The notion of Zamkovoy connection was introduced by S. Zamkovoy [101] in 2009, as a canonical paracontact connection whose torsion is the obstruction of paracontact manifold to be a para-Sasakian manifold. He further showed that the torsion of this connection vanishes exactly when the structure is para-Sasakian and also computed the gauze transformation of its scalar curvature. Later, this connection was studied by various researchers, within the framework of para-Kenmotsu manifold [9], Sasakian manifold [58] and LP-Sasakian manifold [59] etc.

Definition 1.1.15. On an n-dimensional almost contact metric manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) equipped with a (1, 1) tensor field ϕ , a vector field ξ , a 1-form η and a Riemannian metric g, the Zamkovoy connection ∇^* is given by

$$\nabla_X^* Y = \nabla_X Y + (\nabla_X \eta)(Y)\xi - \eta(Y)\nabla_X \xi + \eta(X)\phi Y, \qquad (1.1.20)$$

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$, where ∇ is the Levi-Civita connection on M.

The geometry of coKähler manifolds as a special case of almost contact manifolds was studied primarily as an odd-dimensional analogy of the Kähler manifolds in complex geometry. Now, it is known that the product manifold $M^{2n+1} \times \mathbb{R}$ equipped with the structure J, as defined earlier, becomes an almost complex structure and if this almost complex structure J is integrable we say that the almost contact structure $(M^{2n+1}, \phi, \xi, \eta)$ is normal. Now we are in a position to define the concept of coKähler manifold [15, 22] and almost coKähler manifold. **Definition 1.1.16.** An almost contact metric manifold is called an almost coKähler manifold if both the 1-form η and the fundamental 2-form Φ are closed.

In particular, if the associated almost contact structure is normal or equivalently $\nabla \phi = 0$ or $\nabla \Phi = 0$: then the almost coKähler manifold is called a coKähler manifold. Also, it is to be noted that, examples [27, 70] of almost coKähler manifolds exist, which are not globally the product of a almost Kähler manifold and the real line.

Definition 1.1.17. An almost coKähler manifold is said to be a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold if the characteristic vector field ξ belongs to the generalised (k, μ) -nullity distribution i.e; if the Riemannian curvature tensor R satisfies

$$R(X,Y)\xi = k[\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y] + \mu[\eta(Y)hX - \eta(X)hY], \qquad (1.1.21)$$

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$ and for some smooth functions (k, μ) .

Here, we call a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold with k < 0, a proper (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold. Proper almost coKähler manifolds with k and μ being constants were introduced by H. Endo [39] and later Dacko and Olszak [30] further studied it in generalised cases. According to Dacko and Olszak [30] a (k, μ, ν) -almost coKähler manifold with k < 0 becomes a $(-1, \frac{\mu}{\sqrt{-k}})$ -almost coKähler manifold, under some *D*homothetic deformation.

We now give the definition of Lorentzian manifolds.

Definition 1.1.18. [69] A smooth connected paracompact Hausdorff n dimensional manifold (M, g) is said to be a Lorentzian manifold if the metric g is Lorentzian metric, i.e; M admits a smooth symmetric tensor field g of type (0,2) such that for each point $p \in M$, the tensor $g_p : T_pM \times T_pM \to \mathbb{R}$ is a non-degenerate inner product of signature (-, +, +, ..., +), where T_pM denotes the tangent space of the manifold M at point p and \mathbb{R} is the real line.

A non-zero vector $v \in T_pM$ is said to be timelike(respectively; non-spacelike, null, spacelike) if it satisfies $g_p(v, v) < 0$ (respectively; $\leq 0, = 0, > 0$). **Definition 1.1.19.** [61] Let M be an n-dimensional differentiable manifold equipped with a triple (ϕ, ξ, η) , where ϕ is a (1, 1) tensor field, ξ is a vector field, η is a 1-form on Msuch that,

$$\phi^2 = I + \eta \otimes \xi, \quad \eta(\xi) = -1,$$
 (1.1.22)

where I denotes the identity map on T_pM . Then M admits a Loretzian metric g such that,

$$g(\phi X, \phi Y) = g(X, Y) + \eta(X)\eta(Y), \qquad (1.1.23)$$

and M is said to admit a Lorentzian almost paracontact structure (g, ϕ, ξ, η) . The manifold M equipped with a Lorentzian almost paracontact structure (g, ϕ, ξ, η) is said to be a Lorentzian almost paracontact manifold.

Definition 1.1.20. A Lorentzian almost paracontact manifold M equipped with the structure (g, ϕ, ξ, η) is said to be Lorentzian para Sasakian (in brief, LP-Sasakian) manifold, if for all vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$, the following relation holds,

$$(\nabla_X \phi)Y = g(\phi X, \phi Y)\xi + \eta(Y)\phi^2 X.$$

In 2003, A. A. Shaikh [78] introduced the notion of Lorentzian concircular structure manifolds (or, briefly, $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds) which generalizes the notion of LP-Sasakian manifolds introduced by Matsumoto [61]. After that, a lot of study has been carried out on locally ϕ -symmetric $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds [80] and applications of $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds to the general theory of relativity and cosmology [79].

Next, we give the definition of a concircular vector field in a Lorentzian manifold, which is essential for the study of $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds.

Definition 1.1.21. Let (M,g) be a Lorentzian manifold and P is a vector field in M defined by g(U,P) = B(U), for any vector field U in M. Then the vector field P is said to be a concircular vector field if

$$(\nabla_U B)(Y) = \alpha[g(U, Y) + \omega(U)B(Y)],$$

where α is a non-zero scalar and ω is closed 1-form and ∇ denotes the covariant differentiation operator of the manifold M with respect to the Lorentzian metric g. Let (M, g) be a Lorentzian manifold of dimension n and let M admits a unit timelike concircular vector field ξ satisfying $g(\xi, \xi) = -1$. The vector field ξ is called the characteristic vector field of the manifold (M, g). Then ξ being unit concircular vector field, there exists a non-zero 1-form η such that

$$g(X,\xi) = \eta(X) \text{ and } (\nabla_X \eta)(Y) = \alpha[g(X,Y) + \eta(X)\eta(Y)], \ \alpha \neq 0.$$
 (1.1.24)

Also the non-zero scalar α satisfies the equation

$$(\nabla_X \alpha) = (X\alpha) = d\alpha(X) = \rho \eta(X), \qquad (1.1.25)$$

where ρ is a scalar function given by $\rho = -(\xi \alpha)$ and ∇ denotes the covariant differentiation operator of the manifold M with respect to the Lorentzian metric g. Now we consider a (1,1) tensor field ϕ given by, $\phi X = \frac{1}{\alpha} \nabla_X \xi$. Note that the tensor field ϕ is a symmetric (1,1) tensor field, called the structure tensor of the manifold.

Definition 1.1.22. Let (M, g) be an n-dimensional Lorentzian manifold. Then the manifold (M, g) together with the unit timelike concircular vector field ξ , associated 1-form η , an (1, 1) tensor field ϕ and the non-zero scalar function α is said to be a Lorentzian concircular structure manifold $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ (briefly, $(LCS)_n$ -manifold).

It is to be noted that, if we consider the scalar function $\alpha = 1$, then we can obtain the LP-Sasakian structure introduced by Matsumoto [61]. So, in that sense $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds are a generalization of LP-Sasakian manifolds.

In 1915, Albert Einstein introduced the theory of general relativity which realizes the gravitational field as the spacetime curvature and views the energy-momentum tensor as its source. In fact the Einstein field equations forms the basis of astrophysics, plasma physics and many other branches of the modern physics. Differential geometry plays an important role to understand general relativity in the mathematical language with the help of relativistic fluid models. In the study of general relativity the spacetimes can be modeled as a special subclass of pseudo-Riemannian manifolds namely the 4-dimensional Lorentzian manifolds. Einstein's gravitational equation can describe the characteristics of a perfect fluid inside spherical object which in turn helps us to understand the evolution of the universe. A perfect fluid behaves isotropic in its rest frame and has no viscosity, shear stress and because of that it is used to model an isotropic universe. The form of the energymomentum tensor [68] in a perfect fluid is given by

$$T(X,Y) = \rho g(X,Y) + (\sigma + \rho)\eta(X)\eta(Y),$$
(1.1.26)

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$, where ρ denotes the isotropic pressure, g is the metric tensor of the Minkowski spacetime, σ denotes the energy density and η is the g-dual 1-form of ggiven by $\eta(X) = g(X, \xi$ with ξ being the velocity vector of the perfect fluid satisfying $g(\xi, \xi) = -1$. In particular, if $\sigma = 3\rho$, the medium is a radiation fluid and if $\sigma = -\rho$, it is the vacuum case where the energy-momentum tensor becomes Lorentz-invariant.

The Einstein's gravitational field equation [68] that governs the motion of the perfect fluid is

$$\kappa T(X,Y) = S(X,Y) + \left(\omega - \frac{r}{2}\right)g(X,Y), \qquad (1.1.27)$$

where κ is the gravitational constant and ω is the cosmological constant.

Definition 1.1.23. Let (M, g) be a four-dimensional smooth Riemannian manifold having the structure of a general relativistic perfect fluid spacetime. Then (M, g) is said to be a Kählerian spacetime manifold if it admits a (1, 1) tensor field J satisfying

$$J^2(X) = -X, (1.1.28)$$

$$g(JX, JY) = g(X, Y),$$
 (1.1.29)

$$(\nabla_X J)(Y) = 0,$$
 (1.1.30)

for all smooth vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$.

Now, we define warped product of two Riemannian manifolds. The concept of warped product was introduced by Bishop and O'Neill [8] to construct examples of complete Riemannian manifolds of negative sectional curvature. Also note that, the notion of warped product generalizes the concept of surface of revolution.

Definition 1.1.24. Let (B, g_B) and (F, g_F) be two Riemannian manifolds and f > 0 be a smooth function on B. The warped product $B \times_f F$ is the product manifold $M = B \times F$ with the Riemannian structure such that $||X||^2 = ||\pi^*(X)||^2 + f^2(\pi(p))||\sigma^*(X)||^2$, for any vector field X on M and $\pi: B \times F \to B$ and $\sigma: B \times F \to F$ are natural projections on M. Thus we have that

$$g_M = g_B + f^2 g_F, (1.1.31)$$

holds on M. Here B is called the base of M and F is called the fiber. The function f is called the warping function of the warped product.

An example of a very well-known warped product space is a generalized Robertson-Walker spacetime which is an extension of the classical Robertson-Walker spacetime. It is to be noted that, generalized Robertson-Walker spacetime also obeys the Weyl hypothesis, i.e; the world lines should be everywhere orthogonal to a family of spacelike slices. M. Sánchez [76] characterized generalized Robertson-Walker spacetimes in terms of timelike and spatially conformal conformal vector fields. Also, a characterization of generalized Robertson-Walker spacetimes in terms of timelike should be spacetimes in terms of timelike concircular vector field has been studied by B.Y. Chen [24].

Definition 1.1.25. A generalized Robertson-Walker spacetime is a warped product manifold $M = I \times_f F$ endowed with the Lorentzian metric

$$g = -dt^2 \oplus f^2 g_F, \tag{1.1.32}$$

where the base is an open interval I of \mathbb{R} with its usual metric reversed $(I, -dt^2)$, the fiber is an n-dimensional Riemannian manifold (F, g_F) and the warping function is any positive function f > 0 on I.

Next, we discuss about indefinite structures on manifolds which are used in our study. A. Bejancu et.al. [7] in 1993, introduced the concept of an idefinite manifold namely ϵ -Sasakian manifold and after that, X. Xufeng et.al. [96] established that the class of ϵ -Sasakian manifolds are real hypersurfaces of indefinite Kaehlerian manifolds. On the other hand K. Kenmotsu [55] introduced a special class of contact Riemannian manifolds, satisfying certain conditions, which was later named as Kenmotsu manifold. U. C. De et.al. [32] introduced the concept of ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds and further proved that the existence of the new indefinite structure on the manifold influences the curvatures of the manifold. After that several authors [50, 51, 87] studied ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds and many interesting results have been obtained on this indefinite structure. An *n*-dimensional smooth manifold (M, g) is said to be an ϵ -almost contact metric manifold [7] if it admits a (1, 1) tensor field ϕ , a characteristic vector field ξ , a global 1-form η and an indefinite metric g on M satisfying the following relations

$$\phi^2 = -I + \eta \otimes \xi, \quad \eta(\xi) = 1, \tag{1.1.33}$$

$$\eta(X) = \epsilon g(X, \xi), \quad g(\xi, \xi) = \epsilon, \tag{1.1.34}$$

$$g(\phi X, \phi Y) = g(X, Y) - \epsilon \eta(X) \eta(Y), \qquad (1.1.35)$$

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$. Here the value of the quantity ϵ is either +1 or -1 according as the characteristic vector field ξ is spacelike or timelike vector field. Also it can be easily seen that rank of ϕ is (n-1) and $\phi(\xi) = 0$, $\eta \circ \phi = 0$. Now if we define

$$d\eta(X,Y) = g(X,\phi Y), \qquad (1.1.36)$$

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$, then the manifold (M, g) is called an ϵ -contact metric manifold.

If the Levi-Civita connection ∇ of an $\epsilon\text{-contact}$ metric manifold satisfies

$$(\nabla_X \phi)(Y) = -g(X, \phi Y) - \epsilon \eta(Y) \phi X, \qquad (1.1.37)$$

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$, then the manifold (M, g) is called an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold [32].

Again an ϵ -almost contact metric manifold is an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold if and only if, for all $X \in \chi(M)$ the manofold satisfies

$$\nabla_X \xi = \epsilon (X - \eta(X)\xi). \tag{1.1.38}$$

1.2 Introduction to solitons

In 1982, R. S. Hamilton [47] introduced the Ricci soliton as a self similar solution to the Ricci flow equation given by:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(g(t)) = -2S(g(t)),$$

where S denotes the Ricci tensor and g(t) is an one parameter family of metrics on the manifold.

Definition 1.2.1. A Riemannian (or, pseudo-Riemannian) metric g defined on a smooth manifold M, of dimension n, is said to be a Ricci soliton, if for some real constant λ there exists a smooth vector field V on M satisfying the equation

$$S + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}_V g = \lambda g, \qquad (1.2.1)$$

where \mathcal{L}_V denotes the Lie derivative along the direction of V.

The Ricci soliton is called shrinking if $\lambda > 0$, steady if $\lambda = 0$ and expanding if $\lambda < 0$. Ricci solitons can also be viewed as natural generalizations of Einstein metrics which moves only by an one-parameter group of diffeomorphisms and scaling [49].

A. E. Fischer [41] in 2005, introduced conformal Ricci flow equation which is a modified version of the Hamilton's Ricci flow equation that modifies the volume constraint of that equation to a scalar curvature constraint. The conformal Ricci flow equations on a smooth closed connected oriented n-dimensional manifold M are given by

$$\frac{\partial g}{\partial t} + 2(S + \frac{g}{n}) = -pg, \qquad (1.2.2)$$
$$r(g) = -1,$$

where p is a non-dynamical (time dependent) scalar field and r(g) is the scalar curvature of the manifold. The term -pg acts as the constraint force to maintain the scalar curvature constraint. Thus these evolution equations are analogous to famous Navier-Stokes equations in fluid mechanics where the constraint is divergence free. That is why sometimes p is also called the conformal pressure.

Recently, in 2015, N. Basu et.al. [6] introduced the concept of conformal Ricci soliton as a generalization of the classical Ricci soliton.

Definition 1.2.2. A Riemannian (or, pseudo-Riemannian) metric g on an n-dimensional smooth manifold M, is called a conformal Ricci soliton, if there exists a real constant λ and a vector field V such that

$$\mathcal{L}_V g + 2S = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g,$$
 (1.2.3)

where p is the conformal pressure.

It can be easily checked that the foregoing soliton equation satisfies the conformal Ricci flow equation (1.2.2). Conformal Ricci solitons have been studied by many authors on Lorentzian α -Sasakian manifold [38], f-Kenmotsu manifold [52], Lagrangian submanifold in a complex space form [84]. M. D. Siddiqi et al. [85], established that a conformal Ricci soliton, on a perfect fluid spacetime with torse-forming vector field and without cosmological constant, is expanding.

Furthermore, if the soliton vector field is gradient of some smooth function on the manifold, that is if, $V = grad \ f = Df$, for some smooth function f, then the soliton is called conformal gradient Ricci soliton. In that case the soliton equation (1.2.2) becomes

$$S + \nabla \nabla f = \left[\lambda - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}\right)\right]g,\tag{1.2.4}$$

where ∇ is the Riemannian connection on the manifold.

J. T. Cho and M. Kimura [28] introduced the concept of η -Ricci soliton and later C. Calin and M. Crasmareanu [18] studied it on Hopf hypersufaces in complex space forms. A Riemannian manifold (M, g) is said to admit an η -Ricci soliton if for a smooth vector field V, the metric g satisfies the following equation

$$\mathcal{L}_V g + 2S + 2\lambda g + 2\mu\eta \otimes \eta = 0,$$

where $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{R}$. Note that, for $\mu = 0$ the η -Ricci soliton becomes a Ricci soliton.

Very recently M. D. Siddiqi [83] introduced the notion of conformal η -Ricci soliton.

Definition 1.2.3. A Riemannian (or, pseudo-Riemannian) metric g on an n-dimensional smooth manifold M, is called a conformal η -Ricci soliton, if there exists a smooth vector field V such that

$$\mathcal{L}_V g + 2S + [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g + 2\mu\eta \otimes \eta = 0, \qquad (1.2.5)$$

where n is the dimension of the manifold, p is the non-dynamical scalar field, η is the g-dual of V and λ , μ are real constants.

It is easy to see that, for $\mu = 0$ the conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, V, λ, μ) reduces to the conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) .

The notion of Yamabe flow was introduced by R. S. Hamilton [49] as a tool for constructing metrics of constant scalar curvature in a given conformal class of Riemannian metrics on a Riemannian manifold of dimension greater than or equal to three. The Yamabe flow on a smooth Riemannian manifold (M, g) is defined as the evolution equation of the Riemannian metric g = g(t) as follows

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(g(t)) = -r(g(t)), \qquad (1.2.6)$$

where r denotes the scalar curvature of the manifold. It is to be noted that, in dimension two the Yamabe flow is equivalent to the Ricci flow, but in dimension greater than two the Yamabe flow and the Ricci flow do not agree in general, as the Yamabe flow preserves the conformal class of the metric whereas the Ricci flow does not. In mathematical physics, the Yamabe flow corresponds to the fast diffusion case of the plasma equation.

Definition 1.2.4. [49] Let (M, g) be an n-dimensional complete Riemannian manifold. If the Riemannian metric g satisfies

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}_V g = (r-\sigma)g, \qquad (1.2.7)$$

for some smooth vector field V and some $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}$, then it is known as a Yamabe soliton.

The Yamabe soliton is said to be shrinking, steady or expanding according to $\sigma < 0$, $\sigma = 0$ or $\sigma > 0$ respectively. Just like Ricci solitons are self similar solutions of the Ricci flow, Yamabe solitons are also self similar solutions to the Yamabe flow which moves by an one parameter family of diffeomorphisms and scaling. Over the years many authors have studied Yamabe solitons [20, 26, 74].

As a generalization of Yamabe soliton, recently, B. Y. Chen and S. Deshmukh [26] introduced the notion of quasi-Yamabe soliton.

Definition 1.2.5. A Riemannian metric (M, g) is said to be a quasi-yamabe soliton if

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}_V g = (r-\sigma)g + \mu V^* \otimes V^*, \qquad (1.2.8)$$

for some smooth function μ , real constant σ and V^* is the dual 1-form of V.

In particular, if $\mu = 0$ then the quasi-Yamabe soliton (g, V, σ, μ) reduces to the Yamabe soliton (g, V, σ) . Quasi-yamabe solitons are studied on contact metric manifolds in [37] and on warped product manifolds in [15].

In 2016, G. Catino and L. Mazzieri [22] introduced the notion of Einstein soliton which can be viewed as a self-similar solution to the Einstein flow

$$\frac{\partial g}{\partial t} = -2(S - \frac{r}{2}g), \qquad (1.2.9)$$

where g denotes the Riemannian metric. It is evident that, the Einstein soliton is analogous to the Ricci soliton. Since the study of Ricci soliton has tremendous contribution in solving the longstanding Thurston's geometric conjecture, so, it is interesting to study the Einstein soliton from various directions to solve many physical and geometrical problems. Here, we consider a slight perturbation of the Einstein soliton by the term $\eta \otimes \eta$, called the η -Einstein soliton [10].

Definition 1.2.6. A Riemannian (or, pseudo-Riemannian) metric g on an n-dimensional smooth manifold M, is said to admit an η -Einstein soliton, if there exists a smooth vector field V such that

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g + 2S + (2\lambda - r)g + 2\mu\eta \otimes \eta = 0, \qquad (1.2.10)$$

where \mathcal{L}_{ξ} denotes the Lie derivative along direction of ξ and $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{R}$.

The η -Einstein soliton is called shrinking if $\lambda < 0$, steady if $\lambda = 0$ and expanding if $\lambda > 0$. In particular, if $\mu = 0$, the η -Einstein soliton reduces to the Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ) .

Very recently, in 2019, S. Güler and M. Crasmareanu [46] introduced the geometric flow Ricci-Yamabe map, which is a scalar combination of Ricci flow and Yamabe flow. The Ricci-Yamabe map is also called the Ricci-Yamabe flow of type (α, β) and on a Riemannian or semi-Riemannian manifold (M,g) it is defined by

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}g(t) = -2\alpha S(t) + \beta r(t)g(t),$$

where S is the Ricci tensor, r is the scalar curvature and $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$. According to the choice of the scalars α, β the Ricci-Yamabe flow can be a Riemannian or semi-Riemannian or singular Riemannian flow and for this reason it is very useful in various geometrical and general relativistic models. A self-similar solution to this Ricci-Yamabe flow of type (α, β) is called a Ricci-Yamabe soliton of type (α, β) .

Definition 1.2.7. A Riemannian (or, pseudo-Riemannian) manifold (M,g) is said to admit a Ricci-Yamabe soliton of type (α, β) , if for some smooth vector field V, the metric g satisfies

$$\mathcal{L}_V g + 2\alpha S + [2\lambda - \beta r]g = 0, \qquad (1.2.11)$$

where $\lambda, \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$.

In particular, a Ricci-Yamabe soliton of type

- (1,0) is called a Ricci soliton.
- (0,1) is called a Yamabe soliton.
- (1, -1) is called an Einstein soliton.

M. D. Siddiqi [86] extended this notion of Ricci-Yamabe soliton to η -Ricci-Yamabe soliton. On a Riemannian manifold (M,g) the data $(g, V, \lambda, \mu, \alpha, \beta)$ is said to be an η -Ricci-Yamabe soliton of type (α, β) (or, simply an η -Ricci-Yamabe soliton) if the metric g satisfies

$$\mathcal{L}_V g + 2\alpha S + [2\lambda - \beta r]g + 2\mu\eta \otimes \eta = 0, \qquad (1.2.12)$$

where λ , μ , α , β are real constants.

Among the five chapters of this thesis, this first chapter consists an introduction to different types of smooth manifolds and solitons.

In chapter two, first we study conformal Ricci soliton on generalized Sasakian space forms and characterize the soliton in terms of shrinking steady and expanding. It is proved that a generalized Sasakian space form admitting a conformal Ricci soliton having, potential vector field pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field, is an Einstein one. Then we find the condition which makes the potential function of a conformal gradient Ricci soliton constant.

Next, we investigate almost coKähler manifolds admitting conformal Ricci soliton and we show that conformal Ricci soliton on a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold the soliton becomes expanding, depending on the conformal pressure p. After that, it is proved that a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold, with the potential vector field V pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ , does not admit conformal gradient Ricci soliton. Then, we give some characterization of conformal Ricci soliton on $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds and we show that the manifold becomes an η -Einstein manifold. Also it is proved that, an $(LCS)_n$ -manifold admitting a conformal Ricci soliton is ξ -projectively flat. Next, we find necessary and sufficient conditions for an $(LCS)_n$ -manifold admitting a conformal Ricci soliton, to be ξ -conharmonically flat and ξ -concircularly flat. After that, conformal Ricci soliton on $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds satisfying certain curvature conditions like $R(\xi, X) \cdot \tilde{P} = 0$ and $R(\xi, X) \cdot \tilde{M} = 0$; are studied.

Next, we prove that if an warped product of two Riemannian manifolds admits a conformal Ricci soliton, then the base and the fiber both admit conformal Ricci soliton. Then, the converse of this result is discussed when the potential function is of gradient type. After that, we show that, an warped product admitting conformal Ricci soliton is an Einstein one provided the potential vector field is Killing or concurrent. Finally, some applications of conformal Ricci soliton on generalized Robertson Walker spacetime are discussed.

In chapter three, first we study ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds admitting conformal η -Ricci solitons and establish the relation between the soliton constants λ and μ . Then, conformal η -Ricci solitons are characterized on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds with Codazzi type, cyclic parallel and cyclic η -recurrent Ricci tensor. Moving further, we investigate conformal η -Ricci solitons on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds satisfying curvature conditions $R \cdot S = 0, C \cdot S = 0,$ $Q \cdot C = 0$. After that, we consider torse-forming vector field on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds admitting conformal η -Ricci solitons. Then we characterize gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold.

Next, we consider conformal η -Ricci soliton on almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifolds and characterize the nature of the soliton when the manifolds are projectively flat and conharmonically flat. Finally, we study gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton on Kählerian spacetime manifolds.

In chapter four, first we study some curvature properties of 3-dimensional quasi-Sasakian manifolds with respect to Zamkovoy connection. Then, the nature of Ricci soliton on 3-dimensional quasi-Sasakian manifolds with respect to Zamkovoy connection is characterized. It is proved that, if a quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold with respect to Zamkovoy connection admits a Ricci soliton, with the Reeb vector field as the potential vector field, then it is a steady Ricci soliton. Next, we characterize the nature of η -Ricci-Yamabe soliton on almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifolds. Finally, it is shown that, if a generalized Sasakian spaceform admits a quasi-Yamabe soliton, with potential vector field pointwise collinear to the Reeb vector field, then it becomes a manifold of constant scalar curvature and the soliton reduces to a Yamabe soliton.

In chapter five, we prove that, a 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton becomes an *eta*-Einstein manifold of constant scalar curvature and we also characterize the soliton in terms of shrinking, steady and expanding. Then, η -Einstein solitons are characterized on 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifolds with Codazzi type and cyclic parallel Ricci tensor. Moving further, we study some curvature conditions $R \cdot S = 0, W_2 \cdot S = 0, R \cdot E = 0, B \cdot S = 0, S \cdot R = 0$ admitting η -Einstein solitons on 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifold. Finally, η -Einstein solitons with torse forming vector field are characterized on 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifolds.

2 On conformal Ricci solitons

2.1 Introduction

In this chapter we study conformal Ricci soliton on generalized Sasakian space form, almost coKähler manifold, $(LCS)_n$ -manifold and warped product space. This chapter is divided into thirteen sections. The first and second section contain introduction and preliminaries respectively.

In section three, we study conformal Ricci soliton and conformal gradient Ricci soliton on generalized Sasakian space forms and we characterize the soliton in terms of shrinking steady and expanding. Then in section four, some illustrative examples of generalized Sasakian space forms are given and some of our results for conformal Ricci soliton are verified within this framework.

In section five, we investigate almost coKähler manifolds admitting the conformal Ricci soliton. Section six is devoted to the study of conformal Ricci soliton on a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold and we show that in this case, depending on the conformal pressure p, the soliton becomes expanding. After that in section seven, it is proved that a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold, with the potential vector field V pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ , does not admit conformal gradient Ricci soliton.

In section eight, we study $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds admitting conformal Ricci soliton and we give some characterization of the soliton. After that, conformal Ricci soliton on ξ projectively flat, ξ -conharmonically flat and ξ -concircularly flat $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds are taken into consideration. Section nine deals with conformal Ricci soliton on $(LCS)_n$ - manifolds satisfying curvature conditions like $R(\xi, X) \cdot \tilde{P} = 0$ and $R(\xi, X) \cdot \tilde{M} = 0$; where R is the Riemann curvature tensor, \tilde{P} is the pseudo-projective curvature tensor and \tilde{M} is the M-projective curvature tensor.

In section ten, we study conformal Ricci soliton on warped product spaces and try to see its impact on the base and the fiber spaces. Sections eleven and twelve deal with warped product spaces admitting conformal Ricci soliton whose potential vector fields are Killing and concurrent respectively. Finally in section thirteen, we present some applications of conformal Ricci soliton on generalized Robertson Walker spacetime.

2.2 Preliminaries

Definitions of generalized Sasakian spaceforms, almost coKähler manifolds, $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds and warped product spaces are given in the introductory chapter one. Now we discuss some basic results on these spaces.

From hereon, the notation $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ denotes a (2n + 1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form with $f_1 \neq f_3$ in general. According to [3], in a (2n + 1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$, the following relations hold:

$$\nabla_X \xi = (f_3 - f_1)\phi(X), \tag{2.2.1}$$

$$(\nabla_X \eta)(Y) = (f_3 - f_1)g(\phi(X), Y),$$
 (2.2.2)

$$(\nabla_X \phi)(Y) = (f_3 - f_1)[\eta(Y)X - g(X, Y)\xi], \qquad (2.2.3)$$

$$R(X,Y)\xi = (f_1 - f_3)[\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y], \qquad (2.2.4)$$

$$R(\xi, X)Y = (f_3 - f_1)[\eta(Y)X - g(X, Y)\xi], \qquad (2.2.5)$$

$$S(X,Y) = (2nf_1 + 3f_2 - f_3)g(X,Y) - (3f_2 + (2n-1)f_3)\eta(X)\eta(Y), \quad (2.2.6)$$

$$QX = (2nf_1 + 3f_2 - f_3)X - (3f_2 + (2n-1)f_3)\eta(X)\xi, \qquad (2.2.7)$$

$$S(X,\xi) = 2n(f_1 - f_3)\eta(X),$$
 (2.2.8)

$$Q\xi = 2n(f_1 - f_3)\xi, \qquad (2.2.9)$$

for all vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$ and where R is the curvature tensor, S is the Ricci tensor and Q is the Ricci operator respectively.

Next, we set two symmetric operators h and h' given by, $h = \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}_{\xi}\phi$ and $h' = h \circ \phi$ on the almost coKähler manifold $(M^{2n+1}, g, \phi, \xi, \eta)$. Then setting $l := R(., \xi)\xi$, the following relations can be obtained on an almost coKähler manifold [see [70],[30]]

$$h\xi = 0, \quad h\phi + \phi h = 0, \quad tr(h) = tr(h') = 0,$$
 (2.2.10)

$$\nabla_{\xi}\phi = 0, \quad \nabla\xi = h', \quad div\xi = 0, \tag{2.2.11}$$

$$S(\xi,\xi) + \|h\|^2 = 0, \qquad (2.2.12)$$

$$\phi l\phi - l = 2h^2, \tag{2.2.13}$$

$$\nabla_{\xi}h = -h^2\phi - \phi l. \tag{2.2.14}$$

Again, on an *n*-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold the following relations hold [78, 79, 80]

$$\phi^2 X = X + \eta(X)\xi$$
, $\eta(\xi) = -1$, (2.2.15)

$$\phi(\xi) = 0 , \quad \eta \circ \phi = 0,$$
 (2.2.16)

$$g(\phi X, \phi Y) = g(X, Y) + \eta(X)\eta(Y),$$
 (2.2.17)

$$R(X,Y)\xi = (\alpha^2 - \rho)[\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y], \qquad (2.2.18)$$

$$R(\xi, X)Y = (\alpha^2 - \rho)[g(X, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X], \qquad (2.2.19)$$

$$\eta(R(X,Y)Z) = (\alpha^2 - \rho)[g(Y,Z)\eta(X) - g(X,Z)\eta(Y)], \qquad (2.2.20)$$

$$S(X,\xi) = (n-1)(\alpha^2 - \rho)\eta(X),$$
 (2.2.21)

for all vector fields $X, Y, Z \in \chi(M)$.

Next, we recall a very important result (for details see [8]) on warped products, which is used in later sections of this chapter.

Lemma 2.2.1. Let $(M, g) = (B \times_f F, g_B \oplus f^2 g_F)$ be an warped product of two Riemannian manifolds (B, g_B) and (F, g_F) with dimB = m and dimF = n. Then for all $X, Y \in \mathfrak{X}(B)$ and $U, V \in \mathfrak{X}(F)$

i)
$$D_X U = D_U X = \frac{X(f)}{f} U$$
,

- *ii*) S(X, U) = 0,
- iii) $S(X,Y) = S^B(X,Y) \frac{n}{f}H^f(X,Y),$
- $iv) \ S(U,V) = S^F(U,V) (\frac{\Delta f}{f} + (n-1)\frac{\|\nabla f\|^2}{f^2})g(U,V),$

where $D_X Y$ is the lift of $\nabla_X Y$ on B and S^B , S^F are the lifts of the Ricci tensors on the base B and the fiber F respectively.

2.3 Conformal Ricci soliton on generalized Sasakian space form

In this section we characterize generalized Sasakian space form admitting conformal Ricci soliton with various conditions on the potential vector field. Then we study conformal gradient Ricci soliton on generalized Sasakian space form. First we prove the following:

Theorem 2.3.1. If a (2n+1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ admits a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) then the soliton is

- i) shrinking if $p < [4n(f_3 f_1) \frac{2}{2n+1}]$,
- *ii)* steady if $p = [4n(f_3 f_1) \frac{2}{2n+1}]$ and
- *iii)* expanding if $p > [4n(f_3 f_1) \frac{2}{2n+1}]$.

Proof. Let (g, V, λ) be a conformal Ricci soliton on a (2n + 1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$. Then for all vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$, from (1.2.3) we have

$$(\mathcal{L}_V g)(X, Y) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})]g(X, Y).$$
(2.3.1)

Now consider a (0, 2) tensor field defined by

$$\mathfrak{T} = \mathcal{L}_V g + 2S. \tag{2.3.2}$$

It can be easily seen that the tensor field \mathfrak{T} is a symmetric tensor field. Again since g is a metric connection, we have $\nabla g = 0$ and hence from (2.3.1) note that $\mathcal{L}_V g + 2S$ is parallel with the Levi-Civita connection. Therefore (2.3.2) implies that \mathfrak{T} is a parallel, symmetric (0, 2) tensor field. Thus we have $\nabla \mathfrak{T} = 0$, which can be written as

$$\mathfrak{T}(R(X,Y)Z,W) + \mathfrak{T}(Z,R(X,Y)W) = 0.$$

Putting $X = W = Z = \xi$ in the above equation and using (2.2.5) we get

$$\mathfrak{T}(Y,\xi) = \mathfrak{T}(\xi,\xi)\eta(Y). \tag{2.3.3}$$

Taking covariant differentiation of (2.3.3) along arbitrary vector field X, then recalling (2.2.1) and (2.2.2) we obtain

$$\mathfrak{T}(\nabla_X Y,\xi) + (f_3 - f_1)\mathfrak{T}(Y,\phi X) = \mathfrak{T}(\xi,\xi)[(f_3 - f_1)g(\phi X,Y) + \eta(\nabla_X Y)].$$
In view of (2.3.3) the above equation reduces to

$$\mathfrak{T}(Y,\phi X) = \mathfrak{T}(\xi,\xi)g(\phi X,Y).$$

Replacing X by ϕX in the foregoing equation and then using (2.3.3) we arrive at

$$\mathfrak{T}(X,Y) = \mathfrak{T}(\xi,\xi)g(X,Y). \tag{2.3.4}$$

Again from (2.3.2) we can write

$$\mathfrak{T}(X,Y) = (\mathcal{L}_V g)(X,Y) + 2S(X,Y).$$

Taking $X = Y = \xi$ in above, the using (2.2.2) and (2.2.8) yields

$$\mathfrak{T}(\xi,\xi) = 4n(f_1 - f_3)$$

Using the above value in (2.3.4) and then recalling (2.3.2) we get

$$(\mathcal{L}_V g)(X, Y) + 2S(X, Y) = 4n(f_1 - f_3)g(X, Y).$$
(2.3.5)

Finally equating (2.3.1) and (2.3.5) we obtain

$$\lambda = 2n(f_1 - f_3) + (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}).$$
(2.3.6)

Hence the soliton is shrinking if $\lambda > 0$, steady if $\lambda = 0$ and expanding if $\lambda < 0$. This completes the proof.

Again for a Sasakian space form $f_1 = \frac{c+3}{4}$ and $f_3 = \frac{c-1}{4}$, then from (2.3.6) we get $\lambda = 2n + (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})$. Thus we have the following

Corollary 2.3.1. A conformal Ricci soliton in a (2n + 1)-dimensional Sasakian space form is shrinking if $(p + 4n + \frac{2}{2n+1}) < 0$, steady if $(p + 4n + \frac{2}{2n+1}) = 0$ and expanding if $(p + 4n + \frac{2}{2n+1}) > 0$.

Similarly in a Kenmotsu space form $f_1 = \frac{c-3}{4}$ and $f_3 = \frac{c+1}{4}$, then from (3.6) we deduce $\lambda = -2n + (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})$. Thus we have the following

Corollary 2.3.2. A conformal Ricci soliton in a (2n + 1)-dimensional Kenmotsu space form is shrinking if $(p - 4n + \frac{2}{2n+1}) < 0$, steady if $(p - 4n + \frac{2}{2n+1}) = 0$ and expanding if $(p - 4n + \frac{2}{2n+1}) > 0$. Now we consider a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) with V pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ . In this regard our next theorem is

Theorem 2.3.2. Let $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ be a (2n + 1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form admiting a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) , whose potential vector field V is pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ . Then V is a constant multiple of ξ and the manifold M is an Einstein manifold of scalar curvature $r = 2n(2n + 1)(f_1 - f_3)$.

Proof. Let us assume that $V = b\xi$ for some smooth function b, then from the definition of the conformal Ricci soliton equation (1.2.3) we can write

$$bg(\nabla_X \xi, Y) + X(b)\eta(Y) + bg(X, \nabla_Y \xi) + Y(b)\eta(X) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})]g(X, Y) - 2S(X, Y).$$

Using (2.2.1) the foregoing equation reduces to

$$X(b)\eta(Y) + Y(b)\eta(X) + 2S(X,Y) = \left[2\lambda - \left(p + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)\right]g(X,Y).$$
(2.3.7)

Replacing Y by ξ in (2.3.7) and recalling (2.2.8) we have

$$X(b) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1}) - 4n(f_1 - f_3) - \xi(b)]\eta(X).$$
(2.3.8)

Taking $X = \xi$ in the previous equation yields

$$\xi(b) = \left[\lambda - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}\right) - 2n(f_1 - f_3)\right].$$
(2.3.9)

In view of (2.3.9), the equation (2.3.8) becomes

$$db = \left[\lambda - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}\right) - 2n(f_1 - f_3)\right]\eta.$$
(2.3.10)

Operating d on both sides of (2.3.10) and using Poincare lemma $d^2 = 0$ we get

$$[\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}) - 2n(f_1 - f_3)]d\eta = 0.$$

But as $d\eta \neq 0$, the foregoing equation gives us

$$\lambda = 2n(f_1 - f_3) + (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}).$$
(2.3.11)

Now using (2.3.11) in (2.3.10) we obtain db = 0, which eventually implies that

$$b = constant. \tag{2.3.12}$$

Therefore V is a constant multiple of ξ . This proves first part of the theorem.

Again considering an orthonormal basis $\{e_i : 1 \le i \le (2n+1)\}$ of the tangent space at each point of the manifold and then putting $X = Y = e_i$ in (2.3.7) and summing over $1 \le i \le (2n+1)$ we get

$$\xi(b) + r = (2n+1)[\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})].$$

Using (2.3.12) in the previous equation infers that

$$r = (2n+1)\left[\lambda - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}\right)\right].$$
(2.3.13)

Combining (2.3.11) and (2.3.13) we obtain

$$r = 2n(2n+1)(f_1 - f_3).$$
(2.3.14)

Also recalling (2.3.7) and then using (2.3.12) we get

$$S(X,Y) = \left[\lambda - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}\right)\right]g(X,Y).$$
(2.3.15)

Thus in view of (2.3.14) and (2.3.15) we can conclude that the manifold M is an Einstein manifold of scalar curvature $r = 2n(2n+1)(f_1 - f_3)$, which proves the second part of the theorem. Hence completes the proof.

Corollary 2.3.3. Let $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ be a (2n+1)-dimensional Sasakian space form admiting a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) , whose potential vector field V is pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ . Then V is a constant multiple of ξ and the manifold M is an Einstein manifold of constant scalar curvature r = 2n(2n+1).

Corollary 2.3.4. Let $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ be a (2n+1)-dimensional Kenmotsu space form admiting a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) , whose potential vector field V is pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ . Then V is a constant multiple of ξ and the manifold M is an Einstein manifold of constant scalar curvature r = -2n(2n+1).

Next we characterize the potential vector field V of a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) on a (2n + 1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ which satisfies the curvature condition Ricci semi-symmetry. Regarding this we prove the following: **Theorem 2.3.3.** If a (2n + 1)-dimensional Ricci semi-symmetric generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ admits a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) , then M is an Einstein manifold and the potential vector field V is a conformal vector field.

Proof. Let us assume that $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ be a (2n + 1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form admitting a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) , and the manifold is Ricci semi-symmetric. Then we have $R(X, Y) \cdot S = 0$, which can be written as

$$S(R(X,Y)Z,U) + S(Z,R(X,Y)U) = 0.$$

Replacing U by ξ in above yields

$$S(R(X,Y)Z,\xi) + S(Z,R(X,Y)\xi) = 0.$$

Using (2.2.4) and (2.2.9) in the previous equation we obtain

$$2n(f_1 - f_3)\eta(R(X, Y)Z) + (f_1 - f_3)\eta(Y)S(X, Z) - (f_1 - f_3)\eta(X)S(Y, Z) = 0.$$

Taking $X = \xi$ in the foregoing equation, then recalling (2.2.5) and (2.2.8) infers that

$$S(Y,Z) = 2n(f_1 - f_3)g(Y,Z), \qquad (2.3.16)$$

which implies that the manifold is an Einstein manifold and this proves the first part of the theorem.

Again, as (g, V, λ) is a conformal Ricci soliton on the (2n+1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$, equation (1.2.3) holds and using (2.3.16) in it we have

$$(\mathcal{L}_V g)(X, Y) = [2\lambda - 4n(f_1 - f_3) - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})]g(X, Y), \qquad (2.3.17)$$

for all vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$. Thus from it can be written that

$$\mathcal{L}_V g = 2\rho g,$$

where $\rho = [\lambda - 2n(f_1 - f_3) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]$. Thus in view of the equation (1.1.9), we can conclude that V is a conformal vector field. This completes the proof.

Finally, we concentrate on the generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ admitting conformal Ricci soliton whose potential vector field V is gradient of some smooth function f, i.e; we characterize conformal gradient Ricci soliton on $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$. But before proving our main theorem, let us first prove the following: **Lemma 2.3.1.** If a (2n + 1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ admits a conformal gradient Ricci soliton (g, Df, λ) , then the curvature tensor R satisfies

$$R(X,Y)Df = (2ndf_1 + 3df_2 - df_3)(Y)X - (3df_2 + (2n-1)df_3)(Y)\eta(X)\xi + (3df_2 + (2n-1)df_3)(X)\eta(Y)\xi - (2ndf_1 + 3df_2 - df_3)(X)Y + (f_1 - f_3)(3f_2 + (2n-1)f_3)[g(X,\phi Y)\xi - g(\phi X,Y)\xi + \eta(X)\phi Y - \eta(Y)\phi X],$$
(2.3.18)

for all vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$.

Proof. Let us assume that (g, Df, λ) be a conformal gradient Ricci soliton on $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$. Then from the conformal gradient Ricci soliton equation (1.2.4) we can write

$$\nabla_X Df = [\lambda - 2n(f_1 - f_3) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]X - QX, \qquad (2.3.19)$$

for any vector field X on M and Q is the Ricci operator.

Taking covariant differentiation of (2.3.19) along an arbitrary vector field Y we obtain

$$\nabla_Y \nabla_X Df = [\lambda - 2n(f_1 - f_3) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]\nabla_Y X - \nabla_Y QX.$$
(2.3.20)

Interchanging X and Y in the foregoing equation infers that

$$\nabla_X \nabla_Y Df = [\lambda - 2n(f_1 - f_3) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]\nabla_X Y - \nabla_X QY.$$
(2.3.21)

Also from (2.3.19) it can be written that

$$\nabla_{[X,Y]}Df = [\lambda - 2n(f_1 - f_3) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})](\nabla_X Y - \nabla_Y X) - Q(\nabla_X Y - \nabla_Y X). \quad (2.3.22)$$

Using (2.3.20)-(2.3.22) in Riemannian curvature tensor expression (1.1.5) we obtain

$$R(X,Y)Df = (\nabla_Y Q)X - (\nabla_X Q)Y.$$
(2.3.23)

Again recalling (2.2.7) and covariantly differentiating it along Y yields

$$\nabla_Y QX = (2nf_1 + 3f_2 - f_3)\nabla_Y X + (2ndf_1 + 3df_2 - df_3)(Y)X$$

-(3f_2 + (2n - 1)f_3)[\nabla_Y \eta(X)\xi + \eta(X)\nabla_Y \xi]
-(3df_2 + (2n - 1)df_3)(Y)\eta(X)\xi. (2.3.24)

Also from (2.2.7) we can write

$$Q(\nabla_Y X) = (2nf_1 + 3f_2 - f_3)\nabla_Y X - (3f_2 + (2n-1)f_3)\eta(\nabla_Y X)\xi.$$
(2.3.25)

Using (2.3.24) and (2.3.25) in $(\nabla_Y Q)X = \nabla_Y QX - Q(\nabla_Y X)$, then recalling (2.2.1) and (2.2.2) we obtain

$$(\nabla_Y Q)X = (2ndf_1 + 3df_2 - df_3)(Y)X$$

-(3df_2 + (2n - 1)df_3)(Y)\eta(X)\xi
+(f_1 - f_3)(3f_2 + (2n - 1)f_3)[g(X, \phi Y)\xi + \eta(X)\phi Y]. (2.3.26)

Interchanging X and Y in (2.3.26) yields

$$(\nabla_X Q)Y = (2ndf_1 + 3df_2 - df_3)(X)Y -(3df_2 + (2n - 1)df_3)(X)\eta(Y)\xi +(f_1 - f_3)(3f_2 + (2n - 1)f_3)[g(\phi X, Y)\xi + \eta(Y)\phi X].$$
(2.3.27)

Finally making use of (2.3.26) and (2.3.27) in (2.3.23) completes the proof.

Now we conclude this section with our main result on conformal gradient Ricci soliton which is the following:

Theorem 2.3.4. If a (2n+1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ admits a conformal gradient Ricci soliton (g, Df, λ) then the potential function f is constant, provided f_1 and f_3 are both constants. Furthermore, the soliton is shrinking if $p < [2f_3 - 6f_2 - 2nf_1 - \frac{2}{2n+1}]$, steady if $p = [2f_3 - 6f_2 - 2nf_1 - \frac{2}{2n+1}]$ or, expanding if $p > [2f_3 - 6f_2 - 2nf_1 - \frac{2}{2n+1}]$.

Proof. Let us assume that (g, Df, λ) is a conformal gradient Ricci soliton on the generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$. Now putting $X = \xi$ in (2.3.18) and then taking inner product with arbitrary vector field Z we obtain

$$g(R(\xi, Y)Df, Z) = 2n(df_1 - df_3)(Y)\eta(Z) -2n(df_1 - df_3)(\xi)[g(Y, Z) - \eta(Y)\eta(Z)] +(f_1 - f_3)(3f_2 + (2n - 1)f_3)g(\phi Y, Z),$$
(2.3.28)

for all vector fields Y, Z on the manifold.

Again in view of (2.2.5) and making use of the curvature property $g(R(\xi, Y)Df, Z) = -g(R(\xi, Y)Z, Df)$, we can write

$$g(R(\xi, Y)Df, Z) = (f_3 - f_1)[g(Y, Z)(\xi f) - \eta(Z)(Yf)].$$
(2.3.29)

Equating (2.3.28) and (2.3.29) we deduce

$$(f_3 - f_1)[g(Y, Z)(\xi f) - \eta(Z)(Y f)] = 2n(df_1 - df_3)(Y)\eta(Z) -2n(df_1 - df_3)(\xi)[g(Y, Z) - \eta(Y)\eta(Z)] +(f_1 - f_3)(3f_2 + (2n - 1)f_3)g(\phi Y, Z).$$

Now replacing Z by ξ , the foregoing equation infers that

$$2n(df_1 - df_3)(Y) = (f_3 - f_1)[\eta(Y)(\xi f) - (Yf)],$$

which reduces to

$$[\eta(Y)(\xi f) - (Yf)] = 0$$

provided f_1 and f_3 are both constants. Also this can be rewritten as

$$g(Y, (\xi f)\xi) = g(Y, Df).$$

Since the above holds for all vector field Y on the manifold, we obtain

$$Df = (\xi f)\xi.$$
 (2.3.30)

Differentiating (2.3.30) covariantly along arbitrary vector field X and then using 2.6 yields

$$\nabla_X Df = (X(\xi f))\xi + (f_3 - f_1)(\xi f)\phi X.$$
(2.3.31)

Equating (2.3.31) with (2.3.19) we deduce

$$QX = \left[\lambda - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}\right)\right]X - \left(X(\xi f)\right)\xi - (f_3 - f_1)(\xi f)\phi X.$$
(2.3.32)

Comparing the coefficients of ϕX from (2.3.32) and (2.2.7) we get $(\xi f) = 0$. Using this in (2.3.30) infers that $Df = grad \ f = 0$, which eventually implies that f is constant. This proves first part of the theorem.

Again comparing the coefficients of X from (2.3.32) and (2.2.7) we obtain

$$\lambda = \left[\left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}\right) + \left(2nf_1 - 3f_2 - f_3\right)\right].$$
(2.3.33)

Hence the soliton is shrinking if $\lambda > 0$, steady if $\lambda = 0$ and expanding if $\lambda < 0$. This completes the proof.

2.4 Examples of generalized Sasakian space form admitting conformal Ricci soliton

In this section we discuss examples of generalized Sasakian space form admitting conformal Ricci soliton and Yamabe soliton.

P. Alegre, D. E. Blair and A. Carriazo in their seminal work [3] constructed an example of generalized Sasakian space form as follows:

Example 2.4.1. Consider the manifold $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{C}^m$ endowed with three smooth functions given by

$$f_1 = -\frac{(f')^2}{f^2}, \quad f_2 = 0, \quad f_3 = -\frac{(f')^2}{f^2} + \frac{f''}{f'},$$
 (2.4.1)

for some smooth real valued function f = f(t) and f' denotes the derivative of f with respect to t.

Now if we consider $f(t) = e^{\alpha t}$, for some real number α , then from (2.3.6) we can compute $\lambda = -m\alpha + \frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2m+1}$. Therefore we can comment that the generalized Sasakian space form ($\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{C}^m$, f_1 , f_2 , f_3) admits a conformal Ricci soliton with the soliton constant λ as computed above. Furthermore the conformal Ricci soliton is shrinking if $p < [2m\alpha - \frac{2}{m+1}]$, steady if $p = [2m\alpha - \frac{2}{m+1}]$ and expanding if $p > [2m\alpha - \frac{2}{m+1}]$.

Next, we give a non-trivial example of a conformal Ricci soliton on a three dimensional generalized Sasakian space form as constructed in [77].

Example 2.4.2. Let us consider the 3-dimensional manifold $M = \{(u, v, w) \in \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{(0,0,0)\}\}$. Define a linearly independent set of vector fields $\{E_i : 1 \leq i \leq 3\}$ on the manifold M given by

$$E_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial u} - v \frac{\partial}{\partial w}, \quad E_2 = \frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \quad E_3 = \frac{\partial}{\partial w}.$$

Let us define the Riemannian metric g on M by

$$g(E_i, E_j) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{for } i = j \\ 0, & \text{for } i \neq j \end{cases}$$

for all i, j = 1, 2, 3. Now considering $E_3 = \xi$, let us take the 1-form η , on the manifold M, defined by

$$\eta(U) = g(U, E_3), \quad \forall U \in \chi(M).$$

Then it can be observed that $\eta(\xi) = 1$. Let us define the (1,1) tensor field ϕ on M as

$$\phi(E_1) = -E_2, \quad \phi(E_2) = E_1, \quad \phi(E_3) = 0.$$

Using the linearity of g and ϕ it can be easily checked that

$$\phi^2(U) = -U + \eta(U)\xi, \quad g(\phi U, \phi V) = g(U, V) - \eta(U)\eta(V), \quad \forall U, V \in \chi(M).$$

Hence the structure (g, ϕ, ξ, η) defines an almost contact metric structure on the manifold M. Now, using the definitions of Lie bracket, after some direct computations we get $[E_1, E_2] = E_3$ and $[E_1, E_3] = [E_2, E_3] = 0$. Again the Riemannian connection ∇ of the metric g is defined by the well-known Koszul's formula which is given by

$$2g(\nabla_X Y, Z) = Xg(Y, Z) + Yg(Z, X) - Zg(X, Y) -g(X, [Y, Z]) + g(Y, [Z, X]) + g(Z, [X, Y]).$$

Using the above formula one can easily calculate that

$$\nabla_{E_1} E_1 = 0, \quad \nabla_{E_1} E_2 = \frac{1}{2} E_3, \quad \nabla_{E_1} E_3 = -\frac{1}{2} E_2,$$

$$\nabla_{E_2} E_1 = -\frac{1}{2} E_3, \quad \nabla_{E_2} E_2 = 0, \quad \nabla_{E_2} E_3 = \frac{1}{2} E_1,$$

$$\nabla_{E_3} E_1 = -\frac{1}{2} E_2, \quad \nabla_{E_3} E_2 = \frac{1}{2} E_1, \quad \nabla_{E_3} E_3 = 0.$$

Thus from the above relations and using (1.1.5), the non-vanishing components of the Riemannian curvature tensor R can easily be computed as

$$R(E_1, E_2)E_1 = \frac{3}{4}E_2, \quad R(E_1, E_3)E_1 = -\frac{1}{4}E_3, \quad R(E_2, E_2)E_3 = \frac{1}{4}E_2,$$

$$R(E_1, E_2)E_2 = -\frac{3}{4}E_1, \quad R(E_2, E_3)E_2 = -\frac{1}{4}E_3, \quad R(E_1, E_3)E_3 = \frac{1}{4}E_1.$$

Hence we can calculate the non-vanishing components of the Ricci tensor as follows

$$S(E_1, E_1) = -\frac{1}{2}, \quad S(E_2, E_2) = -\frac{1}{2}, \quad S(E_3, E_3) = \frac{1}{2}$$

Therefore in view of the above values of the Ricci tensor, we can say that the manifold M is a generalized Sasakian space form with the functions $f_1 = -\frac{1}{4}$, $f_2 = 0$ and $f_3 = -\frac{1}{3}$.

Now if we take the soliton vector field $V = \xi = E_3$, then from the equation (1.2.3) we obtain $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} - \frac{1}{6})$. Hence for this value of λ the data (g, ξ, λ) defines a conformal Ricci soliton on the generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$. Moreover we can see that (M, g) is a manifold of constant scalar curvature $r = -\frac{1}{2} = 2 \times 3 \times (f_1 - f_3)$ and hence the theorem (2.3.4) is verified.

Again on this generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$, considering $V = \xi$ in the equation (1.2.8), we compute that $\sigma = -\frac{1}{2}$ and $\mu = 0$. Therefore for this values of σ and μ the data (g, ξ, σ, μ) defines a quasi-Yamabe soliton, which eventually reduces to a Yamabe soliton as $\mu = 0$ and hence the theorem (4.6.1) is verified.

2.5 Conformal Ricci soliton on almost coKähler manifold

Let us consider $(M^{2n+1}, g, \phi, \xi, \eta)$ be a (2n + 1)-dimensional almost coKähler manifold that admits a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) , then equation (1.2.3) holds. In view of the definition of Lie derivative, it follows from (1.2.3) that, for all $Y, Z \in \chi(M)$

$$g(\nabla_Y \beta \xi, Z) + g(Y, \nabla_Z \beta \xi) + 2S(Y, Z) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})]g(Y, Z).$$
(2.5.1)

Now, let the vector field V be pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ , i.e; $V = \beta \xi$, where β is a non-zero smooth function on the corresponding manifold. Then taking covariant differentiation of both sides of $V = \beta \xi$, along the direction of X we get

$$\nabla_X V = X(\beta)\xi + \beta \nabla_X \xi,$$

and using $\nabla \xi = h'$ from equation (2.2.11) the above equation eventually becomes

$$\nabla_X V = X(\beta)\xi + \beta h'X. \tag{2.5.2}$$

Then using (2.5.2) in the equation (2.5.1) we get

$$g(Y\beta\xi + \beta h'Y, Z) + g(Y, Z\beta\xi + \beta h'Z) + 2S(Y, Z) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})]g(Y, Z).$$

Again using from the fact that h' is symmetric and after simplification the above equation finally becomes

$$Y(\beta)\eta(Z) + Z(\beta)\eta(Y) + 2\beta g(h'Y,Z) + 2S(Y,Z) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})]g(Y,Z). \quad (2.5.3)$$

Next, we consider a local ϕ -basis $\{e_j : 1 \leq j \leq 2n+1\}$ on the tangent space T_pM for each point $p \in M^{2n+1}$. Then putting $Y = Z = e_j$ in (2.5.3) and taking summation over $1 \leq j \leq 2n+1$ and also using tr(h') = 0 from (2.2.10) we get

$$\xi(\beta) + r = \left[\lambda - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}\right)\right](2n+1).$$
(2.5.4)

Again putting $Z = \xi$ in the equation (2.5.3) and using symmetry of h' we have

$$Y(\beta) + \xi(\beta)\eta(Y) + 2S(Y,\xi) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})]\eta(Y).$$
(2.5.5)

Now, combining equations (2.5.4) and (2.5.5) and after some calculations we get

$$Y(\beta) + 2S(Y,\xi) = \left[\left[\lambda - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}\right) \right] (1-2n) + r \right] \eta(Y).$$

Thus, from the above it is easily seen that

$$\xi(\beta) + 2S(\xi,\xi) = \left[\lambda - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}\right)\right](1-2n) + r.$$
(2.5.6)

Eliminating $\xi(\beta)$ from equations (2.5.4) and (2.5.6) and after simplification we arrive at

$$2n[\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})] - r + S(\xi,\xi) = 0.$$

Using equation (2.2.12) in the above equation and using the fact that for conformal Ricci flow the scalar curvature r = -1, and then simplifying we get the value of the soliton constant as

$$\lambda = \frac{\|h\|^2 - 1}{2n} + \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}\right). \tag{2.5.7}$$

Therefore in view of the fact that the soliton is shrinking, steady or expanding according as $\lambda > 0$, $\lambda = 0$ or, $\lambda < 0$; from the above equation (3.8) we can state the following theorem

Theorem 2.5.1. Let $(M^{2n+1}, g, \phi, \xi, \eta)$ be an almost coKähler manifold such that the metric g is a conformal Ricci soliton. If the potential vector field V be non-zero pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ , then

- i) the soliton is shrinking if, $p > \frac{1-(2n+1)||h||^2}{(2n^2+n)}$,
- ii) the soliton is steady if, $p = \frac{1-(2n+1)\|h\|^2}{(2n^2+n)}$,
- iii) the soliton is expanding if, $p < \frac{1-(2n+1)\|h\|^2}{(2n^2+n)}$.

Again, if we have $S = \left[\frac{\|h\|^2 - 1}{2n}\right]g$, then from conformal Ricci soliton equation (1.2.3) and using value of the soliton constant λ from (2.5.7) we have $\mathcal{L}_V g = 0$. Therefore we can see that $V = \beta \xi$ is a Killing vector field and hence the soliton becomes trivial. Hence we can state the following corollary.

Corollary 2.5.1. Let $(M^{2n+1}, g, \phi, \xi, \eta)$ be an almost coKähler manifold such that the metric g is a conformal Ricci soliton. If the potential vector field V be non-zero pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ and the Ricci tensor S be a constant multiple of the metric g, with the constant $\frac{\|h\|^2 - 1}{2n}$, (i.e; if $S = [\frac{\|h\|^2 - 1}{2n}]g$), then the soliton is trivial.

2.6 Conformal Ricci soliton on (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold

This section is devoted to the study of (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold which admits a conformal Ricci soliton. Then equation (1.1.21) holds.

Now, putting $Y = \xi$ in (1.1.21) we get

$$R(X,\xi)\xi = k[X - \eta(X)\xi] + \mu[hX - \eta(X)h\xi].$$

Then using the definition of $l := R(.,\xi)\xi$ and from equation (2.2.10) using the fact that $h\xi = 0$, we can write

$$l = -k\phi^2 + \mu h.$$

Combining the previous equation with (2.2.13) and after a brief calculation we get $h^2 = k\phi^2$. Thus, it is clear that the manifold M^{2n+1} is K-almost coKähler if and ony if, k = 0.

Now, we state a lemma (for proof see lemma 4.1 of [95]) which is used later in this section and in the next section of this chapter.

Lemma 2.6.1. Let $(M^{2n+1}, g, \phi, \xi, \eta)$ be a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold of dimension greater than 3 with k < 0. Then the Ricci operator is given by

$$Q = \mu h + 2nk\eta \otimes \xi, \tag{2.6.1}$$

where k is a non-zero constant and μ is a smooth function satisfying $d\mu \wedge \eta = 0$.

Now let us consider the metric g of the (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold admits a conformal Ricci soliton. Then from the soliton equation (1.2.3) and using the definition of the Lie derivative we can write

$$g(\nabla_X V, Y) + g(X, \nabla_Y V) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})]g(X, Y).$$
(2.6.2)

Then, substituting $V = \xi$ in the above equation (2.6.2) and using the result $\nabla \xi = h'$ from (2.2.11) we get

$$g(h'X,Y) + g(X,h'Y) + 2S(X,Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})]g(X,Y).$$

Again as h' is symmetric the above equation implies

$$g(h'X,Y) + g(QX,Y) = \left[\lambda - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}\right)\right]g(X,Y).$$
(2.6.3)

Now, in view of the lemma(4.1) putting value of the Ricci operator Q, from equation (2.6.1), in the above equation (2.6.3) we get

$$g(h'X,Y) + g(\mu hX,Y) + 2nk\eta(X)\eta(Y) = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]g(X,Y).$$
(2.6.4)

Thus putting $Y = \xi$ in the above (2.6.4) and using $h\phi + \phi h = 0$ from (2.2.10) we finally get

$$2nk = \left[\lambda - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}\right)\right].$$
(2.6.5)

Now, as it is mentioned in the lemma(4.1) that k < 0, so from the above relation (2.6.5) we can conclude that $[\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})] < 0$ that is; $\lambda < (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})$. Thus if $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}) \leq 0$, i.e; if, $p \leq \frac{-2}{2n+1}$ then $\lambda < 0$ and therefore the soliton is expanding. So, in view of the above we have the following theorem.

Theorem 2.6.1. Let $(M^{2n+1}, g, \phi, \xi, \eta)$ be a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold of dimension greater than 3 with k < 0 and the metric g admits a conformal Ricci soliton. Then the soliton is expanding if the conformal pressure p satisfy the inequality $p \leq \frac{-2}{2n+1}$.

2.7 Conformal gradient Ricci soliton on (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold

This section is devoted to the study of conformal gradient Ricci soliton on (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold. So, let us first give the statement of our main theorem of this section.

Theorem 2.7.1. Let $(M^{2n+1}, g, \phi, \xi, \eta)$ be a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold of dimension greater than 3 with k < 0. Then there exist no conformal gradient Ricci soliton on the manifold, with the potential vector field V pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ .

Proof. Let us assume that the manifold admits a conformal gradient Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) . Then equation (1.2.4) holds. Now as the soliton is of gradient type, i.e; V = Df, for some smooth function f and D is the gradient operator. Thus for any vector field $X \in \chi(M)$, the equation (1.2.4) can be rewritten as

$$\nabla_X Df + QX = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]X.$$
(2.7.1)

Replacing X by Y in the above equation (2.7.1) we get

$$\nabla_Y Df + QY = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]Y.$$
(2.7.2)

Similarly replacing X by [X, Y] in (2.7.1) we get

$$\nabla_{[X,Y]}Df + Q[X,Y] = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})][X,Y].$$
(2.7.3)

Using equations (2.7.1)-(2.7.3) in the Riemannian curvature formula (1.1.5) and after some simple calculations we get

$$R(X,Y)Df = (\nabla_Y Q)X - (\nabla_X Q)Y.$$
(2.7.4)

Again for any vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$, using equation (2.6.1) we obtain

$$(\nabla_Y Q)X - (\nabla_X Q)Y = \mu((\nabla_Y h)X - (\nabla_X h)Y) + 2nk(\eta(X)h'Y - \eta(Y)h'X) + Y(\mu)hX - X(\mu)hY.$$
(2.7.5)

Now we recall an equation from Proposition 9 of the paper [71]. The result is, for any vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$,

$$(\nabla_X h)Y - (\nabla_Y h)X = k(\eta(Y)\phi X - \eta(X)\phi Y + 2g(\phi X, Y)\xi) + \mu(\eta(X)h'Y - \eta(Y)h'X).$$
(2.7.6)

Then using (2.7.5) in (2.7.4) and then using (2.7.6), a simple computation gives that

$$R(X,Y)Df = k\mu(\eta(X)\phi Y - \eta(Y)\phi X + 2g(X,\phi Y)\xi) - \mu^{2}(\eta(X)h'Y - \eta(Y)h'X) + Y(\mu)hX - X(\mu)hY + 2nk(\eta(X)h'Y - \eta(Y)h'X),$$
(2.7.7)

for any vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$. Putting $X = \xi$ in the above equation (2.7.7) we get

$$R(\xi, Y)Df = k\mu(\phi Y) - \xi(\mu)hY - \mu^{2}(h'Y) + 2nk(h'Y).$$

Replacing Y by X in the above equation and then taking inner product with respect to arbitrary vector Y gives us

$$g(R(\xi, X)Df, Y) = k\mu g(\phi X, Y) - \xi(\mu)g(hX, Y) - \mu^2 g(h'X, Y) + 2nkg(h'X, Y).$$
(2.7.8)

Again for a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold, using equation (1.1.21) we can write

$$R(\xi, X)Y = k[g(X, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X] + \mu[g(hX, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)hX].$$

Taking inner-product of the equation with respect to the vector field Df and using the fact that g(X, Df) = (Xf) we get

$$g(R(\xi, X)Y, Df) = k[g(X, Y)(\xi f) - \eta(Y)(Xf)] + \mu[g(hX, Y)(\xi f) - \eta(Y)((hX)f)].$$
(2.7.9)

Now combining (2.7.8) and (2.7.9) and using g(R(X,Y)Z,U) = -g(R(X,Y)U,Z), for any vector fields $X, Y, Z, U \in \chi(M)$, yields

$$k\mu g(\phi X, Y) - \xi(\mu)g(hX, Y) - \mu^2 g(h'X, Y) + 2nkg(h'X, Y)$$

= $k\eta(Y)(Xf) - kg(X, Y)(\xi f) - \mu g(hX, Y)(\xi f) + \mu \eta(Y)((hX)f).$ (2.7.10)

Antisymmetrizing the above equation we get

$$k\mu[g(\phi X, Y) - g(X, \phi Y)] = k[\eta(Y)(Xf) - \eta(X)(Yf)] + \mu[\eta(Y)((hX)f)] - \eta(X)((hY)f). \quad (2.7.11)$$

Now as per our assumption $V = b\xi$, it is easy to see that h'(Df) = 0. This again implies, (h'X)f = g(h'X, Df) = g(X, h'(Df)) = 0. Similarly (h'Y)f = 0. Thus

$$(h(\phi X))f = 0, \quad (h(\phi Y))f = 0.$$
 (2.7.12)

Using antisymmetry of ϕ and then putting $X = \phi X$ in equation (2.7.10) and using (2.7.11) we get

$$-2\mu g(X,Y) + \mu \eta(X)\eta(Y) = \eta(Y)((\phi X)f).$$
(2.7.13)

Putting $Y = \xi$ in the above (2.7.12) yields

$$-\mu g(X,\xi) = g(\phi X, Df).$$
(2.7.14)

Then again using $X = \phi X$ in the above equation (2.7.13) we get $g(X, Df) = g(X, \xi(\xi f))$. This gives us

$$Df = (\xi f)\xi. \tag{2.7.15}$$

Covariant differentiation of equation (2.7.14) along the direction of X we get

$$\nabla_X Df = (X(\xi f))\xi + (\xi f)(h'X).$$
(2.7.16)

Again from the equation (2.7.1) we have

$$\nabla_X Df = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]X - QX.$$
(2.7.17)

Thus combining equations (2.7.15) and (2.7.16) we get

$$QX = \left[\lambda - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}\right)\right]X - \left(X(\xi f)\right)\xi - (\xi f)(h'X).$$
(2.7.18)

Again, the value of Q from lemma(4.1) gives us

$$QX = \mu h X + 2nk\eta(X)\xi. \tag{2.7.19}$$

Now, comparing right hand sides of (2.7.17) and (2.7.18) we get, $d^2f = -2nk$, where d is the exterior derivative of f. Again from the well-known Poincare lemma of exterior differentiation we know that, $d^2 = 0$ and this implies, -2nk = 0, which is a contradiction to our assumption that k < 0. This completes the proof.

2.8 Conformal Ricci soliton on $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds

Let us consider $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ be an *n*-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold. Again we know that, for all vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$, the 1-form η satisfies the equation

$$(\nabla_X \eta)(Y) = \nabla_X \eta(Y) - \eta(\nabla_X Y).$$
(2.8.1)

Using the equation (1.1.24) in the above equation (2.8.1), after a simple calculation, we get

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) = 2\alpha[g(X,Y) + \eta(X)\eta(Y)].$$
(2.8.2)

Now applying the conformal Ricci soliton equation (1.2.3) in the above equation (2.8.2) we have

$$S(X,Y) = [(\lambda - \alpha) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]g(X,Y) - \alpha\eta(X)\eta(Y).$$
(2.8.3)

Let us take $\sigma = [(\lambda - \alpha) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]$. Then we can rewrite the above equation (2.8.3) as

$$S(X,Y) = \sigma g(X,Y) - \alpha \eta(X)\eta(Y).$$
(2.8.4)

which shows that the manifold is an η -Einstein manifold.

Now since the above is true for all vector fields X and Y, using the relation S(X, Y) = g(QX, Y) in the above equation (2.8.4) we have

$$QX = \sigma X - \alpha \eta(X)\xi. \tag{2.8.5}$$

Again taking $Y = \xi$ in the equation (2.8.4) we get

$$S(X,\xi) = (\sigma + \alpha)\eta(X). \tag{2.8.6}$$

Let us consider an orthonormal basis $\{e_i : 1 \leq i \leq n\}$ of the manifold (M, g). Then putting $X = Y = e_i$ in the equation (2.8.4) and summing over $1 \leq i \leq n$, we have $r(g) = n\sigma + \alpha$. But we know that for conformal Ricci flow, r(g) = -1, which leads us to get $\sigma = -(\frac{\alpha+1}{n})$. Again we have $\sigma = [(\lambda - \alpha) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]$, using this in the previous result we get

$$\lambda = \frac{p}{2} + (1 - \frac{1}{n})\alpha.$$
 (2.8.7)

So, from the above discussions, using equations (2.8.4) and (2.8.7), we can state the following theorem

Theorem 2.8.1. Let $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ be an n-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold admitting a conformal Ricci soliton. Then

- i) The manifold becomes an η -Einstein manifold.
- ii) The value of the soliton scalar λ is equal to $\lambda = \frac{p}{2} + (1 \frac{1}{n})\alpha$.
- iii) The soliton is shrinking, steady or expanding according as the conformal pressure $p < 2(\frac{1-n}{n})\alpha$, $p = 2(\frac{1-n}{n})\alpha$ or $p > 2(\frac{1-n}{n})\alpha$.

Next, we present some results regarding various curvature tensors. Let us first consider the projective curvature tensor on an *n*-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold. Now for an $(LCS)_n$ -manifold of dimension *n*, putting $Z = \xi$ in (1.1.1) we get

$$P(X,Y)\xi = R(X,Y)\xi - \frac{1}{(n-1)}[S(Y,\xi)X - S(X,\xi)Y].$$

Using (2.2.18) and (2.8.6) the above equation becomes

$$P(X,Y)\xi = [(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{\sigma + \alpha}{(n-1)}][\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y].$$
(2.8.8)

Again combining equations (2.2.21) and (2.8.6) we have

$$[(\alpha^2 - \rho)(n-1) - \sigma - \alpha]\eta(X) = 0, \qquad (2.8.9)$$

which essentially gives us

$$[(\alpha^2 - \rho)(n-1)] = (\sigma + \alpha).$$
(2.8.10)

Now in view of (2.8.10), the equation (2.8.8) yields us $P(X, Y)\xi = 0$ for any vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$. Thus we have the following

Theorem 2.8.2. If $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ is an n-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold admitting a conformal Ricci soliton, then the manifold becomes ξ -projectively flat, ξ being the characteristic vector field of the manifold.

Now we consider the concircular curvature tensor on an *n*-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ manifold. So, for an $(LCS)_n$ -manifold of dimension *n*, putting $Z = \xi$ in (1.1.2) we get

$$C(X,Y)\xi = R(X,Y)\xi - \frac{r}{n(n-1)}[\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y].$$

Using (2.2.18) the above equation becomes

$$C(X,Y)\xi = [(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{r}{n(n-1)}][\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y].$$
(2.8.11)

Again in view of equation (2.8.10), the above equation (2.8.11) becomes

$$C(X,Y)\xi = \left[\frac{(\sigma+\alpha)}{(n-1)} - \frac{r}{n(n-1)}\right] [\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y].$$
(2.8.12)

Now in view of equation (2.8.12), we can say that $C(X, Y)\xi = 0$ iff $r = n(\sigma + \alpha)$. Again using the fact that for conformal Ricci flow r = -1 and using $\sigma = [(\lambda - \alpha) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]$ we eventually get $C(X, Y)\xi = 0$ iff $\lambda = \frac{p}{2}$. This leads to the following theorem

Theorem 2.8.3. If $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ is an n-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold admitting a conformal Ricci soliton, then the manifold becomes ξ -concircularly flat iff $\lambda = \frac{p}{2}$, ξ being the characteristic vector field of the manifold and p is the conformal pressure.

Let us now consider the conharmonic curvature tensor on an $(LCS)_n$ -manifold of dimension n. Then, putting $Z = \xi$ in (1.1.3) we have

$$H(X,Y)\xi = R(X,Y)\xi - \frac{1}{(n-2)}[\eta(Y)QX - \eta(X)QY + S(Y,\xi)X - S(X,\xi)Y]$$

Using (2.2.18), (2.8.5) and (2.8.6) the above equation yields

$$H(X,Y)\xi = [(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{(2\sigma + \alpha)}{(n-2)}][\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y].$$
 (2.8.13)

Again in view of equation (2.8.10), the above equation (2.8.13) becomes

$$H(X,Y)\xi = \left[\frac{(-n\sigma - \alpha)}{(n-1)(n-2)}\right] [\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y].$$
(2.8.14)

Thus from the above (2.8.14) we can conclude that $H(X, Y)\xi = 0$ iff $n\sigma = -\alpha$. Moreover, using the value $\sigma = [(\lambda - \alpha) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]$ and after few steps of calculations we have $H(X, Y)\xi = 0$ iff $\lambda = \frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n} + (1 - \frac{1}{n})\alpha$. Thus we can state the following:

Theorem 2.8.4. If $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ is an n-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold admitting a conformal Ricci soliton, then the manifold becomes ξ -conharmonically flat iff $\lambda = \frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n} + (1 - \frac{1}{n})\alpha$, ξ being the characteristic vector field of the manifold and p is the conformal pressure.

Next, let us consider a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) on an *n*-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ manifold M and hence equation (1.2.3) holds. Now assume that, the potential vector field V is pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ , that is, $V = b\xi$, where b is a smooth function on M. Then for any vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$, from equation (1.2.3) we can write

$$\mathcal{L}_{b\xi}g(X,Y) + 2S(X,Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X,Y).$$
(2.8.15)

Again from the property of the Lie derivative of the Levi-Civita connection we know that $\mathcal{L}_Z g(X,Y) = g(\nabla_X Z,Y) + g(\nabla_Y Z,X)$. Applying this formula in the above equation (2.8.15) and then using $\phi X = \frac{1}{\alpha} \nabla_X \xi$ we get

$$b\alpha g(\phi X, Y) + (Xb)\eta(Y) + b\alpha g(\phi Y, X) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y).$$
(2.8.16)

Putting $Y = \xi$ in (2.8.16) and using the equations (2.2.16) we obtain

$$2S(X,\xi) - (Xb) + (\xi b)\eta(X) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]\eta(X).$$
(2.8.17)

Using equation (2.8.6) in the above (2.8.17) and then putting the value $\sigma = [(\lambda - \alpha) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]$ gives us

$$(Xb) = (\xi b)\eta X.$$
 (2.8.18)

Again putting $X = \xi$ in the equation (2.8.17) we have

$$S(\xi,\xi) - (\xi b) + [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})] = 0.$$
(2.8.19)

Now, in view of equation (2.8.6) and $\sigma = [(\lambda - \alpha) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]$, the above equation (2.8.19) yields $(\xi b) = 0$. Furthermore, using $(\xi b) = 0$ in equation (2.8.18) we can conclude that (Xb)=0, for any vector field $X \in \chi(M)$. And this implies that the function b is constant and hence V is a constant multiple of ξ . Therefore we have the following theorem

Theorem 2.8.5. Let $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ be an n-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold which admits a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) , V being the potential vector field of the manifold. If the potential vector field V is pointwise collinear with the characteristic vector field ξ , i.e; if $V = b\xi$, then b is constant, i.e; V becomes constant multiple of ξ .

Next, we study an important curvature property called ξ -Ricci semi symmetry.

Let $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ be an *n*-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold. Then we say that the manifold M is ξ -Ricci semi symmetric if, $R(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$ in M, where ξ is the characteristic vector field, R is the Riemannian curvature tensor, S is the Ricci tensor.

Let us start with the known formula that for any vector fields X, Y, Z on M,

$$R(\xi, X) \cdot S = S(R(\xi, X)Y, Z) + S(Y, R(\xi, X)Z).$$
(2.8.20)

Now, using (2.2.19) the above equation (2.8.20) yields

$$R(\xi, X) \cdot S = (\alpha^2 - \rho)[g(X, Y)S(\xi, Z) - \eta(Y)S(X, Z) + S(Y, \xi)g(X, Z) - \eta(Z)S(Y, X)].$$

Using (2.2.21) in the above equation and after few steps we get

$$R(\xi, X) \cdot S = \alpha (\alpha^2 - \rho) [g(X, Y)\eta(Z) + g(X, Z)\eta(Y) + 2\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z)].$$
(2.8.21)

Now note that $(\alpha^2 - \rho) = 0$ implies $\lambda = \frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}$, which is the trivial case. Thus for non-triviality we assume $(\alpha^2 - \rho) \neq 0$. Again as α is a non-zero scalar, from (2.8.21) we can state the following:

Theorem 2.8.6. If $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ is an n-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold admitting a conformal Ricci soliton, then the manifold becomes ξ -Ricci semi symmetric, i.e; $R(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$ iff the Lorentzian metric g satisfies the relation

$$g(X,Y)\eta(Z) + g(X,Z)\eta(Y) + 2\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z) = 0.$$

for any vector fields $X, Y, Z \in \chi(M)$, ξ being the characteristic vector field.

2.9 Conformal Ricci soliton on $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds satisfying certain curvature conditions

In this section we characterize conformal Ricci soliton on $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds satisfying certain types of curvature conditions.

First let (M, g) be an *n*-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold and then the conharmonic curvature tensor on M is given by equation (1.1.3). Interchanging Z and X and then putting $Z = \xi$ in (1.1.3) we get

$$H(\xi, X)Y = R(\xi, X)Y - \frac{1}{n-2}[S(X, Y)\xi - S(\xi, Y)X + g(X, Y)Q\xi - g(\xi, Y)QX].$$

Using (2.2.19), (2.8.4), (2.8.5) and (2.8.6) in the previous equation yields

$$H(\xi, X)Y = [(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{(2\sigma + \alpha)}{(n-2)}][g(X, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X].$$
 (2.9.1)

Also from (2.9.1) we can write

$$\eta(H(\xi, X)Y) = -[(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{(2\sigma + \alpha)}{(n-2)}][g(X, Y) + \eta(X)\eta(Y)].$$
(2.9.2)

Now we assume that $H(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$ holds. Then we have

$$S(H(\xi, X)Y, Z) + S(Y, H(\xi, X)Z) = 0.$$
(2.9.3)

In view of (2.8.4) the above (2.9.3) yields

$$\sigma[g(H(\xi, X)Y, Z) + g(Y, H(\xi, X)Z)] - \alpha[\eta(H(\xi, X)Z)\eta(Y) + \eta(H(\xi, X)Y)\eta(Z)] = 0.$$

Using (2.9.1) and (2.9.2) in the above equation we get

$$\alpha[(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{(2\sigma + \alpha)}{(n-2)}][g(X,Y)\eta(Z) + g(X,Z)\eta(Y) + 2\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z)] = 0.$$
(2.9.4)

Finally taking $Z = \xi$ in equation (2.9.4) and then using (2.2.17) we arrive at

$$\alpha[(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{(2\sigma + \alpha)}{(n-2)}]g(\phi X, \phi Y) = 0.$$
(2.9.5)

Since α is non-zero and $g(\phi X, \phi Y) \neq 0$ always; then $[(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{(2\sigma + \alpha)}{(n-2)}] = 0$ i.e; $\lambda = \frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n} + (1 - \frac{1}{n})\alpha$. Therefore we can state the following theorem:

Theorem 2.9.1. If $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ is an n-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold which admits a conformal Ricci soliton, and satisfies the condition $H(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$ i.e; the manifold is ξ -Ricci conharomnically symmetric. Then the soliton constant is given by $\lambda = \frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n} + (1 - \frac{1}{n})\alpha$; where H is the conharmonic curvature tensor and S is the Ricci tensor of the manifold and ξ is the characteristic vector field.

Next we study another important curvature tensor called \tilde{M} -projective curvature tensor [5]. The \tilde{M} -projective curvature tensor on an $(LCS)_n$ -manifold is given by

$$\tilde{M}(X,Y)Z = R(X,Y)Z - \frac{1}{2(n-1)}[S(Y,Z)X - S(X,Z)Y + g(Y,Z)QX - g(X,Z)QY].$$
(2.9.6)

Taking inner product with respect to the vector field ξ , the above (2.9.5) yields

$$\eta(\tilde{M}(X,Y)Z) = \eta(R(X,Y)Z) - \frac{1}{2(n-1)}[S(Y,Z)\eta(X) - S(X,Z)\eta(Y) \quad (2.9.7) + g(Y,Z)S(X,\xi) - g(X,Z)S(Y,\xi)].$$

Using (2.2.20), (2.8.4) and (2.8.5) in the above equation we get

$$\eta(\tilde{M}(X,Y)Z) = [(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{(2\sigma + \alpha)}{2(n-1)}][g(Y,Z)\eta(X) - g(X,Z)\eta(Y)].$$
(2.9.8)

Now we assume the condition that $R(\xi, X) \cdot \tilde{M} = 0$. Then we have

$$R(\xi, X)\tilde{M}(Y, Z)W - \tilde{M}(R(\xi, X)Y, Z)W - \tilde{M}(Y, R(\xi, X)Z)W - \tilde{M}(Y, Z)R(\xi, X)W = 0.$$
(2.9.9)

Using (2.2.19) in (2.9.8) and then taking an inner product with respect to ξ we get

$$-g(X, \tilde{M}(Y, Z)W) - \eta(X)\eta(\tilde{M}(Y, Z)W) - g(X, Y)\eta(\tilde{M}(\xi, Z)W) + \eta(Y)\eta(\tilde{M}(X, Z)W) - g(X, Z)\eta(\tilde{M}(Y, \xi)W) + \eta(Z)\eta(\tilde{M}(Y, X)W) - g(X, W)\eta(\tilde{M}(Y, Z)\xi) + \eta(W)\eta(\tilde{M}(Y, Z)X) = 0.$$
(2.9.10)

Then in view of (2.9.7) the above (2.9.9) becomes

$$[(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{(2\sigma + \alpha)}{2(n-1)}][g(Y, W)g(X, Z) - g(X, Y)g(Z, W)] + g(X, \tilde{M}(Y, Z)W) = 0.$$
(2.9.11)

From (2.9.5) and (2.9.10) we get

$$[(\alpha^{2} - \rho) - \frac{(2\sigma + \alpha)}{2(n-1)}][g(Y,W)g(X,Z) - g(X,Y)g(Z,W)] + g(X,R(Y,Z)W) - \frac{1}{2(n-1)}[S(Z,W)g(X,Y) - S(Y,W)g(X,Z) + g(Z,W)S(Y,X) - g(Y,W)S(Z,X)] = 0.$$
(2.9.12)

Let us consider an orthonormal basis $\{e_i : 1 \le i \le n\}$ of the manifold (M, g). Then putting $X = Y = e_i$ in the equation (2.9.11) and summing over $1 \le i \le n$, we get

$$2nS(Z,W) = [2(n-1)^2(\alpha^2 - \rho) - (n-1)(2\sigma + \alpha) - r]g(Z,W).$$
(2.9.13)

Again putting $Z = W = \xi$ in above and using equation (2.8.6) we get

$$2(n-1)^2(\alpha^2 - \rho) - (5n-2)[\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})] + 2n\alpha = 0.$$
 (2.9.14)

Now using (2.8.10) in the above equation (2.9.13) and after a simple calculation we arrive at

$$\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - 2\alpha.$$
(2.9.15)

Thus we have the following theorem

Theorem 2.9.2. Let $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ be an n-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold admitting a conformal Ricci soliton and the manifold is ξ - \tilde{M} -projectively semi symmetric i.e; it satisfies the condition $R(\xi, X) \cdot \tilde{M} = 0$; ξ being the characteristic vector field, \tilde{M} is the M-projective curvature tensor of the manifold. Then the soliton is shrinking, steady or expanding according as $p > (4\alpha - \frac{2}{n}), p = (4\alpha - \frac{2}{n})$ or $p < (4\alpha - \frac{2}{n})$.

Next we prove an interesting result on $(LCS)_n$ -manifold admitting a conformal Ricci soliton and satisfying the condition $R(\xi, X) \cdot \tilde{P} = 0$, where \tilde{P} denotes the well-known Pseudo-projective curvature tensor. But before that let us recall some well-known results that will be used later in this section:

Theorem 2.9.3. [69] If S : g(x, y, z) = c is a surface in \mathbb{R}^3 then the gradient vector field ∇g (connected only at a point of S) is a non-vanishing normal vector field on the entire surface S.

S.R. Ashoka et.al. in their paper [5] have given the higher dimensional version of the above theorem as follows:

Corollary 2.9.1. [5] If S : g(x, y, z) = c is a surface (abstract surface or manifold) in \mathbb{R}^n then the gradient vector field ∇g (connected only at points of S) is a non-vanishing normal vector field on the entire surface (abstract surface or manifold) S.

Then the above mentioned authors in [5] also gave the following remark from the above corollary as:

Remark 2.9.1. [5] Taking a real valued scalar function α associated with an $(LCS)_n$ manifold with $M = \mathbb{R}^3$ and $g = \alpha$ in the above corollary we have, $\nabla \alpha$ as a non-vanishing normal vector field on $S \subset M$ and directional derivative of α with respect to ξ , $\xi \alpha = \xi$, $\nabla \alpha = |\xi| |\nabla \alpha| \cos(\hat{\xi}, \nabla \alpha)$

- i) If ξ is tangent to S then $\xi \alpha = 0$.
- ii) If ξ is tangent to M but not to S then $\xi \alpha \neq 0$.
- iii) If the angle between ξ and $\nabla \alpha$ is acute then $0 < \cos(\hat{\xi}, \nabla \alpha) < 1$, then $\xi \alpha = k |\nabla \alpha|$, 0 < k < 1 and $\xi \alpha > 0$.
- iv) If the angle between ξ and $\nabla \alpha$ is obtuse then $-1 < \cos(\hat{\xi}, \nabla \alpha) < 0$, then $\xi \alpha = k |\nabla \alpha|$, -1 < k < 0 and $\xi \alpha < 0$.

Now we see the dependance of the conformal Ricci soliton on $\xi \alpha$ for $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds satisfying $R(\xi, X) \cdot \tilde{P} = 0$. The Pseudo projective curvature tensor \tilde{P} is defined by

$$\tilde{P}(X,Y)Z = aR(X,Y)Z + b[S(Y,Z)X - S(X,Z)Y] - \frac{r}{n}(\frac{a}{n-1} + b)[g(Y,Z)X - g(X,Z)Y], \quad (2.9.16)$$

where $a, b \neq 0$ are constants. Taking $Z = \xi$ in (2.9.15) we get

$$\tilde{P}(X,Y)\xi = aR(X,Y)\xi + b[S(Y,\xi)X - S(X,\xi)Y] - \frac{r}{n}(\frac{a}{n-1} + b)[\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y]. \quad (2.9.17)$$

Using (2.2.18) and (2.8.6) the above equation (2.9.16) yields

$$\tilde{P}(X,Y)\xi = [a(\alpha^2 - \rho) + b(\sigma + \alpha) - \frac{r}{n}(\frac{a}{n-1} + b)][\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y], \qquad (2.9.18)$$

where σ is as described in the previous section. Again from (2.9.15) we can write

$$\begin{split} \eta(\tilde{P}(X,Y)Z) &= a\eta(R(X,Y)Z) + b[S(Y,Z)\eta(X) - S(X,Z)\eta(Y)] \\ &\quad - \frac{r}{n}(\frac{a}{n-1} + b)[g(Y,Z)\eta(X) - g(X,Z)\eta(Y)]. \end{split}$$

Using (2.2.20) and (2.8.4) the above equation becomes

$$\eta(\tilde{P}(X,Y)Z) = [a(\alpha^2 - \rho) + b\sigma - \frac{r}{n}(\frac{a}{n-1} + b)][g(Y,Z)\eta(X) - g(X,Z)\eta(Y)]. \quad (2.9.19)$$

Now we assume the condition that $R(\xi, X) \cdot \tilde{P} = 0$. Then we have

$$R(\xi, X)\tilde{P}(U, V)W - \tilde{P}(R(\xi, X)U, V)W - \tilde{P}(U, R(\xi, X)V)W - \tilde{P}(U, V)R(\xi, X)W = 0, \quad (2.9.20)$$

for any vector fields $X, U, V, W \in \chi(M)$. Using (2.2.19) in the above equation and then taking an inner product with respect to ξ we get

$$\begin{split} &-g(X,\tilde{P}(U,V)W)-\eta(X)\eta(\tilde{P}(U,V)W)-g(X,U)\eta(\tilde{P}(\xi,V)W) \\ &+\eta(U)\eta(\tilde{P}(X,V)W)-g(X,U)\eta(\tilde{P}(U,\xi)W)+\eta(V)\eta(\tilde{P}(U,X)W) \\ &-g(X,W)\eta(\tilde{P}(U,V)\xi)+\eta(W)\eta(\tilde{P}(U,V)X)=0. \end{split}$$

Then using (2.9.17) and (2.9.18) the above equation becomes

$$[a(\alpha^{2} - \rho) + b\sigma - \frac{r}{n}(\frac{a}{n-1} + b)][g(X, V)g(U, W) - g(X, U)g(V, W)] + g(X, \tilde{P}(U, V)W) = 0. \quad (2.9.21)$$

Now in view of (2.9.15) and then using (2.8.4) in the equation (2.9.20) we get

$$ag(X, R(U, V)W) - b\alpha[\eta(V)\eta(W)g(X, U) - \eta(U)\eta(W)g(X, V)] + a(\alpha^2 - \rho)[g(X, V)g(U, W) - g(X, U)g(V, W)] = 0. \quad (2.9.22)$$

Let us consider an orthonormal basis $\{e_i : 1 \leq i \leq n\}$ of the manifold (M, g). Then putting $X = U = e_i$ in the equation (2.9.21) and summing over $1 \leq i \leq n$, we get

$$aS(V,W) - b(n-1)\alpha\eta(V)\eta(W) - a(n-1)(\alpha^2 - \rho)g(V,W) = 0.$$
(2.9.23)

Again setting $V = W = \xi$ in (2.9.22) and after a few steps of simple calculations we get

$$\lambda = (n-1)[(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{b}{a}\alpha] + (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}).$$
(2.9.24)

Therefore in view of (2.9.24) and Remark 2.9.1 we can state the following:

Theorem 2.9.4. Let $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ be an n-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold which admits a conformal Ricci soliton and the manifold is ξ -pseudo-projectively semi symmetric i.e; if it satisfies the condition $R(\xi, X) \cdot \tilde{P} = 0$; ξ being the characteristic vector field, \tilde{P} is the pseudo-projective curvature tensor of the manifold and α is a positive function, then

- i) If ξ is orthogonal to $\nabla \alpha$; the soliton is expanding if $\alpha > \frac{b}{a}$, $p > -\frac{2}{n}$; steady if $\alpha = \frac{b}{a}$, $p = -\frac{2}{n}$ and shrinking if $\alpha < \frac{b}{a}$, $p < -\frac{2}{n}$.
- ii) If the angle between ξ and $\nabla \alpha$ is acute; the soliton is expanding if $\alpha^2 + k |\nabla \alpha| > \frac{b}{a} \alpha$, $p > -\frac{2}{n}$; steady if $\alpha^2 + k |\nabla \alpha| = \frac{b}{a} \alpha$, $p = -\frac{2}{n}$ and shrinking if $\alpha^2 + k |\nabla \alpha| < \frac{b}{a} \alpha$, $p < -\frac{2}{n}$.
- iii) If the angle between ξ and $\nabla \alpha$ is obtuse; the soliton is expanding if $\alpha^2 > k |\nabla \alpha| + \frac{b}{a} \alpha$, $p > -\frac{2}{n}$; steady if $\alpha^2 = k |\nabla \alpha| + \frac{b}{a} \alpha$, $p = -\frac{2}{n}$ and shrinking if $\alpha^2 < k |\nabla \alpha| + \frac{b}{a} \alpha$, $p < -\frac{2}{n}$.

2.10 Conformal Ricci soliton on warped product manifolds

This section deals with the study of conformal Ricci soliton on warped product manifolds. Basically here we want to see if a warped product manifold admits a conformal Ricci soliton then how its effect is on the base and the fiber i.e; we try to find out under which conditions they become conformal Ricci soliton.

So, let us assume that $(M, g) = (B \times_f F, g_B \oplus f^2 g_F)$ be an warped product of two Riemannian manifolds (B, g_B) and (F, g_F) with dimB = m and dimF = n. Now let (M, g, μ, ξ) be a conformal Ricci soliton, where $\mu = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]$. Then from equation (1.2.3) we get

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g + 2S = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g = \mu g.$$
(2.10.1)

Again note that from the lemma 2.2.1 (for details see [8]) following two well-known formulas for warped product manifolds can easily be deduced

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g = \mathcal{L}^{B}_{\xi_{B}}g_{B} + f^{2}\mathcal{L}^{F}_{\xi_{F}}g_{F} + 2f\xi_{B}(f)g_{F}, \qquad (2.10.2)$$

$$S = S^{B} - \frac{n}{f}H^{f} + S^{F} - \tilde{f}g_{F}, \qquad (2.10.3)$$

where $\tilde{f} = f\Delta f + (n-1) \|\nabla f\|_B^2$. Now in equation (2.10.1) using the definition of the warped metric from equation (1.1.31) and then applying the values from the above two equations (2.10.2) and (2.10.3) we have

$$\mu(g_B + f^2 g_F) = \mu g$$

= $\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g + 2S$
= $\mathcal{L}_{\xi_B}^B g_B + f^2 \mathcal{L}_{\xi_F}^F g_F + 2f \xi_B(f) g_F + 2S^B$
 $-2\frac{n}{f} H^f + 2S^F - 2\tilde{f} g_F,$ (2.10.4)

Again for all $U, V \in \chi(B)$, using the definition of Lie derivation we can write

$$(\mathcal{L}^{B}_{\xi_{B}}g_{B})(U,V) = g_{B}(D^{B}_{U}\xi_{B},V) + g_{B}(U,D^{B}_{V}\xi_{B}).$$
(2.10.5)

Now from the definition of Hessian and the above equation (2.10.5) we have

$$(\mathcal{L}^{B}_{\xi_{B}}g_{B} - 2\frac{n}{f}H^{f})(U, V) = g_{B}(D^{B}_{U}\xi_{B}, V) + g_{B}(U, D^{B}_{V}\xi_{B}) - 2\frac{n}{f}g_{B}(D^{B}_{U}\nabla^{B}f, V).$$

The above equation can be rewritten as

$$(\mathcal{L}^{B}_{\xi_{B}}g_{B} - 2\frac{n}{f}H^{f})(U,V) = (g_{B}(D^{B}_{U}\xi_{B},V) - \frac{n}{f}g_{B}(D^{B}_{U}\nabla^{B}f,V)) + (g_{B}(U,D^{B}_{V}\xi_{B}) - \frac{n}{f}g_{B}(D^{B}_{U}\nabla^{B}f,V)) = g_{B}(D^{B}_{U}(\xi_{B} - n\nabla^{B}\ln f),V) + g_{B}(U,D^{B}_{V}(\xi_{B} - n\nabla^{B}\ln f)).$$
 (2.10.6)

Using the definition of Lie derivative again equation (2.10.6) becomes

$$(\mathcal{L}^B_{\xi_B}g_B - 2\frac{n}{f}H^f)(U, V) = (\mathcal{L}^B_{\xi_B - n\nabla^B \ln f}g_B)(U, V), \forall U, V \in \chi(B).$$

Since the above equation is true for all $U, V \in \chi(B)$, in operator notation we can write

$$\mathcal{L}^B_{\xi_B}g_B - 2\frac{n}{f}H^f = \mathcal{L}^B_{\xi_B - n\nabla^B \ln f}g_B.$$
(2.10.7)

Now using the value from equation (2.10.7), the equation (2.10.4) finally yields

$$(\mathcal{L}^{B}_{\xi_{B}-n\nabla^{B}\ln f}g_{B}+2S^{B}) + (f^{2}\mathcal{L}^{F}_{\xi_{F}}g_{F}+2S^{F})$$

= $\mu g_{B} + (\mu f^{2} - 2f\xi_{B}(f) + 2\tilde{f})g_{F}).$ (2.10.8)

Hence from the above discussion and equation (2.10.8) we have the following theorem

Theorem 2.10.1. Let us consider that $(M, g) = (B \times_f F, g_B \oplus f^2 g_F)$ be an warped product of two Riemannian manifolds (B, g_B) and (F, g_F) with warping function f, dimB = mand dimF = n. If (M, g, μ, ξ) be a conformal Ricci soliton, then the base $(B, g_B, \mu, \xi_B - n\nabla^B \ln f)$ and the fiber $(F, g_F, \mu f^2 - 2f\xi_B(f) + 2\tilde{f}, f^2\xi_F)$ are both conformal Ricci solitons; where $\tilde{f} = f\Delta f + (n-1) \|\nabla f\|_B^2$, $\mu = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]$, λ is the soliton constant and p is the conformal pressure.

Now we study a special case when the soliton vector field ξ of the conformal Ricci soliton (M, g, μ, ξ) becomes gradient of some smooth function ϕ i.e; when $\xi = grad\phi = \nabla \phi$. In this case we call the soliton a conformal gradient Ricci soliton and the function ϕ is then called the potential function of the soliton. Also for notational purpose without any confusion we denote a conformal gradient Ricci soliton as (M, g, μ, ϕ) , where the last term specifies the potential function of the soliton.

Let us assume that $(M,g) = (B \times_f F, g_B \oplus f^2 g_F)$ be an warped product of two Riemannian manifolds (B,g_B) and (F,g_F) with dimB = m and dimF = n. Then if (M,g,μ,ϕ) be a conformal gradient Ricci soliton, for any vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$, equation (1.2.4) implies

$$2H^{\phi}(X,Y) + 2S(X,Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X,Y) = \mu g(X,Y).$$
(2.10.9)

Now if we take $X = X_B$ and $Y = Y_B$, where X_B, Y_B are the lifts of the vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(B)$, then the equation (2.10.9) gives us

$$2H^{\phi}(X_B, Y_B) + 2S(X_B, Y_B) = \mu g(X_B, Y_B).$$

Using the value of the Ricci tensor for the base manifold from lemma 1.1, the above equation becomes

$$2H_B^{\phi_B}(X_B, Y_B) + 2S^B(X_B, Y_B) - 2\frac{n}{f}H_B^f(X_B, Y_B) = \mu g_B(X_B, Y_B),$$

where $\phi_B = \phi$ at a fixed point of the fiber *F*. Finally using the properties of Hessian in the above equation we get

$$2H_B^{\phi_B - n\ln f}(X_B, Y_B) + 2S^B(X_B, Y_B) = \mu g_B(X_B, Y_B).$$
(2.10.10)

This shows that $(B, g_B, \mu, \phi_B - n \ln f)$ is a conformal gradient Ricci soliton.

Again taking $X = X_F$ and $Y = Y_F$, where X_F, Y_F are the lifts of the vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(F)$, then the equation (2.10.9) gives us

$$2H^{\phi}(X_F, Y_F) + 2S(X_F, Y_F) = \mu g(X_F, Y_F).$$

Using equation (2.10.3) and lemma 1.1 the above equation becomes

$$2H_F^{\phi_F}(X_F, Y_F) + 2S^F(X_F, Y_F) - \tilde{f}g_F(X_F, Y_F) = \mu f^2 g_F(X_F, Y_F),$$

where $\phi_F = \phi$ at a fixed point of the base B and $\tilde{f} = f\Delta f + (n-1) \|\nabla f\|_B^2$. Thus finally we get from the above equation

$$2H_F^{\phi_F}(X_F, Y_F) + 2S^F(X_F, Y_F) = (\mu f^2 + \tilde{f})g_F(X_F, Y_F).$$

Therefore if the warping function f is constant, the term $\tilde{f} = f\Delta f + (n-1) \|\nabla f\|_B^2$ vanishes from the right hand side of the above equation and we get the following

$$2H_F^{\phi_F}(X_F, Y_F) + 2S^F(X_F, Y_F) = \mu f^2 g_F(X_F, Y_F).$$
(2.10.11)

Thus $(F, g_F, \mu f^2, \phi_F)$ is a conformal gradient Ricci soliton. Hence from the above observations and equations (2.10.10) and (2.10.11) we can state the following

Theorem 2.10.2. Let $(M, g) = (B \times_f F, g_B \oplus f^2 g_F)$ be an warped product of two Riemannian manifolds (B, g_B) and (F, g_F) with warping function f, dimB = m and dimF = n. If (M, g, μ, ϕ) be a conformal gradient Ricci soliton, then

- i) the base $(B, g_B, \mu, \phi_B n \ln f)$ is a conformal gradient Ricci soliton with $\phi_B = \phi$ at a fixed point of the fiber F.
- ii) the fiber $(F, g_F, \mu f^2, \phi_F)$ is a conformal gradient Ricci soliton with $\phi_F = \phi$ at a fixed point of the base B, provided the warping function f is constant.

2.11 Effect of certain special types of vector fields on conformal Ricci soliton on warped product manifolds

The main purpose of this section is to study the effects of some special types of smooth vector fields on conformal Ricci solitons on warped product spaces. In particular, we focus on Killing vector fields, conformal vector fields and concurrent vector fields.

Proposition 2.11.1. Let $(M,g) = (B \times_f F, g_B \oplus f^2 g_F)$ be an warped product of two Riemannian manifolds (B,g_B) and (F,g_F) with warping function f, dimB = m and dimF = n. If (M,g,μ,ξ) is a conformal Ricci soliton and any one of the following conditions holds

- i) $\xi = \xi_B$ and ξ_B is a Killing vector field on the base B.
- ii) $\xi = \xi_F$ and ξ_F is a Killing vector field on the fiber F.

Then the manifold (M, g) becomes an Einstein manifold.

Proof. As per our assumption (M, g, μ, ξ) being a conformal Ricci soliton, it satisfies equation (1.2.3) and we get

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g + 2S = \mu g, \qquad (2.11.1)$$

Now let, $\xi = \xi_B$, and ξ_B is Killing on B, we get $\mathcal{L}^B_{\xi_B}g_B = 0$. Then using it in equation (2.10.2) we have $\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g = 0$. Therefore equation (2.11.1) gives us $S = \frac{\mu}{2}g$ and this implies (M, g) is Einstein manifold.

Again if $\xi = \xi_F$ and ξ_F is a Killing vector field on the fiber F, $\mathcal{L}_{\xi_F}^F g_F = 0$. Then using equations (2.10.2) and (2.11.1) and proceeding similarly as the first part of the proof, it can be easily shown that in this case also (M, g) is Einstein.

Theorem 2.11.1. Let $(M,g) = (B \times_f F, g_B \oplus f^2 g_F)$ be an warped product of two Riemannian manifolds (B,g_B) and (F,g_F) with warping function f, dimB = m and dimF = n. If (M,g,μ,ξ) is a conformal Ricci soliton and ξ_B is Killing vector field on the base B; then the base $(B,g_B,\mu,-n\ln f)$ is a conformal gradient Ricci soliton; where ξ_B is the lift of the vector field ξ to $\chi(B)$.

Proof. Since it is given that (M, g, μ, ξ) is a conformal Ricci soliton from theorem 2.1 it follows that the base $(B, g_B, \mu, \xi_B - n\nabla^B \ln f)$ is also a conformal Ricci soliton and hence it satisfies equation (1.2.3). Thus we can write

$$\mathcal{L}^{B}_{\xi_B - n\nabla^B \ln f} g_B + 2S^B = \mu g_B.$$
(2.11.2)

Again using equation (2.10.7) the above equation (2.11.2) becomes

$$\mathcal{L}^B_{\xi_B}g_B - 2\frac{n}{f}H^f + 2S^B = \mu g_B.$$

Now, as ξ_B is Killing vector field on the base B, we have $\mathcal{L}^B_{\xi_B}g_B = 0$. Thus with the help of this, the above equation gives us

$$-2\frac{n}{f}H^f + 2S^B = \mu g_B.$$

Thus using the properties of Hessian, the above equation finally yields

$$2H^{-n\ln f} + 2S^B = \mu g_B. \tag{2.11.3}$$

Hence compairing the above equation (2.11.3) with the conformal gradient Ricci soliton equation (2.10.9) completes the proof.

We conclude this portion of study of Killing vector fields on conformal Ricci soliton warped product manifolds with the following result

Theorem 2.11.2. Assume that $(M,g) = (B \times_f F, g_B \oplus f^2 g_F)$ be an warped product of two Riemannian manifolds (B,g_B) and (F,g_F) with warping function f, dimB = m and dimF = n. Let (M,g,μ,ξ) be a conformal Ricci soliton and both the lifts ξ_B and ξ_F are Killing on the base B and the fiber F respectively. Then the manifold (M,g) is Einstein if $\xi_B(f) = 0$.

Proof. Since it is given that both ξ_B and ξ_F are Killing, we have $\mathcal{L}^B_{\xi_B}g_B = 0$ and $\mathcal{L}^F_{\xi_F}g_F = 0$. Then using these values in equation (2.10.2) we get

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g = 2f\xi_B(f)g_F. \tag{2.11.4}$$

Again as per our hypothesis (M, g, μ, ξ) being a conformal Ricci soliton, from equation (1.2.3) we get

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g + 2S = \mu g.$$

Now using equation (2.11.4) in the above equation, gives us

$$2f\xi_B(f)g_F + 2S = \mu g. \tag{2.11.5}$$

Thus if $\xi_B(f) = 0$, the above equation (2.11.5) yields $S = \frac{\mu}{2}g$, which implies the manifold (M, g) is Einstein and this completes the proof.

Now we shall focus on the effect of conformal vector fields on warped product manifolds admitting conformal Ricci solitons. In this direction a very immediate result is the following **Proposition 2.11.2.** Let $(M,g) = (B \times_f F, g_B \oplus f^2 g_F)$ be an warped product of two Riemannian manifolds (B,g_B) and (F,g_F) with warping function f, dimB = m and dimF = n. Let (M,g,μ,ξ) is a conformal Ricci soliton. Then the manifold (M,g) becomes an Einstein manifold with factor $(\frac{\mu}{2} - \rho)$ if and only if the vector field ξ is conformal with factor 2ρ .

Proof. (M, g, μ, ξ) being a conformal Ricci soliton, from (1.2.3) we can write

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g + 2S = \mu g. \tag{2.11.6}$$

Since the vector field ξ is conformal with factor 2ρ , by definition we have $\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g = 2\rho g$, where ρ is a smooth function. Thus using this value in equation (2.11.6) finally we get

$$S = (\frac{\mu}{2} - \rho)g.$$
 (2.11.7)

This implies (M, g) is an Einstein manifold. Similarly by reverse calculation process it can be shown that if (M, g) is an Einstein manifold with factor $(\frac{\mu}{2} - \rho)$ then ξ becomes conformal with factor 2ρ . This completes the proof.

It is to be noted that in the above result we have discussed on conformal Ricci solitons with the vector field ξ is taken conformal. So it is natural to ask whether it is necessary to consider ξ conformal as a whole, or is there a weaker condition than this. The following theorem could put some light on it.

Theorem 2.11.3. Assume that $(M, g) = (B \times_f F, g_B \oplus f^2 g_F)$ be an warped product of two Riemannian manifolds (B, g_B) and (F, g_F) with warping function f, dimB = m and dimF = n. Let (M, g, μ, ξ) be a conformal Ricci soliton and both the lifts ξ_B and ξ_F are conformal on the base B and the fiber F with factors $2\rho_B$ and $2\rho_F$ respectively; where ρ_B and ρ_F are two smooth functions. Then the manifold (M, g) is Einstein provided $\rho_B = \rho_F + \xi_B(\ln f)$.

Proof. Since ξ_B is conformal on the base B with factor $2\rho_B$, we have $\mathcal{L}^B_{\xi_B}g_B = 2\rho_B g_B$. Also ξ_F being conformal with factor $2\rho_F$, we get $\mathcal{L}^F_{\xi_F}g_F = 2\rho_F g_F$. Then using these two values in equation (2.10.2) we get

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g = 2(\rho_B g_B + f^2 \rho_F g_F + f\xi_B(f)g_F).$$
(2.11.8)

Again (M, g, μ, ξ) being a conformal Ricci soliton, from equation (1.2.3) and the previous equation (2.11.8) we have

$$2(\rho_B g_B + f^2 \rho_F g_F + f\xi_B(f)g_F + S) = \mu g.$$

The above equation can be rewritten as

$$S = \frac{\mu}{2}g - \rho_B g_B - f^2 (\rho_F + \xi_B(\ln f))g_F.$$
 (2.11.9)

Hence if $\rho_B = \rho_F + \xi_B(\ln f)$, and using equation (1.1.31), the above equation (2.11.9) finally gives us $S = (\frac{\mu}{2} - \rho_B)g$. This implies (M, g) is Einstein and thus completes the proof.

We end this section with our last theorem, which actually gives the converse part of the previous theorem. In the previous result we characterised the conformal Ricci soliton (M, g, μ, ξ) whereas our next result gives conditions under which a warped product manifold (M, g) admits a conformal Ricci soliton.

Theorem 2.11.4. Let (B, g_B, μ, ξ_B) be a conformal Ricci soliton and (F, g_F) be an Einstein manifold with factor β , where dimB = m and dimF = n. Let $(M, g) = (B \times_f F, g_B \oplus f^2 g_F)$ be an warped product of (B, g_B) and (F, g_F) with warping function f and ξ_F is conformal vector field with factor 2ρ . Then (M, g, μ, ξ) is a conformal Ricci soliton if $H^f = 0$ and the warping function f satisfies the quadratic equation

$$(2\rho - \mu)f^2 + 2f\xi_B(f) + 2\beta + 2(1-n)k^2 = 0,$$

where $k^2 = \|\nabla f\|_B^2 = g_B(\nabla f, \nabla f)$ for some real number k.

Proof. (B, g_B, μ, ξ_B) being a conformal Ricci soliton, from equation (1.2.3) we get

$$\mathcal{L}^B_{\xi_B} g_B + 2S^B = \mu g_B. \tag{2.11.10}$$

Again as (F, g_F) is an Einstein manifold with factor β , the Ricci tensor is given by $Ric^F = \beta g_F$. Using this value in equation (2.10.3) gives us

$$S = S^B - \frac{n}{f}H^f + \beta g_F - \tilde{f}g_F, \qquad (2.11.11)$$

where $\tilde{f} = f\Delta f + (n-1) \|\nabla f\|_B^2$. Now, using equation (2.11.10) in the equation (2.10.2) we get

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g = \mu g_B - 2S^B + f^2 \mathcal{L}_{\xi_F}^F g_F + 2f\xi_B(f)g_F.$$
(2.11.12)

Multiplying both sides of the equation (2.11.11) by 2 and then adding it with equation (2.11.12) yields

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g + 2S = \mu g_B + f^2 \mathcal{L}_{\xi_F}^F g_F + 2f\xi_B(f)g_F + 2(-\frac{n}{f}H^f + \beta g_F - \tilde{f}g_F).$$

Now since the vector field ξ_F is conformal with factor 2ρ i.e; $\mathcal{L}_{\xi_F}^F g_F = 2\rho g_F$, the above equation becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g + 2S = \mu g_B + 2f^2 \rho g_F + 2f\xi_B(f)g_F + 2(-\frac{n}{f}H^f + \beta g_F - \tilde{f}g_F).$$
(2.11.13)

As it is given that $H^f = 0$, then it implies that $\Delta f = 0$ and hence $\tilde{f} = f\Delta f + (n-1) \|\nabla f\|_B^2$ becomes $\tilde{f} = (n-1) \|\nabla f\|_B^2 = (n-1)k^2$, where $k^2 = \|\nabla f\|_B^2 = g_B(\nabla f, \nabla f)$ for some real number k. Therefore using these results in the above equation (2.11.13) we get

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g + 2S = \mu g_B + 2f^2 \rho g_F + 2f\xi_B(f)g_F + 2(\beta g_F - (n-1)k^2 g_F)$$

= $\mu (g_B + f^2 g_F) + (2f^2 \rho - \mu f^+ 2f\xi_B(f) + 2(\beta - (n-1)k^2))g_F.$

Thus if $(2f^2\rho - \mu f^2 + 2f\xi_B(f) + 2(\beta - (n-1)k^2)) = 0$ i.e; if f satisfies the quadratic equation $(2\rho - \mu)f^2 + 2f\xi_B(f) + 2\beta + 2(1-n)k^2 = 0$; the above equation finally becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g + 2S = \mu(g_B + f^2g_F) = \mu g. \tag{2.11.14}$$

Therefore from equation (2.11.14) we can conclude that (M, g, μ, ξ) is a conformal Ricci soliton and this completes the proof.

2.12 Warped product manifolds admitting conformal Ricci soliton with concurrent vector field

In this section we study conformal Ricci solitons with the soliton vector field ξ being concircular (also, concurrent) vector field. Definitions of concircular and concurrent vector fields are discussed in chapter one. So in this direction our first result is as follows

Theorem 2.12.1. Let (M, g, μ, ξ) be a conformal Ricci soliton on an n-dimensional Riemannian manifold (M, g) and the soliton vector field ξ is concircular with factor α , then

i) the manifold (M,g) is an Einstein manifold with factor $(\mu - 2\alpha)$ and

ii) the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as $(p+2\alpha+\frac{1}{n}) < 0$, $(p+2\alpha+\frac{1}{n}) = 0$ or $(p+2\alpha+\frac{1}{n}) > 0$ respectively.

Proof. As per our assumption the soliton vector field ξ is concircular with factor α , then from equation (1.1.10) we get $\nabla_X \xi = \alpha X$. Then using it in the definition of Lie differentiation we get

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) = g(\nabla_X\xi,Y) + g(X,\nabla_Y\xi)$$

= $g(\alpha X,Y) + g(X,\alpha Y)$
= $2\alpha g(X,Y),$ (2.12.1)

for all vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$. Again, (M, g, μ, ξ) being a conformal Ricci soliton, using the value from (2.12.1) in the equation (1.2.3) we get

$$S(X,Y) = (\mu - 2\alpha)g(X,Y),$$
 (2.12.2)

for all vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$, and $\mu = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]$. Thus equation (2.12.2) proves that (M, g) Einstein with factor $(\mu - 2\alpha)$ and this completes the first part of the theorem.

Again we know that for conformal Ricci flow, the scalar curvature r(g) = -1. So taking an orthonormal basis $\{e_i : 1 \leq i \leq n\}$ of the manifold M and summing over $1 \leq i \leq n$ in both sides of the equation (2.12.2) gives us

$$-1 = r(g) = n(\mu - 2\alpha)$$

Finally using the value $\mu = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]$ in the above equation and after simplification we get

$$\lambda = \alpha + \frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n}.$$
 (2.12.3)

We know that the soliton is expanding steady or shrinking if $\lambda < 0$, $\lambda = 0$ or $\lambda > 0$, thus applying it in equation (2.12.3) completes the proof.

Next, we have a result on concurrent vector field which immediately follows from the above theorem.

Corollary 2.12.1. (M, g, μ, ξ) be a conformal Ricci soliton with the soliton vector field ξ is concurrent, then

i) the manifold (M,g) is an Einstein manifold with factor $(\mu - 2)$ and

ii) the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as $(p+2+\frac{1}{n}) < 0$, $(p+2+\frac{1}{n}) = 0$ or $(p+2+\frac{1}{n}) > 0$ respectively.

Proof. Proceeding similarly as theorem 4.1 and then putting $\alpha = 1$ in the equations (2.12.2) and (2.12.3) completes the proof.

We conclude this section with the following theorem on concurrent vector field:

Theorem 2.12.2. Assume that $(M,g) = (B \times_f F, g_B \oplus f^2 g_F)$ be an warped product of two Riemannian manifolds (B,g_B) and (F,g_F) with warping function f, dimB = m and dimF = n. Let (M, g, μ, ξ) be a conformal Ricci soliton with concurrent vector field ξ . If f is constant and both the lifts ξ_B and ξ_F are concurrent on the base B and the fiber Fthen

- i) the soliton (M, g, μ, ξ) is expanding, steady or shrinking according as $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n} + 1) < 0$, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n} + 1) = 0$ or $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n} + 1) > 0$ respectively,
- ii) all the three manifolds M, B and F are Ricci flat manifolds and
- iii) all the three manifolds M, B and F admit conformal gradient Ricci solitons.

Proof. Since (M, g, μ, ξ) is a conformal Ricci soliton on M with concurrent vector field ξ , from first part of the corollary 2.12.1 we can write

$$S(X,Y) = (\mu - 2)g(X,Y), \qquad (2.12.4)$$

for all vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$.

Now if we set $X = X_F$ and $Y = Y_F$, then from lemma 1.1 and equation (2.10.3) we get

$$S(X_F, Y_F) = S^F(X_F, Y_F) - \tilde{f}g_F(X_F, Y_F), \qquad (2.12.5)$$

where $\tilde{f} = f\Delta f + (n-1) \|\nabla f\|_B^2$. Now using equation (2.12.4) and (1.1.31), in the above equation (2.12.5) yields

$$S^{F}(X_{F}, Y_{F}) = \tilde{f}g_{F}(X_{F}, Y_{F}) + (\mu - 2)f^{2}g_{F}(X_{F}, Y_{F}),$$

where $\tilde{f} = f\Delta f + (n-1) \|\nabla f\|_B^2$. Since it is given that f is constant, say f = c for some constant c, then it implies that $\tilde{f} = 0$ and thus the above equation becomes

$$S^{F}(X_{F}, Y_{F}) = c^{2}(\mu - 2)g_{F}(X_{F}, Y_{F}), \qquad (2.12.6)$$
for all vector fields $X_F, Y_F \in \chi(F)$. Thus from the above equation (2.12.6) we can say that F is Einstein. Now as the equation (2.12.6) is true for any vector field in $\chi(F)$, by putting $X_F = Y_F = \xi_F$ in above we get

$$S^{F}(\xi_{F},\xi_{F}) = c^{2}(\mu-2)g_{F}(\xi_{F},\xi_{F})$$

= $c^{2}(\mu-2)\|\xi_{F}\|_{F}^{2}.$ (2.12.7)

Let $\{\xi_F, e_1, e_2, e_3, \dots, e_{n-1}\}$ be an orthonormal basis of $\chi(F)$. Then the curvature tensor of the manifold F is given by

$$R^F(\xi_F, e_i, \xi_F, e_i) = g_F(R^F(\xi_F, e_i)\xi_F, e_i).$$

Using the well-known formula for curvature, the above equation can be rewritten as

$$R^{F}(\xi_{F}, e_{i}, \xi_{F}, e_{i}) = g_{F}(\nabla_{\xi_{F}}^{F} \nabla_{e_{i}}^{F} \xi_{F} - \nabla_{e_{i}}^{F} \nabla_{\xi_{F}}^{F} \xi_{F} - \nabla_{[\xi_{F}, e_{i}]}^{F} \xi_{F}, e_{i}).$$
(2.12.8)

Also since ξ_F is concurrent vector field, from equation (1.1.11) we have $\nabla_X \xi_F = X$, for all $X \in \chi(F)$ and using this in equation (2.12.8) we get

$$R^{F}(\xi_{F}, e_{i}, \xi_{F}, e_{i}) = g_{F}(\nabla_{\xi_{F}}^{F} e_{i} - \nabla_{e_{i}}^{F} \xi_{F} - [\xi_{F}, e_{i}], e_{i}) = 0.$$

This implies $Ric^F(\xi_F, \xi_F) = 0$ and then from equation (2.12.7) we get $\mu = 2$, i.e; $\mu = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})] = 2$. After simplification this gives $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n} + 1)$ and the soliton is shrinking, steady or expanding according as $\lambda > 0$, $\lambda = 0$ or $\lambda < 0$. This proves the first part of the theorem.

Now, using this value $\mu = 2$ in equations (2.12.6) and (2.12.4) we have $S = S^F = 0$. This proves that both the manifolds M and F are Ricci flat.

Again if we set $X = X_B$ and $Y = Y_B$, then from lemma 1.1 we can write

$$S(X_B, Y_B) = S^B(X_B, Y_B) - \frac{n}{f}H^f(X_B, Y_B),$$

for all $X_B, Y_B \in \chi(B)$. Now since we just proved S = 0, the above equation becomes

$$S^{B}(X_{B}, Y_{B}) = \frac{n}{f} H^{f}(X_{B}, Y_{B}).$$
(2.12.9)

Since we assumed that f is constant, it implies $H^f = 0$ and thus the above equation (2.12.9) finally gives us $S^B(X_B, Y_B) = 0$, for all $X_B, Y_B \in \chi(B)$. Therefore we get $S^B = 0$

and this proves that the manifold B is Ricci flat. This completes the proof of the second part of the theorem.

To prove the last part of the theorem, let us assume that $\phi = \frac{1}{2}g(\xi,\xi)$. Then

$$g(X, grad\phi) = X(\phi) = g(\nabla_X \xi, \xi), \qquad (2.12.10)$$

for all $X \in \chi(M)$. Again ξ being concurrent, from equation (1.1.11) we have $\nabla_X \xi = X$ and using this value in equation (2.12.10) we get

$$g(X, grad\phi) = g(X, \xi),$$

for all $X \in \chi(M)$. Since the above equation is true for any vector field $X \in \chi(M)$, we can conclude that $\xi = grad\phi$. Hence (M, g) admits a conformal gradient Ricci soliton. Again taking $\phi_B = \frac{1}{2}g(\xi_B, \xi_B)$ and $\phi_F = \frac{1}{2}g(\xi_F, \xi_F)$ and proceeding similarly we can show that $\xi_B = grad\phi_B$ and $\xi_F = grad\phi_F$. Also from theorem 2.1 we know that since (M, g) is conformal Ricci soliton, B and F both are conformal Ricci soliton. Hence can conclude that both the manifolds B and F admit conformal gradient Ricci soliton. \Box

2.13 Application of conformal Ricci soliton on generalized Robertson-Walker spacetimes

This section deals with the study of conformal Ricci solitons on generalized Robertson-Walker spacetimes. The definition of a generalized Robertson-Walker spacetime is given in chapter one. Based on that definiton we consider a generalized Robertson-Walker spacetime and study the effect of conformal Ricci soliton on it. Our main result of this section is the following

Theorem 2.13.1. Let $M = I \times_f F$ be a generalized Robertson-Walker spacetime endowed with the metric $g = -dt^2 \oplus f^2 g_F$ and let $\phi = \int_c^t f(z) dz$, for some constant $c \in I$. If (M, g, μ, ϕ) admits a conformal gradient Ricci soliton, then

- i) the generalized Robertson-Walker spacetime (M,g) becomes Ricci flat if the soliton constant λ satisfies the relation $\lambda = \dot{f} + \frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}$ and
- ii) the generalized Robertson-Walker spacetime (M,g) is an Einstein manifold if the warping function f is of the form f(t) = at + b, where a, b are constants.

Proof. As per our assumption, (M, g, μ, ϕ) being a conformal gradient Ricci soliton, setting $\xi = grad\phi$, from equation (1.2.3) we can write

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) + 2S(X,Y) = \mu g(X,Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X,Y), \qquad (2.13.1)$$

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$.

Again since $\phi = \int_c^t f(z) dz$, then $\xi = grad\phi$ implies that $\xi = f(t) \frac{\partial}{\partial t}$ and it can be seen that the vector field ξ is orthogonal to the manifold F.

Let us assume that $\{\frac{\partial}{\partial t}, \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}, \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2}, \dots, \frac{\partial}{\partial x_n}\}$ be an orthonormal basis of $\chi(M)$. Then the Hessian of the function ϕ is given by

$$H^{\phi}(X,Y) = g(\nabla_X grad\phi, Y). \tag{2.13.2}$$

Now, we consider the following three cases.

Case 1: First let us consider $X = Y = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}$. Then from equation (2.13.2) we get

$$H^{\phi}(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}, \frac{\partial}{\partial t}) = g(\nabla_{\frac{\partial}{\partial t}} grad\phi, \frac{\partial}{\partial t})$$
$$= \dot{f}g(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}, \frac{\partial}{\partial t}).$$
(2.13.3)

Case 2: Next we consider $X = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}$ and $Y = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}$ for i = 1, 2, ..., n. Then in this case equation (2.13.2) implies

$$\begin{aligned} H^{\phi}(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}, \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}}) &= g(\nabla_{\frac{\partial}{\partial t}} grad\phi, \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}}) \\ &= \dot{f}g(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}, \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}}). \end{aligned}$$
 (2.13.4)

Case 3: Finally we consider $X = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}$ and $Y = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}$ for $1 \le i, j \le n$. Then from equation (2.13.2) we have

$$H^{\phi}(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}}, \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}}) = g(\nabla_{\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}}} grad\phi, \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}})$$

$$= fg(\nabla_{\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}}} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}, \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}})$$

$$= fg(\frac{\dot{f}}{f} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}}, \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}})$$

$$= \dot{f}g(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}}, \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}}). \qquad (2.13.5)$$

Therefore combining equations (2.13.3), (2.13.4) and (2.13.5) and using it in (2.13.2) we get

$$H^{\phi}(X,Y) = \dot{f}g(X,Y).$$
(2.13.6)

Now, since $\xi = grad\phi$, using the definition of Lie differentiation we can write

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) = g(\nabla_X grad\phi, Y) + g(X, \nabla_Y grad\phi)$$
$$= 2H^{\phi}(X,Y).$$

Thus using equation (2.13.6), the above equation becomes

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) = 2\dot{f}g(X,Y).$$
 (2.13.7)

Using the value of equation (2.13.7) in the equation (2.13.1) and after simplification we get

$$S(X,Y) = [\lambda - \dot{f} - \frac{p}{2} - \frac{1}{n}]g(X,Y).$$
(2.13.8)

Thus if $\lambda = \dot{f} + \frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}$, from equation (2.13.8), it implies that (M, g) is Ricci flat. This completes the first part of the theorem.

Again if \dot{f} is a constant, say $\dot{f} = a$, i.e; if df = adt, i.e; if f = at + b for some arbitrary constant b, then from equation (2.13.8) we can conclude that (M, g) is Einstein. This completes the proof.

3 On conformal η-Ricci solitons

3.1 Introduction

In this chapter we study conformal η -Ricci solitons on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold and Kählerian spacetime manifold. This chapter is divided into ten sections. In sections one and two we give introduction and preliminaries respectively.

In section three, we study ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting conformal η -Ricci soliton and establish the relation between the soliton constants λ and μ . Section four deals with conformal η -Ricci soliton on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold in terms of Codazzi type Ricci tensor, cyclic parallel Ricci tensor and cyclic η -recurrent Ricci tensor. Then Section five is devoted to the study of conformal η -Ricci soliton on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold satisfying curvature conditions $R \cdot S = 0$, $C \cdot S = 0$, $Q \cdot C = 0$. In section six, we consider torseforming vector field on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting conformal η -Ricci soliton. Section seven characterizes gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold. In section eight, we construct an example to illustrate the existence of conformal η -Ricci soliton on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold.

In section nine, we characterize the nature of conformal η -Ricci soliton on projectively flat and conharmonically flat almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold. Finally section ten is devoted to the study of gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton on Kählerian spacetime manifold.

3.2 Preliminaries

Here, we discuss some preliminaries of ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold and almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold.

The definition of ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold is given in chapter one. Furthermore, in an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) the following relations hold,

$$(\nabla_X \eta)(Y) = g(X, Y) - \epsilon \eta(X) \eta(Y), \qquad (3.2.1)$$

$$R(X,Y)\xi = \eta(X)Y - \eta(Y)X,$$
 (3.2.2)

$$R(\xi, X)Y = \eta(Y)X - \epsilon g(X, Y)\xi, \qquad (3.2.3)$$

$$R(\xi, X)\xi = -R(X,\xi)\xi = X - \eta(X)\xi, \qquad (3.2.4)$$

$$\eta(R(X,Y)Z) = \epsilon(g(X,Z)\eta(Y) - g(Y,Z)\eta(X)),$$
 (3.2.5)

$$S(X,\xi) = -(n-1)\eta(X),$$
 (3.2.6)

$$Q\xi = -\epsilon(n-1)\xi, \qquad (3.2.7)$$

where R is the curvature tensor, S is the Ricci tensor and Q is the Ricci operator given by g(QX, Y) = S(X, Y), for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$.

Moreover, It is to be noted that for spacelike structure vector field ξ and $\epsilon = 1$, an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold reduces to an usual Kenmotsu manifold.

The definition of Kählerian spacetime manifold is given in the introductory chapter one. So, combining equations (1.2.11) and (1.2.12) we can see that the Ricci tensor Sbecomes a functional combination of the metric tensor g and $\eta \otimes \eta$ satisfying

$$S(X,Y) = -\left(\omega - \frac{r}{2} - \kappa\rho\right)g(X,Y) + \kappa(\sigma + \rho)\eta(X)\eta(Y), \qquad (3.2.8)$$

for all smooth vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$. Recall that, manifold having such type of Ricci tensor is called quasi-Einstein manifold [23] and they arose during the study of exact solutions of Einstein field equations.

Furthermore, in a Kählerian spacetime manifold the Riemannian curvature tensor Rand the Ricci tensor S satisfy the following

$$\tilde{R}(X, Y, U, W) = \tilde{R}(JX, JY, U, W), \qquad (3.2.9)$$

$$S(X,Y) = S(JX,JY),$$
 (3.2.10)

$$S(X, JY) + S(JX, Y) = 0, (3.2.11)$$

for all $X, Y, U, W \in \chi(M)$ and $\tilde{R}(X, Y, U, W) = g(R(X, Y)U, W)$.

Let us consider an orthonormal frame field $\{E_i : 1 \le i \le 4\}$ such that $g(E_i, E_j) = \epsilon_{ij} \delta_{ij}$ for all $1 \le i, j \le 4$; with $\epsilon_{ii} = -1$ and $\epsilon_{ij} = 0$ for $i \ne j$. Then assuming $\xi = \sum_{i=1}^{4} \xi^i E_i$ we can write

$$-1 = g(\xi, \xi) = \sum_{1 \le i, j \le 4} \xi^i \xi^j g(E_i, E_i) = \epsilon_{ii}(\xi^i)^2.$$
(3.2.12)

Also we can deduce the following

$$\eta(E_i) = g(E_i, \xi) = \sum_{j=1}^{4} \xi^j g(E_i, E_j) = \epsilon_{ii} \xi^j.$$
(3.2.13)

In Kählerian spacetime manifold, contracting the equation (3.2.8) over X and Y and using (3.2.12) we obtain

$$r = 4\omega + \kappa(\sigma - 3\rho). \tag{3.2.14}$$

Recalling equation (3.2.8) and making use of the above value in it yields

$$S(X,Y) = \left(\omega + \frac{\kappa(\sigma - \rho)}{2}\right)g(X,Y) + \kappa(\sigma + \rho)\eta(X)\eta(Y), \qquad (3.2.15)$$

for all vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$. Hence in view of the above, we can state the following **Proposition 3.2.1.** A Kählerian spacetime manifold is a quasi-Einstein manifold.

Next, we discuss the notion of almost pseudo symmetric manifold which was introduced by U. C. De and A. K. Gazi [31] in 2008. Let (M, g) be a non-flat Riemannian manifold of dimension greater than three. Then it is said to be an almost pseudo symmetric manifold if its Riemannian curvature tensor satisfies

$$(\nabla_{Z}\tilde{R})(X,Y,U,W) = [\mathcal{A}(Z) + \mathcal{B}(Z)]\tilde{R}(X,Y,U,W) + \mathcal{A}(X)\tilde{R}(Z,Y,U,W) + \mathcal{A}(Y)\tilde{R}(X,Z,U,W) + \mathcal{A}(U)\tilde{R}(X,Y,Z,W) + \mathcal{A}(W)\tilde{R}(X,Y,U,Z),$$
(3.2.16)

where \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are two non-zero 1-forms on M defined as

$$\mathcal{A}(Z) = g(Z, \mathcal{P}), \qquad \mathcal{B}(Z) = g(Z, \mathcal{N}). \tag{3.2.17}$$

After B. O'Neill [68] investigated the applications of semi-Riemannian geometry in general relativity, many authors have studied the curvature tensors and geometrical structures in spacetimes of general relativity [2]. Venkatesha and Kumara [94] studied Ricci solitons and geometrical structure in a perfect fluid spacetime with torse forming vector field. Blaga [12] investigated curvature properties and solitons in perfect fluid spacetime.

3.3 ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting conformal η -Ricci soliton

Let us consider an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . Then from equation (1.2.5) we can write

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) + 2S(X,Y) + [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X,Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0, \qquad (3.3.1)$$

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$.

Again from the well-known formula $(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) = g(\nabla_X\xi,Y) + g(\nabla_Y\xi,X)$ of Lie-derivative and using (1.1.38), we obtain for an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) = 2\epsilon[g(X,Y) - \epsilon\eta(X)\eta(Y)].$$
(3.3.2)

Now in view of the equations (3.3.1) and (3.3.2) we get

$$S(X,Y) = -[(\lambda + \epsilon) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]g(X,Y) - (\mu - 1)\eta(X)\eta(Y).$$
(3.3.3)

This shows that the manifold (M, g) is an η -Einstein manifold.

Also from equation (3.3.3) replacing $Y = \xi$ we find that

$$S(X,\xi) = [\epsilon(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - (\epsilon\lambda + \mu)]\eta(X).$$
(3.3.4)

Compairing the above equation (3.3.4) with (3.2.6) yields

$$\epsilon \lambda + \mu = \epsilon (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + (n-1).$$
 (3.3.5)

Thus the above discussion leads to the following

Theorem 3.3.1. If an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) , then (M, g) becomes an η -Einstein manifold and the scalars λ and μ are related by $\epsilon \lambda + \mu = \epsilon(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + (n - 1)$.

Furthermore if we consider $\mu = 0$ in particular, then from equations (3.3.3) and (3.3.5), we get

$$S(X,Y) = -[(\lambda + \epsilon) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]g(X,Y) + \eta(X)\eta(Y),$$

$$\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon(n-1).$$

This leads us to write

Corollary 3.3.1. If an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) admits a conformal Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ) , then (M, g) becomes an η -Einstein manifold and the scalars λ and μ are related by $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon(n-1)$. Moreover,

- 1. if ξ is spacelike then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) > (1 - n), (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) = (1 - n) \text{ or } (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) < (1 - n); \text{ and}$
- 2. if ξ is timelike then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) > (n-1), (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) = (n-1)$ or $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) < (n-1)$.

Next we try to find a condition in terms of second order symmetric parallel tensor which will ensure when an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton. So for this purpose let us consider the second order tensor T on the manifold (M, g) defined by

$$T := \mathcal{L}_{\xi}g + 2S + 2\mu\eta \otimes \eta. \tag{3.3.6}$$

It is easy to see that the (0, 2) tensor T is symmetric and also parallel with respect to the Levi-Civita connection.

Now in view of (3.3.2) and (3.3.3) the previous equation (3.3.6) we have

$$T(X,Y) = [(p + \frac{2}{n}) - 2\lambda]g(X,Y); \quad \forall X, Y \in TM.$$
(3.3.7)

Putting $X = Y = \xi$ in the above equation (3.3.7) we obtain

$$T(\xi,\xi) = \epsilon[(p+\frac{2}{n}) - 2\lambda].$$
 (3.3.8)

On the other hand, as T is a second order symmetric parallel tensor; i.e; $\nabla T = 0$, we can write

$$T(R(X,Y)Z,U) + T(Z,R(X,Y)U) = 0,$$

for all $X, Y, Z, U \in TM$. Then replacing $X = Z = U = \xi$ in above gives us

$$T(R(\xi, Y)\xi, \xi) + T(\xi, R(\xi, Y)\xi) = 0, \quad \forall Y \in TM.$$
 (3.3.9)

Using (3.2.4) in the above equation (3.3.9) we get

$$T(Y,\xi) = T(\xi,\xi)\eta(Y).$$
 (3.3.10)

Taking covariant differentiation of (3.3.10) in the direction of an arbitrary vector field X, and then in the resulting equation, again using the equation (3.3.10) we obtain

$$T(Y, \nabla_X \xi) = T(\xi, \xi) (\nabla_X \eta) Y + 2T(\nabla_X \xi, \xi) \eta(Y).$$

Then in view of (1.1.38) and (3.2.1), the above equation becomes

$$T(X,Y) = \epsilon T(\xi,\xi)g(X,Y), \quad \forall X,Y \in TM.$$
(3.3.11)

Now using (3.3.8) in the above equation (3.3.11) and in view of (3.3.6) finally we get

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) + 2S(X,Y) + [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X,Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0.$$

This leads us to the following:

Theorem 3.3.2. Let (M, g) be an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold. If the second order symmetric tensor $T := \mathcal{L}_{\xi}g + 2S + 2\mu\eta \otimes \eta$ is parallel with respect to the Levi-Civita connection of the manifold, then the manifold (M, g) admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) .

Now let us consider an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) and assume that it admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, V, λ, μ) such that V is pointwise collinear with ξ , i.e; $V = \alpha \xi$, for some function α ; then from the equation (1.2.5) it follows that

$$\alpha g(\nabla_X \xi, Y) + (X\alpha)\eta(Y) + \alpha g(\nabla_Y \xi, X) + (Y\alpha)\eta(X) + 2S(X,Y) + [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X,Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0.$$

Then using the equation (1.1.38) in above we get

$$2\epsilon\alpha g(X,Y) - 2\alpha\eta(X)\eta(Y) + (X\alpha)\eta(Y) + (Y\alpha)\eta(X) + 2S(X,Y) + [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X,Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0.$$
(3.3.12)

Replacing $Y = \xi$ in the above equation yields

$$(X\alpha) + (\xi\alpha)\eta(X) + 2S(X,\xi) + \epsilon[2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]\eta(X) + 2\mu\eta(X) = 0.$$
(3.3.13)

By virtue of (3.2.6) the above equation (3.3.13) becomes

$$(X\alpha) + [(\xi\alpha) + \epsilon[2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})] + 2\mu - 2(n-1)]\eta(X) = 0.$$
 (3.3.14)

By taking $X = \xi$ in the above equation (3.3.14) gives us

$$(\xi \alpha) = (n-1) - \mu - \epsilon [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})].$$
(3.3.15)

Using this value from (3.3.15) in the equation (3.3.14) we can write

$$d\alpha = [(n-1) - \mu - \epsilon [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]]\eta.$$
(3.3.16)

Now taking exterior differentiation on both sides of (3.3.16) and using the famous Poincare's lemma i.e; $d^2 = 0$, finally we arrive at

$$[(n-1) - \mu - \epsilon[\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]]d\eta = 0.$$

Since $d\eta \neq 0$ in ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold, the above equation implies

$$\mu + \epsilon [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})] = (n-1).$$
(3.3.17)

In view of the above (3.3.17) the equation (3.3.16) gives us $d\alpha = 0$ i.e; the function α is constant. Then the equation (3.3.12) becomes

$$S(X,Y) = \left[\left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}\right) - \lambda - \epsilon\alpha\right]g(X,Y) + (\alpha - \mu)\eta(X)\eta(Y),$$
(3.3.18)

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$. This shows that the manifold is η -Einstein. Hence we have the following

Theorem 3.3.3. If an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, V, λ, μ) such that V is pointwise collinear with ξ , then V is constant multiple of ξ and the manifold (M, g) is an η -Einstein manifold. Moreover the scalars λ and μ are related by $\mu + \epsilon [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})] = (n - 1).$

In particular if we put $\mu = 0$ in (3.3.17) and (3.3.18) we can conclude that

Corollary 3.3.2. If an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) admits a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ, μ) such that V is pointwise collinear with ξ , then V is constant multiple of ξ and the manifold (M, g) is an η -Einstein manifold, and the scalars λ and μ are related by $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon(n-1)$. Furthermore,

- i) if ξ is spacelike then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + n > 1$, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + n = 1$ or $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + n < 1$; and
- ii) if ξ is timelike then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + 1 > n$, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + 1 = n$ or $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + 1 < n$.

3.4 Conformal η -Ricci soliton on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold with certain special types of Ricci tensor

The purpose of this section is to study Conformal η -Ricci soliton on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting three special types of Ricci tensor namely codazzi type Ricci tensor, cyclic parallel Ricci tensor and cyclic η -recurrent Ricci tensor.

Let us consider that, an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold having Codazzi type Ricci tensor admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) , then equations (3.3.3) and (1.1.7) hold. Now taking covariant differentiation of (3.3.3) and using equation (3.2.1) we obtain

$$(\nabla_X S)(Y,Z) = (1-\mu)[g(X,Y)\eta(Z) + g(X,Z)\eta(Y) - 2\epsilon\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z)].$$
(3.4.1)

Since the manifold has Codazzi type Ricci tensor, in view of (1.1.7) equation (3.4.1) yields

$$(1-\mu)[g(X,Z)\eta(Y) - g(Y,Z)\eta(X)] = 0, \quad \forall X, Y, Z \in \chi(M).$$

The above equation implies that $\mu = 1$ and then from equation (3.3.5) it follows that $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon(n-2)$. Therefore we can state the following

Theorem 3.4.1. Let (M, g) be an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the Ricci tensor of the manifold is of Codazzi type then $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon(n-2)$ and $\mu = 1$.

Corollary 3.4.1. Let an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) and the manifold has Codazzi type Ricci tensor then

- i) if ξ is spacelike then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + n > 2$, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + n = 2$ or $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + n < 2$; and
- ii) if ξ is timelike then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + 2 > n$, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + 2 = n$ or $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + 2 < n$.

Now, we consider an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold, having cyclic parallel Ricci tensor, admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) , then equations (3.3.3) and (1.1.8) hold. Now taking covariant differentiation of (3.3.3) and using equation (3.2.1) we obtain

$$(\nabla_X S)(Y,Z) = (1-\mu)[g(X,Y)\eta(Z) + g(X,Z)\eta(Y) - 2\epsilon\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z)].$$
(3.4.2)

In a similar manner we can obtain the following relations

$$(\nabla_Y S)(Z, X) = (1 - \mu)[g(X, Y)\eta(Z) + g(Y, Z)\eta(X) - 2\epsilon\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z)]$$
(3.4.3)

and

$$(\nabla_Z S)(X,Y) = (1-\mu)[g(X,Z)\eta(Y) + g(Y,Z)\eta(X) - 2\epsilon\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z)].$$
(3.4.4)

Now using the values from (3.4.2), (3.4.3) and (3.4.4) in the equation (1.1.8) we get

$$2(1-\mu)[g(X,Y)\eta(Z) + g(Y,Z)\eta(X) + g(X,Z)\eta(Y) - 3\epsilon\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z)] = 0.$$

Replacing $Z = \xi$ in the above equation yields

$$2(1-\mu)[g(X,Y) - \epsilon \eta(X)\eta(Y)] = 0 \quad \forall X, Y \in TM.$$

The above equation implies that $\mu = 1$ and then from equation (3.3.5) it follows that $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon(n-2)$. Hence we have

Theorem 3.4.2. Let (M, g) be an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold has cyclic parallel Ricci tensor, then $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon(n-2)$ and $\mu = 1$.

Next we focus on another important curvature tensor namely the cyclic- η -recurrent Ricci tensor. An ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold is said to have cyclic- η -recurrent Ricci tensor if its Ricci tensor S is non-zero and satisfies the following relation:

$$(\nabla_X S)(Y, Z) + (\nabla_Y S)(Z, X) + (\nabla_Z S)(X, Y)$$

= $\eta(X)S(Y, Z) + \eta(Y)S(Z, X) + \eta(Z)S(X, Y) \quad \forall X, Y, Z \in \chi(M).$ (3.4.5)

Let us consider an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold, having cyclic- η -recurrent Ricci tensor, that admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) , then equation (3.3.3) holds. Now taking covariant differentiation of (3.3.3) and using equation (3.2.1) and proceeding similarly as the previous theorem we arrive at equations (3.4.2), (3.4.3) and (3.4.4). Then putting these three values in (3.4.5) we get

$$(2(1-\mu)-\beta)[g(X,Y)\eta(Z) + g(Y,Z)\eta(X) + g(X,Z)\eta(Y)] -(3+6\epsilon)(1-\mu)\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z) = 0, \qquad (3.4.6)$$

where $\beta = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - (\lambda + \epsilon)$. Now putting $Y = Z = \xi$ in (3.4.6) we obtain

$$3(\epsilon\beta + (1-\mu))\eta(X) = 0, \quad \forall X \in TM.$$
(3.4.7)

Since $\eta(X) \neq 0$ and replacing the value of β in (3.4.7), after simplification we get $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - \epsilon \mu$. Therefore we can state

Theorem 3.4.3. Let (M, g) be an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold has cyclic-eta-parallel Ricci tensor, then $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - \epsilon \mu$ and moreover

- i) if ξ is spacelike then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) > \mu$, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) = \mu$ or $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) < \mu$; and
- ii) if ξ is timelike then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \mu > 0$, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \mu = 0$ or $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \mu < 0$.

Corollary 3.4.2. Let (M, g) be an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting a conformal Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold has cyclic-eta-parallel Ricci tensor, then the soliton constant λ is given by $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})$.

3.5 Conformal η -Ricci soliton on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold satisfying some curvature conditions

Let us consider an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold which admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) and also the manifold is Ricci semi symmetric i.e; the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $R(X, Y) \cdot S = 0$. Then for all $X, Y, Z, W \in \chi(M)$ we can write

$$S(R(X,Y)Z,W) + S(Z,R(X,Y)W) = 0.$$

Taking $W = \xi$ in the above equation implies

$$\eta(R(X,Y)Z) + S(Z,R(X,Y)\xi) = 0.$$
(3.5.1)

Now using (3.2.2) and (3.2.5) in (3.5.1) we get

$$\eta(X)[S(Y,Z) - \epsilon g(Y,Z)] - \eta(Y)[S(X,Z) - \epsilon g(X,Z)] = 0.$$

In view of (3.3.3) the previous equation becomes

$$[(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - \lambda - 2\epsilon][\eta(X)g(Y, Z) - \eta(Y)g(X, Z)] = 0$$

Putting $X = \xi$ in the above equation and then using (1.1.34) and (1.1.35) we finally obtain

$$[(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - \lambda - 2\epsilon]g(\phi Y, \phi Z) = 0.$$
(3.5.2)

Since $g(\phi Y, \phi Z) \neq 0$ always, we can conclude from the equation (3.5.2) that $[(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - \lambda - 2\epsilon] = 0$ i.e; $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - 2\epsilon$. Then from the equation (3.3.5) we have $\mu = (n+1)$. Therefore we have the following

Theorem 3.5.1. Let (M, g) be an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold is Ricci semi symmetric i.e; if the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $R(X, Y) \cdot S = 0$, then $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - 2\epsilon$ and $\mu = (n + 1)$. Moreover

- i) if ξ is spacelike then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) > 2$, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) = 2$ or $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) < 2$; and
- ii) if ξ is timelike then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + 2 > 0$, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + 2 = 0$ or $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + 2 < 0$.

Next we consider an *n*-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold satisfying the curvature condition $C(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$ admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . Then we have

$$S(C(\xi, X)Y, Z) + S(Y, C(\xi, X)Z) = 0 \quad \forall X, Y, Z \in \chi(M).$$
(3.5.3)

Now from equation (1.1.2) we can write

$$C(\xi, X)Y = R(\xi, X)Y - \frac{r}{n(n-1)}[g(X, Y)\xi - \epsilon\eta(Y)X].$$

Using (3.2.3) the above equation becomes

$$C(\xi, X)Y = [1 + \frac{\epsilon r}{n(n-1)}][\eta(Y)X - \epsilon g(X, Y)\xi].$$
 (3.5.4)

In view of (3.5.4) the equation (3.5.3) yields

$$[1 + \frac{\epsilon r}{n(n-1)}][S(X,Z)\eta(Y) - \epsilon g(X,Y)S(\xi,Z) + S(Y,X)\eta(Z) - \epsilon g(X,Z)S(\xi,Y)] = 0.$$

By virtue of (3.2.6) the above equation eventually becomes

$$[1 + \frac{\epsilon r}{n(n-1)}][S(X,Z)\eta(Y) + S(Y,X)\eta(Z) + \epsilon(n-1)(g(X,Y)\eta(Z) + g(X,Z)\eta(Y))] = 0.$$
(3.5.5)

Putting $Z = \xi$ in (3.5.5) and then using (1.1.34), (3.2.6) we arrive at

$$[1 + \frac{\epsilon r}{n(n-1)}][S(X,Y) + \epsilon(n-1)g(X,Y)] = 0.$$

Thus from the above we can conclude that either $r = -\epsilon n(n-1)$ or

$$S(X,Y) = -\epsilon(n-1)g(X,Y).$$
 (3.5.6)

Combining (3.5.6) with (3.3.3) we get

$$[(\lambda + \epsilon) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - \epsilon(n-1)]g(X, Y) + (\mu - 1)\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0.$$

Taking $Y = \xi$ in above gives us

$$[(n-\mu) + \epsilon(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n} - \lambda - \epsilon)]\eta(X) = 0, \quad \forall X \in \chi(M).$$

Since $\eta(X) \neq 0$ always, from the above we have $\lambda = \epsilon(n-1) + (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - \epsilon \mu$. Therefore we can state

Theorem 3.5.2. Let (M, g) be an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $C(\xi, X)$. S = 0, then either the scalar curvature of the manifold is constant or the manifold is an Einstein manifold of the form (3.5.6) and the scalars λ and μ are related by $\lambda = \epsilon(n-1) + (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - \epsilon\mu$.

Next we prove two results on ξ -projectively flat and ξ -concircularly flat manifolds. For that let us first consider an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g, ξ, ϕ, η) admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . We know from definition that the manifold is ξ -projectively flat if $P(X, Y)\xi = 0$, $\forall X, Y \in \chi(M)$. Then putting $Z = \xi$ in (1.1.1) we obtain

$$P(X,Y)\xi = R(X,Y)\xi - \frac{1}{n-1}[S(Y,\xi)X - S(X,\xi)Y].$$
(3.5.7)

Now since it is given that (g, ξ, λ, μ) admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton, using (3.2.2) and (3.3.4) in the above (3.5.7), we obtain

$$P(X,Y)\xi = \left[1 + \frac{\epsilon(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - \epsilon\lambda - \mu}{n-1}\right] [\eta(X)Y - \eta(Y)X].$$

In view of (3.3.5) the above equation finally becomes $P(X, Y)\xi = 0$. Hence we have the following

Proposition 3.5.1. An *n*-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g, ξ, ϕ, η) admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) is ξ -projectively flat.

Again consider an *n*-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g, ξ, ϕ, η) admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . Then from definition we know that an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold is ξ -concircularly flat if $C(X, Y)\xi = 0$, $\forall X, Y \in \chi(M)$. So taking $Z = \xi$ in (1.1.2) we get

$$C(X,Y)\xi = R(X,Y)\xi - \frac{\epsilon r}{n(n-1)}[\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y].$$
(3.5.8)

Using (3.2.2) in (3.5.8) we obtain

$$C(X,Y)\xi = [1 + \frac{\epsilon r}{n(n-1)}][\eta(X)Y - \eta(Y)X].$$

Thus from the above we can conclude that $C(X, Y)\xi = 0$ if and only if, $\left[1 + \frac{\epsilon r}{n(n-1)}\right] = 0$, i.e; if and only if, $r = -\epsilon n(n-1)$. Again since (g, ξ, λ, μ) is a conformal η -Ricci soliton, the equation (3.3.3) holds and thus contracting (3.3.3) we obtain $r = \left[\left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}\right) - \lambda - \mu\right]n - (\mu - 1)$. Thus combining both the values of r we have, $\lambda = \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{2}{n}\right) - \frac{\mu}{n} - 2\epsilon$. Therefore we can state

Proposition 3.5.2. An *n*-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g, ξ, ϕ, η) admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) is ξ -concircularly flat if and only if, $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{2}{n}) - \frac{\mu}{n} - 2\epsilon$.

We now assume that an *n*-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g, ξ, ϕ, η) admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) which satisfies the curvature condition $Q \cdot C = 0$, where C denotes the concircular curvature tensor of the manifold. Then we can write

$$Q(C(X,Y)Z) - C(QX,Y)Z - C(X,QY)Z - C(X,Y)QZ = 0.$$
(3.5.9)

Using (1.1.2) in (3.5.9) yields

$$Q(R(X,Y)Z) - R(QX,Y)Z - R(X,QY)Z - R(X,Y)QZ + \frac{2r}{n(n-1)}[S(Y,Z)X - S(X,Z)Y] = 0.$$
(3.5.10)

Taking inner product of (3.5.10) with respect to the vector field ξ we get

$$\eta(Q(R(X,Y)Z)) - \eta(R(QX,Y)Z) - \eta(R(X,QY)Z) - \eta(R(X,Y)QZ) + \frac{2r}{n(n-1)}[S(Y,Z)\eta(X) - S(X,Z)\eta(Y)] = 0.$$

Putting $Z = \xi$ in above we obtain

$$\eta(Q(R(X,\xi)Z)) - \eta(R(QX,\xi)Z) - \eta(R(X,Q\xi)Z) - \eta(R(X,Q\xi)Z) - \eta(R(X,\xi)QZ) + \frac{2r}{n(n-1)}[S(\xi,Z)\eta(X) - S(X,Z)] = 0.$$
(3.5.11)

Again from (3.2.3) we can derive

$$\eta(Q(R(X,\xi)Z)) = \eta(R(X,Q\xi)Z) = (n-1)[\epsilon\eta(X)\eta(Z) - g(X,Z)], \qquad (3.5.12)$$

$$\eta(R(QX,\xi)Z) = \eta(R(X,\xi)QZ) = \epsilon[S(X,Z) + (n-1)\eta(X)\eta(Z)].$$
(3.5.13)

By virtue of (3.5.12) and (3.5.13), the equation (3.5.11) becomes

$$\epsilon[(n-1)\eta(X)\eta(Z) + S(X,Z)] - \frac{r}{n(n-1)}[S(\xi,Z)\eta(X) - S(X,Z)] = 0.$$

Using (3.2.6) in above we arrive at

$$[\epsilon + \frac{r}{n(n-1)}][(n-1)\eta(X)\eta(Z) + S(X,Z)] = 0.$$

Hence we can conclude that either $r = -\epsilon n(n-1)$ or,

$$S(X,Z) = -(n-1)\eta(X)\eta(Z).$$
(3.5.14)

Now combining equations (3.5.14) and (3.3.3), we get

$$[(\lambda + \epsilon) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]g(X, Z) + (\mu - n)\eta(X)\eta(Z) = 0.$$

Taking $Z = \xi$ in above yields

$$[\epsilon(\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})) + (\mu + 1 - n)]\eta(X) = 0, \quad \forall X \in \chi(M).$$

Since $\eta(X) \neq 0$ always, from the above we can conclude that $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon(n - \mu - 1)$. Hence we can state the following **Theorem 3.5.3.** Let (M, g) be an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $Q \cdot C =$ 0, then either the scalar curvature of the manifold is constant or the manifold is a special type of η -Einstein manifold of the form (3.5.14) and the scalars λ and μ are related by $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon(n - \mu - 1).$

We conclude this section by this result on W_2 -curvature tensor. For this let us consider an *n*-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) and assume that the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $W_2(\xi, Y) \cdot S = 0$. Then we can write

$$S(W_2(\xi, Y)Z, U) + S(Z, W_2(\xi, Y)U) = 0, \quad \forall Y, Z, U \in \chi(M).$$

Putting $U = \xi$ in above we get

$$S(W_2(\xi, Y)Z, \xi) + S(Z, W_2(\xi, Y)\xi) = 0.$$
(3.5.15)

Now taking $X = \xi$ in (1.1.4) we obtain

$$W_2(\xi, Y)Z = R(\xi, Y)Z + \frac{\epsilon}{n-1}[\eta(Z)QY - \eta(Y)Q\xi].$$

Using (3.2.3) in above yields

$$W_2(\xi, Y)Z = \eta(Z)Y - \epsilon g(Y, Z)\xi + \frac{\epsilon}{n-1} [\eta(Z)QY - \eta(Y)Q\xi].$$
 (3.5.16)

putting $Z = \xi$ in (3.5.16) we arrive at

$$W_2(\xi, Y)\xi = Y - \eta(Y)\xi + \frac{\epsilon}{n-1}[QY - \eta(Y)Q\xi].$$
 (3.5.17)

Using (3.5.16) and (3.5.17) in the (3.5.15) we get

$$\eta(Z)S(Y,\xi) + \epsilon(n-1)g(Y,Z) + \frac{\epsilon}{n-1}[\eta(Z)S(QY,\xi) - \eta(Y)S(Q\xi,\xi)] + S(Y,Z) - \eta(Y)S(Z,\xi) + \frac{\epsilon}{n-1}[S(Z,QY) - \eta(Y)S(Z,Q\xi)] = 0.$$

In view of (3.2.6) the above equation becomes

$$S(Y,Z) + \epsilon(n-1)g(Y,Z) + \epsilon[\eta(Y)\eta(Q\xi) - \eta(Z)\eta(QY)] + \frac{\epsilon}{n-1}[S(Z,QY) - \eta(Y)S(Z,Q\xi)] = 0.$$
(3.5.18)

Taking $Y = \xi$ in (3.5.18) and then using (3.2.7) we have

$$S(Z,\xi) + (1+\epsilon)(n-1)\eta(Z) = (n-1).$$
(3.5.19)

Making use of (3.3.4) in (3.5.19) and then taking $Z = \xi$ we finally get

$$\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon[(n-1)(n-2) - \mu].$$
(3.5.20)

Thus we arrive at the following

Theorem 3.5.4. Let (M, g) be an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $W_2(\xi, Y)$. S = 0, then the scalars λ and μ are related by $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon[(n-1)(n-2) - \mu]$.

3.6 Conformal η -Ricci soliton on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold with torse-forming vector field

This section is devoted to the study of conformal η -Ricci solitons on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds with torse-forming vector field.

Now let (M, g, ξ, ϕ, η) be an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) and assume that the potential vector field ξ of is a torse-forming vector field. Then ξ being a torse-forming vector field, by definiton from equation (1.1.12) we have

$$\nabla_X \xi = f X + \gamma(X) \xi, \qquad (3.6.1)$$

 $\forall X \in \chi(M), f$ being a smooth function and γ is a 1-form.

Recalling the equation (1.1.38) and taking inner product on both sides with ξ we can write

$$g(\nabla_X \xi, \xi) = \epsilon g(X, \xi) - \epsilon \eta(X) g(\xi, \xi),$$

which, in view of (1.1.34), reduces to

$$g(\nabla_X \xi, \xi) = 0. \tag{3.6.2}$$

Again from the equation (3.6.1), applying inner product with ξ we obtain

$$g(\nabla_X \xi, \xi) = \epsilon f \eta(X) + \epsilon \gamma(X). \tag{3.6.3}$$

Combining (3.6.2) and (3.6.3) we get, $\gamma = -f\eta$. Thus for torse-forming vector field ξ in ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds, we have

$$\nabla_X \xi = f(X - \eta(X)\xi). \tag{3.6.4}$$

Since (g, ξ, λ, μ) is a conformal η -Ricci soliton, from (1.2.5) we can write

$$g(\nabla_X \xi, Y) + g(\nabla_Y \xi, X) + 2S(X, Y) + [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0.$$

In view of (3.6.4) the above becomes

$$S(X,Y) = \left[\left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}\right) - (\lambda + f)\right]g(X,Y) + (\epsilon f - \mu)\eta(X)\eta(Y).$$
(3.6.5)

This implies that the manifold is an η -Einstein manifold. Therefore we have the following

Theorem 3.6.1. Let (g, ξ, λ, μ) be a conformal η -Ricci soliton on an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g), with torse-forming vector field ξ , then the manifold becomes an η -Einstein manifold of the form (3.6.5).

In particular if ξ is spacelike, i.e; $\epsilon = 1$, then for $\mu = f$, the equation (3.6.5) reduces to

$$S(X,Y) = \left[\left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}\right) - (\lambda + f)\right]g(X,Y),$$
(3.6.6)

which implies that the manifold is an Einstein manifold. Similarly for ξ timelike and for $\mu = -f$, from (3.6.5) we can say that the manifold becomes an Einstein manifold. Therefore we can state

Corollary 3.6.1. Let (g, ξ, λ, μ) be a conformal η -Ricci soliton on an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g), with torse-forming vector field ξ , then the manifold becomes an Einstein manifold according as ξ is spacelike and $\mu = f$, or; ξ is timelike and $\mu = -f$.

3.7 Gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold

This section is devoted to the study of ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds admitting gradient conformal η -Ricci solitons and we try to characterize the potential vector field of the soliton. First, we prove the following lemma which will be used later in this section.

Lemma 3.7.1. On an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) , the following relations hold

$$g((\nabla_Z Q)X, Y) = g((\nabla_Z Q)Y, X), \qquad (3.7.1)$$

$$(\nabla_Z Q)\xi = -\epsilon QZ - (n-1)Z, \qquad (3.7.2)$$

for all smooth vector fields $X, Y, Z \in \chi(M)$.

Proof. Since we know that the Ricci tensor is symmetric, we have g(QX, Y) = g(X, QY). Covariantly differentiating this relation along Z and using g(QX, Y) = S(X, Y) we can easily obtain (3.7.1).

To prove the second part, let us recall equation (3.2.7) and taking its covariant derivative in the direction of an arbitrary smooth vector field Z we get

$$(\nabla_Z Q)\xi + Q(\nabla_Z \xi) + \epsilon(n-1)\nabla_Z \xi = 0.$$
(3.7.3)

In view of (1.1.38) and (3.2.7), the previous equation gives the desired result (3.7.2). This completes the proof.

Now, we consider ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds admitting gradient conformal η -Ricci solitons i.e.; when the vector field V is gradient of some smooth function f on M. Thus if V = Df, where Df = gradf, then the conformal η -Ricci soliton equation becomes

$$Hess f + S + \left[\lambda - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}\right)\right]g + \mu\eta \otimes \eta = 0, \qquad (3.7.4)$$

where Hess f denotes the Hessian of the smooth function f. In this case the vector field V is called the potential vector field and the smooth function f is called the potential function.

Lemma 3.7.2. If (g, V, λ, μ) is a gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton on an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) , then the Riemannian curvature tensor R satisfies

$$R(X,Y)Df = [(\nabla_Y Q)X - (\nabla_X Q)Y] + \epsilon \mu[\eta(X)Y - \eta(Y)X].$$
(3.7.5)

Proof. Since the data (g, V, λ, μ) is a gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton, equation (3.7.4) holds and it can be rewritten as

$$\nabla_X Df = -QX - [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]X - \mu\eta(X)\xi, \qquad (3.7.6)$$

for all smooth vector field X on M and for some smooth function f such that V = Df = gradf. Covariantly diffrentiating the previous equation along an arbitrary vector field Y and using (1.1.38) we obtain

$$\nabla_Y \nabla_X Df = -\nabla_Y (QX) - [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})] \nabla_Y X$$
$$-\mu[(\nabla_Y \eta(X))\xi + \epsilon(Y - \eta(Y)\xi)\eta(X)]. \tag{3.7.7}$$

Interchanging X and Y in (3.7.7) gives

$$\nabla_X \nabla_Y Df = -\nabla_X (QY) - [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})] \nabla_X Y$$
$$-\mu[(\nabla_X \eta(Y))\xi + \epsilon(X - \eta(X)\xi)\eta(Y)]. \tag{3.7.8}$$

Again in view of (3.7.6) we can write

$$\nabla_{[X,Y]} Df = -Q(\nabla_X Y - \nabla_Y X) - \mu \eta (\nabla_X Y - \nabla_Y X) \xi - [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})] (\nabla_X Y - \nabla_Y X).$$
(3.7.9)

Therefore substituting the values from (3.7.7), (3.7.8) (3.7.9) in (1.1.5) we obtain our desired expression (3.7.5). This completes the proof.

Now we proceed to prove our main result of this section.

Theorem 3.7.1. Let (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) be an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting a gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, V, λ, μ) , then the potential vector field V is pointwise collinear with the characteristic vector field ξ .

Proof. Recalling the equation (3.2.2) and taking its inner product with Df yields

$$g(R(X,Y)\xi, Df) = (Yf)\eta(X) - (Xf)\eta(Y).$$

Again we know that $g(R(X, Y)\xi, Df) = -g(R(X, Y)Df, \xi)$ and in view of this the previous equation becomes

$$g(R(X,Y)Df,\xi) = (Xf)\eta(Y) - (Yf)\eta(X).$$
(3.7.10)

Now taking inner product of (3.7.5) with ξ and using (3.7.2) we obtain

$$g(R(X,Y)Df,\xi) = 0.$$
 (3.7.11)

Thus combining (3.7.10) and (3.7.11) we arrive at

$$(Xf)\eta(Y) = (Yf)\eta(X).$$

Taking $Y = \xi$ in the foregoing equation gives us $(Xf) = (\xi f)\eta(X)$, which essentially implies $g(X, Df) = g(X, \epsilon(\xi f)\xi)$. Since this equation is true for all X, we can conclude that

$$V = Df = \epsilon(\xi f)\xi. \tag{3.7.12}$$

Hence, V is pointwise collinear with ξ and this completes the proof.

Corollary 3.7.1. If (g, V, λ, μ) is a gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton on an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) , then the direction of the potential vector field V is same or opposite to the direction of the characteristic vector field ξ , according as ξ is spacelike or timelike vector field.

Again covariantly differentiating (3.7.12) and then combining it with (3.7.6), and after that taking $X = \xi$ in the derived expression we obtain

$$\nabla^2_{\xi} f = \lambda + \mu - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}\right) - \epsilon(n-1).$$

Hence we can conclude the following

Corollary 3.7.2. If $(g, V = Df, \lambda, \mu)$ is a gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton on an *n*-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) , then at the particular point ξ , the potential function f satisfies the Laplace's equation $\nabla^2 f = 0$, if and only if,

$$\lambda + \mu = \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}\right) + \epsilon(n-1)$$

3.8 Example of a 5-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting conformal η -Ricci soliton

In this section an example of a conformal η -Ricci soliton on a 5-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold is constructed.

Example 3.8.1. Let us consider the 5-dimensional manifold $M = \{(u_1, u_2, v_1, v_2, w) \in \mathbb{R}^5 : w \neq 0\}$. Define a set of vector fields $\{e_i : 1 \leq i \leq 5\}$ on the manifold M given by

$$e_1 = \epsilon w \frac{\partial}{\partial u_1}, \quad e_2 = \epsilon w \frac{\partial}{\partial u_2}, \quad e_3 = \epsilon w \frac{\partial}{\partial v_1}, \quad e_4 = \epsilon w \frac{\partial}{\partial v_2}, \quad e_5 = -\epsilon w \frac{\partial}{\partial w}.$$

Let us define the indefinite metric g on M by

$$g(e_i, e_j) = \begin{cases} \epsilon, & \text{for } i = j \\ 0, & \text{for } i \neq j \end{cases}$$

for all i, j = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5. Now considering $e_5 = \xi$, let us take the 1-form η , on the manifold M, defined by

$$\eta(U) = \epsilon g(U, e_5) = \epsilon g(U, \xi), \quad \forall U \in \chi(M)$$

Then it can be observed that $\eta(e_5) = 1$. Let us define the (1,1) tensor field ϕ on M as

 $\phi(e_1) = e_2, \quad \phi(e_2) = -e_1, \quad \phi(e_3) = e_4, \quad \phi(e_4) = -e_3, \quad \phi(e_5) = 0.$

Then using the linearity of g and ϕ it can be easily checked that

$$\phi^2(U) = -U + \eta(U)\xi, \quad g(\phi U, \phi V) = g(U, V) - \epsilon \eta(U)\eta(V), \quad \forall U, V \in \chi(M).$$

Hence the structure $(\phi, \xi, \eta, g, \epsilon)$ defines an indefinite almost contact structure on the manifold M.

Now, using the definitions of Lie bracket, direct computations give us $[e_i, e_5] = \epsilon e_i; \quad \forall i = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 \text{ and all other } [e_i, e_j] \text{ vanishes. Again the Riemannian}$ connection ∇ of the metric g is defined by the well-known Koszul's formula which is given by

$$2g(\nabla_X Y, Z) = Xg(Y, Z) + Yg(Z, X) - Zg(X, Y) -g(X, [Y, Z]) + g(Y, [Z, X]) + g(Z, [X, Y]).$$

Using the above formula one can easily calculate that

 $\nabla_{e_i}e_i = -\epsilon e_5$, $\nabla_{e_i}e_5 = -\epsilon e_i$; for i=1,2,3,4 and all other $\nabla_{e_i}e_j$ vanishes. Thus it follows that $\nabla_X \xi = \epsilon(X - \eta(X)\xi)$, $\forall X \in \chi(M)$. Therefore the manifold (M,g) is a 5-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold.

Then, the non-vanishing components of the Riemannian curvature tensor R are

$$\begin{split} R(e_1, e_2)e_2 &= R(e_1, e_3)e_3 = R(e_1, e_4)e_4 = R(e_1, e_5)e_5 = -e_1, \\ R(e_1, e_2)e_1 &= e_2, \quad R(e_1, e_3)e_1 = R(e_1, e_3)e_2 = R(e_1, e_3)e_5 = e_3, \\ R(e_1, e_2)e_3 &= R(e_1, e_2)e_4 = R(e_1, e_2)e_5 = -e_2, \quad R(e_1, e_2)e_4 = -e_3, \\ R(e_1, e_2)e_2 &= R(e_1, e_2)e_1 = R(e_1, e_2)e_4 = R(e_1, e_2)e_3 = e_5, \\ R(e_1, e_2)e_1 &= R(e_1, e_2)e_2 = R(e_1, e_2)e_3 = R(e_1, e_2)e_5 = e_4. \end{split}$$

From the above values of the curvature tensor, we obtain the components of the Ricci tensor as follows

$$S(e_1, e_1) = S(e_2, e_2) = S(e_3, e_3) = S(e_4, e_4) = S(e_5, e_5) = -4.$$
(3.8.1)

Therefore using (3.8.1) in the equation (3.3.3) we can calculate $\lambda = 3\epsilon + (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{5})$ and $\mu = 1$. Hence we can say that for $\lambda = 3\epsilon + (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{5})$ and $\mu = 1$, the data (g, ξ, λ, μ) defines a 5-dimensional conformal η -Ricci soliton on the manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) .

3.9 Conformal η -Ricci soliton on almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold

This section is devoted to the study of a four dimensional almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold admitting conformal η -Ricci solitons and we try to characterize the nature of the soliton. For this, we will make use of two types of curvature conditions namely the projective curvature tensor and the conharmonic curvature tensor.

First, we consider the projective curvature tensor in a Kählerian spacetime manifold (M, g) of dimension 4 and hence taking n = 4 in equation (1.1.1) we have

$$\tilde{P}(X,Y,U,W) = \tilde{R}(X,Y,U,W) + \frac{1}{3}[g(X,U)S(Y,W) - g(Y,U)S(X,W)], \quad (3.9.1)$$

for all vector fields $X, Y, U, W \in \chi(M)$ and $\tilde{P}(X, Y, U, W) = g(P(X, Y)U, W)$, where P is the projective curvature tensor.

Now, let us consider a projectively flat almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold of dimension 4 and study the nature of the conformal η -Ricci soliton within this framework. In this regard our first result is **Theorem 3.9.1.** A conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) , on a projectively flat almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold, is shrinking if $p < 8\omega + 2\kappa(\sigma - 3\rho) - \frac{1}{2}$, steady if $p = 8\omega + 2\kappa(\sigma - 3\rho) - \frac{1}{2}$ and expanding if $p > 8\omega + 2\kappa(\sigma - 3\rho) - \frac{1}{2}$; provided ξ is solenoidal.

Proof. Since by hypothesis the manifold is projectively flat, i.e; P(X,Y)U = 0, from (3.9.1) we can write

$$\tilde{R}(X, Y, U, W) = -\frac{1}{3} [g(X, U)S(Y, W) - g(Y, U)S(X, W)], \qquad (3.9.2)$$

for all $X, Y, U, W \in \chi(M)$.

Now, covariantly differentiating the relation (3.2.9) along the arbitrary vector field Z and using (1.1.28), (1.1.29) we obtain

$$(\nabla_Z \tilde{R})(JX, JY, U, W) = (\nabla_Z \tilde{R})(X, Y, U, W), \qquad (3.9.3)$$

for all $X, Y, U, W \in \chi(M)$.

Making use of equation (3.2.16) in above (3.9.1) and recalling (3.9.2) yields

$$\mathcal{A}(X)\tilde{R}(Z,Y,U,W) + \mathcal{A}(Y)\tilde{R}(X,Z,U,W)$$

= $\mathcal{A}(JX)\tilde{R}(Z,JY,U,W) + \mathcal{A}(JY)\tilde{R}(JX,Z,U,W).$ (3.9.4)

By virtue of (3.9.2) the foregoing equation becomes

$$\mathcal{A}(X)[g(U,Z)S(Y,W) - g(Y,U)S(Z,W)] + \mathcal{A}(Y)[g(U,X)S(Z,W) - g(Z,U)S(X,W)] = \mathcal{A}(JX)[g(U,Z)S(JY,W) - g(JY,U)S(Z,W)] + \mathcal{A}(JY)[g(U,JX)S(Y,W) - g(Z,U)S(JX,W)].$$
(3.9.5)

Taking an orthonormal basis $\{E_i : 1 \leq i \leq 4\}$ and putting $X = \mathcal{P} = E_i$ in (3.9.5), then after contraction we get

$$g(Z, U)S(Y, W) - g(Y, U)S(Z, W) = 0.$$
(3.9.6)

On contracting the above equation over $Z = W = E_i$ we arrive at

$$S(Y,U) = rg(Y,U) \quad \forall \ U, Y \in \chi(M).$$

$$(3.9.7)$$

Since, (g, ξ, λ, μ) is a conformal η -Ricci soliton, from (1.2.5) we can write

$$g(\nabla_X \xi) + g(X, \nabla_Y \xi) + 2S(X, Y) + \left[2\lambda - \left(p + \frac{1}{2}\right)\right]g(X, Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0. \quad (3.9.8)$$

Plugging in the value from (3.9.7) in the above equation (3.9.8) we get

$$g(\nabla_X \xi) + g(X, \nabla_Y \xi) + \left[2r + 2\lambda - \left(p + \frac{1}{2}\right)\right]g(X, Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0.$$
(3.9.9)

Multiplying both sides of (3.9.9) by ϵ_{ii} , then taking summation over $1 \leq i \leq 4$ for $X = Y = E_i$ and making use of equations (3.2.12), (3.2.13) yields

$$div\xi + 2\left[2r + 2\lambda - \left(p + \frac{1}{2}\right)\right] - \mu = 0.$$
 (3.9.10)

Again setting $X = Y = \xi$ in (3.9.9) and recalling (3.2.12), (3.2.13) we get

$$\left[2r+2\lambda-\left(p+\frac{1}{2}\right)\right]-2\mu=0.$$
(3.9.11)

From equations (3.9.10) and (3.9.11) after solving we finally obtain

$$\lambda = \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{4}\right) - r - \frac{div\xi}{3}, \qquad (3.9.12)$$

$$\mu = -\frac{div\xi}{3}.\tag{3.9.13}$$

Therefore using the condition ξ is solenoidal, i.e; $div\xi = 0$ in (3.9.12) and then by virtue of (3.2.14) we get

$$\lambda = \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{4}\right) - 4\omega - \kappa(\sigma - 3\rho). \tag{3.9.14}$$

Hence from the above the soliton is shrinking, steady and expanding according to $\lambda < 0$, $\lambda = 0$ and $\lambda > 0$ respectively. This completes the proof.

Now, note that from (3.9.13) it is evident that if $div\xi = 0$ then $\mu = 0$ and vice versa. Therefore we have the following

Corollary 3.9.1. A conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) , on a projectively flat almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold, reduces to a conformal Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ) if and only if, the potential vector field ξ is solenoidal.

Remark 3.9.1. We know that, for radiation fluid $\sigma = 3\rho$, then from (3.9.14) it follows that, $\lambda = \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{4}\right) - 4\omega$. Hence in this case the soliton is shrinking, steady or expanding according to $p < 8\omega - \frac{1}{2}$, $p = 8\omega - \frac{1}{2}$ or $p > 8\omega - \frac{1}{2}$ respectively.

Next, we consider another important curvature tensor, namely the conharmonic curvature tensor [99] in a Kählerian spacetime manifold (M, g) of dimension 4 and hence taking n = 4 in equation (1.1.3) we have

$$\tilde{\mathcal{H}}(X, Y, U, W) = \tilde{R}(X, Y, U, W) + \frac{1}{2} [g(X, U)S(Y, W) - g(Y, U)S(X, W) + S(X, U)g(Y, W) - S(Y, U)g(X, W)], \qquad (3.9.15)$$

for all vector fields $X, Y, U, W \in \chi(M)$ and $\tilde{H}(X, Y, U, W) = g(H(X, Y)U, W)$, where H denotes the conharmonic curvature tensor.

Now, we focus our study on the nature of the conformal η -Ricci soliton on a conharmonicly flat almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold. We precisely prove the following

Theorem 3.9.2. A conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) , on a conharmonically flat almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold, is shrinking if $p < -4\omega - \kappa(\sigma - 3\rho) - \frac{1}{2}$, steady if $p = -4\omega - \kappa(\sigma - 3\rho) - \frac{1}{2}$ and expanding if $p > -4\omega - \kappa(\sigma - 3\rho) - \frac{1}{2}$; provided ξ is solenoidal.

Proof. Since by hypothesis the manifold is conharmonically flat, i.e; H(X, Y)U = 0, from (3.9.15) we can write

$$\tilde{R}(X, Y, U, W) = -\frac{1}{2} [g(X, U)S(Y, W) - g(Y, U)S(X, W) + S(X, U)g(Y, W) - S(Y, U)g(X, W)], \qquad (3.9.16)$$

for all $X, Y, U, W \in \chi(M)$.

Then, making use of (3.9.16) in (3.9.4) we obtain

$$\tilde{A}(X)[g(U,Z)S(Y,W) - g(Y,U)S(Z,W)
+S(U,Z)g(Y,W) - S(Y,U)g(Z,W)]
+\tilde{A}(Y)[g(U,X)S(Z,W) - g(Z,U)S(X,W)
+S(U,X)g(Z,W) - S(Z,U)g(X,W)]
= \tilde{A}(JX)[g(U,Z)S(JY,W) - g(JY,U)S(Z,W)
+S(U,Z)g(JY,W) - S(JY,U)g(Z,W)]
+\tilde{A}(JY)[g(U,JX)S(Z,W) - g(Z,U)S(JX,W)
+S(U,JX)g(Z,W) - S(Z,U)g(JX,W)].$$
(3.9.17)

On contracting the above equation over $X = \mathcal{P} = E_i$ we get

$$g(Z,U)S(Y,W) - g(Y,U)S(Z,W) + S(Z,U)g(Y,W) - S(Y,U)g(Z,W) = 0.$$
(3.9.18)

Setting $Z = W = E_i$ in (3.9.18) we arrive at

$$S(Y,U) = -\frac{r}{2}g(Y,U) \quad \forall U, Y \in \chi(M).$$
 (3.9.19)

As (g, ξ, λ, μ) is a conformal η -Ricci soliton, from (1.2.5) we can write

$$g(\nabla_X \xi) + g(X, \nabla_Y \xi) + 2S(X, Y) + \left[2\lambda - \left(p + \frac{1}{2}\right)\right]g(X, Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0. \quad (3.9.20)$$

Using (3.9.19) in the previous equation (3.9.20) we obtain

$$g(\nabla_X \xi) + g(X, \nabla_Y \xi) + \left[2\lambda - r - \left(p + \frac{1}{2}\right)\right]g(X, Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0.$$
(3.9.21)

Multiplying both sides of (3.9.21) by ϵ_{ii} , then taking summation over $1 \leq i \leq 4$ for $X = Y = E_i$ and making use of equations (3.2.12), (3.2.13) yields

$$div\xi + 2\left[2\lambda - r - \left(p + \frac{1}{2}\right)\right] - \mu = 0.$$
(3.9.22)

Again setting $X = Y = \xi$ in (3.9.21) and recalling (3.2.12), (3.2.13) we get

$$\left[2\lambda - r - \left(p + \frac{1}{2}\right)\right] - 2\mu = 0. \tag{3.9.23}$$

Solving equations (3.9.22) and (3.9.23) we finally obtain

$$\lambda = \frac{r}{2} + \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{4}\right) - \frac{div\xi}{3}, \qquad (3.9.24)$$

$$\mu = -\frac{div\xi}{3}.\tag{3.9.25}$$

Therefore using the condition ξ is solenoidal, i.e; $div\xi = 0$ in (3.9.24) and then by virtue of (3.2.14) we get

$$\lambda = 2\omega + \frac{\kappa}{2}(\sigma - 3\rho) + \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{4}\right). \tag{3.9.26}$$

Hence completes the proof.

Now, note that from (3.9.25) it follows that $\mu = 0$ if and only if $div\xi = 0$. Therefore we can state the following:

Corollary 3.9.2. A conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) , on a conharmonically flat almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold, reduces to a conformal Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ) if and only if, the potential vector field ξ is solenoidal.

Remark 3.9.2. We know that, for radiation fluid $\sigma = 3\rho$, then from (3.9.26) it follows that, $\lambda = 2\omega + \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{4}\right)$. Hence in this case the soliton is shrinking, steady or expanding according to $p < -4\omega - \frac{1}{2}$, $p = -4\omega - \frac{1}{2}$ or $p > -4\omega - \frac{1}{2}$ respectively.

3.10 Gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton on almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold

This section is devoted to the study of almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifolds admitting gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton.

On a Kählerian spacetime manifold (M, g) a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, V, λ, μ) is said to be a gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton if the potential vector field V is the gradient of some smooth function f on the manifold M. Hence in this case V = Df, where Dfdenotes the gradient of f and then equation (1.2.5) becomes

$$Hess f + S + \left[\lambda - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{4}\right)\right]g + \mu\eta \otimes \eta = 0, \qquad (3.10.1)$$

where Hess f denotes the Hessian operator of the function f. Moreover, the gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton is called proper if $\mu \neq 0$.

Now we prove our main theorem of this section on gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton on almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifolds.

Theorem 3.10.1. Let (g, Df, λ, μ) be a proper gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton on a projectively flat almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold of non-zero scalar curvature. Then the integral curves generated by the velocity vector field ξ are geodesics if and only if the potential function f is constant.

Proof. Given that (g, Df, λ, μ) is a proper gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton, the equation (3.10.1) can be rewritten as

$$\nabla_X Df + QX + \left[\lambda - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{4}\right)\right] X + \mu\eta(X)\xi = 0, \qquad (3.10.2)$$

for all $X \in \chi(M)$ and Q is the Ricci operator given by g(QX, Y) = S(X, Y). Taking covariant differentiation of (3.10.2) along Y we get

$$\nabla_{Y}\nabla_{X}Df = -(\nabla_{Y}Q)(X) - Q(\nabla_{Y}X) - \left[\lambda - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{4}\right)\right]\nabla_{Y}X - \mu[(\nabla_{Y}\eta)(X)\xi + \eta(\nabla_{Y}X)\xi + \eta(X)\nabla_{Y}\xi].$$
(3.10.3)

Interchanging X and Y in (3.10.3) we obtain

$$\nabla_X \nabla_Y Df = -(\nabla_X Q)(Y) - Q(\nabla_X Y) - \left[\lambda - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{4}\right)\right] \nabla_X Y -\mu[(\nabla_X \eta)(Y)\xi + \eta(\nabla_X Y)\xi + \eta(Y)\nabla_X \xi].$$
(3.10.4)

Again from (3.10.2) we can write

$$\nabla_{[X,Y]}Df = -Q(\nabla_X Y) + Q(\nabla_Y X) - \left[\lambda - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{4}\right)\right] (\nabla_X Y - \nabla_Y X) -\mu[\eta(\nabla_X Y)\xi - \eta(\nabla_Y X)\xi].$$
(3.10.5)

Now using (3.10.3), (3.10.4), and (3.10.5) in (1.1.5) we arrive at

$$R(X,Y)Df = (\nabla_Y Q)(X) - (\nabla_X Q)(Y) - \mu[(\nabla_X \eta)(Y)\xi + \eta(Y)\nabla_X \xi] + \mu[(\nabla_Y \eta)(X)\xi + \eta(X)\nabla_Y \xi].$$
(3.10.6)

Contracting the foregoing equation (3.10.6) along X and in view of (3.2.12), (3.2.13) we obtain

$$S(Y, Df) = -\mu[(\nabla_{\xi}\eta)(Y) + \eta(Y)div\xi].$$
(3.10.7)

Since by our hypothesis, the manifold is projectively flat, from (3.9.7) we can write

$$S(Y, Df) = rg(Y, Df).$$
 (3.10.8)

Combining the equations (3.10.7) and (3.10.8) we get

$$-\mu[(\nabla_{\xi}\eta)(Y) + \eta(Y)div\xi] = rg(Y, Df).$$
(3.10.9)

Finally putting $Y = \xi$ in (3.10.9) and using (3.2.12) we arrive at

$$\nabla_{\xi}\xi = \frac{r}{\mu}Df. \tag{3.10.10}$$

Hence $\nabla_{\xi}\xi = 0$ if and only if Df = 0 i.e; if and only if f is constant. This completes the proof.

4 On some Ricci solitons and Yamabe solitons

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter we consider Ricci soliton and some types of Yamabe soliton on some differentiable manifolds. This chapter is divided into six sections. In sections one and two we give introduction and preliminaries respectively.

In section three, we study some curvature properties of 3-dimensional quasi-Sasakian manifolds with respect to Zamkovoy connection. Then section four characterizes the Ricci soliton on 3-dimensional quasi-Sasakian manifolds with respect to Zamkovoy connection.

Section five deals with the study η -Ricci-Yamabe soliton on almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifolds. Finally in section six, we characterize quasi-Yamabe soliton within the framework of generalized Sasakian spaceform.

4.2 Preliminaries

In this section we discuss some basic results From now on we assume that the manifold M is a 3-dimensional quasi-Sasakian manifold. According to Z. Olszak [66], an almost contact metric manifold M of dimension 3 is quasi-Sasakian if and only if

$$\nabla_X \xi = -\beta \phi(X), \tag{4.2.1}$$

for all $X \in \chi(M)$ and for some smooth function β on the manifold M, ∇ being the Levi-Civita connection of M. This function β is called the structure function of M [67].

For a 3-dimensional quasi-Sasakian manifold it is known that the structure function β satisfies the relation $\xi\beta = 0$. In particular, a quasi-Sasakian structure with $\beta = 0$ is a cosymplectic manifold of rank 1.

Olszak [67] established the necessary and sufficient condition for a three-dimensional quasi-Sasakian manifold to be conformally flat with the help of its structure function β . In [36], the authors studied 3-dimensional quasi-Sasakian manifolds with semi-symmetric non-metric connection.

In a 3-dimensional quasi-Sasakian manifold the following relations hold [67]

$$(\nabla_X \phi)(Y) = \beta(g(X, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X), \qquad (4.2.2)$$

$$(\nabla_X \eta)(Y) = -\beta g(\phi(X), Y), \qquad (4.2.3)$$

$$S(X,Y) = (\frac{r}{2} - \beta^2)g(X,Y) + (3\beta^2 - \frac{r}{2})\eta(X)\eta(Y) -\eta(X)d\beta(\phi Y) - \eta(Y)d\beta(\phi X),$$
(4.2.4)

$$R(X,Y)\xi = \beta^{2}(\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y) - (X\beta)\phi Y + (Y\beta)\phi X, \qquad (4.2.5)$$

$$S(X,\xi) = 2\beta^2 \eta(X) - d\beta(\phi X),$$
 (4.2.6)

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$, S denotes the Ricci tensor, R is the curvature tensor of M and df(X) = g(gradf, X) relates the gradient of a function f to the exterior derivative df.

4.3 Geometry of quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold with respect to the Zamkovoy connection

This section is devoted to the study of some geometrical properties of a 3-dimensional quasi-Sasakian manifold M admitting Zamkovoy connection. First we try to establish the relations between the Riemannian curvature tensors and Ricci tensors of M with respect to the Levi-Civita connection and the Zamkovoy connection.

Using equations (4.2.1) and (4.2.3) in (1.1.20), we obtain the expression for the Zamkovoy connection in a 3-dimensional Quasi-Sasakian manifold M as follows

$$\nabla_X^* Y = \nabla_X Y - \beta(g(\phi(X), Y)\xi - \eta(Y)\phi X) + \eta(X)\phi Y, \qquad (4.3.1)$$

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$, where ∇ is the Levi-Civita connection on M.

Furthermore, it can be easily seen that in this case the torsion tensor with respect to the Zamkovoy connection is

$$T^{*}(X,Y) = (1-\beta)(\eta(X)\phi Y - \eta(Y)\phi X) + 2\beta g(X,\phi Y), \qquad (4.3.2)$$

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$.

Again, in a 3-dimensional quasi-Sasakian manifold M we can easily calculate that, with respect to the Zamkovoy connection, $\nabla^* g = 0$, i.e., the Zamkovoy connection is a metric compatible connection on the manifold M.

Now, in view of (4.3.1), it can be easily obtained that,

$$\nabla_X^* \nabla_Y^* Z = \nabla_X \nabla_Y Z + \eta (\nabla_X Y) \phi Z + \eta (Y) \phi (\nabla_X Z) - g (\phi Y, Z) (X\beta) \xi$$

+ $\eta (Z) (X\beta) \phi Y + \eta (X) \phi (\nabla_Y Z) - \eta (X) \eta (Y) (Z - \eta (Z) \xi)$
+ $\beta [\eta (\nabla_X Z) \phi Y + \eta (Z) \phi (\nabla_X Y) + \eta (\nabla_Y Z) \phi X - \eta (Z) \eta (X) Y$
+ $g (\nabla_X Y, \phi Z) \xi - \eta (Z) \eta (Y) X - g (\phi X, \nabla_Y Z) \xi$
+ $2\eta (X) \eta (Y) \eta (Z) \xi - g (\phi X, Y) \phi Z]$
+ $\beta^2 [g (X, Z) \eta (Y) \xi - g (\phi X, Z) \phi Y - \eta (Y) \eta (Z) X$
+ $\eta (X) \eta (Y) \eta (Z) \xi - g (X, Y) \eta (Z) \xi],$ (4.3.3)

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$, where ∇ is the Levi-Civita connection on M. Again, interchanging X and Y in (4.3.3) we get the value of $\nabla_Y^* \nabla_X^* Z$.

Recalling the following curvature formula

$$R^*(X,Y)Z = \nabla_X^* \nabla_Y^* Z - \nabla_Y^* \nabla_X^* Z - \nabla_{[X,Y]}^* Z$$

and then using the values of (4.3.3) and $\nabla_Y^* \nabla_X^* Z$, after simplification we obtain

$$R^{*}(X,Y)Z = R(X,Y)Z + [(X\beta)\phi Y - (Y\beta)\phi X]\eta(Z) + 2\beta g(X,\phi Y)\phi Z + [g(\phi X,Z)(Y\beta) - g(\phi Y,Z)(X\beta)]\xi + \beta^{2}[g(\phi Y,Z)\phi X - g(\phi X,Z)\phi Y] + \beta^{2}[g(X,Z)\eta(Y) - g(Y,Z)\eta(X)]\xi + \beta^{2}[\eta(X)Y - \eta(Y)X]\eta(Z), (4.3.4)$$

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$, where R(X, Y)Z is the Riemannian curvature tensor with respect to the Levi-Civita connection on M.
Contracting (4.3.4) yields the Ricci tensor S^* of a quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold with respect to Zamkovoy connection

$$S^{*}(X,Y) = S(X,Y) + \eta(Y)d\beta(\phi X) + 2\beta g(X,Y) - 2\beta(1+\beta)\eta(X)\eta(Y), \qquad (4.3.5)$$

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$.

Again contraction of (4.3.5) gives the scalar curvature r^* of a quasi-Sasakian 3manifold with respect to Zamkovoy connection

$$r^* = r + 2\beta(2 - \beta). \tag{4.3.6}$$

Now, taking inner product of (4.3.4) with an arbitrary vector field W, we obtain the following two relations

$$g(R^*(X,Y)Z,W) + g(R^*(Y,X)Z,W) = 0$$
(4.3.7)

and

$$g(R^*(X,Y)Z,W) + g(R^*(Y,X)W,Z) = 0, (4.3.8)$$

for all $X, Y, Z, W \in \chi(M)$.

Therefore, summarizing all the discussions above, we have the following

Theorem 4.3.1. Let (M, g) be a quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold with respect to the Zamkovoy connection, then

- i) The Riemannian curvature tensor R^* , the Ricci tensor S^* and the scalar curvature r^* are given by (4.3.4), (4.3.5) and (4.3.6) respectively,
- ii) The Ricci tensor S^* is not symmetric,
- iii) The Riemannian curvature tensor R^* satisfies
 - (a) $g(R^*(X,Y)Z,W) = -g(R^*(Y,X)Z,W)$ and
 - (b) $g(R^*(X,Y)Z,W) = -g(R^*(X,Y)W,Z),$

for all $X, Y, Z, W \in \chi(M)$.

Now, we focus on two important curvature tensors in a quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold with respect to the Zamkovoy connection.

First, let us consider a quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold with concircular curvature tensor. Then equation (1.1.2) holds and taking n = 3 in it, we can write the expression for the concircular curvature tensor C^* in a quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold with respect to Zamkovoy connection as follows:

$$C^*(X,Y)Z = R^*(X,Y)Z - \frac{r^*}{6}(g(Y,Z)X - g(X,Z)Y), \qquad (4.3.9)$$

for all $X, Y, Z \in \chi(M)$.

The manifold is called ξ -concircularly flat if $C^*(X, Y)\xi = 0$ for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$.

Using (4.3.4) and (4.3.6) in (4.3.9) we get

$$\begin{aligned} C^{*}(X,Y)Z &= R(X,Y)Z + [(X\beta)\phi Y - (Y\beta)\phi X]\eta(Z) + 2\beta g(X,\phi Y)\phi Z \\ &+ [g(\phi X,Z)(Y\beta) - g(\phi Y,Z)(X\beta)]\xi + \beta^{2}[g(\phi Y,Z)\phi X - g(\phi X,Z)\phi Y] \\ &+ \beta^{2}[g(X,Z)\eta(Y) - g(Y,Z)\eta(X)]\xi + \beta^{2}[\eta(X)Y - \eta(Y)X)]\eta(Z), \\ &- \frac{r + 2\beta(2-\beta)}{6}[g(Y,Z)X - g(X,Z)Y], \end{aligned}$$

for all $X, Y, Z \in \chi(M)$.

Replacing $Z = \xi$ in the previous equation yields

$$C^{*}(X,Y)\xi = R(X,Y)\xi + [(X\beta)\phi Y - (Y\beta)\phi X] + \beta^{2}[\eta(X)Y - \eta(Y)X)]\eta(Z) - \frac{r + 2\beta(2-\beta)}{6}[g(Y,Z)X - g(X,Z)Y].$$
(4.3.10)

In view of (4.2.5), the above (4.3.10) becomes

$$C^*(X,Y)\xi = \frac{r+2\beta(2-\beta)}{6}[\eta(X)Y) - \eta(Y)X],$$
(4.3.11)

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$. Hence, $C^*(X, Y)\xi = 0$ if and only if $r = 2\beta(2 - \beta)$. Therefore, we can conclude the following

Theorem 4.3.2. A quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold with respect to the Zamkovoy connection is ξ -concircularly flat, if and only if, the scalar curvature with respect to the Levi-Civita connection is given by $r = 2\beta(2 - \beta)$. **Corollary 4.3.1.** Let (M, g) be a ξ -concircularly flat quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold with respect to the Zamkovoy connection. Then the manifold M is Ricci flat with respect to the Levi-Civita connection if and only if, either it is a cosymplectic manifold or the structure function $\beta = 2$.

Next, we study another curvature tensor, namely the conharmonic curvature tensor in a quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold. Then equation (1.1.3) holds and using it we can write the expression for the conharmonic curvature tensor H^* in a quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold w.r.to Zamkovoy connection as follows:

$$H^{*}(X,Y)Z = R^{*}(X,Y)Z - (g(Y,Z)Q^{*}X - g(X,Z)Q^{*}Y + S^{*}(Y,Z)X - S^{*}(X,Z)Y), \qquad (4.3.12)$$

for all $X, Y, Z \in \chi(M)$. The manifold (M, g) is called ξ -conharmonically flat if $H^*(X, Y)\xi = 0$ for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$.

Now, from (4.3.4), taking $Z = \xi$ we obtain

$$R^{*}(X,Y)\xi = R(X,Y)\xi + [(X\beta)\phi Y - (Y\beta)\phi X] + \beta^{2}[\eta(X)Y - \eta(Y)X].$$
(4.3.13)

Again (4.3.5) can be rewritten as

$$Q^*X = QX + d\beta(\phi X)\xi + 2\beta X - 2\beta(1+\beta)\eta(X)\xi.$$
 (4.3.14)

So, if we consider a ξ -conharmonically flat quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold with respect to the Zamkovoy connection, we have $H^*(X, Y)\xi = 0$ and then in view of (4.3.12), (4.3.13) and (4.3.14) we have

$$R(X,Y)\xi = [(Y\beta)\phi X - (X\beta)\phi Y] + \beta^2 [\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y]$$

+ $\eta(Y)[QX + d\beta(\phi X)\xi + 2\beta X - 2\beta(1+\beta)\eta(X)\xi]$
- $\eta(X)[QY + d\beta(\phi Y)\xi + 2\beta Y - 2\beta(1+\beta)\eta(Y)\xi]$
+ $S(Y,\xi)X - 2\beta^2 \eta(Y)X - S(X,\xi)Y + 2\beta^2 \eta(X)Y.$

Recalling, (4.2.5) and (4.2.6), then using them in the foregoing equation gives

$$[\eta(Y)QX - \eta(X)QY] + [Y + \eta(Y)\xi]d\beta(\phi X) = [X + \eta(X)\xi]d\beta(\phi Y) - 2\beta[\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y].$$
(4.3.15)

Taking inner product of (4.3.15) with an arbitrary vector field Z we obtain

$$[\eta(Y)S(X,Z) - \eta(X)S(Y,Z)] + [g(Y,Z) + \eta(Y)\eta(Z)]d\beta(\phi X)$$

=
$$[g(X,Z) + \eta(X)\eta(Z)]d\beta(\phi Y) - 2\beta[\eta(Y)g(X,Z) - \eta(X)g(Y,Z)].$$

Putting $Y = Z = \xi$ in the previous equation yields

$$4\beta^2\eta(X) = 0,$$

for all $X \in \chi(M)$. Since, $\eta(X) \neq 0$ always, we can conclude that $\beta = 0$. Hence we can state the following:

Theorem 4.3.3. Let (M, g) be a ξ -conharmonically flat quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold with respect to the Zamkovoy connection. Then the manifold M becomes a cosymplectic manifold.

4.4 Ricci soliton on quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold with respect to the Zamkovoy connection

In this section we focus on characterizing a Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) on a quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold with respect to the Zamkovoy connection. We say that the manifold (M, g)admits a Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) with respect to Zamkovoy connection if

$$\mathcal{L}^*{}_V g + 2S^* = 2\lambda g, \tag{4.4.1}$$

where \mathcal{L}^*_V denotes the Lie derivative with respect to Zamkovoy connection along the direction of the vector field V and is given by $(\mathcal{L}^*_V g)(X, Y) = g(\nabla^*_X V, Y) + g(X, \nabla^*_Y V)$, for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$.

Now, let us consider a quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) that admits a Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) with respect to the Zamkovoy connection. Then from (4.4.1) we can infer that

$$g(\nabla_X^* V, Y) + g(X, \nabla_Y^* V) + 2S^*(X, Y) = 2\lambda g(X, Y), \qquad (4.4.2)$$

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$.

Recalling (4.3.1) and (4.3.5) and using them in the previous equation gives

$$2S(X,Y) + g(\nabla_X V,Y) + g(X,\nabla_Y V) = 2(\lambda - 2\beta)g(X,Y) - 2d\beta(\phi X)\eta(Y) +\beta(g(\phi X,V)\eta(Y) + g(\phi Y,V)\eta(X)) -(g(\phi V,X)\eta(Y) + g(\phi V,Y)\eta(X)) +4\beta(1+\beta)\eta(X)\eta(Y).$$
(4.4.3)

Moreover, If (g, V, λ) is also a Ricci soliton with respect to the Levi-Civita connection, then (1.2.1) holds, and in view of that equation (4.4.3) reduces to

$$\beta(g(\phi X, V)\eta(Y) + g(\phi Y, V)\eta(X)) = 4\beta(g(X, Y) - (1 + \beta)\eta(X)\eta(Y)) + 2d\beta(\phi X)\eta(Y) + (g(\phi V, X)\eta(Y) + g(\phi V, Y)\eta(X)).$$
(4.4.4)

Taking $X = Y = \xi$ in (4.4.4), we obtain $\beta = 0$ and this implies that the manifold (M, g) is a cosymplectic manifold. Hence we can state the following

Theorem 4.4.1. Let (M, g) be a quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold which admits a Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) with respect to the Zamkovoy connection. If (g, V, λ) is also a Ricci soliton with respect to the Levi-Civita connection, then the manifold M becomes a cosymplectic manifold.

Again, if (g, V, λ) is a Ricci soliton with respect to the Zamkovoy connection on a quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g), then from (4.4.3) we can write

$$2S(X,Y) + g(\nabla_X V,Y) + g(X,\nabla_Y V) = 2(\lambda - 2\beta)g(X,Y) - 2d\beta(\phi X)\eta(Y) +\beta(g(\phi X,V)\eta(Y) + g(\phi Y,V)\eta(X)) -(g(\phi V,X)\eta(Y) + g(\phi V,Y)\eta(X)) +4\beta(1+\beta)\eta(X)\eta(Y).$$

Considering an orthonormal basis $\{e_1, e_2, e_3\}$ of (M, g) and replacing $X = Y = e_i$ in the foregoing equation, then summing over i = 1, 2, 3 we get

$$r = 3\lambda + 2\beta^2 - 4\beta - divV, \qquad (4.4.5)$$

where r is the scalar curvature of M and divV denotes the divergence of the vector field V. Therefore, we can write

Theorem 4.4.2. Let (M,g) be a quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting a Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) with respect to the Zamkovoy connection, then the scalar curvature is given by $r = 3\lambda + 2\beta^2 - 4\beta - divV$.

Corollary 4.4.1. Let (M,g) be a quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting a Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) with respect to the Zamkovoy connection. If V is a solenoidal vector field, then the soliton is

- i) shrinking if $r > 2\beta(\beta 2)$,
- ii) steady if $r = 2\beta(\beta 2)$ and
- iii) expanding if $r < 2\beta(\beta 2)$.

Next, we consider V = gradf, for some $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$ and we focus our study on the Laplacian equation satisfied by the function f. Laplace equation is a second order partial differential equation which is frequently used in physics. Solution of Laplace equation is widely known as harmonic functions and they appear in various physical problems in magnetic and gravitational potentials of steady state temperature. For example, real and imaginary parts u and v of a complex analytic function f = u + iv both satisfy the Laplace equation.

Let us consider a Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) with respect to the Zamkovoy connection on a quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) and assume that the potential vector field V is gradient of a smooth function f on M. Then from (4.4.1) we can write

$$g(\nabla_X^* Df, Y) + g(X, \nabla_Y^* Df) + 2S^*(X, Y) = 2\lambda g(X, Y),$$
(4.4.6)

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$ and Df = gradf = V. Then using (4.3.1) and (4.3.5) in (4.4.6) yields

$$2S(X,Y) + g(\nabla_X Df,Y) + g(X,\nabla_Y Df) = 2(\lambda - 2\beta)g(X,Y) - 2d\beta(\phi X)\eta(Y) +\beta(g(\phi X,Df)\eta(Y) + g(\phi Y,Df)\eta(X)) -(g(\phi(Df),X)\eta(Y) + g(\phi(V),Y)\eta(X)) +4\beta(1+\beta)\eta(X)\eta(Y).$$

Putting $X = Y = e_i$ in the foregoing equation, where $\{e_1, e_2, e_3\}$ constitute a local orthonormal basis of (M, g) and then summing over i = 1, 2, 3 we get

$$divV + 4\beta + r = 3\lambda + 2\beta^2, \qquad (4.4.7)$$

where r is the scalar curvature of M and divV denotes the divergence of the vector field V. Since, our potential vector field V is the gradient of a smooth function f on M, the above equation (4.4.7) becomes

$$\Delta(f) = 3\lambda - r - 4\beta + 2\beta^2,$$

where $\Delta(f) = div(gradf)$ denotes the Laplacian operator of f. Hence we have the following

Theorem 4.4.3. Let (M, g) be a quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting a Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) with respect to the Zamkovoy connection. If the potential vector field V is gradient of some smooth function f on M, then the Laplacian equation satisfied by f becomes

$$\Delta(f) = 3\lambda - r - 4\beta + 2\beta^2. \tag{4.4.8}$$

Remark 4.4.1. Laplace equation has applications in the theory of gravity also. If the gravitational acceleration field is represented as the gradient of a scalar potential function h, then the Poisson's equation for gravitational field is given by

$$\nabla^2 h = -4\pi G\rho,$$

where G denotes the universal gravitational constant and ρ denotes the mass density. This physical significance is equivalent to the above Theorem 4.4.3 and the equation (4.4.8) of this section, which is a Laplace equation with potential vector field of gradient type.

Finally, we conclude this section with our last result on Ricci soliton and for this we consider the case when the potential vector field is same as the characteristic vector field, i.e., $V = \xi$.

So, let us assume that (g, ξ, λ) , be a Ricci soliton on a quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) with respect to the Zamkovoy connection. Then by (4.4.1) we have

$$g(\nabla_X^*\xi, Y) + g(X, \nabla_Y^*\xi) + 2S^*(X, Y) = 2\lambda g(X, Y),$$
(4.4.9)

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$. Using (4.3.1) and (4.3.5) in (4.4.9) and then recalling (4.2.1) we arrive at

$$S(X,Y) = (\lambda - 2\beta)g(X,Y) + 2\beta\eta(X)\eta(Y) - d\beta(\phi X)\eta(Y).$$
(4.4.10)

Taking $X = Y = \xi$ in the previous equation (4.4.10) gives

$$S(\xi,\xi) = \lambda + 2\beta^2. \tag{4.4.11}$$

Again, replacing $X = \xi$ in equation (4.2.6) we get

$$S(\xi,\xi) = 2\beta^2.$$
(4.4.12)

Thus, combining (4.4.11) and (4.4.12), we can conclude that $\lambda = 0$ and this implies that the Ricci soliton is steady. Hence, we can state

Theorem 4.4.4. Let (M,g) be a quasi-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting a Ricci soliton (g,ξ,λ) with respect to the Zamkovoy connection, then the soliton is a steady Ricci soliton.

4.5 Almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold admitting η -Ricci-Yamabe soliton

In this section we investigate the nature of η -Ricci-Yamabe soliton on four dimensional almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifolds which are projectively flat and conharmonicly flat respectively. First we prove the following

Theorem 4.5.1. If $(g, \xi, \lambda, \mu, \alpha, \beta)$ is an η -Ricci-Yamabe soliton on a projectively flat almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold, then the scalars λ and μ are related by $\lambda = 2\mu + (\frac{\beta}{2} - \alpha) [4\omega + \kappa(\sigma - 3\rho)]$. Moreover, the η -Ricci-Yamabe soliton reduces to the Ricci-Yamabe soliton $(g, \xi, \lambda, \alpha, \beta)$ if and only if the potential vector vector field ξ is solenoidal.

Proof. Since the data (g, ξ, λ, μ) is an η -Ricci-Yamabe soliton, from (1.2.12) we can write

$$g(\nabla_X \xi, Y) + g(X, \nabla_Y \xi) + 2\alpha S(X, Y) + (2\lambda - \beta r)g(X, Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0. \quad (4.5.1)$$

By hypothesis, as the manifold is projectively flat, we proceed similarly as Theorem-3.9.1and then using the equation (3.9.7) in the above equation (4.5.1) we get

$$g(\nabla_X \xi, Y) + g(X, \nabla_Y \xi) + (2r\alpha + 2\lambda - \beta r)g(X, Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0.$$
(4.5.2)

Multiplying both sides of (4.5.2) by ϵ_{ii} , then considering an orthonormal basis $\{E_i : 1 \leq i \leq 4\}$ and taking summation over $1 \leq i \leq 4$ for $X = Y = E_i$, and making use of equations (3.2.12), (3.2.13) yields

$$div\xi + (4r\alpha + 4\lambda - 2\beta r) - \mu = 0.$$
(4.5.3)

Again setting $X = Y = \xi$ in (4.5.2) and recalling (3.2.12), (3.2.13) we get

$$(2r\alpha + 2\lambda - \beta r) - 2\mu = 0. \tag{4.5.4}$$

From equations (4.5.3) and (4.5.4) after solving we finally obtain

$$\lambda = \left(\frac{\beta}{2} - \alpha\right)r - \frac{2div\xi}{3},\tag{4.5.5}$$

$$\mu = -\frac{div\xi}{3}.\tag{4.5.6}$$

Therefore using (3.2.14) and (4.5.6) in the equation (4.5.5) we get

$$\lambda = 2\mu + \left(\frac{\beta}{2} - \alpha\right) [4\omega + \kappa(\sigma - 3\rho)]. \tag{4.5.7}$$

This completes the proof of the first part.

Again from (4.5.6) we can see that $\mu = 0$ if and only if $div\xi = 0$ i.e; if and only if ξ is solenoidal. This completes the proof.

Now taking $\mu = 0$ and $(\alpha, \beta) = (1, 0)$ in (4.5.7) we obtain $\lambda = -4\omega - \kappa(\sigma - 3\rho)$. Hence we can state the following

Corollary 4.5.1. A Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ) on a projectively flat almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold is shrinking if $\omega > -\frac{\kappa}{4}(\sigma - 3\rho)$, steady if $\omega = -\frac{\kappa}{4}(\sigma - 3\rho)$ and expanding if $\omega < -\frac{\kappa}{4}(\sigma - 3\rho)$.

Again for $\mu = 0$ and $(\alpha, \beta) = (0, 1)$ in (4.5.7) we arrive at $\lambda = 2\omega - \frac{\kappa}{2}(\sigma - 3\rho)$. Therefore we have

Corollary 4.5.2. A Yamabe soliton (g, ξ, λ) on a projectively flat almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold is shrinking if $\omega < -\frac{\kappa}{4}(\sigma - 3\rho)$, steady if $\omega = -\frac{\kappa}{4}(\sigma - 3\rho)$ and expanding if $\omega > -\frac{\kappa}{4}(\sigma - 3\rho)$.

Also setting $\mu = 0$ and $(\alpha, \beta) = (1, -1)$ in (4.5.7) we get $\lambda = -6\omega - \frac{3\kappa}{2}(\sigma - 3\rho)$. Hence we can state the following **Corollary 4.5.3.** An Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ) on a projectively flat almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold is shrinking if $\omega > -\frac{\kappa}{4}(\sigma - 3\rho)$, steady if $\omega = -\frac{\kappa}{4}(\sigma - 3\rho)$ and expanding if $\omega < -\frac{\kappa}{4}(\sigma - 3\rho)$.

Next we focus on conharmonically flat almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold and we study the nature of the η -Ricci-Yamabe soliton within this framework. We precisely prove the following

Theorem 4.5.2. If $(g, \xi, \lambda, \mu, \alpha, \beta)$ is an η -Ricci-Yamabe soliton on a conharmonically flat almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold, then the scalars λ and μ are related by $\lambda = \mu + \left(\frac{\alpha+\beta}{2}\right) [4\omega + \kappa(\sigma - 3\rho)]$. Moreover, the η -Ricci-Yamabe soliton reduces to the Ricci-Yamabe soliton $(g, \xi, \lambda, \alpha, \beta)$ if and only if, the potential vector vector field ξ is solenoidal.

Proof. Since the data (g, ξ, λ, μ) is an η -Ricci-Yamabe soliton, from (1.2.12) we can write

$$g(\nabla_X \xi, Y) + g(X, \nabla_Y \xi) + 2\alpha S(X, Y) + (2\lambda - \beta r)g(X, Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0. \quad (4.5.8)$$

By hypothesis, as the manifold is conharmonically flat, we proceed similarly as Theorem-3.9.2 and then using the equation (3.9.19) in the previous equation (4.5.8) we get

$$g(\nabla_X \xi, Y) + g(X, \nabla_Y \xi) + (2\lambda - \alpha r - \beta r)g(X, Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0.$$
(4.5.9)

Multiplying both sides of (4.5.9) by ϵ_{ii} , then taking summation over $1 \leq i \leq 4$ for $X = Y = E_i$ and making use of equations (3.2.12), (3.2.13) yields

$$div\xi + 2(2\lambda - \alpha r - \beta r) - \mu = 0.$$
(4.5.10)

Again setting $X = Y = \xi$ in (4.5.9) and recalling (3.2.12), (3.2.13) we get

$$(2\lambda - \alpha r - \beta r) - 2\mu = 0. \tag{4.5.11}$$

Solving equations (4.5.10) and (4.5.11) we obtain

$$\lambda = \left(\frac{\alpha+\beta}{2}\right)r - \frac{div\xi}{3}, \qquad (4.5.12)$$

$$\mu = -\frac{div\xi}{3}.\tag{4.5.13}$$

Therefore using (3.2.14) and (4.5.13) in the equation (4.5.12) we get

$$\lambda = \mu + \left(\frac{\alpha + \beta}{2}\right) [4\omega + \kappa(\sigma - 3\rho)]. \tag{4.5.14}$$

This completes the proof of the first part.

Again from (4.5.13) we can see that $\mu = 0$ if and only if $div\xi = 0$ i.e; if and only if ξ is solenoidal. This completes the proof.

Now taking $\mu = 0$ and for different values of $(\alpha, \beta) = (1, 0)$ in (4.5.14) we obtain $\lambda = 2\omega - \frac{\kappa}{2}(\sigma - 3\rho)$. Hence we can state the following

Corollary 4.5.4. A Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ) on a conharmonicly flat almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold is shrinking if $\omega < -\frac{\kappa}{4}(\sigma - 3\rho)$, steady if $\omega = -\frac{\kappa}{4}(\sigma - 3\rho)$ and expanding if $\omega > -\frac{\kappa}{4}(\sigma - 3\rho)$.

Again for $\mu = 0$ and $(\alpha, \beta) = (0, 1)$ in (4.5.14) we arrive at $\lambda = 2\omega - \frac{\kappa}{2}(\sigma - 3\rho)$. Therefore we have

Corollary 4.5.5. A Yamabe soliton (g, ξ, λ) on a conharmonicly flat almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold is shrinking if $\omega < -\frac{\kappa}{4}(\sigma - 3\rho)$, steady if $\omega = -\frac{\kappa}{4}(\sigma - 3\rho)$ and expanding if $\omega > -\frac{\kappa}{4}(\sigma - 3\rho)$.

Also setting $\mu = 0$ and $(\alpha, \beta) = (1, -1)$ in (4.5.14) we get $\lambda = 0$. Hence we can state the following

Corollary 4.5.6. An Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ) on a conharmonicly flat almost pseudo symmetric Kählerian spacetime manifold is always steady.

4.6 Quasi-Yamabe soliton on generalized Sasakian space form

This section is devoted to the study of generalized Sasakian space form admitting quasi-Yamabe soliton whose the potential vector field is pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field. In this regard, our main result of this section is as follows:

Theorem 4.6.1. If a (2n+1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ admits a quasi-Yamabe soliton (g, V, σ, μ) with the potential vector field V pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ , then

- i) M becomes a manifold of constant scalar curvature,
- ii) the soliton reduces to the Yamabe soliton (g, V, σ) ,
- iii) V becomes a constant multiple of ξ and
- iv) V is a strict infinitesimal contact transformation.

Proof. Let us assume that (g, V, σ, μ) is a quasi-Yamabe soliton on the generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ such that the potential vector field V is pointwise collinear with ξ , the there exists a non-zero summooth function b on M such that $V = b\xi$. Then from the equation (1.2.8) we can write

$$\frac{1}{2}(\mathcal{L}_{b\xi}g)(X,Y) = (r-\sigma)g(X,Y) + \mu b^2\eta(X)\eta(Y), \qquad (4.6.1)$$

for all vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$.

Again, from the definition of Lie derivative we have

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathcal{L}_{b\xi}g)(X,Y) &= g(\nabla_X b\xi,Y) + g(X,\nabla_Y b\xi) \\ &= bg(\nabla_X \xi,Y) + X(b)\eta(Y) + bg(X,\nabla_Y \xi) + Y(b)\eta(X), \end{aligned}$$

which in view of (2.2.1) and (1.1.16) reduces to

$$(\mathcal{L}_{b\xi}g)(X,Y) = X(b)\eta(Y) + Y(b)\eta(X).$$
(4.6.2)

Substituting (4.6.2) in (4.6.1) infers that

$$X(b)\eta(Y) + Y(b)\eta(X) = 2(r - \sigma)g(X, Y) + 2\mu b^2 \eta(X)\eta(Y).$$
(4.6.3)

Now taking $Y = \xi$ in (4.6.3) we obtain

$$X(b) = [2(r - \sigma + \mu b^2) - \xi(b)]\eta(X).$$
(4.6.4)

Again replacing X by ξ in the foregoing equation yields

$$\xi(b) = (r - \sigma) + \mu b^2. \tag{4.6.5}$$

Now consider an orthonormal basis $\{e_i : 1 \leq i \leq (2n+1)\}$ of the tangent space at each point of the manifold. Then setting $X = Y = e_i$ in (4.6.3) and summing over $1 \leq i \leq (2n+1)$ we get

$$\xi(b) = (r - \sigma)(2n + 1) + \mu b^2. \tag{4.6.6}$$

Equating (4.6.5) with (4.6.6) we arrive at

$$r = \sigma = constant, \tag{4.6.7}$$

which implies that M is a manifold of constant scalar curvature and this proves part i) of the theorem.

Again, in view of (4.6.5), the equation (4.6.4) gives us

$$db = \mu b^2 \eta. \tag{4.6.8}$$

Taking exterior differentiation on the above equation and using Poincare lemma $d^2 = 0$, we obtain $\mu b^2 = 0$. This eventually implies that $\mu = 0$ and hence the quasi-Yamabe soliton reduces to the Yamabe soliton (g, V, σ) . This proves part *ii*) of the theorem.

Now using $\mu = 0$ in the equation (4.6.8) we get db = 0, which implies b is constant. Therefore V is a constant multiple of ξ and this proves part *iii*) of the theorem.

Again setting $Y = \xi$ in (4.6.1) and using (1.1.14) we obtain

$$(\mathcal{L}_V g)(X,\xi) = 2(r - \sigma + \mu b^2)\eta(X).$$
(4.6.9)

Using (4.6.7) and the fact that $\mu = 0$ in (4.6.9) yields $(\mathcal{L}_V g)(X, \xi) = 0$, which implies

$$(\mathcal{L}_V \eta)(X) = g(X, \mathcal{L}_V \xi). \tag{4.6.10}$$

Recalling that $V = b\xi$ and b is a constant it can be easily deduced that $\mathcal{L}_V \xi = 0$. Therefore from (4.6.10) finally we obtain $(\mathcal{L}_V \eta)(X) = 0$ for any vector field X on M. Hence the potential vector field V is a strict infinitesimal contact transformation. This proves part iv) of the theorem and hence completes the proof.

According to Corollary 1.1 of [74], in a generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ with the Yamabe soliton metric, the scalar curvature is harmonic. Thus in view of this and from our previous theorem we can conclude the following

Corollary 4.6.1. If a (2n+1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ admits a quasi-Yamabe soliton (g, V, λ) , whose potential vector field V is pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ , then the scalar curvature is harmonic.

5 On η-Einstein solitons

5.1 Introduction

This chapter deals with 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifolds admitting η -Einstein solitons and the chapter is divided into ten sections. Chapter one and two are introduction and preliminaries respectively.

In section three, we characterize the nature of η -Einstein soliton on a 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifold and find the conditions when the soliton is shrinking, steady and expanding. Then in section four, we construct an example of a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton and we verify some of our results. Next section five is devoted to the study of η -Einstein solitons on 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifolds with Codazzi type and cyclic parallel Ricci tensor and the nature of the manifold is characterized. In Sections six to nine, we study some curvature conditions $R \cdot S = 0$, $W_2 \cdot S = 0$, $R \cdot E = 0$, $B \cdot S = 0$, $S \cdot R = 0$ admitting η -Einstein solitons on 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifold. Finally in section ten, we consider 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifolds admitting η -Einstein solitons with torse forming vector field.

5.2 Preliminaries

The definition of trans-Sasakian manifold has been given in the introductory Chapter one. In what follows, by a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold, we mean a 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) of type (α, β) . Now recalling the definition of transSasakian manifold, from the expression (1.1.19), it can be derived that

$$\nabla_X \xi = -\alpha \phi(X) + \beta (X - \eta(X)\xi), \qquad (5.2.1)$$

$$(\nabla_X \eta)(Y) = -\alpha g(\phi(X), Y) + \beta g(\phi(X), \phi(Y)), \qquad (5.2.2)$$

for all vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$. Again from equation (20) of corollary 4.2. in the paper [35], the Riemannian curvature tensor in a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) is given by

$$R(X,Y)Z = \left(\frac{r}{2} + 2\xi\beta - 2(\alpha^{2} - \beta^{2})\right)[g(Y,Z)X - g(X,Z)Y] -g(Y,Z)[(\frac{r}{2} + \xi\beta - 3(\alpha^{2} - \beta^{2}))\eta(X)\xi -\eta(X)(\phi(grad\alpha) - grad\beta) + (X\beta + (\phi X)\alpha)\xi] +g(X,Z)[(\frac{r}{2} + \xi\beta - 3(\alpha^{2} - \beta^{2}))\eta(Y)\xi -\eta(Y)(\phi(grad\alpha) - grad\beta) + (Y\beta + (\phi Y)\alpha)\xi] -[(Z\beta + (\phi Z)\alpha)\eta(Y) + (Y\beta + (\phi Y)\alpha)\eta(Z) +(\frac{r}{2} + \xi\beta - 3(\alpha^{2} - \beta^{2}))\eta(Y)\eta(Z)]X +[(Z\beta + (\phi Z)\alpha)\eta(X) + (X\beta + (\phi X)\alpha)\eta(Z) +(\frac{r}{2} + \xi\beta - 3(\alpha^{2} - \beta^{2}))\eta(X)\eta(Z)]Y.$$
(5.2.3)

Furthermore, if the functions α , β are constants then, in a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M,g) the following relations hold,

$$R(X,Y)\xi = (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)[\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y], \qquad (5.2.4)$$

$$R(\xi, X)Y = (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)[g(X, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X], \qquad (5.2.5)$$

$$R(\xi, X)\xi = (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)[\eta(X)\xi - X], \qquad (5.2.6)$$

$$S(X,Y) = \left[\frac{r}{2} - (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)\right]g(X,Y) - \left[\frac{r}{2} - 3(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)\right]\eta(X)\eta(Y), \quad (5.2.7)$$

$$S(X,\xi) = 2(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)\eta(X),$$
 (5.2.8)

for all smooth vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$, where R is the curvature tensor and S is the Ricci tensor of the manifold M.

5.3 η -Einstein soliton on trans-Sasakian 3-manifold

Let us consider a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . Then from equation (1.2.10) we can write

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) + 2S(X,Y) + [2\lambda - r]g(X,Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0, \qquad (5.3.1)$$

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$.

Again from the well-known formula $(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) = g(\nabla_X\xi,Y) + g(\nabla_Y\xi,X)$ of Lie-derivative and using (5.2.1), we obtain for a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) = 2\beta[g(X,Y) - 2\beta\eta(X)\eta(Y)].$$
(5.3.2)

Now in view of the equations (5.3.1) and (5.3.2) we get

$$S(X,Y) = (\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta)g(X,Y) + (\beta - \mu)\eta(X)\eta(Y).$$
 (5.3.3)

This shows that the manifold (M, g) is an η -Einstein manifold. Also from equation (5.3.3) replacing $Y = \xi$ we find that

$$S(X,\xi) = (\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu)\eta(X).$$
 (5.3.4)

Comparing the above equation (5.3.4) with (5.2.8) yields

$$r = 4(\alpha^2 - \beta^2) + 2\lambda + 2\mu.$$
 (5.3.5)

Again, considering an orthonormal basis $\{e_1, e_2, e_3\}$ of (M, g) and then setting $X = Y = e_i$ in equation (5.3.3) and summing over i = 1, 2, 3 we get

$$r = 6\lambda + 4\beta + 2\mu. \tag{5.3.6}$$

Finally combining equations (5.3.5) and (5.3.6) we arrive at

$$\lambda = (\alpha^2 - \beta^2) - \beta. \tag{5.3.7}$$

Thus the above discussion leads to the following

Theorem 5.3.1. If a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M,g) admits an η -Einstein soliton (g,ξ,λ,μ) , then the manifold (M,g) becomes an η -Einstein manifold of constant scalar curvature $r = 6\lambda + 4\beta + 2\mu$. Furthermore, the soliton is shrinking, steady or expanding according as; $\alpha^2 < \beta(\beta+1), \alpha^2 = \beta(\beta+1), \alpha^2 > \beta(\beta+1)$ respectively.

Next we consider a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) and assume that it admits an η -Einstein soliton (g, V, λ, μ) such that V is pointwise collinear with ξ , i.e; $V = b\xi$, for some function b; then from the equation (1.2.10) it follows that

$$bg(\nabla_X \xi, Y) + (Xb)\eta(Y) + bg(\nabla_Y \xi, X) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) + (2\lambda - r)g(X, Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0.$$

Then using the equation (5.2.1) in above we arrive at

$$(2b\beta + 2\lambda - r)g(X, Y) + (Xb)\eta(Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) + 2(b\beta + \mu)\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0.$$
(5.3.8)

Replacing $Y = \xi$ in the above equation yields

$$(Xb) + (\xi b)\eta(X) + 2S(X,\xi) + (2\lambda + 2\mu - r)\eta(X) = 0.$$
(5.3.9)

Again taking $X = \xi$ in (5.3.9) and by virtue of (5.2.8) we arrive at

$$2(\xi b) = (r - 2\lambda - 2\mu) - 4(\alpha^2 - \beta^2).$$
(5.3.10)

Using this value from (5.3.10) in the equation (5.3.9) and recalling (5.2.8) we can write

$$db = \left[\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu - 2(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)\right]\eta.$$
 (5.3.11)

Now taking exterior differentiation on both sides of (5.3.11) and using the famous Poincare's lemma i.e; $d^2 = 0$, finally we arrive at

$$r = 2\lambda + 2\mu + 4(\alpha^2 - \beta^2).$$
 (5.3.12)

In view of the above (5.3.12) the equation (5.3.11) gives us db = 0 i.e; the function b is constant. Then the equation (5.3.8) reduces to

$$S(X,Y) = (\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - b\beta)g(X,Y) + (b\beta - \mu)\eta(X)\eta(Y),$$
 (5.3.13)

for all $X, Y \in TM$. Hence we can state the following

Theorem 5.3.2. If a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M,g) admits an η -Einstein soliton (g, V, λ, μ) such that V is pointwise collinear with ξ , then V is constant multiple of ξ and the manifold (M,g) becomes an η -Einstein manifold of constant scalar curvature $r = 2\lambda + 2\mu + 4(\alpha^2 - \beta^2).$

5.4 Example of an η -Einstein soliton on a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold

In this section we construct an example of a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton and we verify some of our results.

Example 5.4.1. Let us consider the 3-dimensional manifold $M = \{(u, v, w) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : w \neq 0\}$. Define a linearly independent set of vector fields $\{e_i : 1 \leq i \leq 3\}$ on the manifold M given by

$$e_1 = e^{2w} \frac{\partial}{\partial u}, \quad e_2 = e^{2w} \frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \quad e_3 = \frac{\partial}{\partial w}.$$

Let us define the Riemannian metric g on M by

$$g(e_i, e_j) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{for } i = j \\ 0, & \text{for } i \neq j \end{cases}$$

for all i, j = 1, 2, 3. Now considering $e_3 = \xi$, let us take the 1-form η , on the manifold M, defined by

$$\eta(U) = g(U, e_3), \quad \forall U \in \chi(M).$$

Then it can be observed that $\eta(\xi) = 1$. Let us define the (1,1) tensor field ϕ on M as

$$\phi(e_1) = e_2, \quad \phi(e_2) = -e_1, \quad \phi(e_3) = 0.$$

Using the linearity of g and ϕ it can be easily checked that

$$\phi^2(U) = -U + \eta(U)\xi, \quad g(\phi U, \phi V) = g(U, V) - \eta(U)\eta(V), \quad \forall U, V \in \chi(M).$$

Hence the structure (g, ϕ, ξ, η) defines an almost contact metric structure on the manifold M. Now, using the definitions of Lie bracket, after some direct computations we get

$$[e_1, e_2] = 0, \quad [e_1, e_3] = -2e_1, \quad [e_2, e_3] = -2e_2.$$

Again the Riemannian connection ∇ of the metric g is defined by the well-known Koszul's formula which is given by

$$2g(\nabla_X Y, Z) = Xg(Y, Z) + Yg(Z, X) - Zg(X, Y) -g(X, [Y, Z]) + g(Y, [Z, X]) + g(Z, [X, Y]).$$

Using the above formula one can easily calculate that

$$\begin{aligned} \nabla_{e_1} e_1 &= 2e_3, \quad \nabla_{e_1} e_2 &= 0, \quad \nabla_{e_1} e_3 &= -2e_1, \\ \nabla_{e_2} e_1 &= 0, \quad \nabla_{e_2} e_2 &= 2e_3, \quad \nabla_{e_2} e_3 &= -2e_2, \\ \nabla_{e_3} e_1 &= 0, \quad \nabla_{e_3} e_2 &= 0, \quad \nabla_{e_3} e_3 &= 0. \end{aligned}$$

Thus from the above relations it follows that the manifold (M,g) is a trans-Sasakian 3manifold. Now using (1.1.5) the non-vanishing components of the Riemannian curvature tensor R can be easily obtained as

$$R(e_1, e_2)e_2 = R(e_1, e_3)e_3 = -4e_1,$$

$$R(e_2, e_3)e_3 = R(e_3, e_1)e_1 = -4e_2,$$

$$R(e_3, e_2)e_2 = 4e_2, \qquad R(e_2, e_1)e_1 = 4e_3$$

Hence we can calculate the components of the Ricci tensor as follows

$$S(e_1, e_1) = 0, \quad S(e_2, e_2) = 0, \quad S(e_3, e_3) = -8.$$

Therefore in view of the above values of the Ricci tensor, from the equation (1.2.10) we can calculate $\lambda = -2$ and $\mu = 6$. Hence we can say that the data $(g, \xi, -2, 6)$ defines an η -Einstein soliton on the trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g). Also we can see that the manifold (M, g) is a manifold of constant scalar curvature r = -8 and hence the Theorem 5.3.1 is verified.

5.5 η -Einstein soliton on trans-Sasakian 3-manifold with Codazzi type and cyclic parallel Ricci tensor

The purpose of this section is to study η -Einstein solitons in trans-Sasakian 3-manifolds having certain special types of Ricci tensor namely codazzi type Ricci tensor and cyclic parallel Ricci tensor.

Let us consider a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold having Codazzi type Ricci tensor and admits an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) , then equation (5.3.3) holds. Now covariantly differentiating the equation (5.3.3) with respect to an arbitrary vector field X and then using (5.2.2) we get

$$(\nabla_X S)(Y,Z) = 2(\beta - \mu)[\eta(Y)(-\alpha g(\phi X, Z) + \beta g(\phi X, \phi Z)) + \eta(Z)(-\alpha g(\phi X, Y) + \beta g(\phi X, \phi Y))].$$
(5.5.1)

Similarly we can compute

$$(\nabla_Y S)(X,Z) = 2(\beta - \mu)[\eta(X)(-\alpha g(\phi Y,Z) + \beta g(\phi Y,\phi Z)) + \eta(Z)(-\alpha g(\phi Y,X) + \beta g(\phi Y,\phi X))].$$
(5.5.2)

Since the manifold has Codazzi type Ricci tensor, using (5.5.1) and (5.5.2) in the equation (1.1.7) and then recalling (1.1.15) we arrive at

$$2(\beta - \mu)[\eta(Y)(-\alpha g(\phi X, Z) + \beta g(X, Z)) - \eta(X)(-\alpha g(\phi Y, Z) + \beta g(Y, Z)) - 2\alpha \eta(Z)g(\phi X, Y)] = 0.$$
(5.5.3)

Putting $Z = \xi$ in above and in view of (1.1.14) we finally obtain

$$4\alpha(\mu - \beta)g(\phi X, Y) = 0, \qquad (5.5.4)$$

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$. Therefore from (5.5.3) we can conclude that either $\alpha = 0$ or $\mu = \beta$. Hence we have the following

Theorem 5.5.1. Let (M, g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the Ricci tensor of the manifold is of Codazzi type then the manifold becomes a β -Kenmotsu manifold provided $\mu \neq \beta$.

Now using $\alpha = 0$ in equation (5.3.7) we get $\lambda = -\beta(\beta + 1)$. Thus we can state the following

Corollary 5.5.1. Let (M, g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) with $\mu \neq \beta$. If the Ricci tensor of the manifold is of Codazzi type then the soliton is shrinking if $\beta < -1$ or, $\beta > 0$; steady if $\beta = -1$ or $\beta = 0$; and expanding if $-1 < \beta < 0$ respectively.

Again from the equation (5.5.3) we can write that $\mu = \beta$ if $\alpha \neq 0$. Then from equation (5.3.3) we obtain

$$S(X,Y) = (\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta)g(X,Y),$$
 (5.5.5)

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$. Then contracting the equation (5.5.4) we get $r = 6\lambda + 6\beta$. Hence in view of this and equation (5.5.4) we have the following **Theorem 5.5.2.** Let (M, g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the Ricci tensor of the manifold is of Codazzi type then the manifold becomes an Einstein manifold of constant scalar curvature $r = 6\lambda + 6\beta$ provided $\alpha \neq 0$.

Let us now consider a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold, having cyclic parallel Ricci tensor, admits an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) , then equation (5.3.3) holds. Now taking covariant differentiation of (5.3.3) and using equation (5.2.2) we obtain relations (5.5.1) and (5.5.2). In a similar manner we get the following

$$(\nabla_Z S)(X,Y) = 2(\beta - \mu)[\eta(X)(-\alpha g(\phi Z,Y) + \beta g(\phi Z,\phi Y)) + \eta(Y)(-\alpha g(\phi Z,X) + \beta g(\phi Z,\phi X))].$$
(5.5.6)

Now since the manifold has cyclic parallel Ricci tensor, using the values from (5.5.1), (5.5.2) and (5.5.6) in the equation (1.1.8) and then making use of (1.1.15) we arrive at

$$4\beta(\beta-\mu)[\eta(X)g(\phi Y,\phi Z) + \eta(Y)g(\phi Z,\phi X) + \eta(Z)g(\phi X,\phi Y)] = 0.$$
 (5.5.7)

Replacing $Z = \xi$ in the above equation (5.5.7) yields

$$4\beta(\beta - \mu)g(\phi X, \phi Y) = 0, \qquad (5.5.8)$$

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$. Since $g(\phi X, \phi Y) \neq 0$ always, the above equation (5.5.8) implies that either $\beta = 0$ or, $\mu = \beta$. Thus we can state the following

Theorem 5.5.3. Let (M, g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold has cyclic parallel Ricci tensor, then the manifold becomes an α -Sasakian manifold provided $\mu \neq \beta$.

Now using $\beta = 0$ in equation (5.3.7) we get $\lambda = \alpha^2 > 0$. Therefore we have

Corollary 5.5.2. Let (M,g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) with $\mu \neq \beta$. If the manifold has cyclic parallel Ricci tensor then the soliton is expanding.

Again if $\beta \neq 0$ then from (5.5.8) it follows that $\mu = \beta$. Therefore after a similar calculation like equation (5.5.5) we can state

Theorem 5.5.4. Let (M, g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold has cyclic parallel Ricci tensor, then the manifold becomes an Einstein manifold of constant scalar curvature $r = 6\lambda + 6\beta$ provided $\beta \neq 0$.

5.6 η -Einstein soliton on trans-Sasakian 3-manifold satisfying $R(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$ and $W_2(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$

Let us first consider a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold which admits an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) and the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $R(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$. Then $\forall X, Y, Z \in \chi(M)$ we can write

$$S(R(\xi, X)Y, Z) + S(Y, R(\xi, X)Z) = 0.$$
(5.6.1)

Now using (5.3.3) in (5.6.1) we get

$$(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta)g(R(\xi, X)Y, Z) + (\beta - \mu)\eta(R(\xi, X)Y)\eta(Z) + (\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta)g(R(\xi, X)Z, Y) + (\beta - \mu)\eta(R(\xi, X)Z)\eta(Y) = 0.$$
 (5.6.2)

In view of (5.2.5) the previous equation becomes

$$(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)(\beta - \mu)[g(X, Y)\eta(Z) + g(X, Z)\eta(Y) - 2\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z)] = 0.$$
 (5.6.3)

Putting $Z = \xi$ in the above equation (5.6.3) and recalling (1.1.15) obtain

$$(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)(\beta - \mu)g(\phi X, \phi Y) = 0, \qquad (5.6.4)$$

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$. Since $g(\phi X, \phi X) \neq 0$ always and for non-trivial case $\alpha^2 \neq \beta^2$, we can conclude from the equation (5.6.4) that $\mu = \beta$. Then from equation (5.3.3) we obtain

$$S(X,Y) = \left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta\right)g(X,Y),\tag{5.6.5}$$

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$. Then contracting the equation (5.6.5) we get $r = 6\lambda + 6\beta$. Hence in view of this and equation (5.6.5) we have the following

Theorem 5.6.1. Let (M, g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $R(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$, then the manifold becomes an Einstein manifold of constant scalar curvature $r = 6\lambda + 6\beta$.

Our next result is on W_2 -curvature tensor, which is defined in the introductory chapter one. So, the equation (1.1.4) holds and taking n = 3 in it, we can write the expression for the W_2 -curvature tensor in a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold as follows:

$$W_2(X,Y)Z = R(X,Y)Z + \frac{1}{2}[g(X,Z)QY - g(Y,Z)QX].$$
 (5.6.6)

Now assume that (M, g) is a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) and also the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $W_2(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$. Then we can write

$$S(W_2(\xi, X)Y, Z) + S(Y, W_2(\xi, X)Z) = 0, \quad \forall X, Y, Z \in TM.$$
(5.6.7)

In view of (5.3.3) the above equation (5.6.7) becomes

$$\left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta\right) [g(W_2(\xi, X)Y, Z) + g(W_2(\xi, X)Z, Y)] + (\beta - \mu)[\eta(W_2(\xi, X)Y)\eta(Z) + \eta(W_2(\xi, X)Z)\eta(Y)] = 0.$$
(5.6.8)

Again from (5.3.3) it follows that

$$QX = \left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta\right)X + (\beta - \mu)\eta(X)\xi, \qquad (5.6.9)$$

which implies

$$Q\xi = (\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu)\xi.$$
 (5.6.10)

Replacing $X = \xi$ in (5.6.6) and then using equations (5.2.5), (5.6.9) and (5.6.10) we obtain

$$W_2(\xi, Y)Z = Bg(Y, Z)\xi - A\eta(Z)Y + (A - B)\eta(Y)\eta(Z),$$
 (5.6.11)

where $A = (\alpha^2 - \beta^2) - \frac{1}{2}(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta)$ and $B = (\alpha^2 - \beta^2) - \frac{1}{2}(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu)$. Taking inner product of (5.11) with respect to the vector field ξ yields

$$\eta(W_2(\xi, Y)Z) = B[g(Y, Z) - \eta(Y)\eta(Z)].$$
(5.6.12)

Using (5.6.11) and (5.6.12) in the equation (5.6.8) and then taking $Z = \xi$ we arrive at

$$(A - B)[2B - (\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta)][g(X, Y) - \eta(X)\eta(Y)] = 0,$$

which in view of (1.1.15) implies

$$(A-B)[2B - (\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta)]g(\phi X, \phi Y) = 0, \qquad (5.6.13)$$

for all $X, Y \in \chi(M)$. Since $g(\phi X, \phi X) \neq 0$ always, we can conclude from the equation (5.6.13) that either A = B or, $2B = \frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta$. Thus recalling the values of A and B it implies that either $\mu = \beta$ or,

$$2(\alpha^2 - \beta^2) = r - 2\lambda - \mu - \beta.$$
 (5.6.14)

Now for the case $\mu = \beta$, proceeding similarly as the equation (5.6.5) we can say that the manifold becomes an Einstein manifold. Again combining (5.6.14) with (5.3.5) we get

$$r = 2\lambda + 2\beta. \tag{5.6.15}$$

Therefore we can state the following

Theorem 5.6.2. Let (M, g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $W_2(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$, then either the manifold becomes an Einstein manifold or it is a manifold of constant scalar curvature $r = 2\lambda + 2\beta$.

Again in view of (5.3.6), the equation (5.6.15) implies $\lambda = -\frac{1}{2}(\mu + \beta)$. Hence we have

Corollary 5.6.1. Let (M, g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) with $\mu \neq \beta$. If the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $W_2(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$, then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as $\mu < -\beta$, $\mu = -\beta$ or, $\mu > -\beta$ respectively.

5.7 Einstein semi-symmetric trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting η -Einstein soliton

This section is devoted to the study of η -Einstein solitons on Einstein semi-symmetric trans-Sasakian 3-manifolds.

A trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) is called Einstein semi-symmetric [89] if R.E = 0, where E is the Einstein tensor given by

$$E(X,Y) = S(X,Y) - \frac{r}{3}g(X,Y), \qquad (5.7.1)$$

for all vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$ and r is the scalar curvature of the manifold.

Now consider a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold is Einstein semi-symmetric i.e; the manifold satisfies the curvature condition R.E = 0. Then for all vector fields $X, Y, Z, W \in \chi(M)$ we can write

$$E(R(X,Y)Z,W) + E(Z,R(X,Y)W) = 0.$$
 (5.7.2)

In view of (5.7.1) the equation (5.7.2) becomes

$$S(R(X,Y)Z,W) + S(Z,R(X,Y)W) = \frac{r}{3}[g(R(X,Y)Z,W) + g(Z,R(X,Y)W)].$$
 (5.7.3)

Replacing $X = Z = \xi$ in the above equation (5.7.3) and then using (5.2.5), (5.2.6) we arrive at

$$(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)S(Y, W) = (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)[\eta(Y)S(\xi, W) + \eta(W)S(\xi, Y) - g(Y, W)S(\xi, \xi)].$$
(5.7.4)

So, now in view of (5.2.8) the above equation (5.7.4) finally yields

$$S(Y,W) = -2(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)g(Y,W) + 4(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)\eta(Y)\eta(W), \qquad (5.7.5)$$

for all $Y, W \in \chi(M)$. This implies that the manifold is an η -Einstein manifold. Hence we have the following

Lemma 5.7.1. An Einstein semi-symmetric trans-Sasakian 3-manifold is an η -Einstein manifold.

Now let us assume that the Einstein semi-symmetric trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g)admits an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . Then equation (5.3.3) holds and combining (5.3.3) with the above equation (5.7.5) we get

$$r = 2\lambda + \mu + \beta. \tag{5.7.6}$$

Again recalling the equation (5.3.6) in the above (5.7.6) we have

$$\lambda = -\frac{1}{4}(\mu + 3\beta). \tag{5.7.7}$$

Therefore we can state the following

Theorem 5.7.1. Let (M, g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold is Einstein semi-symmetric, then the manifold becomes an η -Einstein manifold of constant scalar curvature $r = 2\lambda + \mu + \beta$ and the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as $\mu < 3\beta$, $\mu = 3\beta$ or, $\mu > 3\beta$ respectively.

5.8 η -Einstein soliton on trans-Sasakian 3-manifold satisfying $B(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$

In 1949, S. Bochner [16] introduced the concept of the well-known Bochner curvature tensor merely as a Kähler analogue of the Weyl conformal curvature tensor but the geometric significance of it in the light of Boothby-Wangs fibration was presented later by D. E. Blair [13]. The notion of C-Bochner curvature tensor in a Sasakian manifold was introduced by M. Matsumoto, G. Chūman [62] in 1969. The C-Bochner curvature tensor in trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) is given by

$$B(X,Y)Z = R(X,Y)Z + \frac{1}{6}[g(X,Z)QY - S(Y,Z) - g(Y,Z)QX + S(X,Z)Y + g(\phi X,Z)Q\phi Y - S(\phi Y,Z)\phi X - g(\phi Y,Z)Q\phi X + S(\phi X,Z)\phi Y + 2S(\phi X,Y)\phi Z + 2g(\phi X,Y))Q\phi Z + \eta(Y)\eta(Z)QX - \eta(Y)S(X,Z)\xi + \eta(X)S(Y,Z)\xi - \eta(X)\eta(Z)QY] - \frac{D+2}{6}[g(\phi X,Z)\phi Y - g(\phi Y,Z)\phi X + 2g(\phi X,Y)\phi Z] + \frac{D}{6}[\eta(Y)g(X,Z)\xi - \eta(Y)\eta(Z)X + \eta(X)\eta(Z)Y - \eta(X)g(Y,Z)\xi] - \frac{D-4}{6}[g(X,Z)Y - g(Y,Z)X],$$
(5.8.1)

where $D = \frac{r+2}{4}$.

Let us consider a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) which admits an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) and also the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $B(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$. Then $\forall X, Y, Z \in \chi(M)$ we can write

$$S(B(\xi, X)Y, Z) + S(Y, B(\xi, X)Z) = 0.$$
(5.8.2)

Now using (5.3.3) in (5.8.2) we get

$$\left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta\right) [g(B(\xi, X)Y, Z) + g(B(\xi, X)Z, Y)] + (\beta - \mu)[\eta(B(\xi, X)Y)\eta(Z) + \eta(B(\xi, X)Z)\eta(Y)] = 0.$$
(5.8.3)

Again from (5.3.3) it follows that

$$QX = \left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta\right)X + (\beta - \mu)\eta(X)\xi, \qquad (5.8.4)$$

which implies

$$Q\xi = (\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu)\xi.$$
(5.8.5)

Also taking $X = \xi$ in (5.8.1) we obtain

$$B(\xi, Y)Z = R(\xi, Y)Z\frac{1}{6}[S(\xi, Z)Y - g(Y, Z)Q\xi + \eta(Y)\eta(Z)Q\xi - \eta(Y)S(\xi, Z)\xi] + \frac{4}{6}[\eta(Z)Y - g(Y, Z)\xi].$$
(5.8.6)

Using equations (5.2.5), (5.3.4) and (5.8.5) in (5.8.6) yields

$$B(\xi, Y)Z = [(\alpha^2 - \beta^2) - \frac{1}{6}(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu) - \frac{4}{6}][g(Y, Z)\xi - \eta(Z)Y].$$
(5.8.7)

In view of (5.8.7) the equation (5.8.3) becomes

$$[(\alpha^{2} - \beta^{2}) - \frac{1}{6}(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu) - \frac{4}{6}](\beta - \mu)[g(X, Y)\eta(Z) + g(X, Z)\eta(Y) - 2\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z)] = 0.$$

Replacing $Z = \xi$ in the above equation and recalling (1.1.15), finally we arrive at

$$[(\alpha^2 - \beta^2) - \frac{1}{6}(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu) - \frac{4}{6}](\beta - \mu)g(\phi X, \phi Y) = 0, \qquad (5.8.8)$$

for all vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$. Hence from (5.8.8) we can conclude that either

$$[(\alpha^2 - \beta^2) - \frac{1}{6}(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu) - \frac{4}{6}] = 0, \qquad (5.8.9)$$

or, $\mu = \beta$. Also for $\mu = \beta$ proceeding similarly as equation (5.5.5) it can be easily shown that the manifold becomes an Einstein manifold. Again if $\mu \neq \beta$ using (5.3.7) in the equation (5.8.9) we have

$$r = 10\lambda + 2\mu + 12\beta - 8, \tag{5.8.10}$$

which implies that the manifold becomes a manifold of constant scalar curvature. Therefore we can state the following

Theorem 5.8.1. Let (M, g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $B(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$, then either the manifold is an Einstein manifold or it is a manifold of constant scalar curvature $r = 10\lambda + 2\mu + 12\beta - 8$.

Now for the case $\mu \neq \beta$, using the equation (5.3.6) in (5.8.10) we obtain $\lambda = 2(1-\beta)$. Hence we have **Corollary 5.8.1.** Let (M, g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) with $\mu \neq \beta$. If the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $B(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$, then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as $\beta < 1$, $\beta = 1$ or, $\beta > 1$ respectively.

5.9 η -Einstein soliton on trans-Sasakian 3-manifold satisfying $S(\xi, X) \cdot R = 0$

In this section we study the curvature condition $S(\xi, X) \cdot R = 0$, where by \cdot we denote the derivation of the tensor algebra at each point of the tangent space as follows:

$$S((\xi, X) \cdot R)(Y, Z)W := ((\xi \wedge_S X) \cdot R)(Y, Z)W$$

$$:= (\xi \wedge_S X)R(Y, Z)W + R((\xi \wedge_S X)Y, Z)W$$

$$+R(Y, (\xi \wedge_S X)Z)W + R(Y, Z)(\xi \wedge_S X)W, \quad (5.9.1)$$

where the endomorphism $X \wedge_S Y$ is defined by

$$(X \wedge_S Y)Z := S(Y,Z)X - S(X,Z)Y.$$

Now let us consider a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) which admits an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) and also the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $S(\xi, X) \cdot R = 0$. Then using this condition and the equation (5.9.1) we can write

$$S(X, R(Y, Z)W)\xi - S(\xi, R(Y, Z)W)X + S(X, Y)R(\xi, Z)W$$

-S(\xi, Y)R(X, Z)W + S(X, Z)R(Y, \xi)W - S(\xi, Z)R(Y, X)W
+S(X, W)R(Y, Z)\xi - S(\xi, W)R(Y, Z)X = 0, (5.9.2)

for all vector fields $X, Y, Z, W \in \chi(M)$. Taking inner product of the above (5.9.2) with the vector field ξ and then replacing $W = \xi$ we obtain

$$S(X, R(Y, Z)\xi) - S(\xi, R(Y, Z)\xi)\eta(X) + S(X, Y)\eta(R(\xi, Z)\xi) -S(\xi, Y)\eta(R(X, Z)\xi) + S(X, Z)\eta(R(Y, \xi)\xi) - S(\xi, Z)\eta(R(Y, X)\xi) +S(X, \xi)\eta(R(Y, Z)\xi) - S(\xi, \xi)\eta(R(Y, Z)X) = 0,$$

In view of (5.2.4) and (5.2.6) the above equation becomes

$$(\alpha^{2} - \beta^{2})[S(X,Y)\eta(Z) - S(X,Z)\eta(Y) - S(\xi,Y)\eta(X)\eta(Z) + S(\xi,Z)\eta(X)\eta(Y)] - S(\xi,\xi)\eta(R(Y,Z)X) = 0.$$
(5.9.3)

Putting $Y = \xi$ in (5.9.3) and then recalling (5.2.5) we get

$$(\alpha^{2} - \beta^{2})[S(X,\xi)\eta(Z) - S(X,Z) - S(\xi,\xi)\eta(X)\eta(Z) + S(\xi,Z)\eta(X) - S(\xi,\xi)[g(X,Z) - \eta(X)\eta(Z)]] = 0.$$
(5.9.4)

Using equations (5.3.3) and (5.3.4) in the above (5.9.4) yields

$$(\alpha^{2} - \beta^{2})[(r - 2\lambda - 2\mu + \beta)\eta(X)\eta(Z) - (r - 2\lambda - \mu - \beta)g(X, Z)] = 0.$$

Replacing $X = \xi$ in above we arrive at

$$(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)(2\beta - \mu)\eta(X) = 0, \quad \forall X \in TM.$$
(5.9.5)

Since for non-trivial case $\alpha^2 \neq \beta^2$, from the above equation (5.9.5) it follows that $\mu = 2\beta$. Therefore in view of this and recalling (5.3.6) we finally obtain $r = 6\lambda + 8\beta$. Therefore we can state the following

Theorem 5.9.1. Let (M, g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $S(\xi, X) \cdot R = 0$, then it becomes a manifold of constant scalar curvature $r = 6\lambda + 8\beta$.

5.10 η -Einstein soliton on trans-Sasakian 3-manifold with torse-forming vector field

This section is devoted to study the nature of η -Einstein solitons on trans-Sasakian 3manifolds with torse-forming vector field. The definition of a torse-forming vector field is given in the introductory chapter one and hence (1.1.12) holds.

Now let us consider that (g, ξ, λ, μ) be an η -Einstein soliton on a trans-Sasakian 3manifold (M, g) and assume that the Reeb vector field ξ of the manifold is a torse-forming vector field. Then ξ being a torse-forming vector field, from equation (1.1.12) we have

$$\nabla_X \xi = f X + \gamma(X) \xi, \qquad (5.10.1)$$

 $\forall X \in \chi(M), f$ being a smooth function and γ is a 1-form.

Recalling the equation (5.2.1) and taking inner product on both sides with ξ we can write

$$g(\nabla_X \xi, \xi) = (\beta - 1)\eta(X).$$
 (5.10.2)

Again from the equation (5.10.1), applying inner product with ξ we obtain

$$g(\nabla_X \xi, \xi) = f\eta(X) + \gamma(X). \tag{5.10.3}$$

Combining (5.10.2) and (5.10.3) we get, $\gamma = (\beta - 1 - f)\eta$. Thus from (5.10.1) it implies that, for torse-forming vector field ξ in a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold, we have

$$\nabla_X \xi = f(X - \eta(X)\xi) + (\beta - 1)\eta(X)\xi.$$
(5.10.4)

Now from the formula of Lie differentiation and using (5.10.4) yields

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) = g(\nabla_{X}\xi,Y) + g(\nabla_{Y}\xi,X)$$

= $2f[g(X,Y) - \eta(X)\eta(Y)] + 2(\beta - 1)\eta(X)\eta(Y).$ (5.10.5)

Since (g, ξ, λ, μ) is an η -Einstein soliton, the equation (1.2.10) holds. So in view of (5.10.5), the equation (1.2.10) reduces to

$$S(X,Y) = \left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda + f\right)g(X,Y) + (f - \mu - \beta + 1)\eta(X)\eta(Y).$$
(5.10.6)

This implies that the manifold is an η -Einstein manifold. Again putting $Y = \xi$ in (5.10.6) we get

$$S(X,\xi) = (\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu - \beta + 1)\eta(X).$$
(5.10.7)

Combining (5.10.7) with the equation (5.2.8) implies

$$\left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu - \beta + 1\right) = 2(\alpha^2 - \beta^2).$$
 (5.10.8)

Again tracing out the equation (5.10.6) we obtain

$$r = 6\lambda + 2\mu + 4f + 2\beta - 2. \tag{5.10.9}$$

Using the above equation (5.10.9) in (5.10.8), finally we get $\lambda = f - (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)$. Therefore we have the following

Theorem 5.10.1. Let (g, ξ, λ, μ) be an η -Einstein soliton on a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g), with torse-forming vector field ξ , then the manifold becomes an η -Einstein manifold and the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as $f > (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)$, $f = (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)$ or, $f < (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)$ respectively.

Bibliography

- I. Agricola, T. Friedrich, P. A. Nagy, C. Puhle, On the Ricci tensor in the common sector of type II, String Theory, Class. Quant. Gravity, 22, 2569-2577, (2005).
- [2] Z. Ahsan, M. Ali, Curvature tensor for the spacetime of general relativity, Int. j. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys., 14, 13pages, (2017).
- [3] P. Alegre, D. E. Blair, A. Carriazo, Generalized Sasakian space forms, Israel Journal of Mathematics, 141, 157-183, (2004).
- [4] P. Alegre, A. Carriazo, Structures on generalized Sasakian space form, Diff. Geom. and its Appl., 26, 656-666, (2008).
- [5] S. R. Ashoka, C. S. Bagewadi, G. Ingalahalli, A geometry on Ricci solitons in (LCS)_nmanifolds, Differential Geometry - Dynamical Systems, 16, 50-62, (2014).
- [6] N. Basu, A. Bhattacharyya, Conformal Ricci soliton in Kenmotsu manifold, Global Journal of Advanced Research on Classical and Modern Geometries 4(1), 15-21, (2015).
- [7] A. Bejancu, K. L. Duggal, Real hypersurfaces of indefinite Kaehler manifolds, Int. J. Math. Sci. 16, 545-556, (1993).
- [8] R. L. Bishop, B. O'Neill, Manifolds of negative curvature, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 145(2), 1-49 (1969).
- [9] A. M. Blaga, Canonical connections on para-Kenmotsu manifolds, Novi Sad J. Math., 45, 131-142, (2015).

- [10] A. M. Blaga, On gradient η-Einstein solitons, Kragujevac Journal of Mathematics, 42(2), 229-237, (2018).
- [11] A. M. Blaga, A note on warped product almost quasi-Yamabe solitons, Filomat, 33, 2009-2016, (2019).
- [12] A. M. Blaga, Solitons and geometrical structures in a perfect fluid spacetime, Rocky Mount. J. of Math., 50(1), 41-53, (2020).
- [13] D. E. Blair, On the geometric meaning of the Bochner tensor, Geometriae Dedicata, 4(1), 33-38, (1975).
- [14] D. E. Blair, The theory of quasi-Sasakian structures, J. Differential Geometry, 1, 331-345, (1967).
- [15] D. E. Blair, Riemannian Geometry of Contact and Symplectic Manifolds, Birkhauser, Second Edition, (2010).
- [16] S. Bochner, Curvature and Betti numbers. II, Annals of Mathematics, 50(2), 77-93, (1949).
- [17] S. Brendle, Rotational symmetry of Ricci solitons in higher dimensions, Journal of Differential geometry, 97(1), 191-214, (2014).
- [18] C. Calin, M. Crasmareanu, η-Ricci solitons on Hopf hypersurfaces in complex space forms, Revue Roumaine de Math. Pures et Appl., 57(1), 53-63, (2012).
- [19] H.D. Cao, B. Chow, Recent developments on the Ricci flow, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 36, 59-74, (1999).
- [20] H. D. Cao, X. Sun, Y. Zhang, On the structure of gradient Yamabe solitons, Math. Res. Lett., 19(4), 767-774, (2012).
- [21] B. Cappelletti, A.D. Nicola, I. Yudin, A Survey on Cosymplectic Geometry, Rev. Math. Phys., 25(10), 134-143, (2013).
- [22] G. Catino, L. Mazzieri, Gradient Einstein solitons, Nonlinear Anal., 132, 66-94, (2016).

- [23] M. C. Chaki, R. K. Maity, On quasi-Einstein manifolds, Publ. Math. Debrecen., 57, 297-306, (2000).
- [24] B. Y. Chen, A simple characterization of generalized Robertson-Walker spacetimes, General Relativity and Gravitation, 46, Art.1833, 5pages, (2014).
- [25] B. Y. Chen, Some results on concircular vector fields and their applications to Ricci solitons, Bull. Korean Math. Soc. 52(5), 1535-1547, (2015).
- [26] B. Y. Chen, S. Deshmukh, Yamabe and quasi-Yamabe solitons on Euclidean submanifolds, Mediterr. J. Math., 155, Art.194, (2018).
- [27] D. Chinea, M. De Lyon, J.C. Marrero, Topology of Cosymplectic Manifolds, J. Math. Pures Appl., 72(6), 567-591, (1993).
- [28] J. T. Cho, M. Kimura, Ricci solitons and real hypersurfaces in a complex space forms, Tohoku Math. J., 61, 205-212, (2009).
- [29] B. Chow, P. Lu, L. Ni, *Hamilton's Ricci Flow*, American Mathematical Society Science Press, (2006).
- [30] P. Dacko, Z. Olszak, On Almost Cosymplectic (k, μ, ν) -Space, Banach Center Publ., 69, 211-220, (2005).
- [31] U. C. De, A. K. Gazi, On almost pseudo symmetric manifolds, Annales Univ. Sci. Budapest, 51, 53-68, (2008).
- [32] U. C. De, A. Sarkar, On ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold, Hardonic J. 32, 231-242, (2009).
- [33] U. C. De, A. Sarkar, Some results on generalized Sasakian space forms, Thai J. of Math., 8, 1-10, (2010).
- [34] U. C. De, Y. J. Suh, P. Majhi, Ricci solitons on η-Einstein contact manifolds, Filomat, 32(13), 4679-4687, (2018).
- [35] U. C. De, M. M. Tripathi, Ricci tensor in 3-dimensional Trans-Sasakian manifolds, Kyungpook Math. J., 43, 247-255, (2003).

- [36] U. C. De, A. Yildiz, M. Turan, B. E. Acet, 3-dimensional quasi-Sasakian manifolds with semi-symmetric non-metric connection, Hacettepe J. of Math. and Stat., 41(1), 127-137, (2012).
- [37] C. Dey, U. C. De, A note on quasi-Yamabe solitons on contact metric manifolds, Journal of Geometry, 111(11), 1-7, (2020).
- [38] T. Dutta, N. Basu, A. Bhattacharyya, Conformal Ricci Soliton in Lorentzian α-Sasakian Manifolds, Acta. Univ. Palac. Olomuc. Fac. Rerum Natur. Math., 55(2), 57-70, (2016).
- [39] H. Endo, Non-existence of almost cosymplectic manifolds satisfying a certain condition, Tensor(N.S), 63(3), 272-284, (2002).
- [40] F. E. S. Feitiosa, A. A. Freitas Filho, J. N. V. Gomes, On the construction of gradient Ricci soliton warped product, Nonlinear Analysis, 161(1), 30-43, (2017).
- [41] A. E. Fischer, An Introduction to Conformal Ricci flow, Classical and Quantum Gravity, 21(3),S171-S218, (2004).
- [42] T. Friedrich, S. Ivanov, Almost contact manifolds, connections with torsion and parallel spinors, J. Reine. Angew. Math., 559, 217-236, (2006).
- [43] A. Ghosh, Ricci Solitons and Contact Metric Manifolds, Glassgow Math.
 J., 55(1), 123-130, (2013).
- [44] A. Gray, Einstein like manifolds which are not Einstein, Goem. Dedicata, 7, 259-280, (1978).
- [45] A. Gray, L. M. Hervella, The sixteen classes of almost Hermitian manifolds and their linear invariants, Ann. Math. Pura. Appl., 123(4), 35-58, (1980).
- [46] S. Güler, M. Crasmareanu, Ricci-Yamabe maps for Riemannian flows and their volume variation and volume entropy, Turk. J. Math, 43, 2631-2641, (2019).
- [47] R. S. Hamilton, Three manifolds with positive Ricci curvature, Journal of Differential Geometry, 17, 255-306, (1982).

- [48] R. S. Hamilton, The Ricci flow on surfaces, Mathematical and General Relativity, Contemporary Mathematics, 71, 237-262, AMS, (1988).
- [49] R. S. Hamilton, The formation of singularities in the Ricci flow, Surveys in Differential Geometry, Vol.II, 7-136, Int. Press, Cambridge, MA, (1995).
- [50] A. Haseeb, Some results on projective curvature tensor in an ε-Kenmotsu manifold, Palestine J. Math., 6(Special Issue:II), 196-203, (2017).
- [51] A. Haseeb, M.A. Khan, M.D. Siddiqi, Some more results on an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold with a semi-symmetric metric connection, Acta Math. Univ. Com., 85, 9-20, (2016).
- [52] S. K. Hui, S. K. Yadav, A. Patra, Almost conformal Ricci solitons on f-Kenmotsu manifolds, Khayyam J. Math., 1(5), 89-104, (2019).
- [53] Y. Ishii, On conharmonic transformations, Tensor N.S, 7, 73-80, (1957).
- [54] S. Kanemaki, Quasi-Sasakian manifolds, Tohoku Math. J., 29, 227-233, (1977).
- [55] K. Kenmotsu, A class of almost contact Riemannian manifold, Tohoku Math. J. 24, 93-103, (1972).
- [56] B. H. Kim, S. D. Lee, J. H. Choi, Y. O. Lee, On warped product spaces with a certain Ricci condition, Bull. Korean Math. Soc. 50(1), 683-1691, (2013).
- [57] P. Majhi, D. Kar, Yamabe solitons on generalized Sasakian space forms, The Mathematics Student, 89(2), 91-101, (2020).
- [58] A. Mandal, A. Das, Pseudo projective curvature tensor on Sasakian manifolds admitting Zamkovoy connection, Bull. Cal. Math. Soc., 112, 431-450, (2020).
- [59] A. Mandal, A. Das, LP-Sasakian manifolds equipped with Zamkovoy connection and conharmonic curvature tensor, J. Indones. Math. Soc., 27, 137-149, (2021).
- [60] J. C. Marrero, The local structure of trans-Sasakian manifolds, Ann. Math. Pura. Appl., 162(4), 77-86, (1992).
- [61] K. Matsumoto, On Lorentzian almost paracontact manifolds, Bull. Yamagata Univ. Nature. Sci., 12, 151-156, (1989).

- [62] M. Matsumoto, G. Chūman, On the C-Bochner curvature tensor, TRU mathematics, 5, 21-30, (1969).
- [63] J. Morgan, G. Tian, Ricci flow and the Poincaré conjecture, Clay Mathematics Monograph, 5, Cambridge, MA, (2014).
- [64] D. M. Naik, V. Venkatesha, H. A. Kumara, Ricci solitons and certain related metrics on almost co-Kaehler manifolds, J. of Math. Phys, Anal. Geom., 16(4), 402-417, (2020).
- [65] Z. Olszak, On Almost Cosymplectic Manifolds, Kodai Math. j., 4(2), 239-250, (1981).
- [66] Z. Olszak, Normal almost contact metric manifolds of dimension three, Ann. Pol. Math., 47, 41-50, (1986).
- [67] Z. Olszak, On three dimensional conformally flat quasi-Sasakian manifold, Period. Math. Hungar., 33(2), 105-111, (1996).
- [68] B. O'Neill, Semi-Riemannian geometry with applications to relativity, Academic Press, New York, (1983).
- [69] B. O'Neill, *Elementary Differential Geometry*, British Library Publication, (2006).
- [70] J. A. Oubina, New classes of almost contact metric structures, Publ. Math. Debrecen, 32(4), 187-193, (1985).
- [71] H. Oztürk, N. Aktan, C. Muruthan, Almost α -cosymplectic (k, μ, ν) -spaces, Glassgow Math. J., arXiv:1007.0527v1(2010).
- [72] G. Perelman, The entropy formula for the Ricci Flow and its geometric applications, arxiv: math.DG/0211159v1.
- [73] G. Perelman, Ricci flow with surgery on three manifolds, arXiv.org/abs/math/ 0303109, 1-22, (2002).
- [74] G. P. Pokhariyal, R. S. Mishra, The curvature tensor and their relativistic significance, Yokohoma Math. J., 18, 105-108, (1970).
- [75] D. G. Prakasha, On generalized Sasakian space forms with Weyl conformal curvature tensor, Lobachevskii J. Math., 33(3), 223-228, (2012).
- [76] M. Sánchez, On the geometry of Generalized Robertson-Walker Spacetimes: geodesics, Gen. Relativ. Gravitation, 30(4), 915-932, (1998).
- [77] A. Sarkar, G. G. Biswas, *Ricci solitons on three dimensional generalized Sasakian space forms with quasi sasakian metric*, Africa Matematika, 31, 455-463, (2020).
- [78] A. A. Shaikh, On Lorentzian almost para contact manifolds with a structure of the concircular type, Kyungpook Math. J., 43, 305-315, (2003).
- [79] A. A. Shaikh, K. K. Baishya, On concircular structure spacetimes, J. Math. Stat., 1(2), 129-132, (2005).
- [80] A. A. Shaikh, T. Basu, S. Eyasmin, On locally φ-symmetric (LCS)_n-manifolds, Int.
 J. Pure Appl. Math., 41(8), 1161-1170, (2007).
- [81] R. Sharma, Certain Results on K-contact and (k, μ) -contact Manifolds, J. Geom., 89(1), 138-147, (2008).
- [82] R. Sharma, A. Ghosh, Sasakian 3-manifold as a Ricci soliton represents the Heisenberg group, Int. J. of Geom. Meth. in Mod. Phys., 8, 149-154, (2011).
- [83] M. D. Siddiqi, Conformal η-Ricci solitons in δ-Lorentzian trans Sasakian manifolds, International Journal of Maps in Mathematics, 1(1), 15-34, (2018).
- [84] M. D. Siddiqi, Conformal Ricci solitons of Lagrangian submanifolds in Käahler manifolds, Proc. of the Inst. of Math. and Mechanics, Nat. Acad. of Sc. of Azerbaijan, 46(1), 45-55, (2020).
- [85] M. D. Siddiqi, S. A. Siddiqui, Conformal Ricci soliton and geometrical structure in a perfect fluid spacetime, Int. J. of Geom. Meth. in Mod. Phys., Art.2050083, 18pages, (2020).
- [86] M. D. Siddiqi, η-Ricci-Yamabe solitons on Riemannian submersions from Riemannian manifolds, arXiv:2004.14124v1 [math.DG] 23 Apr(2020).
- [87] R. N. Singh, S. K. Pandey, G. Pandey, K. Tiwari, On a semi-symmetric metric connection in an ε-Kenmotsu manifold, Comm. Kor. Math. Soc., 29, 331-343, (2014).

- [88] S. Sular, C. Özgür, Generalized Sasakian space forms with semi-symmetric metric connection, Ann. Stint. Univ. Al. I. Cuza Iasi. Math. (N.S.), 60(1), 145-156, (2014).
- [89] S. I. Szabo, Structure theorems on Riemannian spaces satisfying R(X,Y)R = 0, I, The local version, j. Differ. Geometry, 17, 531-582, (1982).
- [90] S. Tanno, Note on infinitesimal transformations over contact manifolds, Tohoku Math. J., 14, 416-430, (1962).
- [91] S. Tanno, The topology of contact Riemannian manifolds, Illinois J. of Math. 12, 700-717, (1968).
- [92] S. Tanno, Quasi-Sasakian structure of rank 2p+1, J. Differential Geometry, 5, 317-324, (1971).
- [93] P. Topping, Lectures on the Ricci Folw, LMS Lecture Notes Series, Cambridge University Press, (2006).
- [94] V. Venkatesha, H. A. Kumara *Ricci solitons and geometrical structure in a perfect fluid spacetime with torse forming vector field*, Africa Math., 30, 725-736, (2019).
- [95] Y. Wang, A Generalization of the Goldberg Conjecture for CoKähler Manifolds, Mediterr. J. Math., 13(1), 2679-2690, (2016).
- [96] X. Xufeng, C. Xiaoli, Two theorems on ε-Sasakian manifolds, Int. J. Math. Sci, 21(2), 249-254, (1998).
- [97] K. Yano, Concircular geometry I, Proceedings of the Imperial Academy Tokyo, 16, 195-200, (1940).
- [98] K. Yano, On torse-forming directions in Riemannian spaces, Proceedings of the Imperial Academy Tokyo, 20, 701-705, (1944).
- [99] K. Yano, Integral formulas in Riemannian geometry, Dekker, New York, (1970).
- [100] K. Yano, M. Kon, Structures on manifolds, Series in Pure Mathematics, 3, (1984).
- [101] S. Zamkovoy, Canonical connections on para-contact manifolds, Ann. Glob. Anal. Geom., 36, 37-60, (2009).

REPRINTS

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Geometry and Physics

www.elsevier.com/locate/geomphys

Conformal Ricci soliton and guasi-Yamabe soliton on generalized Sasakian space form



^a Department of Mathematics, Jadavpur University, Kolkata-700032, West Bengal, India

^b Department of Mathematics, Bidhan Chandra College, Asansol-713304, West Bengal, India

^c Department of Mathematics, College of Science, King Khalid University, Guraiger, Abha 61413, Saudi Arabia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 24 March 2021 Accepted 19 July 2021 Available online 27 July 2021

MSC: 2010 53C15 53A30 53C25 53C44

Keywords: Generalized Sasakian space form Conformal Ricci soliton Quasi-Yamabe soliton τ -curvature tensor Projective curvature tensor

ABSTRACT

The present paper is devoted to generalized Sasakian space forms admitting conformal Ricci soliton and Quasi-Yamabe soliton. Nature of the conformal Ricci soliton is characterized on generalized Sasakian space form with various types of the potential vector field, and conditions for the conformal Ricci soliton to be shrinking, steady, or expanding are also given. Then it is shown that, depending on the nature of the structure functions of a generalized Sasakian space form, the potential function of a conformal gradient Ricci soliton is constant. Next, it is proved that under certain conditions, a quasi-Yamabe soliton reduces to a Yamabe soliton on generalized Sasakian space forms. Finally, an illustrative example of a generalized Sasakian space form is discussed to verify our results.

© 2021 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

In 1982, R. S. Hamilton [15] introduced the Ricci soliton as a self similar solution to the Ricci flow equation given by $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(g(t)) = -2Ric(g(t))$, where g(t) is an one parameter family of metrics on a certain manifold.

A Riemannian metric g defined on a smooth manifold M of dimension n is said to be a Ricci soliton if, for some constant λ , there exists a smooth vector field V on M satisfying the equation

$$Ric + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}_V g = \lambda g, \tag{1.1}$$

Corresponding author.

E-mail addresses: dipenganguly1@gmail.com (D. Ganguly), santu.mathju@gmail.com (S. Dey), akali@kku.edu.sa (A. Ali), bhattachar1968@yahoo.co.in (A. Bhattacharyya).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomphys.2021.104339 0393-0440/© 2021 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.





4

where \mathcal{L}_V denotes the Lie derivative in the direction of *V* and *Ric* is the Ricci tensor. The Ricci soliton is called shrinking if $\lambda > 0$, steady if $\lambda = 0$ and expanding if $\lambda < 0$. Ricci solitons can also be viewed as natural generalizations of Einstein metrics which moves only by a one-parameter group of diffeomorphisms and scaling [16].

In [12] A. E. Fischer introduced conformal Ricci flow equations a modified version of Hamilton's Ricci flow equation that modifies the volume constraint such that equation scalar curvature constraint. The conformal Ricci flow equations on a smooth closed connected oriented manifold M of dimension n is given by

$$\frac{\partial g}{\partial t} + 2(Ric + \frac{g}{n}) = -pg,$$

$$r(g) = -1,$$
(1.2)

where p is a non-dynamical (time-dependent) scalar field and r(g) is the scalar curvature of the manifold. The term -pg acts as the constraint force to maintain the scalar curvature constraint. Thus these evolution equations are analogous to famous Navier-Stokes equations in fluid mechanics where the constraint is divergence-free. That is why sometimes p is also called the conformal pressure.

N. Basu et al. [3] introduced the concept of conformal Ricci soliton as a generalization of the classical Ricci soliton.

A Riemannian metric g on a smooth manifold M of dimension (2n + 1) is called a conformal Ricci soliton if there exists a constant λ and a vector field V such that

$$\mathcal{L}_V g + 2Ric = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})]g,$$
(1.3)

where S = Ric is the Ricci tensor, λ is a constant, and p is the conformal pressure. It can be easily checked that the above soliton equation satisfies the conformal Ricci flow equation (1.2). Further, Ganguly and A. Bhattacharyya studied the conformal Ricci soliton within the framework of almost co-Kähler manifolds [13] and $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds [14] and authors generalized conformal Ricci soliton and obtained some interesting results in [11]. M. D. Siddiqui [20] proved that if a compact Lagrangian submanifold in a complex space form under certain conditions admits a conformal Ricci soliton, then it is either totally geodesic or flat with parallel mean curvature vector field.

Furthermore, if the soliton vector field is a gradient of some smooth function on the manifold, i.e., $V = grad \ f = \nabla f$, for some smooth function f then the soliton is called conformal gradient Ricci soliton [13]. In this case, the soliton equation (1.2) becomes

$$S + \nabla \nabla f = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]g,$$
(1.4)

where ∇ is the Riemannian connection on the manifold M^n .

The notion of Yamabe flow was introduced by R. S. Hamilton [16] as a tool for constructing metrics of constant scalar curvature in a given conformal class of Riemannian metrics on a Riemannian manifold of dimension greater than or equal to three. The Yamabe flow on a smooth Riemannian manifold (M, g) is defined as the evolution equation of the Riemannian metric g = g(t) as follows

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(g(t)) = -r(g(t)),\tag{1.5}$$

where *r* denotes the scalar curvature of the manifold. It should be noted that two dimensional the Yamabe flow is equivalent to the Ricci flow. Still for dimensions greater than two, the Yamabe flow and the Ricci flow do not agree, as the Yamabe flow preserves the metric's conformal class whereas the Ricci flow does not. The Yamabe flow corresponds to the fast diffusion case of the plasma equation inmathematical physics.

Let (M, g) be an *n*-dimensional complete Riemannian manifold. If the Riemannian metric g satisfies

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}_V g = (r - \sigma)g,\tag{1.6}$$

for some smooth vector field *V* and some $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}$, then it is known as a Yamabe soliton [16]. The Yamabe soliton is said to be shrinking, steady, or expanding according to $\sigma < 0$, $\sigma = 0$ or $\sigma > 0$ respectively. Like Ricci solitons are self-similar solutions of the Ricci flow, Yamabe solitons are also self-similar solutions to the Yamabe flow, which moves by a one-parameter family diffeomorphism and scaling. Over the years, many authors have studied Yamabe solitons [4,6,7,17,10,18,21].

As a generalization of Yamabe soliton, recently, B. Y. Chen and S. Deshmukh [7] introduced the notion of quasi-Yamabe soliton. A Riemannian metric (M, g) is said to be a quasi-yamabe soliton if

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}_V g = (r-\sigma)g + \mu V^* \otimes V^*, \tag{1.7}$$

for some smooth function μ , real constant σ and V^* is the dual 1-form of *V*. If $\mu = 0$ then the quasi-Yamabe soliton (g, V, σ, μ) reduces to the Yamabe soliton (g, V, σ) . Chen-Deshmukh [7] proved that a Euclidean hypersurface is totally

umbilical if and only if it admits a Yamabe soliton with the tangential component of the position vector field as the soliton vector field. In [9], authors showed that if a contact metric manifold admits a quasi-Yamabe soliton whose soliton vector field is a *V*-Ric vector field, then the Ricci operator Q and ϕ commutes with each other. A. M. Blaga [5] investigated almost quasi-yamabe solitons on warped product manifolds and derived a Bochner-type formula for a gradient almost quasi-Yamabe soliton.

Motivated by the above studies, we study conformal Ricci soliton and quasi-Yamabe soliton in generalized Sasakian space forms. The paper is organized as follows: After the introduction, Section-2, we discuss some basic notions and curvature formulas of generalized Sasakian space forms. Section-3, we study generalized Sasakian space forms admitting conformal Ricci soliton and conformal gradient Ricci soliton. Finally, Section-4, we investigate quasi-Yamabe solitons on generalized Sasakian space forms.

2. Generalized Sasakian space form

A 2n + 1-dimensional smooth Riemannian manifold (M, g) is said to be an almost contact metric manifold [5] if it admits a (1, 1) tensor field ϕ , a characteristic vector field ξ , a global 1-form η and a Riemannian metric g on M satisfying the following relations

$$\phi^2 = -I + \eta \otimes \xi, \quad \eta(\xi) = 1, \tag{2.1}$$

$$\eta(X) = g(X,\xi), \quad \phi(\xi) = 0, \quad \eta(\phi X) = 0, \tag{2.2}$$

$$g(\phi X, \phi Y) = g(X, Y) - \eta(X)\eta(Y), \tag{2.3}$$

$$g(X,\phi Y) + g(Y,\phi X) = 0,$$
 (2.4)

for all vector fields $X, Y \in TM$, where TM is the tangent bundle of the manifold M.

A Sasakian manifold with constant ϕ -sectional curvature c is called a Sasakian space form. Similarly, a Kenmotsu space form is a Kenmotsu manifold with constant ϕ -sectional curvature c. As a natural generalization of these spaces, P. Alegre, D. E. Blair and A. Carriazo [1] introduced the concept of generalized Sasakian space form. An almost contact metric manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) is called a generalized Sasakian space form if there exist three smooth functions f_1 , f_2 , f_3 on M such that the curvature tensor R satisfies

$$R(X, Y)Z = f_{1}[g(Y, Z)X - g(X, Z)Y] + f_{2}[g(X, \phi Z)\phi Y - g(Y, \phi Z)\phi X + 2g(X, \phi Y)\phi Z] + f_{3}[g(X, Z)\eta(Y)\xi - g(Y, Z)\eta(X)\xi + \eta(X)\eta(Z)Y - \eta(Y)\eta(Z)X],$$
(2.5)

for all vector fields $X, Y, Z \in \Gamma(TM)$. In particular, for $f_1 = \frac{c+3}{4}$, $f_2 = f_3 = \frac{c-1}{4}$ *M* becomes a Sasakian space form. Again, if $f_1 = \frac{c-3}{4}$, $f_2 = f_3 = \frac{c+1}{4}$ then *M* is a Kenmotsu space form. *M* is a cosymplectic space form if $f_1 = f_2 = f_3 = \frac{c}{4}$. In [2] the authors constructed various examples of generalized Sasakian space forms and showed that any three dimensional trans-Sasakian manifold under certain conditions is a generalized Sasakian space form. U. C. De and A. Sarkar [8] proved that a conformally flat generalized Sasakian space form is locally ϕ -symmetric if and only if f_1 is constant. From hereon, throughout this article, the notation $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ will be used to denote a (2n + 1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form with $f_1 \neq f_3$ in general.

Now a (2n + 1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$, we have the following relations from [1];

$$\nabla_X \xi = (f_3 - f_1)\phi(X), \tag{2.6}$$

$$(\nabla_X \eta)(Y) = (f_3 - f_1)g(\phi(X), Y), \tag{2.7}$$

$$(\nabla_X \phi)(Y) = (f_3 - f_1)[\eta(Y)X - g(X, Y)\xi],$$
(2.8)

$$R(X, Y)\xi = (f_1 - f_3)[\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y],$$
(2.9)

$$R(\xi, X)Y = (f_3 - f_1)[\eta(Y)X - g(X, Y)\xi],$$
(2.10)

$$S(X,Y) = (2nf_1 + 3f_2 - f_3)g(X,Y) - (3f_2 + (2n-1)f_3)\eta(X)\eta(Y),$$
(2.11)

$$QX = (2nf_1 + 3f_2 - f_3)X - (3f_2 + (2n-1)f_3)\eta(X)\xi,$$
(2.12)

$$S(X,\xi) = 2n(f_1 - f_3)\eta(X),$$
(2.13)

$$Q\xi = 2n(f_1 - f_3)\xi,$$
(2.14)

for all vector fields X, Y in TM and where R is the curvature tensor, S is the Ricci tensor and Q is the Ricci operator respectively.

Definition 2.1. A smooth vector field V on a (2n + 1)-dimensional Riemannian manifold (M, g) is said to be a conformal vector field [23,24] if

$$\mathcal{L}_V g = 2\rho g, \tag{2.15}$$

for some smooth function ρ on M.

Definition 2.2. A smooth vector field *V* on a contact metric manifold is said to be an infinitesimal contact transformation [22] if $\mathcal{L}_V \eta = h\eta$ for some smooth function *h* and $\mathcal{L}_V \eta$ denotes the Lie derivative of η by *V*. In particular, if h = 0, then *V* is said to be a strict infinitesimal contact transformation.

3. Conformal Ricci soliton on a generalized Sasakian space form

In this section we characterize a generalized Sasakian space form admitting a conformal Ricci soliton with various conditions on the potential vector field. Then we study conformal gradient Ricci soliton on a generalized Sasakian space form. So let us first state our first result of this section:

Theorem 3.1. If a (2n + 1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ admits a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) then the soliton is

- 1. shrinking if $p < [4n(f_3 f_1) \frac{2}{2n+1}]$,
- 2. steady if $p = [4n(f_3 f_1) \frac{2}{2n+1}]$ and
- 3. expanding if $p > [4n(f_3 f_1) \frac{2}{2n+1}]$.

Proof. Then for all vector fields X, Y in TM, from (1.3) we have

$$(\mathcal{L}_V g)(X, Y) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})]g(X, Y).$$
(3.1)

Now consider a (0, 2) tensor field defined by

$$\mathfrak{T} = \mathcal{L}_V g + 2S. \tag{3.2}$$

It can be easily seen that the tensor field \mathfrak{T} is a symmetric tensor field. Again since g is a metric connection, we have $\nabla g = 0$ and hence from (3.1) note that $\mathcal{L}_V g + 2S$ is parallel with the Levi-Civita connection. Therefore (3.2) implies that \mathfrak{T} is a parallel, symmetric (0, 2) tensor field. Thus we have $\nabla \mathfrak{T} = 0$, which can be written as

 $\mathfrak{T}(R(X,Y)Z,W) + \mathfrak{T}(Z,R(X,Y)W) = 0$

Putting $X = W = Z = \xi$ in the above equation and using (2.10) we get

$$\mathfrak{T}(Y,\xi) = \mathfrak{T}(\xi,\xi)\eta(Y) \tag{3.3}$$

Taking covariant differentiation of (3.3) along arbitrary vector field X, then recalling (2.6) and (2.7) we obtain

$$\mathfrak{T}(\nabla_X Y, \xi) + (f_3 - f_1)\mathfrak{T}(Y, \phi X) = \mathfrak{T}(\xi, \xi)[(f_3 - f_1)g(\phi X, Y) + \eta(\nabla_X Y)].$$

In view of (3.3) the above equation reduces to

$$\mathfrak{T}(\mathbf{Y}, \phi \mathbf{X}) = \mathfrak{T}(\xi, \xi) g(\phi \mathbf{X}, \mathbf{Y}).$$

Replacing *X* by ϕX in the foregoing equation and then using (3.3) we arrive at

$$\mathfrak{T}(X,Y) = \mathfrak{T}(\xi,\xi)g(X,Y). \tag{3.4}$$

Again from (3.2) we can write

$$\mathfrak{T}(X, Y) = (\mathcal{L}_V g)(X, Y) + 2S(X, Y).$$

Taking $X = Y = \xi$ in above, the using (2.7) and (2.13) yields

$$\mathfrak{T}(\xi,\xi) = 4n(f_1 - f_3).$$

Using the above value in (3.4) and then recalling (3.2) we get

$$(\mathcal{L}_V g)(X, Y) + 2S(X, Y) = 4n(f_1 - f_3)g(X, Y).$$
(3.5)

Finally equating (3.1) and (3.5) we obtain

$$\lambda = 2n(f_1 - f_3) + (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}).$$
(3.6)

Hence the soliton is shrinking if $\lambda > 0$, steady if $\lambda = 0$ and expanding if $\lambda < 0$. This completes the proof. \Box

Again for a Sasakian space form $f_1 = \frac{c+3}{4}$ and $f_3 = \frac{c-1}{4}$, then from (3.6) we get $\lambda = 2n + (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})$. Thus we have the following

Corollary 3.2. A conformal Ricci soliton in a (2n + 1)-dimensional Sasakian space form is shrinking if $(p + 4n + \frac{2}{2n+1}) < 0$, steady if $(p + 4n + \frac{2}{2n+1}) = 0$ and expanding if $(p + 4n + \frac{2}{2n+1}) > 0$.

Similarly in a Kenmotsu space form $f_1 = \frac{c-3}{4}$ and $f_3 = \frac{c+1}{4}$, then from (3.6) we deduce $\lambda = -2n + (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})$. Thus we have the following

Corollary 3.3. A conformal Ricci soliton in a (2n + 1)-dimensional Kenmotsu space form is shrinking if $(p - 4n + \frac{2}{2n+1}) < 0$, steady if $(p - 4n + \frac{2}{2n+1}) = 0$ and expanding if $(p - 4n + \frac{2}{2n+1}) > 0$.

Now we consider a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) with V pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ . In this regard our next theorem is

Theorem 3.4. Let $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ be a (2n + 1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form admitting a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) , whose potential vector field V is pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ . Then V is a constant multiple of ξ and M is an Einstein manifold of scalar curvature $r = 2n(2n + 1)(f_1 - f_3)$.

Proof. Let us assume that $V = b\xi$ for some smooth function *b*, then from (1.3) we can write

$$bg(\nabla_X\xi, Y) + X(b)\eta(Y) + bg(X, \nabla_Y\xi) + Y(b)\eta(X) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})]g(X, Y) - 2S(X, Y).$$

Using (2.6) the foregoing equation reduces to

$$X(b)\eta(Y) + Y(b)\eta(X) + 2S(X,Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})]g(X,Y).$$
(3.7)

Replacing Y by ξ in (3.7) and recalling (2.13) we have

$$X(b) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1}) - 4n(f_1 - f_3) - \xi(b)]\eta(X).$$
(3.8)

Taking $X = \xi$ in the previous equation yields

$$\xi(b) = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}) - 2n(f_1 - f_3)].$$
(3.9)

In view of (3.9), the equation (3.8) becomes

$$db = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}) - 2n(f_1 - f_3)]\eta.$$
(3.10)

Operating *d* on both sides of (3.10) and using Poincare lemma $d^2 = 0$ we get

$$[\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}) - 2n(f_1 - f_3)]d\eta = 0.$$

But as $d\eta \neq 0$, the foregoing equation gives us

$$\lambda = 2n(f_1 - f_3) + (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}).$$
(3.11)

Now using (3.11) in (3.11) we obtain db = 0, which eventually implies that

b = constant.

(3.12)

Therefore V is a constant multiple of ξ . This proves first part of the theorem.

Again considering an orthonormal basis $\{e_i : 1 \le i \le (2n + 1)\}$ of the tangent space at each point of the manifold and then putting $X = Y = e_i$ in (3.7) and summing over $1 \le i \le (2n + 1)$ we get

$$\xi(b) + r = (2n+1)[\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})].$$

Using (3.12) in the previous equation infers that

$$r = (2n+1)[\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})].$$
(3.13)

Combining (3.11) and (3.13) we obtain

$$r = 2n(2n+1)(f_1 - f_3).$$
(3.14)

Also recalling (3.7) and then using (3.12) we get

$$S(X,Y) = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]g(X,Y).$$
(3.15)

Thus in view of (3.14) and (3.15) we can conclude that the manifold *M* is an Einstein manifold of scalar curvature $r = 2n(2n+1)(f_1 - f_3)$, which proves the second part of the theorem. Hence completes the proof. \Box

Corollary 3.5. Let $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ be a (2n + 1)-dimensional Sasakian space form admitting a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) , whose potential vector field V is pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ . Then V is a constant multiple of ξ and the manifold M is an Einstein manifold of constant scalar curvature r = 2n(2n + 1).

Corollary 3.6. Let $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ be a (2n + 1)-dimensional Kenmotsu space form admitting a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) , whose potential vector field V is pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ . Then V is a constant multiple of ξ and the manifold M is an Einstein manifold of constant scalar curvature r = -2n(2n + 1).

Next we characterize the potential vector field V of a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) on a (2n + 1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ that satisfies the Ricci semi-symmetric curvature condition. Regarding this we prove the following:

Theorem 3.7. If a (2n + 1)-dimensional Ricci semi-symmetric generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ admits a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) , then M is an Einstein manifold and the potential vector field V is a conformal vector field.

Proof. Let us assume that $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ be a (2n + 1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form admitting a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) , and the manifold is Ricci semi-symmetric. Then we have $R(X, Y) \cdot S = 0$, which can be written as

$$S(R(X, Y)Z, U) + S(Z, R(X, Y)U) = 0.$$

Replacing U by ξ in above yields

$$S(R(X, Y)Z, \xi) + S(Z, R(X, Y)\xi) = 0.$$

Using (2.9) and (2.14) in the previous equation we obtain

$$2n(f_1 - f_3)\eta(R(X, Y)Z) + (f_1 - f_3)\eta(Y)S(X, Z) - (f_1 - f_3)\eta(X)S(Y, Z) = 0.$$

Taking $X = \xi$ in the foregoing equation, then recalling (2.10) and (2.13) infers that

$$S(Y, Z) = 2n(f_1 - f_3)g(Y, Z),$$
(3.16)

which implies that the manifold is an Einstein manifold and this proves the first part of the theorem.

Again, as (g, V, λ) is a conformal Ricci soliton on the (2n+1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$, recalling the soliton equation (1.3) we have

$$(\mathcal{L}_V g)(X, Y) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})]g(X, Y).$$

Now in view of (3.16) the previous equation reduces to

$$(\mathcal{L}_V g)(X, Y) = [2\lambda - 4n(f_1 - f_3) - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})]g(X, Y),$$
(3.17)

for all vector fields X, Y in TM. Thus from (3.17) it can be written that

$$\mathcal{L}_V g = 2\rho g,$$

where $\rho = [\lambda - 2n(f_1 - f_3) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]$. Thus in view of the equation (2.15), we can conclude that *V* is a conformal vector field. This completes the proof. \Box

In the last part of this section, we now concentrate on the generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ admitting conformal Ricci soliton whose potential vector field V is gradient of some smooth function f. But before proving our main theorem in this direction, let us first prove the following

Lemma 3.8. If a (2n + 1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ admits a conformal gradient Ricci soliton $(g, \nabla f, \lambda)$, then the curvature tensor R satisfies

$$R(X, Y)\nabla f = (2ndf_1 + 3df_2 - df_3)(Y)X - (3df_2 + (2n - 1)df_3)(Y)\eta(X)\xi + (3df_2 + (2n - 1)df_3)(X)\eta(Y)\xi - (2ndf_1 + 3df_2 - df_3)(X)Y + (f_1 - f_3)(3f_2 + (2n - 1)f_3)[g(X, \phi Y)\xi - g(\phi X, Y)\xi + \eta(X)\phi Y - \eta(Y)\phi X],$$
(3.18)

for all vector fields X, Y on the manifold.

Proof. Let us assume that $(g, \nabla f, \lambda)$ be a conformal gradient Ricci soliton on $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$. Then from the conformal gradient Ricci soliton equation (1.4) we can write

$$\nabla_X \nabla f = [\lambda - 2n(f_1 - f_3) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]X - QX,$$
(3.19)

for any vector field X on M and Q is the Ricci operator.

Taking covariant differentiation of (3.19) along an arbitrary vector field Y we obtain

$$\nabla_{Y}\nabla_{X}\nabla f = [\lambda - 2n(f_{1} - f_{3}) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]\nabla_{Y}X - \nabla_{Y}QX$$
(3.20)

Interchanging X and Y in the foregoing equation infers that

$$\nabla_X \nabla_Y \nabla f = [\lambda - 2n(f_1 - f_3) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})] \nabla_X Y - \nabla_X Q Y.$$
(3.21)

Also from (3.19) it can be written that

$$\nabla_{[X,Y]}\nabla f = [\lambda - 2n(f_1 - f_3) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})](\nabla_X Y - \nabla_Y X) - Q(\nabla_X Y - \nabla_Y X).$$
(3.22)

Now using (3.20)-(3.22) in $R(X, Y)Z = \nabla_X \nabla_Y Z - \nabla_Y \nabla_X Z - \nabla_{[X,Y]} Z$ we obtain

$$R(X, Y)\nabla f = (\nabla_Y Q)X - (\nabla_X Q)Y.$$
(3.23)

Again recalling (2.12) and covariantly differentiating it along Y yields

$$\nabla_{Y} Q X = (2nf_{1} + 3f_{2} - f_{3})\nabla_{Y} X + (2ndf_{1} + 3df_{2} - df_{3})(Y)X$$

-(3f_{2} + (2n - 1)f_{3})[\nabla_{Y} \eta(X)\xi + \eta(X)\nabla_{Y}\xi]
-(3df_{2} + (2n - 1)df_{3})(Y)\eta(X)\xi. (3.24)

Also from (2.12) we can write

$$Q(\nabla_{Y}X) = (2nf_{1} + 3f_{2} - f_{3})\nabla_{Y}X - (3f_{2} + (2n-1)f_{3})\eta(\nabla_{Y}X)\xi.$$
(3.25)

Using (3.24) and (3.25) in $(\nabla_Y Q)X = \nabla_Y QX - Q(\nabla_Y X)$, then recalling (2.6) and (2.7) we obtain

$$(\nabla_{Y}Q)X = (2ndf_{1} + 3df_{2} - df_{3})(Y)X$$

-(3df_{2} + (2n - 1)df_{3})(Y)\eta(X)\xi
+(f_{1} - f_{3})(3f_{2} + (2n - 1)f_{3})[g(X, \phi Y)\xi + \eta(X)\phi Y].(3.26)

Interchanging X and Y in (3.26) yields

$$(\nabla_X Q)Y = (2ndf_1 + 3df_2 - df_3)(X)Y -(3df_2 + (2n - 1)df_3)(X)\eta(Y)\xi +(f_1 - f_3)(3f_2 + (2n - 1)f_3)[g(\phi X, Y)\xi + \eta(Y)\phi X].$$
(3.27)

Finally making use of (3.26) and (3.27) in the equation (3.23) completes the proof.

Now we conclude this section with our main result on conformal gradient Ricci soliton which is the following:

Theorem 3.9. If a (2n + 1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ admits a conformal gradient Ricci soliton $(g, \nabla f, \lambda)$ then the potential function f is constant, provided f_1 and f_3 are both constants. Furthermore, the soliton is shrinking if $p < [2f_3 - 6f_2 - 2nf_1 - \frac{2}{2n+1}]$, steady if $p = [2f_3 - 6f_2 - 2nf_1 - \frac{2}{2n+1}]$ or, expanding if $p > [2f_3 - 6f_2 - 2nf_1 - \frac{2}{2n+1}]$.

Proof. Let us assume that $(g, \nabla f, \lambda)$ is a conformal gradient Ricci soliton on the generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$. Now putting $X = \xi$ in (3.18) of Lemma (3.8) and then taking inner product with arbitrary vector field Z we obtain

$$g(R(\xi, Y)\nabla f, Z) = 2n(df_1 - df_3)(Y)\eta(Z) -2n(df_1 - df_3)(\xi)[g(Y, Z) - \eta(Y)\eta(Z)] +(f_1 - f_3)(3f_2 + (2n - 1)f_3)g(\phi Y, Z),$$
(3.28)

for all vector fields *Y*, *Z* on the manifold.

Again in view of (2.10) and making use of the curvature property $g(R(\xi, Y)\nabla f, Z) = -g(R(\xi, Y)Z, Df)$, we can write

$$g(R(\xi, Y)Df, Z) = (f_3 - f_1)[g(Y, Z)(\xi f) - \eta(Z)(Yf)].$$
(3.29)

Equating (3.28) and (3.29) we deduce

$$\begin{aligned} (f_3 - f_1)[g(Y, Z)(\xi f) - \eta(Z)(Yf)] &= 2n(df_1 - df_3)(Y)\eta(Z) \\ &- 2n(df_1 - df_3)(\xi)[g(Y, Z) - \eta(Y)\eta(Z)] \\ &+ (f_1 - f_3)(3f_2 + (2n - 1)f_3)g(\phi Y, Z). \end{aligned}$$

Now replacing *Z* by ξ , the foregoing equation infers that

$$2n(df_1 - df_3)(Y) = (f_3 - f_1)[\eta(Y)(\xi f) - (Yf)],$$

which reduces to

$$[\eta(\mathbf{Y})(\xi f) - (\mathbf{Y}f)] = \mathbf{0},$$

provided f_1 and f_3 are both constants. Also this can be rewritten as

$$g(Y, (\xi f)\xi) = g(Y, \nabla f).$$

Since the above holds for all vector field Y on the manifold, we obtain

$$\nabla f = (\xi f)\xi. \tag{3.30}$$

Differentiating (3.30) covariantly along arbitrary vector field X and then using 2.6 yields

$$\nabla_X \nabla f = (X(\xi f))\xi + (f_3 - f_1)(\xi f)\phi X.$$
(3.31)

Equating (3.31) with (3.19) we deduce

(2,20)

D. Ganguly, S. Dey, A. Ali et al.

$$QX = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]X - (X(\xi f))\xi - (f_3 - f_1)(\xi f)\phi X.$$
(3.32)

Comparing the coefficients of ϕX from (3.32) and (2.12) we get $(\xi f) = 0$. Using this in (3.30) infers that Df = grad f = 0, which eventually implies that f is constant. This proves first part of the theorem.

Again comparing the coefficients of X from (3.32) and (2.12) we obtain

$$\lambda = \left[\left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}\right) + \left(2nf_1 - 3f_2 - f_3\right) \right].$$
(3.33)

Hence the soliton is shrinking if $\lambda > 0$, steady if $\lambda = 0$ and expanding if $\lambda < 0$. This completes the proof. \Box

4. Quasi-Yamabe soliton on generalized Sasakian space form

This section is devoted to the study of generalized Sasakian space form admitting quasi-Yamabe soliton whose the potential vector field is pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field. In this regard, our main result of this section is as follows:

Theorem 4.1. If a (2n + 1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ admits a quasi-Yamabe soliton (g, V, σ, μ) with the potential vector field V pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ , then

- 1. M becomes a manifold of constant scalar curvature,
- 2. the soliton reduces to the Yamabe soliton (g, V, σ) ,
- 3. V becomes a constant multiple of ξ and
- 4. V is a strict infinitesimal contact transformation.

Proof. Let us assume that (g, V, σ, μ) is a quasi-Yamabe soliton on the generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ such that the potential vector field *V* is pointwise collinear with ξ , the there exists a non-zero smooth function *b* on *M* such that $V = b\xi$. Then from the equation (1.7) we can write

$$\frac{1}{2}(\mathcal{L}_{b\xi}g)(X,Y) = (r-\sigma)g(X,Y) + \mu b^2 \eta(X)\eta(Y),$$
(4.1)

for all vector fields X, Y in TM.

Again from the definition of Lie derivative we have

$$(\mathcal{L}_{b\xi}g)(X,Y) = g(\nabla_X b\xi,Y) + g(X,\nabla_Y b\xi)$$

= $bg(\nabla_X \xi,Y) + X(b)\eta(Y) + bg(X,\nabla_Y \xi) + Y(b)\eta(X),$

which in view of (2.6) and (2.4) reduces to

$$(\mathcal{L}_{b\xi}g)(X,Y) = X(b)\eta(Y) + Y(b)\eta(X).$$
(4.2)

Substituting (4.2) in (4.1) infers that

$$X(b)\eta(Y) + Y(b)\eta(X) = 2(r - \sigma)g(X, Y) + 2\mu b^2 \eta(X)\eta(Y).$$
(4.3)

Now taking $Y = \xi$ in (4.3) we obtain

$$X(b) = [2(r - \sigma + \mu b^2) - \xi(b)]\eta(X).$$
(4.4)

Again replacing X by ξ in the foregoing equation yields

$$\xi(b) = (r - \sigma) + \mu b^2.$$
(4.5)

Now consider an orthonormal basis $\{e_i : 1 \le i \le (2n + 1)\}$ of the tangent space at each point of the manifold. Then setting $X = Y = e_i$ in (4.3) and summing over $1 \le i \le (2n + 1)$ we get

$$\xi(b) = (r - \sigma)(2n + 1) + \mu b^2. \tag{4.6}$$

Equating (4.5) with (4.6) we arrive at

$$r = \sigma = constant,$$
 (4.7)

which implies that M is a manifold of constant scalar curvature and this proves (1).

Again, in view of (4.5), the equation (4.4) gives us

$$db = \mu b^2 \eta. \tag{4.8}$$

Taking exterior differentiation on the above equation and using Poincare lemma $d^2 = 0$, we obtain $\mu b^2 = 0$. This eventually implies that $\mu = 0$ and hence the quasi-Yamabe soliton reduces to the Yamabe soliton (g, V, σ) . This proves (2) of the theorem.

Now using $\mu = 0$ in the equation (4.8) we get db = 0, which implies *b* is constant. Therefore *V* is a constant multiple of ξ and this proves (3).

Again setting $Y = \xi$ in (4.1) and using (2.2) we obtain

$$(\mathcal{L}_V g)(X,\xi) = 2(r - \sigma + \mu b^2)\eta(X).$$
(4.9)

Using (4.7) and the fact that $\mu = 0$ in (4.9) yields $(\mathcal{L}_V g)(X, \xi) = 0$, which implies

$$(\mathcal{L}_V \eta)(X) = g(X, \mathcal{L}_V \xi). \tag{4.10}$$

Recalling that $V = b\xi$ and b is a constant it can be easily deduced that $\mathcal{L}_V \xi = 0$. Therefore from (4.10) finally we obtain $(\mathcal{L}_V \eta)(X) = 0$ for any vector field X on M. Hence in the sense of definition (2.2), the potential vector field V is a strict infinitesimal contact transformation. This proves (4) and hence completes the proof. \Box

According to Corollary 1.1 of [17], in a generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ with the Yamabe soliton metric, the scalar curvature is harmonic. Thus in view of this and from our previous theorem we can conclude the following

Corollary 4.2. If a (2n + 1)-dimensional generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$ admits a quasi-Yamabe soliton (g, V, λ) , whose potential vector field V is pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ , then the scalar curvature is harmonic.

5. Examples of generalized Sasakian space form

In this section we discuss examples of generalized Sasakian space form admitting conformal Ricci soliton and Yamabe soliton.

Example 5.1. P. Alegre, D. E. Blair and A. Carriazo in their seminal work [1] constructed an example of generalized Sasakian space form on the manifold $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{C}^m$ endowed with three smooth functions given as follows:

$$f_1 = -\frac{(f')^2}{f^2}, \quad f_2 = 0, \quad f_3 = -\frac{(f')^2}{f^2} + \frac{f''}{f'},$$
(5.1)

for some smooth real valued function f = f(t) and f' denotes the derivative of f with respect to t.

Now if we consider $f(t) = e^{\alpha t}$, for some real number α , then from equation (3.6) we can compute $\lambda = -m\alpha + \frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2m+1}$. Therefore we can comment that the generalized Sasakian space form ($\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{C}^m$, f_1 , f_2 , f_3) admits a conformal Ricci soliton with the soliton constant λ as computed above. Furthermore the conformal Ricci soliton is shrinking if $p < [2m\alpha - \frac{2}{m+1}]$, steady if $p = [2m\alpha - \frac{2}{m+1}]$ and expanding if $p > [2m\alpha - \frac{2}{m+1}]$.

Example 5.2. Here we give a non-trivial example of a conformal Ricci soliton on a three dimensional generalized Sasakian space form as constructed in [19]. Let us consider the 3-dimensional manifold $M = \{(u, v, w) \in \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{(0, 0, 0)\}\}$. Define a linearly independent set of vector fields $\{E_i : 1 \le i \le 3\}$ on the manifold M given by

$$E_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial u} - v \frac{\partial}{\partial w}, \quad E_2 = \frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \quad e_3 = \frac{\partial}{\partial w}$$

Let us define the Riemannian metric g on M by

$$g(E_i, E_j) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{for } i = j \\ 0, & \text{for } i \neq j \end{cases}$$

for all i, j = 1, 2, 3. Now considering $E_3 = \xi$, let us take the 1-form η , on the manifold M, defined by

$$\eta(U) = g(U, E_3), \quad \forall U \in TM.$$

Then it can be observed that $\eta(\xi) = 1$. Let us define the (1, 1) tensor field ϕ on *M* as

$$\phi(E_1) = -E_2, \quad \phi(E_2) = E_1, \quad \phi(E_3) = 0.$$

Using the linearity of g and ϕ it can be easily checked that

$$\phi^{2}(U) = -U + \eta(U)\xi, \ g(\phi U, \phi V) = g(U, V) - \eta(U)\eta(V), \ \forall U, V \in TM.$$

Hence the structure (g, ϕ, ξ, η) defines an almost contact metric structure on the manifold *M*. Now, using the definitions of Lie bracket, after some direct computations we get $[E_1, E_2] = E_3$ and $[e_1, e_3] = [e_2, e_3] = 0$. Again the Riemannian connection ∇ of the metric *g* is defined by the well-known Koszul's formula which is given by

$$2g(\nabla_X Y, Z) = Xg(Y, Z) + Yg(Z, X) - Zg(X, Y) -g(X, [Y, Z]) + g(Y, [Z, X]) + g(Z, [X, Y]).$$

Using the above formula one can easily calculate that

$$\nabla_{E_1} E_1 = 0, \quad \nabla_{E_1} E_2 = \frac{1}{2} E_3, \quad \nabla_{E_1} E_3 = -\frac{1}{2} E_2,$$

$$\nabla_{E_2} E_1 = -\frac{1}{2} E_3, \quad \nabla_{E_2} E_2 = 0, \quad \nabla_{E_2} E_3 = \frac{1}{2} E_1,$$

$$\nabla_{E_3} E_1 = -\frac{1}{2} E_2, \quad \nabla_{E_3} E_2 = \frac{1}{2} E_1, \quad \nabla_{E_3} E_3 = 0.$$

Thus from the above relations and using the well-known formula $R(X, Y)Z = \nabla_X \nabla_Y Z - \nabla_Y \nabla_X Z - \nabla_{[X,Y]} Z$ the non-vanishing components of the Riemannian curvature tensor R can easily be computed as

$$R(E_1, E_2)E_1 = \frac{3}{4}E_2, \quad R(E_1, E_3)E_1 = -\frac{1}{4}E_3, \quad R(E_2, E_2)E_3 = \frac{1}{4}E_2,$$

$$R(E_1, E_2)E_2 = -\frac{3}{4}E_1, \quad R(E_2, E_3)E_2 = -\frac{1}{4}E_3, \quad R(E_1, E_3)E_3 = \frac{1}{4}E_1$$

Hence we can calculate the non-vanishing components of the Ricci tensor as follows

$$S(E_1, E_1) = -\frac{1}{2}, \quad S(E_2, E_2) = -\frac{1}{2}, \quad S(E_3, E_3) = \frac{1}{2}$$

Therefore in view of the above values of the Ricci tensor, we can say that the manifold *M* is a generalized Sasakian space form with the functions $f_1 = -\frac{1}{4}$, $f_2 = 0$ and $f_3 = -\frac{1}{3}$.

Now if we take the soliton vector field $V = \xi = E_3$, then from the equation (1.3) we obtain $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} - \frac{1}{6})$. Hence for this value of λ the data (g, ξ, λ) defines a conformal Ricci soliton on the generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$. Moreover we can see that (M, g) is a manifold of constant scalar curvature $r = -\frac{1}{2} = 2 \times 3 \times (f_1 - f_3)$ and hence the theorem (3.4) is verified.

Again on this generalized Sasakian space form $M(f_1, f_2, f_3)$, considering $V = \xi$ in the equation (1.7), we compute that $\sigma = -\frac{1}{2}$ and $\mu = 0$. Therefore for this values of σ and μ the data (g, ξ, σ, μ) defines a quasi-Yamabe soliton, which eventually reduces to a Yamabe soliton as $\mu = 0$ and hence the theorem (4.1) is verified.

Acknowledgements

The authors extend their appreciation to the deanship of scientific research at King Khalid University for funding this work through research groups program under grant number R.G.P.1/50/42. The first author D. Ganguly is thankful to the National Board for Higher Mathematics (NBHM), India (Ref No: 0203/11/2017/RD-II/10440) for their financial support to carry on this research work.

References

- [1] P. Alegre, D.E. Blair, A. Carriazo, Generalized Sasakian space forms, Isr. J. Math. vol-141 (2004) 157–183.
- [2] P. Alegre, A. Carriazo, Structures on generalized Sasakian space form, Differ. Geom. Appl. vol-26 (2008) 656–666.
- [3] N. Basu, A. Bhattacharyya, Conformal Ricci soliton in Kenmotsu manifold, Glob. J. Adv. Res. Class. Mod. Geom. 4 (1) (2015) 15-21.
- [4] A.M. Blaga, A note on warped product almost quasi-Yamabe solitons, Filomat 33 (2019) 2009-2016.
- [5] D.E. Blair, Riemannian Geometry of Contact and Symplectic Manifolds, second edition, Birkhäuser, 2010.
- [6] H.D. Cao, X. Sun, Y. Zhang, On the structure of gradient Yamabe solitons, Math. Res. Lett. 19 (4) (2012) 767-774.
- [7] B.Y. Chen, S. Deshmukh, Yamabe and quasi-Yamabe solitons on Euclidean submanifolds, Mediterr, J. Math. 15 (5) (2018) 194.
- [8] U.C. De, A. Sarkar, Some results on generalized Sasakian space forms, Thai J. Math. 8 (2010) 1–10.
- [9] C. Dey, U.C. De, A note on quasi-Yamabe solitons on contact metric manifolds, J. Geom. 111 (11) (2020) 1-7.

- [11] S. Dey, S. Roy, A. Bhattacharyya, Kenmotsu metric as a conformal η -Einstein soliton, Carpath. Math. Publ. (2020), https://doi.org/10.15330/cmp.13.1. 110-118.
- [12] A.E. Fischer, An introduction to conformal Ricci flow, Class. Quantum Gravity 21 (3) (2004) \$171-\$218.
- [13] D. Ganguly, A. Bhattacharyya, Conformal Ricci soliton on almost co-Kähler manifold, Adv. Math.: Sci. J. 9 (10) (2020) 8399-8411.

^[10] S. Dey, S. Roy, A. Bhattacharyya, Yamabe solitons on (LCS)_n manifolds, J. Dyn. Syst. Geom. Theories 18 (2) (2020) 261–279.

- [14] D. Ganguly, A. Bhattacharyya, A study on conformal Ricci solitons in the framework of (LCS)_n-manifolds, Ganita 70 (2) (2020) 201–216.
- [15] R.S. Hamilton, Three manifolds with positive Ricci curvature, J. Differ. Geom. 17 (1982) 255-306.
- [16] R.S. Hamilton, The Ricci Flow on Surfaces, Mathematical and General Relativity, Contemporary Mathematics, vol. 71, American Mathematical Society, 1988, pp. 237–262.
- [17] P. Majhi, D. Kar, Yamabe solitons on generalized Sasakian space forms, Math. Stud. 89 (1-2) (2020) 91-101.
- [18] D.G. Prakasha, On generalized Sasakian space forms with Weyl conformal curvature tensor, Lobachevskii J. Math. 33 (3) (2012) 223–228.
- [19] A. Sarkar, G.G. Biswas, Ricci solitons on three dimensional generalized Sasakian space forms with quasi Sasakian metric, Afr. Math. 31 (2020) 455–463.
 [20] M.D. Siddiqui, Conformal Ricci solitons of Lagrangian submanifolds in Käahler manifolds, Proc. Inst. Math. Mech. Natl. Acad. Sci. Azerb. 46 (1) (2020) 45–55.
- [21] S. Sular, C. Özgür, Generalized Sasakian space forms with semi-symmetric metric connection, Ann. Ştiinţ. Univ. Al. I. Cuza Iasi. Math. (N. S.) 60 (1) (2014) 145–156.
- [22] S. Tanno, Note on infinitesimal transformations over contact manifolds, Tohoku Math. J. 14 (1962) 416-430.
- [23] K. Yano, Integral Formulas in Riemannian Geometry, Dekker, New York, 1970.
- [24] K. Yano, M. Kon, Structures on Manifolds, Series in Pure Mathematics, vol. 3, 1984.



Advances in Mathematics: Scientific Journal **9** (2020), no.10, 8399–8411 ISSN: 1857-8365 (printed); 1857-8438 (electronic) https://doi.org/10.37418/amsj.9.10.69

CONFORMAL RICCI SOLITON ON ALMOST CO-KÄHLER MANIFOLD

DIPEN GANGULY¹ AND ARINDAM BHATTACHARYYA

ABSTRACT. In this paper, we study almost coKähler manifolds admitting the conformal Ricci soliton and determine the value of the soliton constant λ and hence the condition for the soliton to be shrinking, steady or expanding. Then we find the condition on the conformal pressure p under which, a conformal Ricci soliton on a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold becomes expanding. Finally we show that a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold, with the potential vector field V pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ , does not admit conformal gradient Ricci soliton.

1. INTRODUCTION

A Riemannian metric g defined on a smooth manifold M^n , of dimension n, is said to be a Ricci soliton if for some constant λ , there exists a smooth vector field X on M satisfying the equation

(1.1)
$$Ric + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}_V g = \lambda g.$$

where \mathcal{L}_V denotes the Lie derivative in the direction of V and Ric is the Ricci tensor. The Ricci soliton is called shrinking if $\lambda > 0$, steady if $\lambda = 0$ and expanding if $\lambda < 0$. In 1982, R.S. Hamilton [11] first studied the Ricci soliton as a self similar solution to the Ricci flow equation given by: $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(g(t)) = -2Ric(g(t))$, where g(t) is a one parameter family of metrics on M^{2n+1} .

¹corresponding author

²⁰²⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 53C25, 53D15.

Key words and phrases. Ricci soliton, Gradient Ricci soliton, Conformal Ricci soliton, Almost CoKähler manifold, (k, μ) -Almost CoKähler manifold.

D. GANGULY AND A. BHATTACHARYYA

Ricci solitons can also be viewed as natural generalizations of Einstein metrics which moves only by a one-parameter group of diffeomorphisms and scaling [12]. Again a Ricci soliton is called a gradient Ricci soliton [3] if the concerned vector field V in the equation (1.1), is the gradient of some smooth function f, i.e; if V = Df, where D is the gradient operator of g. This function f is called the potential function of the Ricci soliton.

A.E. Fisher, in 2005, introduced [9] conformal Ricci flow equation which is a modified version of the Hamilton's Ricci flow equation that modifies the volume constraint of that equation to a scalar curvature constraint. The conformal Ricci flow equations on a smooth closed connected oriented manifold M^n , of dimension n, are given by

(1.2)
$$\frac{\partial g}{\partial t} + 2\left(Ric + \frac{g}{n}\right) = -pg$$

$$r(g) = -1,$$

where p is a non-dynamical(time dependent) scalar field and r(g) is the scalar curvature of the manifold. The term -pg acts as the constraint force to maintain the scalar curvature constraint. Thus these evolution equations are analogous to famous Navier-Stokes equations in fluid mechanics where the constraint is divergence free. That is why sometimes p is also called the conformal pressure.

Recently, in 2015, N. Basu and A. Bhattacharyya [2] introduced the concept of conformal Ricci soliton as a generalization of the classical Ricci soliton.

Definition 1.1. A Riemannian metric g on a smooth manifold M^n , of dimension n, is called a conformal Ricci soliton if there exists a constant λ and a vector field V such that

(1.3)
$$\mathcal{L}_V g + 2S = \left[2\lambda - \left(p + \frac{2}{n}\right)\right]g,$$

where S = Ric is the Ricci tensor, λ is a constant and p is the conformal pressure.

It can be easily checked that the above soliton equation satisfies the conformal Ricci flow equation (1.2). Later, T. Dutta. et.al. [7] studied this conformal Ricci soliton in the framework of Lorentzian α -Sasakian manifolds. Moreover, if the vector field V is the gradient of some smooth function f on M^n , we call the soliton a conformal gradient Ricci soliton and then the soliton equation (1.2)

8400

becomes

(1.4)
$$S + \nabla \nabla f = \left[\lambda - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}\right)\right]g,$$

where ∇ is the Riemannian connection on the manifold M^n .

Motivated by the above studies, here we study conformal Ricci soliton in the framework of almost coKähler manifold and on its various versions. We find conditions to determine the nature of the soliton for different cases. The paper is organised as follows: in section-2, we discuss some preliminary concepts of almost coKähler manifolds. Then in section-3, we study almost coKähler manifolds admitting the conformal Ricci soliton and we calculate the value of the soliton constant λ and hence we find the condition for the soliton to be shrinking, steady or expanding. After that in section-4, we find the condition on the conformal pressure p under which, a conformal Ricci soliton on a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold becomes expanding. Finally in section-5, we show that a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold, with the potential vector field V pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ , does not admit conformal gradient Ricci soliton.

2. PRELIMINARIES ON ALMOST COKÄHLER MANIFOLDS

The geometry of coKähler manifolds as a special case of almost contact manifolds was studied primarily as an odd-dimensional analogy of the Kähler manifolds in complex geometry. So, let us first recall some preliminaries on almost coKähler manifolds. A smooth (2n + 1) dimensional manifold M^{2n+1} is said to admit an almost contact structure (ϕ, ξ, η) if there exist a (1, 1) tensor field ϕ , a vector field ξ and a global 1-form η on M^{2n+1} such that

(2.1)
$$\phi^2 = -I + \eta \otimes \xi \text{ and } \eta(\xi) = 1,$$

where *I* is the identity endomorphism on M. Then the manifold *M* equipped with this almost contact structure (ϕ, ξ, η) is called an almost contact manifold (see [1]) and is denoted as $(M^{2n+1}\phi, \xi, \eta)$. The vector field ξ is called the characteristic vector field or Reeb vector field.

From (2.1) it can easily be seen that, for an almost contact structure the following relations hold; $\phi(\xi) = 0$ and $\eta \circ \phi = 0$.

Furthermore, on an almost contact manifold $(M^{2n+1}, \phi, \xi, \eta)$ if there exists a Riemannian metric g satisfying;

$$g(\phi X, \phi Y) = g(X, Y) - \eta(X)\eta(Y),$$

for all vector fields X, Y in TM, where TM is tangent bundle of M, then the metric g is called compatible with the almost contact structure. The manifold M^{2n+1} together with the almost contact metric structure (ϕ, ξ, η, g) is called an almost contact metric manifold and we denote it as $(M^{2n+1}, g, \phi, \xi, \eta)$.

We define the fundamental 2-form Φ on an almost contact metric manifold as

(2.2)
$$\Phi(X,Y) = g(X,\phi Y) = d\eta(X,Y),$$

for all vector fields X, Y in TM. Now, it is known that on the product manifold $M^{2n+1} \times \mathbb{R}$, if we define a structure J as;

$$J\left(X, f\frac{d}{dt}\right) = \left(\phi X - f\xi, \eta(X)\frac{d}{dt}\right),\,$$

for all X in TM, where t is the coordinate of \mathbb{R} and f is a smooth function on $M^{2n+1} \times \mathbb{R}$: then J becomes an almost complex structure and if this almost complex structure J is integrable we say that the almost contact structure $(M^{2n+1}, \phi, \xi, \eta)$ is normal. Again, D.E. Blair [1] expressed the condition for normality of an almost contact structure as: $[\phi, \phi] = -2d\eta \otimes \xi$; where the Nijenhuis tensor $[\phi, \phi]$ is defined as

$$[\phi, \phi](X, Y) = \phi^{2}[X, Y] + [\phi X, \phi Y] - \phi[\phi X, Y] - \phi[X, \phi Y],$$

for all X, Y in TM and [X,Y] is the Lie bracket operation. Now we are in a position to define the concept of coKähler manifold [see [1], [4]] and almost coKähler manifold.

Definition 2.1. An almost contact metric manifold is called an almost coKähler manifold if both the 1-form η and the fundamental 2-form Φ (as defined by equation (2.2)) are closed.

In particular, if the associated almost contact structure is normal or equivalently $\nabla \phi = 0$ or $\nabla \Phi = 0$: then the almost coKähler manifold is called a coKähler manifold. Also, it is to be noted that, examples (see [5], [13]) of almost coKähler manifolds exist, which are not globally the product of a almost Kähler manifold and the real line.

8402

Next, we set two symmetric operators h and h' given by, $h = \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}_{\xi}\phi$ and $h' = h \circ \phi$ on the almost coKähler manifold $(M^{2n+1}, g, \phi, \xi, \eta)$. Then the following relations can be obtained (see [13], [6])

(2.3)
$$h\xi = 0, \ h\phi + \phi h = 0, \ tr(h) = tr(h') = 0,$$

(2.4)
$$\nabla_{\xi}\phi = 0, \ \nabla\xi = h', \ div\xi = 0,$$

(2.5)
$$S(\xi,\xi) + ||h||^2 = 0,$$

$$(2.6) \qquad \qquad \phi l\phi - l = 2h^2$$

$$\nabla_{\xi}h = -h^2\phi - \phi l,$$

where we set $l := R(.,\xi)\xi$ and R is the Riemannian curvature tensor defined by

(2.7)
$$R(X,Y)Z = \nabla_X \nabla_Y Z - \nabla_Y \nabla_X Z - \nabla_{[X,Y]} Z,$$

for all vector fields $X, Y, Z \in TM$.

3. CONFORMAL RICCI SOLITON ON ALMOST COKÄHLER MANIFOLD

Let us consider $(M^{2n+1}, g, \phi, \xi, \eta)$ be an almost coKähler manifold which satisfies the conformal Ricci soliton equation given in equation (1.3); then for all vector fields X, Y in TM i.e; we have

(3.1)
$$(\mathcal{L}_V g)(X,Y) + 2S(X,Y) = \left[2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})\right]g(X,Y).$$

Now, let the vector field V be pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ , i.e; $V = \beta \xi$, where β is a non-zero smooth function on the corresponding manifold. Then taking covariant differentiation of both sides of $V = \beta \xi$, along the direction of X we get

$$\nabla_X V = X(\beta)\xi + \beta \nabla_X \xi,$$

and using $\nabla \xi = h'$ from equation (2.4) the above equation eventually becomes

(3.2)
$$\nabla_X V = X(\beta)\xi + \beta h'X.$$

On the other hand, from the definiton of Lie derivative it follows from equation (3.1) that

(3.3)
$$g(\nabla_Y \beta \xi, Z) + g(Y, \nabla_Z \beta \xi) + 2S(Y, Z) = \left[2\lambda - \left(p + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)\right]g(Y, Z),$$

for all Y, Z in TM. Then using equation (3.2) in the above equation (3.3) we get

$$g(Y\beta\xi + \beta h'Y, Z) + g(Y, Z\beta\xi + \beta h'Z) + 2S(Y, Z) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})]g(Y, Z).$$

Again using from the fact that h' is symmetric and after simplification the above equation finally becomes

(3.4)
$$Y(\beta)\eta(Z) + Z(\beta)\eta(Y) + 2\beta g(h'Y, Z) + 2S(Y, Z) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})]g(Y, Z).$$

Next, we consider a local ϕ -basis $\{e_j : 1 \le j \le 2n+1\}$ on the tangent space T_pM for each point $p \in M^{2n+1}$. Then putting $Y = Z = e_j$ in the equation (3.4) and taking summation over $1 \le j \le 2n+1$ and also using tr(h') = 0 from equation (2.3) we get

(3.5)
$$\xi(\beta) + r = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})](2n+1)$$

Again putting $Z = \xi$ in the equation (3.4) and using symmetry of h' we have

(3.6)
$$Y(\beta) + \xi(\beta)\eta(Y) + 2S(Y,\xi) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})]\eta(Y)$$

Now, combining equations (3.5) and (3.6) and after some calculations we get

$$Y(\beta) + 2S(Y,\xi) = \left[\left[\lambda - \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}\right) \right] (1-2n) + r \right] \eta(Y).$$

Thus, from the above it is easily seen that

(3.7)
$$\xi(\beta) + 2S(\xi,\xi) = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})](1-2n) + r.$$

Eliminating $\xi(\beta)$ from equations (3.5) and (3.7) and after simplification we arrive at

$$2n[\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})] - r + S(\xi,\xi) = 0.$$

Using equation (2.5) in the above equation and using the fact that for conformal Ricci soliton the scalar curvature r = -1 (see equation(1.2)) and then simplifying we get the value of the soliton constant as

(3.8)
$$\lambda = \frac{\|h\|^2 - 1}{2n} + (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}).$$

Therefore in view of the fact that the soliton is shrinking, steady or expanding according as $\lambda > 0$, $\lambda = 0$ or, $\lambda < 0$; from the above equation (3.8) we can state the following theorem

8404

Theorem 3.1. Let $(M^{2n+1}, q, \phi, \xi, \eta)$ be an almost coKähler manifold such that the metric q is a conformal Ricci soliton. If the potential vector field V be non-zero pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ , then

- (i) the soliton is shrinking if, $p > \frac{1-(2n+1)||h||^2}{(2n^2+n)}$, (ii) the soliton is steady if, $p = \frac{1-(2n+1)||h||^2}{(2n^2+n)}$, (iii) the soliton is expanding if, $p < \frac{1-(2n+1)||h||^2}{(2n^2+n)}$.

Again if we have $S = \left[\frac{\|h\|^2 - 1}{2n}\right]g$, then from equation (3.1) and using value of the soliton constant λ from (3.8) we have $\mathcal{L}_V g = 0$. Therefore we can see that $V = \beta \xi$ is a Killing vector field and hence the soliton becomes trivial. Hence we can state the following corollary.

Corollary 3.1. Let $(M^{2n+1}, g, \phi, \xi, \eta)$ be an almost coKähler manifold such that the metric q is a conformal Ricci soliton. If the potential vector field V be non-zero pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ and the Ricci tensor S be a constant multiple of the metric g, with the constant $\frac{\|h\|^2-1}{2n}$, (i.e; if $S = [\frac{\|h\|^2-1}{2n}]g$), then the soliton is trivial.

4. CONFORMAL RICCI SOLITON ON (k, μ) -Almost CoKähler Manifold

In recent years, many authors studied (k, μ) -contact metric manifolds as a generalization of Sasakian and K-contact metric manifolds. Also R. Sharma [15], and later A. Ghosh [10] proved some interesting results in the field of Ricci solitons on (k, μ) -contact metric manifolds. Let us now give the definition (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold.

Definition 4.1. An almost coKähler manifold is said to be a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold if the characteristic vector field ξ belongs to the generalised (k, μ) -nullity distribution i.e; if the Riemannian curvature tensor R satisfies

 $R(X,Y)\xi = k[\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y] + \mu[\eta(Y)hX - \eta(X)hY],$ (4.1)

for all X, Y in TM and for some smooth functions (k, μ) .

Remark 4.1. Here, in this paper, we call a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold with k < 0, a proper (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold. Proper almost coKähler manifolds with k and μ being constants were introduced by H. Endo [8] and later Dacko and Olszak [6] further studied it in generalised cases.

D. GANGULY AND A. BHATTACHARYYA

Now, putting $Y = \xi$ in (4.1) we get

$$R(X,\xi)\xi = k[X - \eta(X)\xi] + \mu[hX - \eta(X)h\xi].$$

Then using the definition of $l := R(.,\xi)\xi$ and from equation (2.3) using the fact that $h\xi = 0$, we can write

$$l = -k\phi^2 + \mu h.$$

Combining the equation (2.6) and the above equation and after brief calculations we get $h^2 = k\phi^2$. Thus, it is clear that the manifold M^{2n+1} is K-almost coKähler if and ony if, k = 0. According to Dacko and Olszak [6] a (k, μ, ν) almost coKähler manifold with k < 0 becomes a $(-1, \frac{\mu}{\sqrt{-k}})$ -almost coKähler manifold, under some *D*-homothetic deformation.

Now, we state a lemma [for proof see Lemma 4.1 of [16]] which will be used in the later theorems.

Lemma 4.1. Let $(M^{2n+1}, g, \phi, \xi, \eta)$ be a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold of dimension greater than 3 with k < 0. Then the Ricci operator is given by

$$(4.2) Q = \mu h + 2nk\eta \otimes \xi,$$

where k is a non-zero constant and μ is a smooth function satisfying $d\mu \wedge \eta = 0$.

Now let us consider the metric g of the (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold admits a conformal Ricci soliton. Then from the soliton equation (1.3) and using the definition of the Lie derivative we can write

(4.3)
$$g(\nabla_X V, Y) + g(X, \nabla_Y V) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})]g(X, Y).$$

Then, substituting $V = \xi$ in the above equation (4.3) and using the result $\nabla \xi = h'$ from (2.4) we get

$$g(h'X,Y) + g(X,h'Y) + 2S(X,Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{2n+1})]g(X,Y).$$

Again as h' is symmetric the above equation implies

(4.4)
$$g(h'X,Y) + g(QX,Y) = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]g(X,Y)$$

Now, in view of the Lemma 4.1 putting value of the Ricci operator Q, from equation (4.2), in the above equation (4.4) we get

(4.5)
$$g(h'X,Y) + g(\mu hX,Y) + 2nk\eta(X)\eta(Y) = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]g(X,Y).$$

8406

Thus putting $Y = \xi$ in the above (4.5) and using $h\phi + \phi h = 0$ from equation (2.3) we finally get

(4.6)
$$2nk = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})].$$

Now, as it is mentioned in the Lemma 4.1 that k < 0, so from the above relation (4.6) we can conclude that $[\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})] < 0$ that is; $\lambda < (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})$. Thus if $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1}) \leq 0$, i.e; if, $p \leq \frac{-2}{2n+1}$ then $\lambda < 0$ and therefore the soliton is expanding. So, in view of the above we have the following theorem.

Theorem 4.1. Let $(M^{2n+1}, g, \phi, \xi, \eta)$ be a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold of dimension greater than 3 with k < 0 and the metric g admits a conformal Ricci soliton. Then the soliton is expanding if the conformal pressure p satisfy the inequality $p \leq \frac{-2}{2n+1}$.

5. Conformal gradient Ricci soliton on (k, μ) -Almost CoKähler Manifold

This section is devoted to the study of conformal gradient Ricci soliton on (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold. So, let us first give the statement of our main theorem of this section.

Theorem 5.1. Let $(M^{2n+1}, g, \phi, \xi, \eta)$ be a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold of dimension greater than 3 with k < 0. Then there exist no conformal gradient Ricci soliton on the manifold, with the potential vector field V pointwise collinear with the Reeb vector field ξ .

Proof. We prove this theorem by the method of contradiction. So, let us assume that the manifold admits a conformal gradient Ricci soliton. Then from equation (1.4) we have

$$S + \nabla \nabla f = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]g.$$

Now as the soliton is gradient, i.e; V = Df for some smooth function f and here D is the gradient operator. Thus for any vector field $X \in TM$, the above equation is equivalent to

(5.1)
$$\nabla_X Df + QX = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]X.$$

D. GANGULY AND A. BHATTACHARYYA

Replacing X by Y in the above (5.1) we get

(5.2)
$$\nabla_Y Df + QY = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]Y.$$

Similarly replacing *X* by [X, Y] in the equation (5.1) we get

(5.3)
$$\nabla_{[X,Y]}Df + Q[X,Y] = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})][X,Y].$$

Now from the well-known formula for Riemannian curvature, using (2.7) we can write

(5.4)
$$R(X,Y)Df = \nabla_X \nabla_Y Df - \nabla_Y \nabla_X Df - \nabla_{[X,Y]} Df.$$

Using equations (5.1), (5.2) and (5.3) in the equation (5.4) and after some simple calculations we get

(5.5)
$$R(X,Y)Df = (\nabla_Y Q)X - (\nabla_X Q)Y.$$

Again for any vector fields X, Y in TM, using equation (4.2) of Lemma 4.1 we obtain

(5.6)
$$(\nabla_Y Q)X - (\nabla_X Q)Y = \mu((\nabla_Y h)X - (\nabla_X h)Y) + 2nk(\eta(X)h'Y - \eta(Y)h'X) + Y(\mu)hX - X(\mu)hY.$$

Now we shall use an equation from Proposition-9 of the paper [14]. The result is, for any vector fields X, Y in TM,

(5.7)
$$(\nabla_X h)Y - (\nabla_Y h)X = k(\eta(Y)\phi X - \eta(X)\phi Y + 2g(\phi X, Y)\xi) + \mu(\eta(X)h'Y - \eta(Y)h'X)$$

Then using (5.6) in (5.5) and then using (5.7), a simple computation gives that

(5.8)
$$R(X,Y)Df = k\mu(\eta(X)\phi Y - \eta(Y)\phi X + 2g(X,\phi Y)\xi) + Y(\mu)hX - X(\mu)hY - \mu^2(\eta(X)h'Y - \eta(Y)h'X) + 2nk(\eta(X)h'Y - \eta(Y)h'X),$$

for any vector fields X, Y in TM. Putting $X = \xi$ in the above equation (5.8) we get

$$R(\xi, Y)Df = k\mu(\phi Y) - \xi(\mu)hY - \mu^{2}(h'Y) + 2nk(h'Y).$$

Replacing Y by X in the above equation and then taking inner product with respect to arbitrary vector Y gives us

(5.9)
$$g(R(\xi, X)Df, Y) = k\mu g(\phi X, Y) - \xi(\mu)g(hX, Y) - \mu^2 g(h'X, Y) + 2nkg(h'X, Y).$$

8408

Again for a (k, μ) -almost coKähler manifold, using equation (4.1) we can write

$$R(\xi, X)Y = k[g(X, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X] + \mu[g(hX, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)hX].$$

Taking inner-product of the equation with respect to the vector field Df and using the fact that g(X, Df) = (Xf) we get

(5.10)
$$g(R(\xi, X)Y, Df) = k[g(X, Y)(\xi f) - \eta(Y)(Xf)] + \mu[g(hX, Y)(\xi f) - \eta(Y)((hX)f)].$$

Now combining (5.9) and (5.10) and applying the property g(R(X, Y)Z, U) = -g(R(X, Y)U, Z), for any vector fields X, Y, Z, U in TM, yields

(5.11)
$$k\mu g(\phi X, Y) - \xi(\mu)g(hX, Y) - \mu^2 g(h'X, Y) + 2nkg(h'X, Y) = - kg(X, Y)(\xi f) + k\eta(Y)(Xf) - \mu g(hX, Y)(\xi f) + \mu \eta(Y)((hX)f).$$

Antisymmetrizing the above equation we get

(5.12)
$$k\mu[g(\phi X, Y) - g(X, \phi Y)] = k[\eta(Y)(Xf) - \eta(X)(Yf)] + \mu[\eta(Y)((hX)f)] - \eta(X)((hY)f).$$

Now as per our assumption $V = b\xi$, it is easy to see that h'(Df) = 0. This again implies, (h'X)f = g(h'X, Df) = g(X, h'(Df)) = 0. Similarly (h'Y)f = 0. Thus

(5.13)
$$(h(\phi X))f = 0, \ (h(\phi Y))f = 0.$$

Using antisymmetry of ϕ and then putting $X = \phi X$ in equation (5.11) and using (5.12) we get

(5.14)
$$-2\mu g(X,Y) + \mu \eta(X)\eta(Y) = \eta(Y)((\phi X)f).$$

Putting $Y = \xi$ in the above (5.13) yields

(5.15)
$$-\mu g(X,\xi) = g(\phi X, Df)$$

Then again using $X = \phi X$ in the above equation (5.14) we get $g(X, Df) = g(X, \xi(\xi f))$. This gives us

$$(5.16) Df = (\xi f)\xi.$$

Covariant differentiation of the equation (5.15) along the direction of X we get

(5.17)
$$\nabla_X Df = (X(\xi f))\xi + (\xi f)(h'X).$$

Again from the equation (5.1) we have

(5.18)
$$\nabla_X Df = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]X - QX.$$

Thus combining equations (5.16) and (5.17) we get

(5.19)
$$QX = [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]X - (X(\xi f))\xi - (\xi f)(h'X).$$

Again, the value of Q from Lemma 4.1 gives us

$$QX = \mu hX + 2nk\eta(X)\xi.$$

Now, compairing right hand sides of (5.18) and (5.19) we get $(X(\xi f)) = -2nk\eta(X)$ i.e; $D(\xi f) = -2nk\xi$ or equivalently, $d^2f = -2nk$, where *d* is the exterior derivative of *f*. Again from the well-known Poincare lemma of exterior differentiation we know that, $d^2 = 0$ and this implies, -2nk = 0, which is a contradiction to our assumtion that k < 0. This completes the proof.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The first author D. Ganguly is thankful to the National Board for Higher Mathematics (NBHM), India, for their financial support (Ref No: 0203/11/2017/RD-II/10440) to carry on this research work.

REFERENCES

- [1] D.E. BLAIR: *Riemannian Geometry of Contact and Symplectic Manifolds*, 2nd ed., Birkhauser, 2010.
- [2] N. BASU, A. BHATTACHARYYA: Conformal Ricci soliton in Kenmotsu manifold, Global J. of Adv. Res. on Classical and Modern Geometries., **4**(1) (2015), 15–21.
- [3] H.D. CAO, B. CHOW: Recent developments on the Ricci flow, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 36 (1999), 59–74.
- [4] B. CAPPELLETTI, A.D. NICOLA, I. YUDIN: A Survey on Cosymplectic Geometry, Rev. Math. Phys, **25**(10) (2013), 134–143.
- [5] D. CHINEA, M. DE LYON, J.C. MARRERO: Topology of Cosymplectic Manifolds, J. Math. Pures Appl., 72(6) (1993), 567–591.
- [6] P. DACKO, Z. OLSZAK: On Almost Cosymplectic (k, μ, ν) -Space, Banach Center Publ., 69 (2005), 211–220.

8410

- [7] T. DUTTA, N. BASU, A. BHATTACHARYYA: Conformal Ricci Soliton in Lorentzian α-Sasakian Manifolds, Acta. Univ. Palac. Olomuc. Fac. Rerum Natur. Math., 55(2) (2016), 57–70.
- [8] H. ENDO: Non-existence of almost cosymplectic manifolds satisfying a certain condition, Tensor(N.S), **63**(3) (2002), 272–284.
- [9] A.E. FISHER: *An Introduction to Conformal Ricci flow*, Classical and Quantum Gravity), **21**(3) (2004), 171–218.
- [10] A. GHOSH: Ricci Solitons and Contact Metric Manifolds, Glassgow Math. J., 55(1) (2013), 123–130.
- [11] R.S. HAMILTON: *Three manifolds with positive Ricci curvature*, Journal of Differential Geometry, **17** (1982), 255–306.
- [12] R.S. HAMILTON: *The Ricci flow on surfaces*, Mathematical and General Relativity, Contemporary Mathematics, American mathematical Society, **71** (1988), 237–262.
- [13] Z. OLSZAK: On Almost Cosymplectic Manifolds, Kodai math. j., 4(2) (1981), 239–250.
- [14] H. OZTÜRK, N. AKTAN, C. MURUTHAN: Almost α -cosymplectic (k, μ, ν) -spaces, Glassgow Math. J., arXiv:1007.0527v1(2010), (e-prints).
- [15] R. SHARMA: Certain Results on K-contact and (k, μ) -contact Manifolds, J. Geom., 89(1) (2008), 138–147.
- [16] Y. WANG: A Generalization of the Goldberg Conjecture for CoKähler Manifolds, Mediterr. J. Math., 13(1) (2016), 2679–2690.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS JADAVPUR UNIVERSITY 188, RAJA S. C. MALLICK RD, JADAVPUR, KOLKATA-700032, INDIA. *Email address*: dipenganguly1@gmail.com

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS JADAVPUR UNIVERSITY 188, RAJA S. C. MALLICK RD, JADAVPUR, KOLKATA-700032, INDIA. *Email address*: bhattachar1968@yahoo.co.in

A study on conformal Ricci solitons in the framework of $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds

Dipen Ganguly ¹ and Arindam Bhattacharyya²

Department of Mathematics Jadavpur University, Kolkata-700032, India. e-mail: ¹dipenganguly1@qmail.com; ²bhattachar1968@yahoo.co.in

Abstract

The main aim of this paper is to study Lorentzian concircular structure manifolds (briefly, $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds) admitting the conformal Ricci soliton and to characterize when the soliton is shrinking, steady or expanding. Next we establish some results on the $(LCS)_n$ -manifold whose metric is a conformal Ricci soliton. Finally some interesting results have been obtained by applying certain curvature conditions on $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds admitting conformal Ricci solitons.

Subject Classification: 53C15, 53C25, 53D10. Keywords: Ricci soliton, Conformal Ricci soliton, $(LCS)_n$ -manifold, pseudoprojective curvature tensor, concircular curvature tensor.

1 Introduction

In 1982, R.S. Hamilton [7] introduced the Ricci soliton as a self similar solution to the Ricci flow equation given by: $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(g(t)) = -2Ric(g(t))$, where g(t) is an one parameter family of metrics on the manifold.

A Riemannian metric g defined on a smooth manifold M, of dimension n, is said to be a Ricci soliton if for some constant λ , there exists a smooth vector field V on M satisfying the equation

(1.1)
$$Ric + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}_V g = \lambda g,$$

where \mathcal{L}_V denotes the Lie derivative in the direction of V and *Ric* is the Ricci tensor. The Ricci soliton is called shrinking if $\lambda > 0$, steady if $\lambda = 0$ and expanding if $\lambda < 0$. Ricci solitons can also be viewed as natural generalizations of Einstein metrics which moves only by an one-parameter group of diffeomorphisms and scaling [8]. After Hamilton's work many authors have studied Ricci flow and a rigorous literature on this topic can be found in [4, 17].

A.E. Fischer [6] in 2005, introduced conformal Ricci flow equation which is a modified version of the Hamilton's Ricci flow equation that modifies the volume constraint of that equation to a scalar curvature constraint. The conformal Ricci

flow equations on a smooth closed connected oriented manifold M, of dimension n, are given by

(1.2)
$$\frac{\partial g}{\partial t} + 2(Ric + \frac{g}{n}) = -pg,$$
$$r(g) = -1,$$

where p is a non-dynamical (time dependent) scalar field and r(g) is the scalar curvature of the manifold. The term -pg acts as the constraint force to maintain the scalar curvature constraint. Thus these evolution equations are analogous to famous Navier-Stokes equations in fluid mechanics where the constraint is divergence free. That is why sometimes p is also called the conformal pressure.

Recently, in 2015, N.Basu et.al. [3] introduced the concept of conformal Ricci soliton as a generalization of the classical Ricci soliton.

Definition 1. A Riemannian metric g on a smooth manifold M, of dimension n, is called a conformal Ricci soliton if there exists a constant λ and a vector field V such that

(1.3)
$$\mathcal{L}_V g + 2S = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g,$$

where S = Ric is the Ricci tensor, λ is a constant and p is the conformal pressure.

It can be easily checked that the above soliton equation satisfies the conformal Ricci flow equation (1.2). Later, T. Dutta et.al. [5] studied the conformal Ricci soliton in the framework of Lorentzian α -Sasakian manifolds.

A.A. Shaikh [14] in 2003, introduced the study of Lorentzian concircular structure manifolds (or, briefly, $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds) which generalizes the notion of LP-Sasakian manifolds introduced by Matsumoto [10]. After that, a lot of study has been carried out on $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds and on locally ϕ -symmetric $(LCS)_n$ manifolds [16]. Moreover, in 2005, A.A. Shaikh et.al. [15] have shown the applications of $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds to the general theory of relativity and cosmology.

Motivated by the above studies, here we study conformal Ricci soliton in the framework of $(LCS)_n$ -manifold. We find conditions to determine the nature of the soliton for different cases. The paper is organised as follows: After introduction, we discuss some preliminary concepts of $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds, in section-2. Then in section-3, we study $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds admitting the conformal Ricci soliton and we calculate the value of the soliton constant λ and hence we find the condition for the soliton to be shrinking, steady or expanding. After that, we prove that, if a $(LCS)_n$ -manifold admits conformal Ricci soliton then it is ξ -projectively flat. In this section we also find conditions for a $(LCS)_n$ -manifold admitting conformal Ricci soliton to be ξ -conharmonically flat and ξ -concircularly flat. Finally, in section-4 and section-5 we obtain some interesting results on conformal Ricci soliton on $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds satisfying curvature conditions $R(\xi, X) \cdot \tilde{P} = 0$ and $R(\xi, X) \cdot \tilde{M} = 0$; where R is the Riemann curvature tensor, \tilde{P} is the pseudo-projective curvature tensor and \tilde{M} is the M-projective curvature tensor.

2 Brief overview of $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds

A smooth connected paracompact Hausdorff n dimensional manifold (M, g) is said to be a Lorentzian manifold if the metric g is Lorentzian metric, i.e; M admits a smooth symmetric tensor field g of type (0, 2) such that for each point $p \in M$, the tensor $g_p : T_pM \times T_pM \to \mathbb{R}$ is a non-degenerate inner product of signature (-, +, +, ..., +), where T_pM denotes the tangent space of the manifold M at point pand \mathbb{R} is the real line. A non-zero vector $v \in T_pM$ is said to be timelike(respectively; non-spacelike, null, spacelike) if it satisfies $g_p(v, v) < 0$ (respectively; $\leq 0, = 0, > 0$) [11].

Next, we give the definition of a concircular vector field in a Lorentzian manifold, which is essential for the study of $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds.

Definition 2. Let (M,g) be a Lorentzian manifold and P is a vector field in M defined by g(U,P) = B(U), for any vector field U in M. Then the vector field P is said to be a concircular vector field if

$$(\nabla_U B)(Y) = \alpha[g(U, Y) + \omega(U)B(Y)],$$

where α is a non-zero scalar and ω is closed 1-form and ∇ denotes the covariant differentiation operator of the manifold M with respect to the Lorentzian metric g.

Let (M, g) be a Lorentzian manifold of dimension n and let M admits a unit timelike concircular vector field ξ satisfying $g(\xi, \xi) = -1$. The vector field ξ is called the characteristic vector field of the manifold (M, g). Then ξ being unit concircular vector field, there exists a non-zero 1-form η such that

(2.1)
$$g(X,\xi) = \eta(X)$$
 and $(\nabla_X \eta)(Y) = \alpha[g(X,Y) + \eta(X)\eta(Y)], \quad \alpha \neq 0.$

Also the non-zero scalar α satisfies the equation

(2.2)
$$(\nabla_X \alpha) = (X\alpha) = d\alpha(X) = \rho \eta(X),$$

where ρ is a scalar function given by $\rho = -(\xi \alpha)$ and ∇ denotes the covariant differentiation operator of the manifold M with respect to the Lorentzian metric g. Now we consider a (1, 1) tensor field ϕ given by, $\phi X = \frac{1}{\alpha} \nabla_X \xi$. Therefore it is to be noted that the tensor field ϕ also satisfies $\phi X = X + \eta(X)\xi$ and this implies that ϕ is a symmetric (1, 1) tensor field, called the structure tensor of the manifold.

So now, we are in a position to define $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds, introduced by A.A. Shaikh [14] to generalize the notion of LP-Sasakian manifolds of Matsumoto [10].

Definition 3. Let (M, g) be an n-dimensional Lorentzian manifold. Then the manifold (M, g) together with the unit timelike concircular vector field ξ , associated 1-form η an (1,1) tensor field ϕ and the non-zero scalar function α is said to be a Lorentzian concircular structure manifold $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ (briefly, $(LCS)_n$ -manifold) [14].

It is to be noted that, if we consider the scalar function $\alpha = 1$, then we can obtain the LP-Sasakian structure introduced by Matsumoto [10]. So, in that sense $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds are a generalization of LP-Sasakian manifolds. Furthermore, in a $(LCS)_n$ -manifold (n > 2), the following relations hold [14, 15, 16]:

(2.3)
$$\phi^2 X = X + \eta(X)\xi$$
, $\eta(\xi) = -1$,

(2.4)
$$\phi(\xi) = 0 , \quad \eta \circ \phi = 0,$$

(2.5)
$$g(\phi X, \phi Y) = g(X, Y) + \eta(X)\eta(Y)$$

(2.6)
$$R(X,Y)\xi = (\alpha^2 - \rho)[\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y],$$

(2.7)
$$R(\xi, X)Y = (\alpha^2 - \rho)[g(X, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X]$$

(2.8)
$$\eta(R(X,Y)Z) = (\alpha^2 - \rho)[g(Y,Z)\eta(X) - g(X,Z)\eta(Y)],$$

(2.9)
$$S(X,\xi) = (n-1)(\alpha^2 - \rho)\eta(X),$$

for all vector fields X, Y, Z in TM, where TM is tangent bundle of M. Here R is the Riemannian curvature tensor of the manifold M defined by

$$R(X,Y)Z = \nabla_X \nabla_Y Z - \nabla_Y \nabla_X Z - \nabla_{[X,Y]} Z$$

and S is the Ricci tensor defined by S(X,Y) = g(QX,Y), where Q is the Ricci operator.

Next, we discuss an illustrative example of an $(LCS)_n$ -manifold of dimension n = 3 as follows:

Example: Let us consider the manifold $M = \{(u, v, w) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : u \neq 0\}$, where $\{u, v, w\}$ are usual Euclidean coordinates in \mathbb{R}^3 . Now we choose a set $\{E_i : 1 \leq i \leq 3\}$ of linearly independent vector fields on the manifold M as follows,

$$E_1 = u \frac{\partial}{\partial u}, \quad E_2 = u \frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \quad E_3 = u \frac{\partial}{\partial w}.$$

Define the Lorentzian metric g on M as,

$$g(E_1, E_1) = -1, \quad g(E_2, E_2) = g(E_3, E_3) = 1; \quad g(E_i, E_j) = 0, \forall i \neq j.$$

Now if we choose $\xi = E_1$ and define a 1-form η on M by, $\eta(X) = g(X, E_1)$, $\forall X \in TM$, where TM is the tangent bundle of M, then it is easy to see that $\eta(\xi) = -1$.

Next let us define a (1, 1) tensor field ϕ on M as,

$$\phi(E_1) = 0, \quad \phi(E_2) = E_3, \quad \phi(E_3) = E_2.$$

Again as g and ϕ are both linear maps, for all $X, Y \in TM$, from the above one can easily check that,

$$\phi^2(X) = X + \eta(X)\xi,$$

$$g(\phi X, \phi Y) = g(X, Y) + \eta(X)\eta(Y).$$

Now, it is well known that the connection ∇ of the metric g is given by the Koszul's formula,

$$2g(\nabla_X Y, Z) = \nabla_X g(Y, Z) + \nabla_Y g(X, Z) - \nabla_Z g(X, Y) -g(X, [Y, Z]) - g(Y, [X, Z]) + g(Z, [X, Y]),$$

for all $X, Y, Z \in TM$ and the Lie bracket operation [X, Y] is given by $[X, Y] = \nabla_X Y - \nabla_Y X$. Then one can easily calculate $[E_1, E_2] = E_2$, $[E_2, E_3] = 0$, $[E_1, E_3] = E_3$. Again using the above Koszul's formula and after a straightforward calculation we get,

$$\nabla_{E_1} E_1 = 0, \quad \nabla_{E_1} E_2 = 0, \quad \nabla_{E_1} E_3 = 0,$$

$$\nabla_{E_2} E_1 = -E_2, \quad \nabla_{E_2} E_2 = -E_1, \quad \nabla_{E_2} E_3 = 0,$$

$$\nabla_{E_3} E_1 = -E_3, \quad \nabla_{E_3} E_2 = 0, \quad \nabla_{E_3} E_3 = -E_1.$$

Thus from the above we can easily verify that for $\alpha = -1$, the relation $\phi X = \frac{1}{\alpha} \nabla_X \xi$ holds for all $X \in TM$. Hence we can conclude that $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ is an $(LCS)_n$ -manifold of dimension n = 3.

3 Conformal Ricci soliton on $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds

Let us consider $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ be an *n*-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold. Again we know that, for all vector fields X, Y in TM, the 1-form η satisfies the equation

(3.1)
$$(\nabla_X \eta)(Y) = \nabla_X \eta(Y) - \eta(\nabla_X Y).$$

Using the equation (2.1) in the above equation (3.1), after a simple calculation, we get

(3.2)
$$(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) = 2\alpha[g(X,Y) + \eta(X)\eta(Y)].$$

Now applying the conformal Ricci soliton equation (1.3) in the above equation (3.2) we have

(3.3)
$$S(X,Y) = [(\lambda - \alpha) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]g(X,Y) - \alpha \eta(X)\eta(Y).$$

Let us take $\sigma = [(\lambda - \alpha) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]$. Then we can rewrite the above equation (3.3) as

(3.4)
$$S(X,Y) = \sigma g(X,Y) - \alpha \eta(X) \eta(Y).$$

which shows that the manifold is an η -Einstein manifold.

Now since the above is true for all vector fields X and Y, using the relation S(X,Y) = g(QX,Y) in the above equation (3.4) we have

(3.5)
$$QX = \sigma X - \alpha \eta(X)\xi.$$

Again taking $Y = \xi$ in the equation (3.4) we get

(3.6)
$$S(X,\xi) = (\sigma + \alpha)\eta(X).$$

Let us consider an orthonormal basis $\{e_i : 1 \leq i \leq n\}$ of the manifold (M, g). Then putting $X = Y = e_i$ in the equation (3.4) and summing over $1 \leq i \leq n$, we have $r(g) = n\sigma + \alpha$. But we know that for conformal Ricci flow, r(g) = -1, which leads us to get $\sigma = -(\frac{\alpha+1}{n})$. Again we have $\sigma = [(\lambda - \alpha) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]$, using this in the previous result we get

(3.7)
$$\lambda = \frac{p}{2} + (1 - \frac{1}{n})\alpha.$$

So, from the above discussions, using equations (3.4) and (3.7), we can state the following theorem

Theorem 1. Let $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ be an n-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold admitting a conformal Ricci soliton. Then

- a) The manifold becomes an η -Einstein manifold.
- b) The value of the soliton scalar λ is equal to $\lambda = \frac{p}{2} + (1 \frac{1}{n})\alpha$.

c) The soliton is shrinking, steady or expanding according as the conformal pressure $p < 2(\frac{1-n}{n})\alpha$, $p = 2(\frac{1-n}{n})\alpha$ or $p > 2(\frac{1-n}{n})\alpha$.

Next, we discuss about the projective curvature tensor which plays an important role in the study of differential geometry. The projective curvature has an one-toone correspondence between each coordinate neighbourhood of an *n*-dimensional Riemannian manifold and a domain of Euclidean space such that there is an one-toone correspondence between geodesics of the Riemannian manifold with the straight lines in the Euclidean space. The projective curvature tensor in an *n*-dimensional Riemannian manifold (M, g) is defined by [19]

(3.8)
$$P(X,Y)Z = R(X,Y)Z - \frac{1}{(n-1)}[g(QY,Z)X - g(QX,Z)Y],$$

for any vector fields $X, Y, Z \in \chi(M), \chi(M)$ being the Lie algebra of vector fields of the manifold M, R is the Riemannian curvature tensor of M and Q is the Ricci operator.

The manifold (M, g) is called ξ -projectively flat if $P(X, Y)\xi = 0$ for any vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$ and ξ is the characteristic vector field of the manifold. Now for an $(LCS)_n$ -manifold of dimension n, putting $Z = \xi$ in (3.8) we get

$$P(X,Y)\xi = R(X,Y)\xi - \frac{1}{(n-1)}[S(Y,\xi)X - S(X,\xi)Y].$$

Using (2.6) and (3.6) the above equation becomes

(3.9)
$$P(X,Y)\xi = [(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{\sigma + \alpha}{(n-1)}][\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y].$$

Again combining equations (2.9) and (3.6) we have

(3.10)
$$[(\alpha^2 - \rho)(n-1) - \sigma - \alpha]\eta(X) = 0,$$

which essentially gives us

(3.11)
$$[(\alpha^2 - \rho)(n-1)] = (\sigma + \alpha).$$

Now in view of (3.11), the equation (3.9) yields us $P(X, Y)\xi = 0$ for any vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$. Thus we have the following

Theorem 2. If $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ is an n-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold admitting a conformal Ricci soliton, then the manifold becomes ξ -projectively flat, ξ being the characteristic vector field of the manifold.

A transformation of a Riemannian manifold of dimension n, which transforms every geodesic circle of the manifold M into a geodesic circle, is called a concircular transformation [18]. Here a geodesic circle is a curve in M whose first curvature is constant and second curvature (that is, torsion) is identically equal to zero. The concircular curvature tensor in a Riemannian manifold (M, g) of dimension n is defined by [13, 18]

(3.12)
$$C(X,Y)Z = R(X,Y)Z - \frac{r}{n(n-1)}[g(Y,Z)X - g(X,Z)Y],$$

for any vector fields $X, Y, Z \in \chi(M), \chi(M)$ being the Lie algebra of vector fields of the manifold M and r is the scalar curvature of M.

The manifold (M, g) is called ξ -concircularly flat if $C(X, Y)\xi = 0$ for any vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$ and ξ is the characteristic vector field of the manifold. Now for an $(LCS)_n$ -manifold of dimension n, putting $Z = \xi$ in (3.12) we get

$$C(X,Y)\xi = R(X,Y)\xi - \frac{r}{n(n-1)}[\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y].$$

Using (2.6) the above equation becomes

(3.13)
$$C(X,Y)\xi = [(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{r}{n(n-1)}][\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y].$$

Again in view of equation (3.11), the above equation (3.13) becomes

(3.14)
$$C(X,Y)\xi = \left[\frac{(\sigma+\alpha)}{(n-1)} - \frac{r}{n(n-1)}\right] [\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y].$$

Now in view of equation (3.14), we can say that $C(X,Y)\xi = 0$ iff $r = n(\sigma + \alpha)$. Again using the fact that for conformal Ricci flow r = -1 and using $\sigma = [(\lambda - \alpha) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]$ we eventually get $C(X,Y)\xi = 0$ iff $\lambda = \frac{p}{2}$. This leads to the following theorem **Theorem 3.** If $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ is an n-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold admitting a conformal Ricci soliton, then the manifold becomes ξ -concircularly flat iff $\lambda = \frac{p}{2}, \xi$ being the characteristic vector field of the manifold and p is the conformal pressure.

The conharmonic curvature tensor plays an important role in the study of manifolds. The conharmonic curvature tensor of an *n*-dimensional Riemannian manifold (M, g) is defined as [9] (3.15)

$$H(X,Y)Z = R(X,Y)Z - \frac{1}{n-2}[g(Y,Z)QX - g(X,Z)QY + S(Y,Z)X - S(X,Z)Y]$$

for any vector fields $X, Y, Z \in \chi(M), \chi(M)$ being the Lie algebra of vector fields of the manifold M, R is the Riemannian curvature tensor of M, S is the Ricci tensor and Q is the Ricci operator.

The manifold (M, g) is called ξ -conharmonically flat if $H(X, Y)\xi = 0$ for any vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$ and ξ is the characteristic vector field of the manifold. Now for an $(LCS)_n$ -manifold of dimension n, putting $Z = \xi$ in (3.15) we have

$$H(X,Y)\xi = R(X,Y)\xi - \frac{1}{(n-2)}[\eta(Y)QX - \eta(X)QY + S(Y,\xi)X - S(X,\xi)Y].$$

Using (2.6), (3.5) and (3.6) the above equation yields

(3.16)
$$H(X,Y)\xi = [(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{(2\sigma + \alpha)}{(n-2)}][\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y].$$

Again in view of equation (3.11), the above equation (3.16) becomes

(3.17)
$$H(X,Y)\xi = \left[\frac{(-n\sigma - \alpha)}{(n-1)(n-2)}\right] [\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y].$$

Thus from the above (3.17) we can conclude that $H(X, Y)\xi = 0$ iff $n\sigma = -\alpha$. Moreover, using the value $\sigma = [(\lambda - \alpha) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]$ and after few steps of calculations we have $H(X, Y)\xi = 0$ iff $\lambda = \frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n} + (1 - \frac{1}{n})\alpha$. Thus we can state the following:

Theorem 4. If $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ is an n-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold admitting a conformal Ricci soliton, then the manifold becomes ξ -conharmonically flat iff $\lambda = \frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n} + (1 - \frac{1}{n})\alpha$, ξ being the characteristic vector field of the manifold and p is the conformal pressure.

Next, let us consider a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) on an *n*-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold M as

(3.18)
$$\mathcal{L}_V g(X,Y) + 2S(X,Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X,Y),$$

where $\mathcal{L}_V g$ denotes the Lie derivative of the Lorentzian metric g in the direction of the vector field V. This vector field V is also called the potential vector field. Now assume that the vector field V be pointwise collinear with the characteristic
vector field ξ , that is, $V = b\xi$, where b is a smooth function on the manifold M. Then for any vector fields $X, Y \in \chi(M)$, the equation (3.18) implies

(3.19)
$$\mathcal{L}_{b\xi}g(X,Y) + 2S(X,Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X,Y).$$

Again from the property of the Lie derivative of the Levi-Civita connection we know that $\mathcal{L}_Z g(X,Y) = g(\nabla_X Z,Y) + g(\nabla_Y Z,X)$. Applying this formula in the above equation (3.19) and then using $\phi X = \frac{1}{\alpha} \nabla_X \xi$ we get (3.20)

$$b\alpha g(\phi X, Y) + (Xb)\eta(Y) + b\alpha g(\phi Y, X) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X, Y) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + (Y$$

Putting $Y = \xi$ in (3.20) and using the equations (2.4) we obtain

(3.21)
$$2S(X,\xi) - (Xb) + (\xi b)\eta(X) = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]\eta(X).$$

Using equation (3.6) in the above (3.21) and then putting the value $\sigma = [(\lambda - \alpha) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]$ gives us

$$(3.22) (Xb) = (\xi b)\eta X$$

Again putting $X = \xi$ in the equation (3.21) we have

(3.23)
$$S(\xi,\xi) - (\xi b) + [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})] = 0.$$

Now, in view of equation (3.6) and $\sigma = [(\lambda - \alpha) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]$, the above equation (3.23) yields $(\xi b) = 0$. Furthermore, using $(\xi b) = 0$ in equation (3.22) we can conclude that (Xb)=0, for any vector field $X \in \chi(M)$. And this implies that the function b is constant and hence V is a constant multiple of ξ . Therefore we have the following theorem

Theorem 5. Let $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ be an n-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold which admits a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ) , V being the potential vector field of the manifold. If the potential vector field V is pointwise collinear with the characteristic vector field ξ , i.e; if $V = b\xi$, then b is constant, i.e; V becomes constant multiple of ξ .

Next, we study an important curvature property called ξ -Ricci semi symmetry.

Let $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ be an *n*-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold. Then we say that the manifold M is ξ -Ricci semi symmetric if $R(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$ in M, where ξ is the characteristic vector field, R is the Riemannian curvature tensor, S is the Ricci tensor.

Let us start with the known formula that for any vector fields X, Y, Z on M,

(3.24)
$$R(\xi, X) \cdot S = S(R(\xi, X)Y, Z) + S(Y, R(\xi, X)Z).$$

0

Now, using (2.7) the above equation (3.24) yields

$$R(\xi, X) \cdot S = (\alpha^2 - \rho)[g(X, Y)S(\xi, Z) - \eta(Y)S(X, Z) + S(Y, \xi)g(X, Z) - \eta(Z)S(Y, X)].$$

Using (2.9) in the above equation and after few steps we get

(3.25)
$$R(\xi, X) \cdot S = \alpha(\alpha^2 - \rho)[g(X, Y)\eta(Z) + g(X, Z)\eta(Y) + 2\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z)].$$

Now note that $(\alpha^2 - \rho) = 0$ implies $\lambda = \frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}$, which is the trivial case. Thus for non-triviality we assume $(\alpha^2 - \rho) \neq 0$. Again as α is a non-zero scalar, from (3.25) we can state the following:

Theorem 6. If $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ is an n-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold admitting a conformal Ricci soliton, then the manifold becomes ξ -Ricci semi symmetric, i.e; $R(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$ iff the Lorentzian metric g satisfies the relation

$$g(X,Y)\eta(Z) + g(X,Z)\eta(Y) + 2\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z) = 0$$

for any vector fields X, Y, Z on M, ξ being the characteristic vector field, R is the Riemannian curvature tensor and S is the Ricci tensor.

4 Conformal Ricci soliton on $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds satisfying certain curvature conditions

First let (M, g) be an *n*-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold. Then from equation (3.15) the conharmonic curvature tensor on M is given by (4.1)

$$H(X,Y)Z = R(X,Y)Z - \frac{1}{n-2}[g(Y,Z)QX - g(X,Z)QY + S(Y,Z)X - S(X,Z)Y].$$

Interchanging Z and X and the putting $Z = \xi$, we can rewrite the above equation (4.1) as

$$H(\xi, X)Y = R(\xi, X)Y - \frac{1}{n-2}[S(X, Y)\xi - S(\xi, Y)X + g(X, Y)Q\xi - g(\xi, Y)QX].$$

Using (2.7), (3.4), (3.5) and (3.6) in the above we get

(4.2)
$$H(\xi, X)Y = [(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{(2\sigma + \alpha)}{(n-2)}][g(X,Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X].$$

Also from (4.2) we can write

(4.3)
$$\eta(H(\xi, X)Y) = -[(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{(2\sigma + \alpha)}{(n-2)}][g(X, Y) + \eta(X)\eta(Y)].$$

Now we assume that $H(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$ holds. Then we have

(4.4)
$$S(H(\xi, X)Y, Z) + S(Y, H(\xi, X)Z) = 0.$$

In view of (3.4) the above (4.4) yields

$$\sigma[g(H(\xi, X)Y, Z) + g(Y, H(\xi, X)Z)] - \alpha[\eta(H(\xi, X)Z)\eta(Y) + \eta(H(\xi, X)Y)\eta(Z)] = 0.$$

Using (4.2) and (4.3) in the above equation we get

(4.5)
$$\alpha[(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{(2\sigma + \alpha)}{(n-2)}][g(X,Y)\eta(Z) + g(X,Z)\eta(Y) + 2\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z)] = 0.$$

Finally taking $Z = \xi$ in equation (4.5) and then using (2.5) we arrive at

(4.6)
$$\alpha[(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{(2\sigma + \alpha)}{(n-2)}]g(\phi X, \phi Y) = 0.$$

Since α is non-zero and $g(\phi X, \phi Y) \neq 0$ always; then $[(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{(2\sigma + \alpha)}{(n-2)}] = 0$ i.e; $\lambda = \frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n} + (1 - \frac{1}{n})\alpha$. Therefore we can state the following theorem:

Theorem 7. If $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ is an n-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold which admits a conformal Ricci soliton, and satisfies the condition $H(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$ i.e; the manifold is ξ -Ricci conharomnically symmetric. Then the soliton constant is given by $\lambda = \frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n} + (1 - \frac{1}{n})\alpha$; where H is the conharmonic curvature tensor and S is the Ricci tensor of the manifold and ξ is the characteristic vector field.

Next we study another important curvature tensor called \tilde{M} -projective curvature tensor. The \tilde{M} -projective curvature tensor on an $(LCS)_n$ -manifold is defined by [1] (4.7)

$$\tilde{M}(X,Y)Z = R(X,Y)Z - \frac{1}{2(n-1)}[S(Y,Z)X - S(X,Z)Y + g(Y,Z)QX - g(X,Z)QY]$$

Taking inner product with respect to the vector field ξ , the above (4.6) yields

(4.8)
$$\eta(\tilde{M}(X,Y)Z) = \eta(R(X,Y)Z) - \frac{1}{2(n-1)}[S(Y,Z)\eta(X) - S(X,Z)\eta(Y) + g(Y,Z)\eta(QX) - g(X,Z)\eta(QY)].$$

Using (2.8), (3.4) and (3.5) in the above equation we get

(4.9)
$$\eta(\tilde{M}(X,Y)Z) = [(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{(2\sigma + \alpha)}{2(n-1)}][g(Y,Z)\eta(X) - g(X,Z)\eta(Y)].$$

Now we assume the condition that $R(\xi, X) \cdot \tilde{M} = 0$. Then we have

(4.10)
$$R(\xi, X)\tilde{M}(Y, Z)W - \tilde{M}(R(\xi, X)Y, Z)W - \tilde{M}(Y, R(\xi, X)Z)W - \tilde{M}(Y, Z)R(\xi, X)W = 0.$$

Using (2.7) in (4.9) and then taking an inner product with respect to ξ we get

$$(4.11) \quad -g(X, \tilde{M}(Y, Z)W) - \eta(X)\eta(\tilde{M}(Y, Z)W) - g(X, Y)\eta(\tilde{M}(\xi, Z)W) + \eta(Y)\eta(\tilde{M}(X, Z)W) - g(X, Z)\eta(\tilde{M}(Y, \xi)W) + \eta(Z)\eta(\tilde{M}(Y, X)W) - g(X, W)\eta(\tilde{M}(Y, Z)\xi) + \eta(W)\eta(\tilde{M}(Y, Z)X) = 0$$

Then in view of (4.8) the above (4.10) becomes (4.12)

$$[(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{(2\sigma + \alpha)}{2(n-1)}][g(Y, W)g(X, Z) - g(X, Y)g(Z, W)] + g(X, \tilde{M}(Y, Z)W) = 0.$$

From (4.6) and (4.11) we get

$$(4.13) [(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{(2\sigma + \alpha)}{2(n-1)}][g(Y,W)g(X,Z) - g(X,Y)g(Z,W)] + g(X,R(Y,Z)W) - \frac{1}{2(n-1)}[S(Z,W)g(X,Y) - S(Y,W)g(X,Z) + g(Z,W)S(Y,X) - g(Y,W)S(Z,X)] = 0$$

Let us consider an orthonormal basis $\{e_i : 1 \leq i \leq n\}$ of the manifold (M, g). Then putting $X = Y = e_i$ in the equation (4.12) and summing over $1 \leq i \leq n$, we get

(4.14)
$$2nS(Z,W) = [2(n-1)^2(\alpha^2 - \rho) - (n-1)(2\sigma + \alpha) - r]g(Z,W).$$

Again putting $Z = W = \xi$ in above and using equation (3.6) we get

(4.15)
$$2(n-1)^2(\alpha^2 - \rho) - (5n-2)[\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})] + 2n\alpha = 0.$$

Now using (3.11) in the above equation (4.14) and after a simple calculation we arrive at

(4.16)
$$\lambda = \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}\right) - 2\alpha.$$

Thus we have the following theorem

Theorem 8. Let $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ be an n-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold admitting a conformal Ricci soliton and the manifold is ξ - \tilde{M} -projectively semi symmetric i.e; it satisfies the condition $R(\xi, X) \cdot \tilde{M} = 0$; ξ being the characteristic vector field, \tilde{M} is the M-projective curvature tensor of the manifold. Then the soliton is shrinking, steady or expanding according as $p > (4\alpha - \frac{2}{n})$, $p = (4\alpha - \frac{2}{n})$ or $p < (4\alpha - \frac{2}{n})$

Next we prove an interesting result on $(LCS)_n$ -manifold admitting a conformal Ricci soliton and satisfying the condition $R(\xi, X) \cdot \tilde{P} = 0$, where \tilde{P} denotes the well-known Pseudo-projective curvature tensor. But before that let us recall some well-known results that will be used later in this section:

Theorem 9. [11] If S : g(x, y, z) = c is a surface in \mathbb{R}^3 then the gradient vector field ∇g (connected only at a point of S) is a non-vanishing normal vector field on the entire surface S.

S.R. Ashoka et.al. in their paper [1] have given the higher dimensional version of the above theorem as follows:

Corollary 1. [1] If S : g(x, y, z) = c is a surface (abstract surface or manifold) in \mathbb{R}^n then the gradient vector field ∇g (connected only at points of S) is a nonvanishing normal vector field on the entire surface (abstract surface or manifold) S.

Then the above mentioned authors in [1] also gave the following remark from the above corollary as:

Remark 1. [1] Taking a real valued scalar function α associated with an $(LCS)_n$ manifold with $M = \mathbb{R}^3$ and $g = \alpha$ in the above corollary we have, $\nabla \alpha$ as a nonvanishing normal vector field on $S \subset M$ and directional derivative of α with respect to ξ , $\xi \alpha = \xi$, $\nabla \alpha = |\xi| |\nabla \alpha |\cos(\hat{\xi}, \nabla \alpha)$

1) If ξ is tangent to S then $\xi \alpha = 0$.

2) If ξ is tangent to M but not to S then $\xi \alpha \neq 0$.

3) If the angle between ξ and $\nabla \alpha$ is acute then $0 < \cos(\tilde{\xi}, \nabla \alpha) < 1$, then $\xi \alpha = k |\nabla \alpha|, 0 < k < 1$ and $\xi \alpha > 0$.

4) If the angle between ξ and $\nabla \alpha$ is obtuse then $-1 < \cos(\hat{\xi}, \nabla \alpha) < 0$, then $\xi \alpha = k |\nabla \alpha|, -1 < k < 0$ and $\xi \alpha < 0$.

Now we see the dependance of the conformal Ricci soliton on $\xi \alpha$ for $(LCS)_n$ manifolds satisfying $R(\xi, X) \cdot \tilde{P} = 0$. The Pseudo projective curvature tensor \tilde{P} is defined by

(4.17)
$$\dot{P}(X,Y)Z = aR(X,Y)Z + b[S(Y,Z)X - S(X,Z)Y] - \frac{r}{n}(\frac{a}{n-1} + b)[g(Y,Z)X - g(X,Z)Y],$$

where $a, b \neq 0$ are constants. Taking $Z = \xi$ in (4.16) we get

(4.18)
$$\tilde{P}(X,Y)\xi = aR(X,Y)\xi + b[S(Y,\xi)X - S(X,\xi)Y] - \frac{r}{n}(\frac{a}{n-1} + b)[\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y].$$

Using (2.6) and (3.6) the above equation (4.17) yields

(4.19)
$$\tilde{P}(X,Y)\xi = [a(\alpha^2 - \rho) + b(\sigma + \alpha) - \frac{r}{n}(\frac{a}{n-1} + b)][\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y],$$

where σ is as described in the previous section. Again from (4.16) we can write

$$\begin{split} \eta(\tilde{P}(X,Y)Z) &= a\eta(R(X,Y)Z) + b[S(Y,Z)\eta(X) - S(X,Z)\eta(Y)] \\ &\quad - \frac{r}{n}(\frac{a}{n-1} + b)[g(Y,Z)\eta(X) - g(X,Z)\eta(Y)]. \end{split}$$

Using (2.8) and (3.4) the above equation becomes

$$(4.20) \ \eta(\tilde{P}(X,Y)Z) = [a(\alpha^2 - \rho) + b\sigma - \frac{r}{n}(\frac{a}{n-1} + b)][g(Y,Z)\eta(X) - g(X,Z)\eta(Y)].$$

Now we assume the condition that $R(\xi, X) \cdot \tilde{P} = 0$. Then we have

(4.21)
$$R(\xi, X)\tilde{P}(U, V)W - \tilde{P}(R(\xi, X)U, V)W - \tilde{P}(U, V)R(\xi, X)W = 0,$$

for any vector fields X, U, V, W on M. Using (2.7) in the above equation and then taking an inner product with respect to ξ we get

$$-g(X, P(U, V)W) - \eta(X)\eta(P(U, V)W) - g(X, U)\eta(P(\xi, V)W)$$

+ $\eta(U)\eta(\tilde{P}(X, V)W) - g(X, U)\eta(\tilde{P}(U, \xi)W) + \eta(V)\eta(\tilde{P}(U, X)W)$
- $g(X, W)\eta(\tilde{P}(U, V)\xi) + \eta(W)\eta(\tilde{P}(U, V)X) = 0.$

Then using (4.18) and (4.19) the above equation becomes

(4.22)
$$[a(\alpha^2 - \rho) + b\sigma - \frac{r}{n}(\frac{a}{n-1} + b)][g(X,V)g(U,W) - g(X,U)g(V,W)] + g(X,\tilde{P}(U,V)W) = 0.$$

Now in view of (4.16) and then using (3.4) in the equation (4.21) we get

(4.23)
$$ag(X, R(U, V)W) - b\alpha[\eta(V)\eta(W)g(X, U) - \eta(U)\eta(W)g(X, V)]$$

 $+ a(\alpha^2 - \rho)[g(X, V)g(U, W) - g(X, U)g(V, W)] = 0.$

Let us consider an orthonormal basis $\{e_i : 1 \leq i \leq n\}$ of the manifold (M, g). Then putting $X = U = e_i$ in the equation (4.22) and summing over $1 \leq i \leq n$, we get

(4.24)
$$aS(V,W) - b(n-1)\alpha\eta(V)\eta(W) - a(n-1)(\alpha^2 - \rho)g(V,W) = 0.$$

Again setting $V = W = \xi$ in (4.23) and after a few steps of simple calculations we get

(4.25)
$$\lambda = (n-1)[(\alpha^2 - \rho) - \frac{b}{a}\alpha] + (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}).$$

Therefore in view of the above equation (4.24) and Remark-4.1 we can state the following :

Theorem 10. Let $(M, g, \xi, \eta, \phi, \alpha)$ be an n-dimensional $(LCS)_n$ -manifold which admits a conformal Ricci soliton and the manifold is ξ -pseudo-projectively semi symmetric i.e; if it satisfies the condition $R(\xi, X) \cdot \tilde{P} = 0$; ξ being the characteristic vector field, \tilde{P} is the pseudo-projective curvature tensor of the manifold and α is a positive function; then 1) If ξ is orthogonal to $\nabla \alpha$; the soliton is expanding if $\alpha > \frac{b}{a}$, $p > -\frac{2}{n}$; steady if $\alpha = \frac{b}{a}$, $p = -\frac{2}{n}$ and shrinking if $\alpha < \frac{b}{a}$, $p < -\frac{2}{n}$.

2) If the angle between ξ and $\nabla \alpha$ is acute; the soliton is expanding if $\alpha^2 + k |\nabla \alpha| > \frac{b}{a} \alpha$, $p > -\frac{2}{n}$; steady if $\alpha^2 + k |\nabla \alpha| = \frac{b}{a} \alpha$, $p = -\frac{2}{n}$ and shrinking if $\alpha^2 + k |\nabla \alpha| < \frac{b}{a} \alpha$, $p < -\frac{2}{n}$.

3) If the angle between ξ and $\nabla \alpha$ is obtuse; the soliton is expanding if $\alpha^2 > k|\nabla \alpha| + \frac{b}{a}\alpha$, $p > -\frac{2}{n}$; steady if $\alpha^2 = k|\nabla \alpha| + \frac{b}{a}\alpha$, $p = -\frac{2}{n}$ and shrinking if $\alpha^2 < k|\nabla \alpha| + \frac{b}{a}\alpha$, $p < -\frac{2}{n}$.

Acknowledgement: The first author D. Ganguly is thankful to the National Board for Higher Mathematics (NBHM), India, for their financial support (Ref No: 0203/11/2017/RD-II/10440) to carry on this research work.

References

- S.R. Ashoka, C.S. Bagewadi, G. Ingalahalli, A geometry on Ricci solitons in (LCS)_n-manifolds, Differential Geometry - Dynamical Systems, vol.16, pp-50-62, (2014).
- [2] D.E. Blair, *Riemannian Geometry of Contact and Symplectic Manifolds*, Birkhauser, Second Edition, (2010).
- [3] N. Basu, A. Bhattacharyya, Conformal Ricci soliton in Kenmotsu manifold, Global Journal of Advanced Research on Classical and Modern Geometries, Vol.4, Issue 1, pp.15-21, (2015).
- [4] H.D. Cao, B. Chow, Recent developments on the Ricci flow, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 36, 59-74, (1999).
- [5] T. Dutta, N. Basu, A. Bhattacharyya, Conformal Ricci Soliton in Lorentzian α-Sasakian Manifolds, Acta. Univ. Palac. Olomuc. Fac. Rerum Natur. Math., 55(2), pp.57-70., (2016).
- [6] A.E. Fischer, An Introduction to Conformal Ricci flow, Classical and Quantum Gravity, Vol. 21, Issue 3, pp. S171-S218, (2004).
- [7] R.S. Hamilton, Three manifolds with positive Ricci curvature, Journal of Differential Geometry 17, 255-306, (1982).

- [8] R.S. Hamilton, The Ricci flow on surfaces, Mathematical and General Relativity, Contemporary Mathematics, Vol.71, pp.237-262, (American mathematical Society, (1988).
- [9] Y. Ishii, On conharmonic transformations, Tensor N.S, vol.7, pp-73-80, (1957).
- [10] K. Matsumoto, On Lorentzian almost paracontact manifolds, Bull. Yamagata Univ. Nature. Sci., vol.12, pp-151-156, (1989).
- [11] B. O'Neill, *Elementary Differential Geometry*, British Library Publication, (2006).
- [12] G. Perelman, The entropy formula for the Ricci Flow and its geometric applications, arxiv: math.DG/0211159v1, (2002).
- [13] G.P. Pokhariyal, R.S. Mishra, The curvature tensor and their relativistic significance, Yokohoma Math. J., vol-18, pp-105-108, (1970).
- [14] A.A. Shaikh, On Lorentzian almost para contact manifolds with a structure of the concircular type, Kyungpook Math. J., 43, 305-315, (2003).
- [15] A.A. Shaikh, K.K. Baishya, On concircular structure spacetimes, J. Math. Stat., vol-1(2), pp-129-132, (2005).
- [16] A.A. Shaikh, T. Basu, S. Eyasmin, On locally ϕ -symmetric $(LCS)_n$ -manifolds, Int. J. Pure Appl. Math., vol-41(8), pp-1161-1170, (2007).
- [17] P. Topping, Lectures on the Ricci Folw, LMS Lecture Notes Series, Cambridge University Press, (2006).
- [18] K. Yano, Concircular geometry I, Proceedings of the Imperial Academy Tokyo, 16, pp-195-200, (1940).
- [19] K. Yano, M. Kon, Structures on manifolds, Series in Pure Mathematics, vol.3, (1984).



AIMS Mathematics, 7(4): 5408–5430. DOI: 10.3934/math.2022300 Received: 13 October 2021 Revised: 19 December 2021 Accepted: 31 December 2021 Published: 06 January 2022

http://www.aimspress.com/journal/Math

Research article

Conformal η -Ricci solitons within the framework of indefinite Kenmotsu manifolds

Yanlin Li^{1,*}, Dipen Ganguly², Santu Dey³ and Arindam Bhattacharyya²

¹ School of Mathematics, Hangzhou Normal University, Hangzhou, 311121, China

- ² Department of Mathematics, Jadavpur University, Kolkata 700032, India
- ³ Department of Mathematics, Bidhan Chandra College, Asansol-4, West Bengal 713304, India
- * Correspondence: Email: liyl@hznu.edu.cn.

Abstract: The present paper is to deliberate the class of ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds which admits conformal η -Ricci soliton. Here, we study some special types of Ricci tensor in connection with the conformal η -Ricci soliton of ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds. Moving further, we investigate some curvature conditions admitting conformal η -Ricci solitons on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds. Next, we consider gradient conformal η -Ricci solitons and we present a characterization of the potential function. Finally, we develop an illustrative example for the existence of conformal η -Ricci soliton on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold.

Keywords: Ricci soliton; conformal Ricci soliton; conformal η -Ricci soliton; ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold; concircular curvature tensor; codazzi type Ricci tensor **Mathematics Subject Classification:** 53C15, 53C25, 53D10

1. Introduction

The scientists and mathematicians across many disciplines have always been fascinated to study indefinite structures on manifolds. When a manifold is endowed with a geometric structure, we have more opportunities to explore its geometric properties. There are different classes of submanifolds such as warped product submanifolds, biharmonic submanifolds and singular submanifolds, etc., which motivates further exploration and attracts many researchers from different research areas [26–37, 40–50]. After A. Bejancu et al. [7] in 1993, introduced the concept of an idefinite manifold namely ϵ -Sasakian manifold, it gained attention of various researchers and it was established by X. Xufeng et al. [53] that the class of ϵ -Sasakian manifolds are real hypersurfaces of indefinite Kaehlerian manifolds. On the other hand K. Kenmotsu [25] introduced a special class of contact Riemannian manifolds, satisfying certain conditions, which was later named as Kenmotsu manifold. Later on U. C. De et al. [14] introduced the concept of ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds and further proved that the existence of

the new indefinite structure on the manifold influences the curvatures of the manifold. After that several authors [20, 21, 52] studied ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds and many interesting results have been obtained on this indefinite structure.

A smooth manifold M equipped with a Riemannian metric g is said to be a Ricci soliton, if for some constant λ , there exist a smooth vector field V on M satisfying the equation

$$S + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}_V g = \lambda g,$$

where \mathcal{L}_V denotes the Lie derivative along the direction of the vector field *V* and *S* is the Ricci tensor. The Ricci soliton is called shrinking if $\lambda > 0$, steady if $\lambda = 0$ and expanding if $\lambda < 0$. In 1982, R. S. Hamilton [22] initiated the study of Ricci flow as a self similar solution to the Ricci flow equation given by

$$\frac{\partial g}{\partial t} = -2S$$

Ricci soliton also can be viewed as natural generalization of Einstein metric which moves only by an one-parameter group of diffeomorphisms and scaling [11,23]. After Hamilton, the significant work on Ricci flow has been done by G. Perelman [38] to prove the well known Thurston's geometrization conjecture.

A. E. Fischer [16] in 2005, introduced conformal Ricci flow equation which is a modified version of the Hamilton's Ricci flow equation that modifies the volume constraint of that equation to a scalar curvature constraint. The conformal Ricci flow equations on a smooth closed connected oriented n-manifold, $n \ge 3$, are given by

$$\frac{\partial g}{\partial t} + 2(S + \frac{g}{n}) = -pg, \quad r(g) = -1,$$

where p is a non-dynamical (time dependent) scalar field and r(g) is the scalar curvature of the manifold. The term-pg acts as the constraint force to maintain the scalar curvature constraint in the above equation. Note that these evolution equations are analogous to famous Navier-Stokes equations where the constraint is divergence free. The non-dynamical scalar p is also called the conformal pressure. At the equilibrium points of the conformal Ricci flow equations (i.e., Einstein metrices with Einstein constant $-\frac{1}{n}$) the conformal pressure p is equal to zero and strictly positive otherwise.

Later in 2015, N. Basu and A. Bhattacharyya [6] introduced the concept of conformal Ricci soliton as a generalization of the classical Ricci soliton and is given by the equation

$$\mathcal{L}_{V}g + 2S = [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g,$$
(1.1)

where λ is a constant and p is the conformal pressure. It is to be noted that the conformal Ricci soliton is a self-similar solution of the Fisher's conformal Ricci flow equation. After that several authors have studied conformal Ricci solitons on various geometric structures like Lorentzian α -Sasakian Manifolds [15] and f-Kenmotsu manifods [24]. Since the introduction of these geometric flows, the respective solitons and their generalizations etc. have been a great centre of attention of many geometers viz. [1–5,8,9,13,17,40–47] who have provided new approaches to understand the geometry of different kinds of Riemannian manifold. Recently Sarkar et al. [48–50] studied *-conformal η -Ricci soliton and *-conformal Ricci soliton within the frame work of contact geometry and obtaind some beautiful results.

Again a Ricci soliton is called a gradient Ricci soliton [11] if the concerned vector field X in the Eq (1.1) is the gradient of some smooth function f. This function f is called the potential function of the Ricci soliton. J. T. Cho and M. Kimura [12] introduced the concept of η -Ricci soliton and later C. Calin and M. Crasmareanu [10] studied it on Hopf hypersufaces in complex space forms. A Riemannian manifold (M, g) is said to admit an η -Ricci soliton if for a smooth vector field V, the metric g satisfies the following equation

$$\mathcal{L}_V g + 2S + 2\lambda g + 2\mu\eta \otimes \eta = 0,$$

where \mathcal{L}_V is the Lie derivative along the direction of *V*, *S* is the Ricci tensor and λ , μ are real constants. It is to be noted that for $\mu = 0$ the η -Ricci soliton becomes a Ricci soliton.

Very recently M. D. Siddiqi [51] introduced the notion of conformal η -Ricci soliton given by the following equation

$$\mathcal{L}_V g + 2S + [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g + 2\mu\eta \otimes \eta = 0, \qquad (1.2)$$

where \mathcal{L}_V is the Lie derivative along the direction of *V*, *S* is the Ricci tensor, *n* is the dimension of the manifold, *p* is the non-dynamical scalar field (conformal pressure) and λ , μ are real constants. In particular if $\mu = 0$ the conformal η -Ricci soliton reduces to the conformal Ricci soliton.

The outline of the article goes as follows: In Section 2, after a brief introduction, we give some notes on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds. Section 3 deals with ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds admitting conformal η -Ricci solitons and establish the relation between λ and μ . In Section 4, we have contrived conformal η -Ricci solitons in ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds in terms of Codazzi type Ricci tensor, cyclic parallel Ricci tensor and cyclic η -recurrent Ricci tensor. Section 5 is devoted to the study of conformal η -Ricci solitons on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds satisfying curvature conditions $R \cdot S = 0$, $C \cdot S = 0$, $Q \cdot C = 0$. In Section 6, we have studied torse-forming vector field on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds admitting conformal η -Ricci solitons. Section 7 is devoted to the study of gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold. Lastly, we have constructed an example to illustrate the existence of conformal η -Ricci soliton on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold.

2. Preliminaries

An *n*-dimensional smooth manifold (M, g) is said to be an ϵ -almost contact metric manifold [7] if it admits a (1, 1) tensor field ϕ , a characteristic vector field ξ , a global 1-form η and an indefinite metric *g* on M satisfying the following relations

$$\phi^2 = -I + \eta \otimes \xi, \quad \eta(\xi) = 1, \tag{2.1}$$

$$\eta(X) = \epsilon g(X,\xi), \quad g(\xi,\xi) = \epsilon, \tag{2.2}$$

$$g(\phi X, \phi Y) = g(X, Y) - \epsilon \eta(X) \eta(Y), \qquad (2.3)$$

AIMS Mathematics

for all vector fields $X, Y \in TM$, where TM is the tangent bundle of the manifold M. Here the value of the quantity ϵ is either +1 or -1 according as the characteristic vector field ξ is spacelike or timelike vector field. Also it can be easily seen that rank of ϕ is (n - 1) and $\phi(\xi) = 0$, $\eta \circ \phi = 0$. Now if we define

$$d\eta(X,Y) = g(X,\phi Y), \tag{2.4}$$

for all $X, Y \in TM$, then the manifold (M, g) is called an ϵ -contact metric manifold.

If the Levi-Civita connection ∇ of an ϵ -contact metric manifold satisfies

$$(\nabla_X \phi)(Y) = -g(X, \phi Y) - \epsilon \eta(Y) \phi X, \qquad (2.5)$$

for all $X, Y \in TM$, then the manifold (M, g) is called an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold [14].

Again an ϵ -almost contact metric manifold is an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold if and only if it satisfies

$$\nabla_X \xi = \epsilon (X - \eta(X)\xi), \quad \forall X \in TM.$$
(2.6)

Furthermore in an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) the following relations hold,

$$(\nabla_X \eta)(Y) = g(X, Y) - \epsilon \eta(X) \eta(Y), \qquad (2.7)$$

$$R(X,Y)\xi = \eta(X)Y - \eta(Y)X, \qquad (2.8)$$

$$R(\xi, X)Y = \eta(Y)X - \epsilon g(X, Y)\xi, \qquad (2.9)$$

$$R(\xi, X)\xi = -R(X,\xi)\xi = X - \eta(X)\xi,$$
(2.10)

$$\eta(R(X,Y)Z) = \epsilon(g(X,Z)\eta(Y) - g(Y,Z)\eta(X)), \qquad (2.11)$$

$$S(X,\xi) = -(n-1)\eta(X),$$
 (2.12)

$$Q\xi = -\epsilon(n-1)\xi, \qquad (2.13)$$

where *R* is the curvature tensor, *S* is the Ricci tensor and *Q* is the Ricci operator given by g(QX, Y) = S(X, Y), for all $X, Y \in TM$.

Moreover, it is to be noted that for spacelike structure vector field ξ and $\epsilon = 1$, an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold reduces to an usual Kenmotsu manifold.

Next, we discuss about the projective curvature tensor which plays an important role in the study of differential geometry. The projective curvature has an one-to-one correspondence between each coordinate neighbourhood of an *n*-dimensional Riemannian manifold and a domain of Euclidean space such that there is a one-to-one correspondence between geodesics of the Riemannian manifold with the straight lines in the Euclidean space.

Definition 2.1. The projective curvature tensor in an *n*-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) is defined by [55]

$$P(X,Y)Z = R(X,Y)Z - \frac{1}{(n-1)}[g(QY,Z)X - g(QX,Z)Y],$$
(2.14)

for any vector fields $X, Y, Z \in TM$ and Q is the Ricci operator. The manifold (M, g) is called ξ -projectively flat if $P(X, Y)\xi = 0$, for all $X, Y \in TM$.

AIMS Mathematics

A transformation of a Riemannian manifold of dimension n, which transforms every geodesic circle of the manifold M into a geodesic circle, is called a concircular transformation [54]. Here a geodesic circle is a curve in M whose first curvature is constant and second curvature (that is, torsion) is identically equal to zero.

Definition 2.2. The concircular curvature tensor in an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) of dimension n is defined by [54]

$$C(X,Y)Z = R(X,Y)Z - \frac{r}{n(n-1)}[g(Y,Z)X - g(X,Z)Y],$$
(2.15)

for any vector fields $X, Y, Z \in TM$, and *r* is the scalar curvature of *M*. The manifold (M, g) is called ξ -concircularly flat if $C(X, Y)\xi = 0$ for any vector fields $X, Y \in TM$.

Another important curvature tensor is W_2 -curvature tensor which was introduced in 1970 by Pokhariyal and Mishra [39].

Definition 2.3. The W_2 -curvature tensor in an *n*-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) is defined as

$$W_2(X,Y)Z = R(X,Y)Z + \frac{1}{n-1}[g(X,Z)QY - g(Y,Z)QX].$$
(2.16)

Definition 2.4. An ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) is said to be an η -Einstein manifold if its Ricci tensor S satisfies

$$S(X,Y) = ag(X,Y) + b\eta(X)\eta(Y), \qquad (2.17)$$

for all $X, Y \in TM$ and smooth functions a, b on the manifold (M, g).

3. ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds admitting conformal η -Ricci solitons

Let us consider an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ). Then from Eq (1.2) we can write

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) + 2S(X,Y) + [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X,Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0,$$
(3.1)

for all $X, Y \in TM$.

Again from the well-known formula $(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X, Y) = g(\nabla_X\xi, Y) + g(\nabla_Y\xi, X)$ of Lie-derivative and using (2.6), we obtain for an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) = 2\epsilon[g(X,Y) - \epsilon\eta(X)\eta(Y)].$$
(3.2)

Now in view of the Eqs (3.1) and (3.2) we get

$$S(X,Y) = -[(\lambda + \epsilon) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]g(X,Y) - (\mu - 1)\eta(X)\eta(Y).$$
(3.3)

This shows that the manifold (M, g) is an η -Einstein manifold. Also from Eq (3.3) replacing $Y = \xi$ we find that

$$S(X,\xi) = \left[\epsilon(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - (\epsilon\lambda + \mu)\right]\eta(X).$$
(3.4)

AIMS Mathematics

Compairing the above Eq (3.4) with (2.12) yields

$$\epsilon \lambda + \mu = \epsilon (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + (n-1).$$
 (3.5)

Thus the above discussion leads to the following

Theorem 3.1. If an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) , then (M, g) becomes an η -Einstein manifold and the scalars λ and μ are related by $\epsilon \lambda + \mu = \epsilon(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + (n-1)$.

Furthermore if we consider $\mu = 0$ in particular, then from Eqs (3.3) and (3.5), we get

$$S(X,Y) = -[(\lambda + \epsilon) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]g(X,Y) + \eta(X)\eta(Y),$$

$$\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon(n-1).$$

This leads us to write

Corollary 3.2. If an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) admits a conformal Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ) , then (M, g) becomes an η -Einstein manifold and the scalar λ satisfies $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon(n-1)$. Moreover,

- 1. if ξ is spacelike then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) > (1 n)$, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) = (1 n)$ or $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) < (1 n)$; and
- 2. if ξ is timelike then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) > (n-1)$, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) = (n-1)$ or $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) < (n-1)$.

Next we try to find a condition in terms of second order symmetric parallel tensor which will ensure when an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton. So for this purpose let us consider the second order tensor T on the manifold (M, g) defined by

$$T := \mathcal{L}_{\xi}g + 2S + 2\mu\eta \otimes \eta. \tag{3.6}$$

It is easy to see that the (0, 2) tensor T is symmetric and also parallel with respect to the Levi-Civita connection.

Now in view of (3.2) and (3.3) the above Eq (3.6) we have

$$T(X,Y) = [(p+\frac{2}{n}) - 2\lambda]g(X,Y); \quad \forall X,Y \in TM.$$
(3.7)

Putting $X = Y = \xi$ in the above Eq (3.7) we obtain

$$T(\xi,\xi) = \epsilon[(p+\frac{2}{n}) - 2\lambda].$$
(3.8)

On the other hand, as T is a second order symmetric parallel tensor; i.e., $\nabla T = 0$, we can write

$$T(R(X, Y)Z, U) + T(Z, R(X, Y)U) = 0,$$

AIMS Mathematics

for all X, Y, Z, $U \in TM$. Then replacing $X = Z = U = \xi$ in above gives us

$$T(R(\xi, Y)\xi, \xi) + T(\xi, R(\xi, Y)\xi) = 0, \quad \forall Y \in TM.$$
(3.9)

Using (2.10) in the above Eq (3.9) we get

$$T(Y,\xi) = T(\xi,\xi)\eta(Y). \tag{3.10}$$

Taking covariant differentiation of (3.10) in the direction of an arbitrary vector field *X*, and then in the resulting equation, again using the Eq (3.10) we obtain

 $T(Y, \nabla_X \xi) = T(\xi, \xi) (\nabla_X \eta) Y + 2T(\nabla_X \xi, \xi) \eta(Y).$

Then in view of (2.6) and (2.7), the above equation becomes

$$T(X,Y) = \epsilon T(\xi,\xi)g(X,Y), \quad \forall X,Y \in TM.$$
(3.11)

Now using (3.8) in the above Eq (3.11) and in view of (3.6) finally we get

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) + 2S(X,Y) + [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X,Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0.$$

This leads us to the following

Theorem 3.3. Let (M, g) be an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold. If the second order symmetric tensor $T := \mathcal{L}_{\xi}g + 2S + 2\mu\eta \otimes \eta$ is parallel with respect to the Levi-Civita connection of the manifold, then the manifold (M, g) admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) .

Now let us consider an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) and assume that it admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, V, λ, μ) such that V is pointwise collinear with ξ , i.e., $V = \alpha \xi$, for some function α ; then from the Eq (1.2) it follows that

$$\begin{split} \alpha g(\nabla_X \xi, Y) + \epsilon(X\alpha)\eta(Y) + \alpha g(\nabla_Y \xi, X) + \epsilon(Y\alpha)\eta(X) \\ &+ 2S(X, Y) + [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0. \end{split}$$

Then using the Eq (2.6) in above we get

$$2\epsilon\alpha g(X,Y) - 2\epsilon\alpha\eta(X)\eta(Y) + \epsilon(X\alpha)\eta(Y) + \epsilon(Y\alpha)\eta(X) + 2S(X,Y) + [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X,Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0.$$
(3.12)

Replacing $Y = \xi$ in the above equation yields

$$\epsilon(X\alpha) + \epsilon(\xi\alpha)\eta(X) + 2S(X,\xi) + \epsilon[2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]\eta(X) + 2\mu\eta(X) = 0.$$
(3.13)

By virtue of (2.12) the above Eq (3.13) becomes

$$\epsilon(X\alpha) + \epsilon[(\xi\alpha) + 2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]\eta(X) + 2[\mu - (n-1)]\eta(X) = 0.$$
(3.14)

AIMS Mathematics

By taking $X = \xi$ in the above Eq (3.14) gives us

$$\epsilon(\xi\alpha) = (n-1) - \mu - \epsilon[\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]. \tag{3.15}$$

Using this value from (3.15) in the Eq (3.14) we can write

$$\epsilon d\alpha = [(n-1) - \mu - \epsilon [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]]\eta.$$
(3.16)

Now taking exterior differentiation on both sides of (3.16) and using the famous Poincare's lemma, i.e., $d^2 = 0$, finally we arrive at

$$[(n-1) - \mu - \epsilon [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]]d\eta = 0.$$

Since $d\eta \neq 0$ in ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold, the above equation implies

$$\mu + \epsilon [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})] = (n - 1).$$
(3.17)

In view of the above (3.17) the Eq (3.16) gives us $d\alpha = 0$ i.e., the function α is constant. Then the Eq (3.12) becomes

$$S(X,Y) = \left[\left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}\right) - \lambda - \epsilon\alpha\right]g(X,Y) + (\alpha - \mu)\eta(X)\eta(Y),\tag{3.18}$$

for all $X, Y \in TM$. This shows that the manifold is η -Einstein. Hence we have the following

Theorem 3.4. If an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, V, λ, μ) such that V is pointwise collinear with ξ , then V is constant multiple of ξ and the manifold (M, g) is an η -Einstein manifold. Moreover the scalars λ and μ are related by $\mu + \epsilon [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})] = (n-1)$.

In particular if we put $\mu = 0$ in (3.17) and (3.18) we can conclude that

Corollary 3.5. If an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) admits a conformal Ricci soliton (g, V, λ, μ) such that V is pointwise collinear with ξ , then V is constant multiple of ξ and the manifold (M, g) is an η -Einstein manifold, and the scalars λ and μ are related by $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon(n - 1)$. Furthermore,

- 1. *if* ξ *is spacelike then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as,* $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + n > 1$, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + n = 1$ or $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + n < 1$; and
- 2. if ξ is timelike then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + 1 > n$, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + 1 = n$ or $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + 1 < n$.

4. Conformal η-Ricci solitons on ε-Kenmotsu manifolds with certain special types of Ricci tensor

The purpose of this section is to study conformal η -Ricci solitons in ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds admitting three special types of Ricci tensor namely Codazzi type Ricci tensor, cyclic parallel Ricci tensor and cyclic η -recurrent Ricci tensor.

AIMS Mathematics

Definition 4.1. [19] An ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold is said to have Codazzi type Ricci tensor if its Ricci tensor *S* is non-zero and satisfies the following relation

$$(\nabla_X S)(Y,Z) = (\nabla_Y S)(X,Z), \quad \forall X, Y, Z \in TM.$$
(4.1)

Let us consider an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold having Codazzi type Ricci tensor admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ), then Eq (3.3) holds. Now taking covariant differentiation of (3.3) and using Eq (2.7) we obtain

$$(\nabla_X S)(Y,Z) = (1-\mu)[g(X,Y)\eta(Z) + g(X,Z)\eta(Y) - 2\epsilon\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z)].$$

$$(4.2)$$

Since the manifold has Codazzi type Ricci tensor, in view of (4.1) Eq (4.2) yields

$$(1-\mu)[g(X,Z)\eta(Y) - g(Y,Z)\eta(X)] = 0, \quad \forall X, Y, Z \in TM.$$

The above equation implies that $\mu = 1$ and then from Eq (3.5) it follows that $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon(n-2)$. Therefore we can state the following

Theorem 4.2. Let (M, g) be an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the Ricci tensor of the manifold is of Codazzi type then $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon(n-2)$ and $\mu = 1$.

Corollary 4.3. Let an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) and the manifold has Codazzi type Ricci tensor then

- 1. *if* ξ *is spacelike then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as,* $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + n > 2$, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + n = 2$ or $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + n < 2$; and
- 2. if ξ is timelike then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + 2 > n$, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + 2 = n$ or $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + 2 < n$.

Definition 4.4. [19] An ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold is said to have cyclic parallel Ricci tensor if its Ricci tensor *S* is non-zero and satisfies the following relation

$$(\nabla_X S)(Y,Z) + (\nabla_Y S)(Z,X) + (\nabla_Z S)(X,Y) = 0 \quad \forall X, Y, Z \in TM.$$

$$(4.3)$$

Let us consider an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold, having cyclic parallel Ricci tensor, admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) , then Eq (3.3) holds. Now taking covariant differentiation of (3.3) and using Eq (2.7) we obtain

$$(\nabla_X S)(Y,Z) = (1-\mu)[g(X,Y)\eta(Z) + g(X,Z)\eta(Y) - 2\epsilon\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z)].$$
(4.4)

In a similar manner we can obtain the following relations

$$(\nabla_Y S)(Z, X) = (1 - \mu)[g(X, Y)\eta(Z) + g(Y, Z)\eta(X) - 2\epsilon\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z)].$$
(4.5)

and

$$(\nabla_Z S)(X, Y) = (1 - \mu)[g(X, Z)\eta(Y) + g(Y, Z)\eta(X) - 2\epsilon\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z)].$$
(4.6)

AIMS Mathematics

Now using the values from (4.4), (4.5) and (4.6) in the Eq (4.3) we get

$$2(1-\mu)[g(X,Y)\eta(Z) + g(Y,Z)\eta(X) + g(X,Z)\eta(Y) - 3\epsilon\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z)] = 0.$$

Replacing $Z = \xi$ in the above equation yields

$$2(1-\mu)[g(X,Y) - \epsilon \eta(X)\eta(Y)] = 0 \quad \forall X, Y \in TM.$$

The above equation implies that $\mu = 1$ and then from Eq (3.5) it follows that $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon(n-2)$. Hence we have

Theorem 4.5. Let (M, g) be an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold has cyclic parallel Ricci tensor, then $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon(n-2)$ and $\mu = 1$.

Definition 4.6. An ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold is said to have cyclic- η -recurrent Ricci tensor if its Ricci tensor *S* is non-zero and satisfies the following relation

$$(\nabla_X S)(Y,Z) + (\nabla_Y S)(Z,X) + (\nabla_Z S)(X,Y)$$

= $\eta(X)S(Y,Z) + \eta(Y)S(Z,X) + \eta(Z)S(X,Y) \quad \forall X, Y, Z \in TM.$ (4.7)

Let us consider an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold, having cyclic- η -recurrent Ricci tensor, admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) , then Eq (3.3) holds. Now taking covariant differentiation of (3.3) and using Eq (2.7) and proceeding similarly as the previous theorem we arrive at Eqs (4.4)–(4.6). Then putting these three values in (4.7) we get

$$(2(1-\mu) - \beta)[g(X,Y)\eta(Z) + g(Y,Z)\eta(X) + g(X,Z)\eta(Y)] -(3+6\epsilon)(1-\mu)\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z) = 0,$$
(4.8)

where $\beta = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - (\lambda + \epsilon)$. Now putting $Y = Z = \xi$ in (4.8) we obtain

$$3(\epsilon\beta + (1-\mu))\eta(X) = 0, \quad \forall X \in TM.$$

$$(4.9)$$

Since $\eta(X) \neq 0$ and replacing the value of β in (4.9), after simplification we get $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - \epsilon \mu$. Therefore we can state

Theorem 4.7. Let (M, g) be an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold has cyclic-eta-parallel Ricci tensor, then $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - \epsilon \mu$ and moreover

- 1. if ξ is spacelike then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) > \mu$, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) = \mu$ or $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) < \mu$; and
- 2. if ξ is timelike then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \mu > 0$, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \mu = 0$ or $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \mu < 0$.

Corollary 4.8. Let (M, g) be an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting a conformal Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold has cyclic-eta-parallel Ricci tensor, then the soliton constant λ is given by $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})$.

5. Conformal η -Ricci solitons on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds satisfying some curvature conditions

Let us consider an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold which admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) and also the manifold is Ricci semi symmetric i.e., the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $R(X, Y) \cdot S = 0$. Then $\forall X, Y, Z, W \in TM$ we can write

$$S(R(X, Y)Z, W) + S(Z, R(X, Y)W) = 0.$$

Putting $W = \xi$ in above and taking (2.12) into account, we have

$$-(n-1)\eta(R(X,Y)Z) + S(Z,R(X,Y)\xi) = 0.$$
(5.1)

Now using (2.8) and (2.11) in (5.1) we get

$$\eta(X)[S(Y,Z) - \epsilon(n-1)g(Y,Z)] - \eta(Y)[S(X,Z) - \epsilon(n-1)g(X,Z)] = 0.$$

In view of (3.3) the previous equation becomes

$$[(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - \lambda + \epsilon(n-2)][\eta(X)g(Y,Z) - \eta(Y)g(X,Z)] = 0.$$

Putting $X = \xi$ in the above equation and then using (2.2) and (2.3) we finally obtain

$$[(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - \lambda + \epsilon(n-2)]g(\phi Y, \phi Z) = 0.$$
(5.2)

Since $g(\phi Y, \phi Z) \neq 0$ always, we can conclude from the Eq (5.2) that $\left[\left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}\right) - \lambda + \epsilon(n-2)\right] = 0$ i.e., $\lambda = \left(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}\right) + \epsilon(n-2)$. Then from the Eq (3.5) we have $\mu = 1$. Therefore we have the following

Theorem 5.1. Let (M, g) be an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold is Ricci semi symmetric i.e., if the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $R(X, Y) \cdot S = 0$, then $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon(n-2)$ and $\mu = 1$. Moreover

- 1. *if* ξ *is spacelike then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as,* $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) > (2 n)$, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) = (2 n)$ or $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) < (2 n)$; and
- 2. if ξ is timelike then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + (2-n) > 0$, $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + (2-n) = 0$ or $(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + (2-n) < 0$.

Next we consider an *n*-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold satisfying the curvature condition $C(\xi, X)$ · S = 0 admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . Then we have

$$S(C(\xi, X)Y, Z) + S(Y, C(\xi, X)Z) = 0 \quad \forall X, Y, Z \in TM.$$

$$(5.3)$$

Now from Eq (2.15) we can write

$$C(\xi, X)Y = R(\xi, X)Y - \frac{r}{n(n-1)}[g(X, Y)\xi - \epsilon\eta(Y)X].$$

AIMS Mathematics

Using (2.9) the above equation becomes

$$C(\xi, X)Y = [1 + \frac{\epsilon r}{n(n-1)}][\eta(Y)X - \epsilon g(X, Y)\xi].$$
(5.4)

In view of (5.4) the Eq (5.3) yields

$$\begin{split} [1 + \frac{\epsilon r}{n(n-1)}][S(X,Z)\eta(Y) - \epsilon g(X,Y)S(\xi,Z) \\ &+ S(Y,X)\eta(Z) - \epsilon g(X,Z)S(\xi,Y] = 0. \end{split}$$

By virtue of (2.12) the above equation eventually becomes

$$[1 + \frac{\epsilon r}{n(n-1)}][S(X,Z)\eta(Y) + S(Y,X)\eta(Z) + \epsilon(n-1)(g(X,Y)\eta(Z) + g(X,Z)\eta(Y))] = 0.$$
(5.5)

Putting $Z = \xi$ in (5.5) and then using (2.2), (2.12) we arrive at

$$[1 + \frac{\epsilon r}{n(n-1)}][S(X,Y) + \epsilon(n-1)g(X,Y)] = 0.$$

Thus from the above we can conclude that either $r = -\epsilon n(n-1)$ or

$$S(X,Y) = -\epsilon(n-1)g(X,Y).$$
(5.6)

Combining (5.6) with (3.3) we get

$$[(\lambda + \epsilon) - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - \epsilon(n-1)]g(X, Y) + (\mu - 1)\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0.$$

Taking $Y = \xi$ in above gives us

$$[(n-\mu)+\epsilon(\frac{p}{2}+\frac{1}{n}-\lambda-\epsilon)]\eta(X)=0, \quad \forall X\in TM.$$

Since $\eta(X) \neq 0$ always, from the above we have $\lambda = \epsilon(n-1) + (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - \epsilon \mu$. Therefore we can state

Theorem 5.2. Let (M, g) be an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $C(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$, then either the scalar curvature of the manifold is constant or the manifold is an Einstein manifold of the form (5.6) and the scalars λ and μ are related by $\lambda = \epsilon(n-1) + (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - \epsilon\mu$.

Next we prove two results on ξ -projectively flat and ξ -concircularly flat manifolds. For that let us first consider an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g, ξ, ϕ, η) admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . We know from definition 2.1 that the manifold is ξ -projectively flat if $P(X, Y)\xi = 0$, $\forall X, Y \in TM$. Then putting $Z = \xi$ in (2.14) we obtain

$$P(X,Y)\xi = R(X,Y)\xi - \frac{1}{n-1}[S(Y,\xi)X - S(X,\xi)Y].$$
(5.7)

Now since it is given that (g, ξ, λ, μ) admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton, using (2.8) and (3.4) in the above (5.7), we obtain

$$P(X,Y)\xi = \left[1 + \frac{\epsilon(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - \epsilon\lambda - \mu}{n-1}\right] [\eta(X)Y - \eta(Y)X].$$

In view of (3.5) the above equation finally becomes $P(X, Y)\xi = 0$. Hence we have the following

AIMS Mathematics

Proposition 5.3. An *n*-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g, ξ, ϕ, η) admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) is ξ -projectively flat.

Again consider an *n*-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g, ξ, ϕ, η) admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . Then from definition 2.2 we know that an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold is ξ -concircularly flat if $C(X, Y)\xi = 0$, $\forall X, Y \in TM$. So taking $Z = \xi$ in (2.15) we get

$$C(X,Y)\xi = R(X,Y)\xi - \frac{\epsilon r}{n(n-1)}[\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y].$$
(5.8)

Using (2.8) in (5.8) we obtain

$$C(X,Y)\xi = [1 + \frac{\epsilon r}{n(n-1)}][\eta(X)Y - \eta(Y)X].$$

Thus from the above we can conclude that $C(X, Y)\xi = 0$ if and only if, $[1 + \frac{\epsilon r}{n(n-1)}] = 0$, i.e., if and only if, $r = -\epsilon n(n-1)$. Again since (g, ξ, λ, μ) is a conformal η -Ricci soliton, the Eq (3.3) holds and thus contracting (3.3) we obtain $r = [(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - \lambda - \mu]n - (\mu - 1)$. Thus combining both the values of r we have, $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{2}{n}) - \frac{\mu}{n} - 2\epsilon$. Therefore we can state

Proposition 5.4. An *n*-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g, ξ, ϕ, η) admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) is ξ -concircularly flat if and only if, $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{2}{n}) - \frac{\mu}{n} - 2\epsilon$.

We now assume that an *n*-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g, ξ, ϕ, η) admits a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) which satisfies the curvature condition $Q \cdot C = 0$, where C denotes the concircular curvature tensor of the manifold. Then we can write

$$Q(C(X, Y)Z) - C(QX, Y)Z - C(X, QY)Z - C(X, Y)QZ = 0.$$
(5.9)

Using (2.15) in (5.9) yields

$$Q(R(X, Y)Z) - R(QX, Y)Z - R(X, QY)Z - R(X, Y)QZ + \frac{2r}{n(n-1)}[S(Y,Z)X - S(X,Z)Y] = 0.$$
(5.10)

Taking inner product of (5.10) with respect to the vector field ξ we get

$$\begin{aligned} \eta(Q(R(X,Y)Z)) &- \eta(R(QX,Y)Z) - \eta(R(X,QY)Z) \\ &- \eta(R(X,Y)QZ) + \frac{2r}{n(n-1)} [S(Y,Z)\eta(X) - S(X,Z)\eta(Y)] = 0. \end{aligned}$$

Putting $Z = \xi$ in above we obtain

$$\eta(Q(R(X,\xi)Z)) - \eta(R(QX,\xi)Z) - \eta(R(X,Q\xi)Z) - \eta(R(X,Q\xi)Z) - \eta(R(X,\xi)QZ) + \frac{2r}{n(n-1)}[S(\xi,Z)\eta(X) - S(X,Z)] = 0.$$
(5.11)

AIMS Mathematics

Again from (2.9) we can derive

$$\eta(Q(R(X,\xi)Z)) = \eta(R(X,Q\xi)Z) = (n-1)[\epsilon\eta(X)\eta(Z) - g(X,Z)],$$
(5.12)

$$\eta(R(QX,\xi)Z) = \eta(R(X,\xi)QZ) = \epsilon[S(X,Z) + (n-1)\eta(X)\eta(Z)].$$
(5.13)

By virtue of (5.12) and (5.13), the Eq (5.11) becomes

$$\epsilon[(n-1)\eta(X)\eta(Z) + S(X,Z)] - \frac{r}{n(n-1)}[S(\xi,Z)\eta(X) - S(X,Z)] = 0.$$

Using (2.12) in above we arrive at

$$[\epsilon + \frac{r}{n(n-1)}][(n-1)\eta(X)\eta(Z) + S(X,Z)] = 0$$

Hence we can conclude that either $r = -\epsilon n(n-1)$ or,

$$S(X,Z) = -(n-1)\eta(X)\eta(Z).$$
 (5.14)

Now combining Eqs (5.14) and (3.3), we get

$$[(\lambda+\epsilon)-(\frac{p}{2}+\frac{1}{n})]g(X,Z)+(\mu-n)\eta(X)\eta(Z)=0.$$

Taking $Z = \xi$ in above yields

$$[\epsilon(\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})) + (\mu + 1 - n)]\eta(X) = 0, \quad \forall X \in TM.$$

Since $\eta(X) \neq 0$ always, from the above we can conclude that $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon(n - \mu - 1)$. Hence we can state the following

Theorem 5.5. Let (M, g) be an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $Q \cdot C = 0$, then either the scalar curvature of the manifold is constant or the manifold is a special type of η -Einstein manifold of the form (5.14) and the scalars λ and μ are related by $\lambda = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon(n - \mu - 1)$.

We conclude this section by this result on W_2 -curvature tensor. For this let us consider an *n*-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) and assume that the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $W_2(\xi, Y) \cdot S = 0$. Then we can write

$$S(W_2(\xi, Y)Z, U) + S(Z, W_2(\xi, Y)U) = 0, \quad \forall Y, Z, U \in TM.$$

Putting $U = \xi$ in above we get

$$S(W_2(\xi, Y)Z, \xi) + S(Z, W_2(\xi, Y)\xi) = 0.$$
(5.15)

Now taking $X = \xi$ in (2.16) we obtain

$$W_2(\xi, Y)Z = R(\xi, Y)Z + \frac{1}{n-1} [\epsilon \eta(Z)QY - g(Y, Z)Q\xi].$$

AIMS Mathematics

Using (2.9) in above yields

$$W_2(\xi, Y)Z = \eta(Z)Y - \epsilon g(Y, Z)\xi + \frac{1}{n-1} [\epsilon \eta(Z)QY - g(Y, Z)Q\xi].$$
(5.16)

putting $Z = \xi$ in (5.16) we arrive at

$$W_2(\xi, Y)\xi = Y - \eta(Y)\xi + \frac{\epsilon}{n-1}[QY - \eta(Y)Q\xi].$$
(5.17)

Using (5.16) and (5.17) in the Eq (5.15) and taking (2.1), (2.12) into account, we get

$$S(Y,Z) + \frac{\epsilon}{n-1} [S(Z,QY) - \eta(Y)S(Z,Q\xi)] + \epsilon(n-1)g(Y,Z) - \epsilon\eta(Z)\eta(QY) + g(Y,Z)\eta(Q\xi) = 0.$$
(5.18)

Taking $Y = \xi$ and taking (2.12) and (2.13) into account, the previous equation identically satisfies:

$$\epsilon(n-1)g(\xi,Z) + (n-1)\eta(Z) - \epsilon(n-1)g(\xi,Z) + S(Z,\xi) - S(Z,\xi)(n-1)eta(Z) = 0.$$
(5.19)

Thus we arrive at the following

Theorem 5.6. Every *n*-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g) admitting a conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) satisfies the curvature condition $W_2(\xi, Y) \cdot S = 0$.

6. Conformal η -Ricci solitons on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds with torse-forming vector field

A vector field V on an *n*-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold is said to be torse-forming vector field [56] if

$$\nabla_X V = fX + \gamma(X)V, \tag{6.1}$$

where *f* is a smooth function and γ is a 1-form.

Now let (g, ξ, λ, μ) be a conformal η -Ricci soliton on an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g, ξ, ϕ, η) and assume that the Reeb vector field ξ of the manifold is a torse-forming vector field. Then ξ being a torse-forming vector field, by definiton from Eq (6.1) we have

$$\nabla_X \xi = f X + \gamma(X) \xi, \tag{6.2}$$

 $\forall X \in TM$, f being a smooth function and γ is a 1-form. Recalling the Eq (2.6) and taking inner product on both sides with ξ we can write

$$g(\nabla_X \xi, \xi) = \epsilon g(X, \xi) - \epsilon \eta(X) g(\xi, \xi),$$

which, in view of (2.2), reduces to

$$g(\nabla_X \xi, \xi) = 0. \tag{6.3}$$

Again from the Eq (6.2), applying inner product with ξ we obtain

$$g(\nabla_X \xi, \xi) = \epsilon f \eta(X) + \epsilon \gamma(X). \tag{6.4}$$

AIMS Mathematics

Combining (6.3) and (6.4) we get, $\gamma = -f\eta$. Thus for torse-forming vector field ξ in ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds, we have

$$\nabla_X \xi = f(X - \eta(X)\xi). \tag{6.5}$$

Since (g, ξ, λ, μ) is a conformal η -Ricci soliton, from (1.2) we can write

$$g(\nabla_X \xi, Y) + g(\nabla_Y \xi, X) + 2S(X, Y) + [2\lambda - (p + \frac{2}{n})]g(X, Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0.$$

In view of (6.5) the above becomes

$$S(X,Y) = [(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - (\lambda + f)]g(X,Y) + (\epsilon f - \mu)\eta(X)\eta(Y).$$
(6.6)

This implies that the manifold is an η -Einstein manifold. Therefore we have the following

Theorem 6.1. Let (g, ξ, λ, μ) be a conformal η -Ricci soliton on an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g), with torse-forming vector field ξ , then the manifold becomes an η -Einstein manifold of the form (6.6).

In particular if ξ is spacelike, i.e., $\epsilon = 1$, then for $\mu = f$, the Eq (6.6) reduces to

$$S(X,Y) = [(\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - (\lambda + f)]g(X,Y),$$
(6.7)

which implies that the manifold is an Einstein manifold. Similarly for ξ timelike and for $\mu = -f$, from (6.6) we can say that the manifold becomes an Einstein manifold. Therefore we can state

Corollary 6.2. Let (g, ξ, λ, μ) be a conformal η -Ricci soliton on an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g), with torse-forming vector field ξ , then the manifold becomes an Einstein manifold according as ξ is spacelike and $\mu = f$, or ξ is timelike and $\mu = -f$.

7. Gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton on ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold

This section is devoted to the study of ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds admitting gradient conformal η -Ricci solitons and we try to characterize the potential vector field of the soliton. First, we prove the following lemma which will be used later in this section.

Lemma 7.1. On an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) , the following relations hold

$$g((\nabla_Z Q)X, Y) = g((\nabla_Z Q)Y, X), \tag{7.1}$$

$$(\nabla_Z Q)\xi = -\epsilon QZ - (n-1)Z, \qquad (7.2)$$

for all smooth vector fields X, Y, Z on M.

Proof. Since we know that the Ricci tensor is symmetric, we have g(QX, Y) = g(X, QY). Covariantly differentiating this relation along Z and using g(QX, Y) = S(X, Y) we can easily obtain (7.1).

To prove the second part, let us recall Eq (2.13) and taking its covariant derivative in the direction of an arbitrary smooth vector field Z we get

$$(\nabla_Z Q)\xi + Q(\nabla_Z \xi) + \epsilon(n-1)\nabla_Z \xi = 0.$$
(7.3)

In view of (2.6) and (2.13), the previous equation gives the desired result (7.2). This completes the proof. \Box

Now, we consider ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds admitting gradient conformal η -Ricci solitons i.e., when the vector field V is gradient of some smooth function f on M. Thus if V = Df, where Df = gradf, then the conformal η -Ricci soliton equation becomes

$$Hess f + S + [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n})]g + \mu\eta \otimes \eta = 0,$$
(7.4)

where Hess f denotes the Hessian of the smooth function f. In this case the vector field V is called the potential vector field and the smooth function f is called the potential function.

Lemma 7.2. If (g, V, λ, μ) is a gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton on an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) , then the Riemannian curvature tensor R satisfies

$$R(X,Y)Df = [(\nabla_Y Q)X - (\nabla_X Q)Y] + \epsilon \mu[\eta(X)Y - \eta(Y)X].$$
(7.5)

Proof. Since the data (g, V, λ, μ) is a gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton, Eq (7.4) holds and it can be rewritten as

$$\nabla_X Df = -QX - [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]X - \mu\eta(X)\xi,$$
(7.6)

for all smooth vector field X on M and for some smooth function f such that V = Df = gradf. Covariantly diffrentiating the previous equation along an arbitrary vector field Y and using (2.6) we obtain

$$\nabla_{Y}\nabla_{X}Df = -\nabla_{Y}(QX) - [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})]\nabla_{Y}X -\mu[(\nabla_{Y}\eta(X))\xi + \epsilon(Y - \eta(Y)\xi)\eta(X)].$$
(7.7)

Interchanging X and Y in (7.7) gives

$$\nabla_X \nabla_Y Df = -\nabla_X (QY) - [\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})] \nabla_X Y -\mu[(\nabla_X \eta(Y))\xi + \epsilon(X - \eta(X)\xi)\eta(Y)].$$
(7.8)

Again in view of (7.6) we can write

$$\nabla_{[X,Y]}Df = -Q(\nabla_X Y - \nabla_Y X) - \mu\eta(\nabla_X Y - \nabla_Y X)\xi$$

-[$\lambda - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{2n+1})$]($\nabla_X Y - \nabla_Y X$). (7.9)

Therefore substituting the values from (7.7), (7.8) (7.9) in the following well-known Riemannian curvature formula

$$R(X,Y)Z = \nabla_X \nabla_Y Z - \nabla_Y \nabla_X Z - \nabla_{[X,Y]} Z,$$

we obtain our desired expression (7.5). This completes the proof.

Remark 7.3. A particular case of the above result for the case $\epsilon = 1$ is proved in Lemma 4.1 in the paper [18].

Now we proceed to prove our main result of this section.

AIMS Mathematics

Volume 7, Issue 4, 5408–5430.

Theorem 7.4. Let (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) be an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting a gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton (g, V, λ, μ) , then the potential vector field V is pointwise collinear with the characteristic vector field ξ .

Proof. Recalling the Eq (2.8) and taking its inner product with Df yields

$$g(R(X, Y)\xi, Df) = (Yf)\eta(X) - (Xf)\eta(Y).$$

Again we know that $g(R(X, Y)\xi, Df) = -g(R(X, Y)Df, \xi)$ and in view of this the previous equation becomes

$$g(R(X, Y)Df, \xi) = (Xf)\eta(Y) - (Yf)\eta(X).$$
(7.10)

Now taking inner product of (7.5) with ξ and using (7.2) we obtain

$$g(R(X, Y)Df, \xi) = 0.$$
 (7.11)

Thus combining (7.10) and (7.11) we arrive at

$$(Xf)\eta(Y) = (Yf)\eta(X).$$

Taking $Y = \xi$ in the foregoing equation gives us $(Xf) = (\xi f)\eta(X)$, which essentially implies $g(X, Df) = g(X, \epsilon(\xi f)\xi)$. Since this equation is true for all *X*, we can conclude that

$$V = Df = \epsilon(\xi f)\xi. \tag{7.12}$$

Hence, V is pointwise collinear with ξ and this completes the proof.

Remark 7.5. Since, the above result is independent of ϵ , it is also true for $\epsilon = 1$, i.e., for the case of Kenmotsu manifold (for details see [18]).

Corollary 7.6. If (g, V, λ, μ) is a gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton on an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) , then the direction of the potential vector field V is same or opposite to the direction of the characteristic vector field ξ , according as ξ is spacelike or timelike vector field.

Again covariantly differentiating (7.12) and then combining it with (7.6), and after that taking $X = \xi$ in the derived expression we obtain

$$\nabla^2_{\xi} f = \lambda + \mu - (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) - \epsilon(n-1).$$

Hence we can conclude the following

Corollary 7.7. If $(g, V = Df, \lambda, \mu)$ is a gradient conformal η -Ricci soliton on an n-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) , then at the particular point ξ , the potential function f satisfies the Laplace's equation $\nabla^2 f = 0$, if and only if,

$$\lambda + \mu = (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{n}) + \epsilon(n-1).$$

AIMS Mathematics

8. Example of a 5-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold admitting conformal η -Ricci soliton

Let us consider the 5-dimensional manifold $M = \{(u_1, u_2, v_1, v_2, w) \in \mathbb{R}^5 : w \neq 0\}$. Define a set of vector fields $\{e_i : 1 \le i \le 5\}$ on the manifold M given by

$$e_1 = \epsilon w \frac{\partial}{\partial u_1}, \ e_2 = \epsilon w \frac{\partial}{\partial u_2}, \ e_3 = \epsilon w \frac{\partial}{\partial v_1}, \ e_4 = \epsilon w \frac{\partial}{\partial v_2}, \ e_5 = -\epsilon w \frac{\partial}{\partial w}.$$

Let us define the indefinite metric g on M by

$$g(e_i, e_j) = \begin{cases} \epsilon, & \text{for } i = j \\ 0, & \text{for } i \neq j \end{cases}$$

for all *i*, *j* = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5. Now considering $e_5 = \xi$, let us take the 1-form η , on the manifold *M*, defined by

$$\eta(U) = \epsilon g(U, e_5) = \epsilon g(U, \xi), \quad \forall U \in TM.$$

Then it can be observed that $\eta(e_5 = 1)$. Let us define the (1, 1) tensor field ϕ on M as

$$\phi(e_1) = e_2, \ \phi(e_2) = -e_1, \ \phi(e_3) = e_4, \ \phi(e_4) = -e_3, \ \phi(e_5) = 0.$$

Then using the linearity of g and ϕ it can be easily checked that

$$\phi^2(U) = -U + \eta(U)\xi, \ g(\phi U, \phi V) = g(U, V) - \epsilon \eta(U)\eta(V), \ \forall U, V \in TM.$$

Hence the structure $(\phi, \xi, \eta, g, \epsilon)$ defines an indefinite almost contact structure on the manifold *M*. Now, using the definitions of Lie bracket, direct computations give us

 $[e_i, e_5] = \epsilon e_i; \quad \forall i = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 \text{ and all other } [e_i, e_j] \text{ vanishes. Again the Riemannian connection } \nabla \text{ of the metric } g \text{ is defined by the well-known Koszul's formula which is given by}$

$$2g(\nabla_X Y, Z) = Xg(Y, Z) + Yg(Z, X) - Zg(X, Y) -g(X, [Y, Z]) + g(Y, [Z, X]) + g(Z, [X, Y]).$$

Using the above formula one can easily calculate that

 $\nabla_{e_i}e_i = -\epsilon e_5$, $\nabla_{e_i}e_5 = -\epsilon e_i$; for i=1,2,3,4 and all other $\nabla_{e_i}e_j$ vanishes. Thus it follows that $\nabla_X \xi = \epsilon (X - \eta(X)\xi)$, $\forall X \in TM$. Therefore the manifold (M, g) is a 5-dimensional ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold.

Now using the well-known formula $R(X, Y)Z = \nabla_X \nabla_Y Z - \nabla_Y \nabla_X Z - \nabla_{[X,Y]} Z$ the non-vanishing components of the Riemannian curvature tensor *R* can be easily obtained as

$$\begin{aligned} R(e_1, e_2)e_2 &= R(e_1, e_3)e_3 = R(e_1, e_4)e_4 = R(e_1, e_5)e_5 = -e_1, \\ R(e_1, e_2)e_1 &= e_2, \ R(e_1, e_3)e_1 = R(e_1, e_3)e_2 = R(e_1, e_3)e_5 = e_3, \\ R(e_1, e_2)e_3 &= R(e_1, e_2)e_4 = R(e_1, e_2)e_5 = -e_2, \ R(e_1, e_2)e_4 = -e_3, \\ R(e_1, e_2)e_2 &= R(e_1, e_2)e_1 = R(e_1, e_2)e_4 = R(e_1, e_2)e_3 = e_5, \\ R(e_1, e_2)e_1 &= R(e_1, e_2)e_2 = R(e_1, e_2)e_3 = R(e_1, e_2)e_5 = e_4. \end{aligned}$$

AIMS Mathematics

From the above values of the curvature tensor, we obtain the components of the Ricci tensor as follows

$$S(e_1, e_1) = S(e_2, e_2) = S(e_3, e_3) = S(e_4, e_4) = S(e_5, e_5) = -4.$$
(8.1)

Therefore using (8.1) in the Eq (3.3) we can calculate $\lambda = 3\epsilon + (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{5})$ and $\mu = 1$. Hence we can say that for $\lambda = 3\epsilon + (\frac{p}{2} + \frac{1}{5})$ and $\mu = 1$, the data (g, ξ, λ, μ) defines a 5-dimensional conformal η -Ricci soliton on the manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) .

9. Conclusions

The effect of conformal η -Ricci solitons have been studied within the framework of ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds. Here we have characterized ϵ -Kenmotsu manifolds, which admit conformal η -Ricci soliton, in terms of Einstein and η -Einstein manifolds. It is well-known that for $\epsilon = 1$ and spacelike Reeb vector field ξ , the ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold becomes a Kenmotsu manifold. Also we know that Einstein manifolds, Kenmotsu manifolds are very important classes of manifolds having extensive use in mathematical physics and general relativity. Hence it is interesting to investigate conformal η -Ricci solitons on Sasakian manifolds as well as in other contact metric manifolds. Also there is further scope of research in this direction within the framework of various complex manifolds like Kaehler manifolds, Hopf manifolds etc.

Acknowledgments

This work was funded by National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 12101168), Zhejiang Provincial Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. LQ22A010014) and National Board for Higher Mathematics (NBHM), India (Ref No: 0203/11/2017/RD-II/10440).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. E. Barbosa, J. E. Ribeiro, On conformal solutions of the Yamabe flow, *Arch. Math.*, **101** (2013), 79–89. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00013-013-0533-0
- 2. A. Barros, J. E. Ribeiro, Some characterizations for compact almost Ricci solitons, *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **140** (2012), 1033–1040. https://doi.org/10.1090/S0002-9939-2011-11029-3
- 3. A. Barros, R. Batista, J. E. Ribeiro, Compact almost Ricci solitons with constant scalar curvature are gradient, *Monatsh Math.*, **174** (2014), 29–39. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00605-013-0581-3
- A. M. Blaga, Almost η-Ricci solitons in (*LCS*)_n-manifolds, *B. Belg. Math. Soc.-Sim.*, **25** (2018), 641–653. https://doi.org/10.36045/bbms/1547780426
- 5. A. M. Blaga, η -Ricci solitons on para-Kenmotsu manifolds, *Balkan J. Geom. Appl.*, **20** (2015), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/nep.12552_10

- N. Basu, A. Bhattacharyya, Conformal Ricci soliton in Kenmotsu manifold, *Glo. J. Adv. Res. Clas. Mod. Geom.*, 4 (2015), 15–21.
- A. Bejancu, K. L. Duggal, Real hypersurfaces of indefinite Kaehler manifolds, *Int. J. Math. Sci.*, 16 (1993), 545–556. https://doi.org/10.1155/S0161171293000675
- 8. G. Calvaruso, A. Perrone, Ricci solitons in three-dimensional paracontact geometry, J. Geom. *Phys.*, **98** (2015), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomphys.2015.07.021
- 9. J. T. Cho, R. Sharma, Contact geometry and Ricci solitons, *Int. J. Geom. Methods M.*, 7 (2010), 951–960.
- C. Calin, M. Crasmareanu, η-Ricci solitons on Hopf hypersurfaces in complex space forms, *Rev. Roum. Math. Pures*, **57** (2012), 53–63.
- 11. H. D. Cao, B. Chow, Recent developments on the Ricci flow, *Bull. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **36** (1999), 59–74. https://doi.org/10.1090/S0273-0979-99-00773-9
- 12. J. T. Cho, M. Kimura, Ricci solitons and real hypersurfaces in a complex space forms, *Tohoku Math. J.*, **36** (2009), 205–212.
- S. Dey, S. Roy, *-η-Ricci Soliton within the framework of Sasakian manifold, J. Dyn. Syst. Geom. The., 18 (2020), 163–181.
- 14. U. C. De, A. Sarkar, On *ε*-Kenmotsu manifold, *Hardonic J.*, **32** (2009), 231–242. https://doi.org/10.5414/ALP32242
- T. Dutta, N. Basu, A. Bhattacharyya, Conformal Ricci soliton in Lorentzian α-Sasakian manifolds, Acta Univ. Palac. Olomuc. Fac. Rerum Natur. Math., 55 (2016), 57–70.
- 16. A. E. Fischer, An introduction to conformal Ricci flow, *Clas. Quan. Grav.*, **21** (2004), 171–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-5347(18)38074-1
- D. Ganguly, S. Dey, A. Ali, A. Bhattacharyya, Conformal Ricci soliton and Quasi-Yamabe soliton on generalized Sasakian space form, *J. Geom. Phys.*, 169 (2021), 104339. https://doi.org/10.1142/S1793557122500358
- 18. D. Ganguly, Kenmotsu metric as conformal η -Ricci soliton, 2021.
- 19. A. Gray, Einstein like manifolds which are not Einstein, Goem. Dedicata, 7 (1978), 259-280.
- 20. A. Haseeb, Some results on projective curvature tensor in an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold, *Palestine J. Math.*, **6** (2017), 196–203.
- 21. A. Haseeb, M. A. Khan, M. D. Siddiqi, Some more results on an ϵ -Kenmotsu manifold with a semi-symmetric metric connection, *Acta Math. Univ. Comen.*, **85** (2016), 9–20.
- R. S. Hamilton, Three manifolds with positive Ricci curvature, J. Differ. Geom., 17 (1982), 255– 306. https://doi.org/10.1086/wp.17.4.1180866
- 23. R. S. Hamilton, The formation of singularities in the Ricci flow, Surveys Diff. Geom., 1995, 7–136.
- 24. S. K. Hui, S. K. Yadav, A. Patra, Almost conformal Ricci solitons on *f*-Kenmotsu manifolds, *Khayyam J. Math.*, **5** (2019), 89–104.
- 25. K. Kenmotsu, A class of almost contact Riemannian manifold, *Tohoku Math. J.*, **24** (1972), 93–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-460X(72)90125-3

- 26. Y. L. Li, M. A. Lone, U. A. Wani, Biharmonic submanifolds of Kaehler product manifolds, *AIMS Math.*, **6** (2021), 9309–9321. https://doi.org/10.3934/math.2021541
- 27. Y. L. Li, A. Ali, R. Ali, A general inequality for CR-warped products in generalized Sasakian space form and its applications, *Adv. Math. Phys.*, **2021** (2021), 5777554. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/5777554
- 28. Y. L. Li, A. H. Alkhaldi, A. Ali, Geometric mechanics on warped product semi-slant submanifold of generalized complex space forms, *Adv. Math. Phys.*, **2021** (2021), 5900801. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/5900801
- 29. Y. L. Li, A. Ali, F. Mofarreh, A. Abolarinwa, R. Ali, Some eigenvalues estimate for the φ-Laplace operator on slant submanifolds of Sasakian space forms, *J. Funct. Space.*, **2021** (2021), 6195939. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/6195939
- 30. Y. L. Li, F. Mofarreh, N. Alluhaibi, Homology groups in warped product submanifolds in hyperbolic spaces, *J. Math.*, **2021** (2021), 8554738. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/8554738
- 31. Y. L. Li, L. I. Pişcoran, A. Ali, A. H. Alkhaldi, Null homology groups and stable currents in warped product submanifolds of Euclidean spaces, *Symmetry*, 13 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3390/sym13091587
- 32. Y. L. Li, S. Y. Liu, Z. G. Wang, Tangent developables and Darboux developables of framed curves, *Topol. Appl.*, **301** (2021), 107526. doi:10.1016/j.topol.2020.107526
- 33. Y. L. Li, Z. G. Wang, Lightlike tangent developables in de Sitter 3-space, J. Geom. Phys., 164 (2021), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomphys.2021.104188
- 34. Y. L. Li, Z. G. Wang, T. H. Zhao, Geometric algebra of singular ruled surfaces, Adv. Appl. Clifford Al., 31 (2021), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00006-020-01097-1
- 35. Y. L. Li, Y. S. Zhu, Q. Y. Sun, Singularities and dualities of pedal curves in pseudo-hyperbolic and de Sitter space, *Int. J. Geom. Methods M.*, **18** (2021), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1142/S0219887821500080
- 36. Y. L. Li, Z. G. Wang, T. H. Zhao, Slant helix of order n and sequence of darboux developables of principal-directional curves, *Math. Methods Appl. Sci.*, 43 (2020), 9888–9903. https://doi.org/10.1002/mma.6663
- 37. Y. L. Li, A. H. Alkhaldi, A. Ali, L. I. Pişcoran, On the topology of warped product pointwise semi-slant submanifolds with positive curvature, *Mathematics*, 9 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3390/math9243156
- 38. G. Perelman, The entropy formula for the Ricci flow and its geometric applications, 2002.
- 39. G. P. Pokhariyal, R. S. Mishra, The curvature tensor and their relativistic significance, *Yokohoma Math. J.*, **18** (1970), 105–108. https://doi.org/10.1501/Ilhfak_0000001354
- 40. S. Roy, A. Bhattacharyya, Conformal Ricci solitons on 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifold, *Jordan J. Math. Statis.*, **13** (2020), 89–109.
- S. Roy, S. Dey, A. Bhattacharyya, S. K. Hui, *-Conformal η-Ricci Soliton on Sasakian manifold, *Asian-Eur. J. Math.*, 2021, 2250035. https://doi.org/10.1142/S1793557122500358
- 42. S. Roy, S. Dey, A. Bhattacharyya, Yamabe Solitons on (*LCS*)_n-manifolds, *J. Dyn. Syst. Geom. The.*, **18** (2020), 261–279. https://doi.org/10.1080/1726037X.2020.1868100

- 43. S. Roy, S. Dey, A. Bhattacharyya, Some results on η -Yamabe Solitons in 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifold, 2020.
- 44. S. Roy, S. Dey, A. Bhattacharyya, Geometrical structure in a perfect fluid spacetime with conformal Ricci-Yamabe soliton, 2021.
- S. Roy, S. Dey, A. Bhattacharyya, Conformal Einstein soliton within the framework of para-Kähler manifold, *Diff. Geom. Dyn. Syst.*, 23 (2021), 235–243.
- 46. S. Roy, S. Dey, A. Bhattacharyya, A Kenmotsu metric as a conformal η-Einstein soliton, *Carpathian Math. Publ.*, **13** (2021), 110–118. https://doi.org/10.15330/cmp.13.1.110-118
- 47. S. Roy, S. Dey, A. Bhattacharyya, Conformal Yamabe soliton and *-Yamabe soliton with torse forming potential vector field, 2021.
- 48. S. Sarkar, S. Dey, *-Conformal η -Ricci Soliton within the framework of Kenmotsu manifolds, 2021.
- 49. S. Sarkar, S. Dey, A. Bhattacharyya, Ricci solitons and certain related metrics on 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifold, 2021.
- 50. S. Sarkar, S. Dey, X. Chen, Certain results of conformal and *-conformal Ricci soliton on paracosymplectic and para-Kenmotsu manifolds, *Filomat*, 2021.
- 51. M. D. Siddiqi, Conformal η -Ricci solitons in δ -Lorentzian trans Sasakian manifolds, *Int. J. Maps Math.*, **1** (2018), 15–34.
- 52. R. N. Singh, S. K. Pandey, G. Pandey, K. Tiwari, On a semi-symmetric metric connection in an *ϵ*-Kenmotsu manifold, *Commun. Korean Math. Soc.*, **29** (2014), 331–343. https://doi.org/10.4134/CKMS.2014.29.2.331
- 53. X. Xu, X. Chao, Two theorems on ϵ -Sasakian manifolds, Int. J. Math. Sci., 21 (1998), 249–254.
- 54. K. Yano, Concircular geometry I. Concircular transformations, *Proc. Impe. Acad. Tokyo.*, **16** (1940), 195–200. https://doi.org/10.3792/pia/1195579139
- 55. K. Yano, M. Kon, Structures on manifolds, Ser. Pure Math., 1984.
- 56. K. Yano, On torse-forming directions in Riemannian spaces, *Proc. Impe. Acad. Tokyo.*, **20** (1944), 701–705. https://doi.org/10.3792/pia/1195572958



© 2022 the Author(s), licensee AIMS Press. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0) ISSN 2075-9827 e-ISSN 2313-0210 Carpathian Math. Publ. 2021, **13** (2), 460–474 doi:10.15330/cmp.13.2.460-474



On trans-Sasakian 3-manifolds as η -Einstein solitons

Ganguly D.^{1,⊠}, Dey S.², Bhattacharyya A.¹

The present paper is to deliberate the class of 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifolds which admits η -Einstein solitons. We have studied η -Einstein solitons on 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifolds where the Ricci tensors are Codazzi type and cyclic parallel. We have also discussed some curvature conditions admitting η -Einstein solitons on 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifolds and the vector field is torse-forming. We have also shown an example of 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifold with respect to η -Einstein soliton to verify our results.

Key words and phrases: Einstein soliton, η -Einstein soliton, trans-Sasakian manifold, Codazzi type Ricci tensor, *C*-Bochner curvature tensor.

² Department of Mathematics, Bidhan Chandra College, Asansol, India

 \boxtimes Corresponding author

E-mail: dipengangulyl@gmail.com(Ganguly D.), santu.mathju@gmail.com(Dey S.), bhattachar1968@yahoo.co.in(Bhattacharyya A.)

Introduction

In 2016, G. Catino and L. Mazzieri [7] introduced the notion of Einstein soliton, which can be viewed as a self-similar solution to the Einstein flow

$$\frac{\partial g}{\partial t} = -2\Big(S - \frac{r}{2}g\Big),$$

where *g* is the Riemannian metric, *S* is the Ricci tensor and *r* is the scalar curvature.

It can be easily seen that the Einstein soliton is analogous to the Ricci soliton, which is also generated by a self-similar solution to the very famous geometric revolution equation Ricci flow. The term "Ricci soliton" [11] arose as a need for a more general self-similar solution, to the Ricci flow equation, than the uniformly shrinking or expanding solutions in case of Einstein manifolds. It is a well-known fact now that the study of Ricci soliton has tremendous contribution in solving the longstanding Thurston's geometric conjecture. Similarly it is also interesting to study the Einstein soliton from various directions to solve many physical and geometrical problems. In [7], the authors characterized the nature of complete three-dimensional, positively curved, Riemannian manifold satisfying gradient Einstein soliton equation by $\eta \otimes \eta$, called the η -Einstein soliton. The mathematical expression for the η -Einstein soliton [1] is given by the following equation

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g + 2S + (2\lambda - r)g + 2\mu\eta \otimes \eta = 0, \tag{1}$$

УДК 514.76, 514.764.22

¹ Department of Mathematics, Jadavpur University, Kolkata, India

²⁰²⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification: 53C25, 53C15, 53C21.

The first author D. Ganguly is thankful to the National Board for Higher Mathematics (NBHM), India, (Ref No: 0203/11/2017/RD-II/10440) for their financial support.

where \mathcal{L}_{ξ} denotes the Lie derivative along the direction of the vector field ξ , *S* is the Ricci tensor, *r* is the scalar curvature and λ , μ are real constants. The η -Einstein soliton is called shrinking if $\lambda < 0$, steady if $\lambda = 0$ and expanding if $\lambda > 0$. In particular, if $\mu = 0$, the η -Einstein soliton reduces to the Einstein soliton (g, ξ , λ).

J. T. Cho and M. Kimura [6] introduced the concept of η -Ricci soliton and later C. Calin and M. Crasmareanu [5] studied it on Hopf hypersufaces in complex space forms. A Riemannian manifold (M, g) is said to admit an η -Ricci soliton if for a smooth vector field V, the metric g satisfies the following equation

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g + 2S + 2\lambda g + 2\mu\eta \otimes \eta = 0, \tag{2}$$

where \mathcal{L}_{ξ} is the Lie derivative along the direction of ξ , *S* is the Ricci tensor and λ , μ are real constants. It is to be noted that if the manifold has constant scalar curvature, then the data $(g, \xi, \lambda - \frac{r}{2}, \mu)$ of the equation (1) satisfies the equation (2), i.e. the η -Einstein soliton reduces to an η -Ricci soliton. Hence we can remark that the two notions are different for the manifolds of non-constant scalar curvature and if the scalar curvature of the manifold is constant then the concepts of η -Ricci soliton and η -Einstein soliton coincide.

In [18], the authors studied Ricci solitons within the framework of three-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifolds. They proved that if a compact three-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifold with constant scalar curvature admits Ricci soliton, then the manifold is either α -Sasakian or β -Kenmotsu. Later T. Dutta et al. [8] investigated three-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifolds, which admits conformal Ricci soliton. Furthermore they showed that on a three-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifold, under some condition on the potential vector field, almost conformal Ricci soliton. Very recently, in [15] the author studied η -Ricci soliton on three-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifolds satisfying various tensorial conditions $S \cdot R = 0, R \cdot S = 0, W_2 \cdot S = 0$ and $S \cdot W_2 = 0$.

Motivated by the above papers, here we propose to study various geometric aspects of three-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifolds admitting η -Einstein solitons.

The paper is organised as follows. After a brief introduction, in Section 2, we recall some basic knowledge on trans-Sasakian manifolds. Section 3 deals with 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifolds admitting η -Einstein solitons and also the nature of the soliton is dicussed. In this section, we have constructed an example of a 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifold satisfying η -Einstein soliton. In Section 4, we have contrived η -Einstein solitons in 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifolds in terms of Codazzi type and cyclic parallel Ricci tensor and characterized the nature of the manifold. Sections 5, 6, 7, 8 are devoted to the study of some curvature conditions $R \cdot S = 0$, $W_2 \cdot S = 0$, $R \cdot E = 0$, $B \cdot S = 0$, $S \cdot R = 0$ admitting η -Einstein solitons in 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifold. In last section we have studied torse forming vector field when 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifolds admitting η -Einstein solitons.

1 Preliminaries

An *n*-dimensional smooth Riemannian manifold (M, g) is said to be an almost contact metric manifold [3] if it admits a (1, 1) tensor field ϕ , a characteristic vector field ξ , a global 1-form η and an indefinite metric g on M satisfying the following relations

$$\begin{aligned}
\phi^2 &= -I + \eta \otimes \xi, \\
\eta(\xi) &= 1,
\end{aligned}$$
(3)

$$\eta(X) = g(X,\xi),$$

$$g(\phi X, \phi Y) = g(X, Y) - \eta(X)\eta(Y), \qquad (4)$$

$$g(X, \phi Y) + g(Y, \phi X) = 0,$$

for all vector fields $X, Y \in TM$, where TM is the tangent bundle of the manifold M. Also it can be easily seen that $\phi(\xi) = 0$, $\eta(\phi X) = 0$ and rank of ϕ is (n - 1).

The geometry of the almost Hermitian manifold $(M \times \mathbb{R}, G, J)$ gives rise to the geometry of the almost contact metric manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) , where *G* is product metric of the product manifold $M \times \mathbb{R}$ with the complex structure *J* defined by

$$J(X, f\frac{d}{dt}) = \left(\phi X - f\xi, \eta(X)\frac{d}{dt}\right),$$

for all vector fields *X* on the manifold *M* and smooth function *f* on the product manifold $M \times \mathbb{R}$. An almost contact metric manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) is called a trans-Sasakian manifold if the product manifold $(M \times \mathbb{R}, G, J)$ belongs to the class W_4 [10]. The notion of trans-Sasakian manifolds was introduced by J.A. Oubina [14] and later J.C. Marrero [12] completely characterized the local structures of trans-Sasakian manifolds of dimension $n \ge 5$. The expression for which an almost contact metric manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) becomes a trans-Sasakian manifold is given by

$$(\nabla_X \phi)(Y) = \alpha[g(X, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X] + \beta[g(\phi X, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)\phi X],$$
(5)

for all $X, Y \in TM$ and for some smooth functions α, β on the manifold M. Then such kind of manifold is called a trans-Sasakian manifold of type (α, β) . In particular trans-Sasakian manifolds of type (0,0), $(\alpha, 0)$ and $(0, \beta)$ are called cosymplectic, α -Sasakian and β -Kenmotsu manifolds respectively.

In what follows, by a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold, we mean a 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifold (M, g, ϕ, ξ, η) of type (α, β) and we will use the notation (M, g) to denote it throughout this article. Now from the expression (5) it can be derived that

$$\nabla_X \xi = -\alpha \phi(X) + \beta (X - \eta(X)\xi), \tag{6}$$

$$(\nabla_X \eta)(Y) = -\alpha g(\phi(X), Y) + \beta g(\phi(X), \phi(Y)), \tag{7}$$

for all vector fields X, Y in TM. Again from equation (20) of corollary 4.2 in the paper [19], the Riemannian curvature tensor in a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) is given by

$$\begin{split} R(X,Y)Z &= \left(\frac{r}{2} + 2\xi\beta - 2(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)\right) \left[g(Y,Z)X - g(X,Z)Y\right] \\ &- g(Y,Z) \left[\left(\frac{r}{2} + \xi\beta - 3(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)\right)\eta(X)\xi - \eta(X)(\phi(\operatorname{grad}\alpha) - \operatorname{grad}\beta) + (X\beta + (\phi X)\alpha)\xi\right] \\ &+ g(X,Z) \left[\left(\frac{r}{2} + \xi\beta - 3(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)\right)\eta(Y)\xi - \eta(Y)(\phi(\operatorname{grad}\alpha) - \operatorname{grad}\beta) + (Y\beta + (\phi Y)\alpha)\xi\right] \\ &- \left[(Z\beta + (\phi Z)\alpha)\eta(Y) + (Y\beta + (\phi Y)\alpha)\eta(Z) + \left(\frac{r}{2} + \xi\beta - 3(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)\right)\eta(Y)\eta(Z)\right]X \\ &+ \left[(Z\beta + (\phi Z)\alpha)\eta(X) + (X\beta + (\phi X)\alpha)\eta(Z) + \left(\frac{r}{2} + \xi\beta - 3(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)\right)\eta(X)\eta(Z)\right]Y. \end{split}$$

Furthermore, in a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g), if the functions α , β are constants then, taking $Z = \xi$ (similarly for the second relation taking $X = \xi$ and taking $X = Z = \xi$ for the third relation) in the above equation, the following relations can easily be deduced

$$R(X,Y)\xi = (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)[\eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y],$$
(8)

$$R(\xi, X)Y = (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)[g(X, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X],$$
(9)

$$R(\xi, X)\xi = (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)[\eta(X)\xi - X].$$
(10)

Also, taking both α , β constant in corollary 4.2 in [19], we obtain the relations for the Ricci tensor

$$S(X,Y) = \left[\frac{r}{2} - (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)\right] g(X,Y) - \left[\frac{r}{2} - 3(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)\right] \eta(X)\eta(Y),$$

$$S(X,\xi) = 2(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)\eta(X),$$
(11)

for all vector fields *X*, *Y* in *TM* and where *R* is the curvature tensor and *S* is the Ricci tensor.

Definition 1. A trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) is said to be an η -Einstein manifold if its Ricci tensor S is of the form

$$S(X,Y) = ag(X,Y) + b\eta(X)\eta(Y),$$

for all $X, Y \in TM$ and smooth functions *a*, *b* on the manifold (M, g).

2 η -Einstein solitons on trans-Sasakian 3-manifolds

Let us consider a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) admitting an η -Einstein soliton given by the data (g, ξ , λ , μ). Then from equation (1) we can write

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) + 2S(X,Y) + [2\lambda - r]g(X,Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0$$
(12)

for all $X, Y \in TM$.

Again from the well-known formula $(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) = g(\nabla_X\xi,Y) + g(\nabla_Y\xi,X)$ of Lie-derivative and using (6), we obtain for a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) = 2\beta[g(X,Y) - 2\beta\eta(X)\eta(Y)].$$
(13)

Now in view of the equations (12) and (13) we get

$$S(X,Y) = \left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta\right)g(X,Y) + (\beta - \mu)\eta(X)\eta(Y).$$
(14)

This shows that the manifold (*M*, *g*) is an η -Einstein manifold. Also from equation (14) replacing $Y = \xi$ we find that

$$S(X,\xi) = \left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu\right)\eta(X).$$
(15)

Compairing the above equation (15) with (11) yields

$$r = 4(\alpha^2 - \beta^2) + 2\lambda + 2\mu.$$
 (16)

Again, considering an orthonormal basis $\{e_1, e_2, e_3\}$ of (M, g) and then setting $X = Y = e_i$ in equation (14) and summing over i = 1, 2, 3 we get

$$r = 6\lambda + 4\beta + 2\mu. \tag{17}$$

Finally combining equations (16) and (17) we arrive at

$$\lambda = (\alpha^2 - \beta^2) - \beta.$$
(18)

Thus the above discussion leads to the following result.

Theorem 1. If a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) admits an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) , then the manifold (M, g) becomes an η -Einstein manifold of constant scalar curvature $r = 6\lambda + 4\beta + 2\mu$. Furthermore, the soliton is shrinking, steady or expanding according as $\alpha^2 < \beta(\beta + 1), \alpha^2 = \beta(\beta + 1), \alpha^2 > \beta(\beta + 1)$ respectively.

Example 1. Let us consider the 3-dimensional manifold $M = \{(u, v, w) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : w \neq 0\}$. Define a linearly independent set of vector fields $\{e_i : 1 \leq i \leq 3\}$ on the manifold M given by

$$e_1 = e^{2w} \frac{\partial}{\partial u}, \quad e_2 = e^{2w} \frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \quad e_3 = \frac{\partial}{\partial w}.$$

Let us define the Riemannian metric *g* on *M* by

$$g(e_i, e_j) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{for } i = j, \\ 0, & \text{for } i \neq j, \end{cases}$$

for all i, j = 1, 2, 3. Now considering $e_3 = \xi$, let us take the 1-form η , on the manifold M, defined by $\eta(U) = g(U, e_3)$, for all $U \in TM$. Then it can be observed that $\eta(\xi) = 1$. Let us define the (1, 1) tensor field ϕ on M as

$$\phi(e_1) = e_2, \quad \phi(e_2) = -e_1, \quad \phi(e_3) = 0.$$

Using the linearity of g and ϕ it can be easily checked that

$$\phi^2(U) = -U + \eta(U)\xi, \ g(\phi U, \phi V) = g(U, V) - \eta(U)\eta(V), \ \forall U, V \in TM.$$

Hence the structure (g, ϕ, ξ, η) defines an almost contact metric structure on the manifold *M*. Now, using the definitions of Lie bracket, after some direct computations we get

$$[e_1, e_2] = 0, \quad [e_1, e_3] = -2e_1, \quad [e_2, e_3] = -2e_2.$$

Again the Riemannian connection ∇ of the metric *g* is defined by the well-known Koszul's formula, which is given by

$$2g(\nabla_X Y, Z) = Xg(Y, Z) + Yg(Z, X) - Zg(X, Y) - g(X, [Y, Z]) + g(Y, [Z, X]) + g(Z, [X, Y]).$$

Using the above formula one can easily calculate that

$$egin{array}{lll}
abla_{e_1}e_1 = 2e_3, &
abla_{e_1}e_2 = 0, &
abla_{e_1}e_3 = -2e_1, \
abla_{e_2}e_1 = 0, &
abla_{e_2}e_2 = 2e_3, &
abla_{e_2}e_3 = -2e_2, \
abla_{e_3}e_1 = 0, &
abla_{e_3}e_2 = 0, &
abla_{e_3}e_3 = 0 \end{array}$$

Thus from the above relations it follows that the manifold (M,g) is a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold. Now using the well-known formula $R(X,Y)Z = \nabla_X \nabla_Y Z - \nabla_Y \nabla_X Z - \nabla_{[X,Y]} Z$ the non-vanishing components of the Riemannian curvature tensor R can be easily obtained as

$$R(e_1, e_2)e_2 = R(e_1, e_3)e_3 = -4e_1,$$

$$R(e_2, e_3)e_3 = R(e_3, e_1)e_1 = -4e_2,$$

$$R(e_3, e_2)e_2 = 4e_2, \quad R(e_2, e_1)e_1 = 4e_3.$$
Hence we can calculate the components of the Ricci tensor as follows

$$S(e_1, e_1) = 0$$
, $S(e_2, e_2) = 0$, $S(e_3, e_3) = -8$

Therefore in view of the above values of the Ricci tensor, from the equation (1) we can calculate $\lambda = -2$ and $\mu = 6$. Hence we can say that the data $(g, \xi, -2, 6)$ defines an η -Einstein soliton on the trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g). Also we can see that the manifold (M, g) is a manifold of constant scalar curvature r = -8 and hence the theorem 1 is verified.

Next we consider a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) and assume that it admits an η -Einstein soliton (g, V, λ, μ) such that V is pointwise collinear with ξ , i.e. $V = b\xi$ for some function b. Then from the equation (1) it follows that

$$bg(\nabla_X\xi,Y) + (Xb)\eta(Y) + bg(\nabla_Y\xi,X) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X,Y) + (2\lambda - r)g(X,Y) + 2\mu\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0.$$

Then using the equation (6) in above we arrive at

$$(2b\beta + 2\lambda - r)g(X,Y) + (Xb)\eta(Y) + (Yb)\eta(X) + 2S(X,Y) + 2(b\beta + \mu)\eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0.$$
(19)

Replacing *Y* = ξ in the above equation yields

$$(Xb) + (\xi b)\eta(X) + 2S(X,\xi) + (2\lambda + 2\mu - r)\eta(X) = 0.$$
 (20)

Again taking $X = \xi$ in (20) and by virtue of (11) we arrive at $2(\xi b) = (r - 2\lambda - 2\mu) - 4(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)$. Using this value in (20) and recalling (11), we can write

$$db = \left[\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu - 2(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)\right]\eta.$$
(21)

Now taking exterior differentiation on both sides of (21) and using the famous Poincare's lemma, i.e. $d^2 = 0$, finally we arrive at $r = 2\lambda + 2\mu + 4(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)$. Therefore, the equation (21) gives us db = 0, i.e. the function *b* is constant. Then the equation (19) reduces to

$$S(X,Y) = \left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - b\beta\right)g(X,Y) + (b\beta - \mu)\eta(X)\eta(Y)$$

for all $X, Y \in TM$. Hence we can state the following result.

Theorem 2. If a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) admits an η -Einstein soliton (g, V, λ, μ) such that *V* is pointwise collinear with ξ , then *V* is constant multiple of ξ and the manifold (M, g) becomes an η -Einstein manifold of constant scalar curvature $r = 2\lambda + 2\mu + 4(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)$.

3 η-Einstein solitons on trans-Sasakian 3-manifolds with Codazzi type and cyclic parallel Ricci tensor

The purpose of this section is to study η -Einstein solitons in trans-Sasakian 3-manifolds having certain special types of Ricci tensor, namely Codazzi type Ricci tensor and cyclic parallel Ricci tensor.

Definition 2 ([9]). A trans-Sasakian 3-manifold is said to have Codazzi type Ricci tensor if its Ricci tensor S is non-zero and satisfies the following relation

$$(\nabla_X S)(Y,Z) = (\nabla_Y S)(X,Z), \quad \forall X, Y, Z \in TM.$$
(22)

Let us consider a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold having Codazzi type Ricci tensor and admits an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ , λ , μ), then equation (14) holds. Now covariantly differentiating (14) with respect to an arbitrary vector field X and then using (7) we get

$$(\nabla_X S)(Y,Z) = 2(\beta - \mu)[\eta(Y)(-\alpha g(\phi X, Z) + \beta g(\phi X, \phi Z)) + \eta(Z)(-\alpha g(\phi X, Y) + \beta g(\phi X, \phi Y))].$$
(23)

Similarly we can compute

$$(\nabla_{Y}S)(X,Z) = 2(\beta - \mu)[\eta(X)(-\alpha g(\phi Y,Z) + \beta g(\phi Y,\phi Z)) + \eta(Z)(-\alpha g(\phi Y,X) + \beta g(\phi Y,\phi X))].$$
(24)

Since the manifold has Codazzi type Ricci tensor, using (23) and (24) in the (22) and then recalling (4) we arrive at

$$2(\beta - \mu)[\eta(Y)(-\alpha g(\phi X, Z) + \beta g(X, Z)) - \eta(X)(-\alpha g(\phi Y, Z) + \beta g(Y, Z)) - 2\alpha \eta(Z)g(\phi X, Y)] = 0.$$
(25)

Putting *Z* = ξ in above and in view of (3) we finally obtain

$$4\alpha(\mu - \beta)g(\phi X, Y) = 0 \tag{26}$$

forall *X*, *Y* \in *TM*. Therefore from (25) we can conclude that either $\alpha = 0$ or $\mu = \beta$. Hence we have the following result.

Theorem 3. Let (M, g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the Ricci tensor of the manifold is of Codazzi type then the manifold becomes a β -Kenmotsu manifold provided $\mu \neq \beta$.

Now using $\alpha = 0$ in equation (18) we get $\lambda = -\beta(\beta + 1)$. Thus we can state the following assertion.

Corollary 1. Let (M,g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g,ξ,λ,μ) with $\mu \neq \beta$. If the Ricci tensor of the manifold is of Codazzi type then the soliton is shrinking if $\beta < -1$ or $\beta > 0$; steady if $\beta = -1$ or $\beta = 0$; and expanding if $-1 < \beta < 0$ respectively.

Again from the (25) we can write that $\mu = \beta$ if $\alpha \neq 0$. Then from equation (14) we obtain

$$S(X,Y) = \left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta\right)g(X,Y)$$
(27)

for all $X, Y \in TM$. Then contracting the equation (26) we get $r = 6\lambda + 6\beta$. Hence in view of this and (26) we have the following result.

Theorem 4. Let (M, g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the Ricci tensor of the manifold is of Codazzi type then the manifold becomes an Einstein manifold of constant scalar curvature $r = 6\lambda + 6\beta$ provided $\alpha \neq 0$.

Definition 3 ([9]). A trans-Sasakian 3-manifold is said to have cyclic parallel Ricci tensor if its Ricci tensor S is non-zero and satisfies the following relation

$$(\nabla_X S)(Y,Z) + (\nabla_Y S)(Z,X) + (\nabla_Z S)(X,Y) = 0 \quad \forall X,Y,Z \in TM.$$
(28)

Let us consider a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold, having cyclic parallel Ricci tensor, admits an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ , λ , μ), then equation (14) holds. Now taking covariant differentiation of (14) and using (7) we obtain relations (23) and (24). In a similar manner we get the following

$$(\nabla_Z S)(X,Y) = 2(\beta - \mu)[\eta(X)(-\alpha g(\phi Z,Y) + \beta g(\phi Z,\phi Y)) + \eta(Y)(-\alpha g(\phi Z,X) + \beta g(\phi Z,\phi X))].$$
(29)

Now since the manifold has cyclic parallel Ricci tensor, using the values from (23), (24) and (29) in the equation (28) and then making use of (4) we arrive at

$$4\beta(\beta-\mu)[\eta(X)g(\phi Y,\phi Z)+\eta(Y)g(\phi Z,\phi X)+\eta(Z)g(\phi X,\phi Y)]=0.$$

Replacing *Z* = ξ in the above equation yields

$$4\beta(\beta - \mu)g(\phi X, \phi Y) = 0 \tag{30}$$

for all $X, Y \in TM$. Since $g(\phi X, \phi Y) \neq 0$ always, the above equation implies that either $\beta = 0$ or $\mu = \beta$. Thus we can state the following result.

Theorem 5. Let (M, g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold has cyclic parallel Ricci tensor, then the manifold becomes an α -Sasakian manifold provided $\mu \neq \beta$.

Now using $\beta = 0$ in equation (18) we get $\lambda = \alpha^2 > 0$. Therefore we have the following assertion.

Corollary 2. Let (M,g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) with $\mu \neq \beta$. If the manifold has cyclic parallel Ricci tensor then the soliton is expanding.

Again if $\beta \neq 0$ then from (30) it follows that $\mu = \beta$. Therefore after a similar calculation like equation (27) we can state the following assertion.

Theorem 6. Let (M, g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold has cyclic parallel Ricci tensor, then the manifold becomes an Einstein manifold of constant scalar curvature $r = 6\lambda + 6\beta$ provided $\beta \neq 0$.

4 η -Einstein solitons on trans-Sasakian 3-manifolds satisfying $R(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$ and $W_2(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$

Let us first consider a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold, which admits an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) and the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $R(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$. Then for all $X, Y, Z \in TM$ we can write

$$S(R(\xi, X)Y, Z) + S(Y, R(\xi, X)Z) = 0.$$
(31)

Now using (14) in (31) we get

$$\binom{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta g(R(\xi, X)Y, Z) + (\beta - \mu)\eta(R(\xi, X)Y)\eta(Z)$$

+ $\left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta\right)g(R(\xi, X)Z, Y) + (\beta - \mu)\eta(R(\xi, X)Z)\eta(Y) = 0.$

In view of (9) the previous equation becomes

$$(\alpha^{2} - \beta^{2})(\beta - \mu)[g(X, Y)\eta(Z) + g(X, Z)\eta(Y) - 2\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z)] = 0$$

Putting *Z* = ξ in the above equation and recalling (4), we obtain

$$(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)(\beta - \mu)g(\phi X, \phi Y) = 0$$
(32)

for all $X, Y \in TM$. Since $g(\phi X, \phi X) \neq 0$ always and for non-trivial case $\alpha^2 \neq \beta^2$, we can conclude from (32) that $\mu = \beta$. Then from equation (14) we obtain

$$S(X,Y) = \left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta\right)g(X,Y)$$
(33)

for all $X, Y \in TM$. Then contracting (33) we get $r = 6\lambda + 6\beta$. Hence in view of this and equation (33) we have the following result.

Theorem 7. Let (M, g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $R(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$, then the manifold becomes an Einstein manifold of constant scalar curvature $r = 6\lambda + 6\beta$.

Our next result of this section is on W_2 -curvature tensor. It is an important curvature tensor, which was introduced in 1970 by G.P. Pokhariyal and R.S. Mishra [16]. For this let us recall the definition of W_2 -curvature tensor.

Definition 4. The W_2 -curvature tensor in a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) is defined as

$$W_2(X,Y)Z = R(X,Y)Z + \frac{1}{2} \Big[g(X,Z)QY - g(Y,Z)QX \Big].$$
(34)

Now assume that (M, g) is a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) and also the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $W_2(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$. Then we can write

$$S(W_2(\xi, X)Y, Z) + S(Y, W_2(\xi, X)Z) = 0, \quad \forall X, Y, Z \in TM.$$

In view of (14) the above equation becomes

$$\left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta\right) \left[g(W_2(\xi, X)Y, Z) + g(W_2(\xi, X)Z, Y) \right] + (\beta - \mu) \left[\eta(W_2(\xi, X)Y)\eta(Z) + \eta(W_2(\xi, X)Z)\eta(Y) \right] = 0.$$
(35)

Again from (14) it follows that

$$QX = \left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta\right)X + (\beta - \mu)\eta(X)\xi,$$
(36)

which implies

$$Q\xi = \left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu\right)\xi.$$
(37)

Replacing $X = \xi$ in (34) and then using equations (9), (36) and (37) we obtain

$$W_{2}(\xi, Y)Z = Bg(Y, Z)\xi - A\eta(Z)Y + (A - B)\eta(Y)\eta(Z),$$
(38)

where $A = (\alpha^2 - \beta^2) - \frac{1}{2}(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta)$ and $B = (\alpha^2 - \beta^2) - \frac{1}{2}(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu)$. Taking inner product of (38) with respect to the vector field ξ yields

$$\eta(W_2(\xi, Y)Z) = B[g(Y, Z) - \eta(Y)\eta(Z)].$$
(39)

Using (38) and (39) in (35) and then taking $Z = \xi$ we arrive at

$$(A-B)\left[2B-\left(\frac{r}{2}-\lambda-\beta\right)\right]\left[g(X,Y)-\eta(X)\eta(Y)\right]=0,$$

which in view of (4) implies

$$(A-B)\left[2B - \left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta\right)\right]g(\phi X, \phi Y) = 0$$
(40)

for all $X, Y \in TM$. Since $g(\phi X, \phi X) \neq 0$ always, we can conclude from (40) that either A = B or $2B = \frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta$. Thus recalling the values of *A* and *B* it implies that either $\mu = \beta$ or

$$2(\alpha^2 - \beta^2) = r - 2\lambda - \mu - \beta. \tag{41}$$

Now for the case $\mu = \beta$, proceeding similarly as the equation (33) we can say that the manifold becomes an Einstein manifold. Again combining (41) with (16) we get

$$r = 2\lambda + 2\beta. \tag{42}$$

Therefore we can state the following assertion.

Theorem 8. Let (M, g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $W_2(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$, then either the manifold becomes an Einstein manifold or it is a manifold of constant scalar curvature $r = 2\lambda + 2\beta$.

Again in view of (17), equation (42) implies $\lambda = -\frac{1}{2}(\mu + \beta)$. Hence we have the following result.

Corollary 3. Let (M,g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g,ξ,λ,μ) with $\mu \neq \beta$. If the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $W_2(\xi,X) \cdot S = 0$, then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as $\mu < -\beta$, $\mu = -\beta$ or $\mu > -\beta$, respectively.

5 Einstein semi-symmetric trans-Sasakian 3-manifolds admitting η-Einstein solitons

Definition 5. A trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) is called Einstein semi-symmetric [17] if R.E = 0, where E is the Einstein tensor given by

$$E(X,Y) = S(X,Y) - \frac{r}{3}g(X,Y)$$
(43)

for all vector fields $X, Y \in TM$ and r is the scalar curvature of the manifold.

Now consider a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold is Einstein semi-symmetric, i.e. the manifold satisfies the curvature condition R.E = 0. Then for all vector fields $X, Y, Z, W \in TM$ we can write E(R(X, Y)Z, W) + E(Z, R(X, Y)W) = 0. In view of (43) the last equation becomes

$$S(R(X,Y)Z,W) + S(Z,R(X,Y)W) = \frac{r}{3} \Big[g(R(X,Y)Z,W) + g(Z,R(X,Y)W) \Big].$$
(44)

Replacing $X = Z = \xi$ in (44) and using (9), (10) we arrive at

$$(\alpha^{2} - \beta^{2})S(Y, W) = (\alpha^{2} - \beta^{2})[\eta(Y)S(\xi, W) + \eta(W)S(\xi, Y) - g(Y, W)S(\xi, \xi)]$$

So, now in view of (11) the above equation finally yields

$$S(Y,W) = -2(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)g(Y,W) + 4(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)\eta(Y)\eta(W)$$
(45)

for all *Y*, *W* \in *TM*. This implies that the manifold is an η -Einstein manifold.

Lemma 1. An Einstein semi-symmetric trans-Sasakian 3-manifold is an η-Einstein manifold.

Now let us assume that the Einstein semi-symmetric trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) admits an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . Then equation (14) holds and combining (14) with the above equation (45) we get $r = 2\lambda + \mu + \beta$. Again recalling (17) in the last equation we have $\lambda = -\frac{1}{4}(\mu + 3\beta)$.

Theorem 9. Let (M, g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold is Einstein semi-symmetric, then the manifold becomes an η -Einstein manifold of constant scalar curvature $r = 2\lambda + \mu + \beta$ and the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as $\mu < 3\beta$, $\mu = 3\beta$ or $\mu > 3\beta$ respectively.

6 η -Einstein solitons on trans-Sasakian 3-manifolds satisfying $B(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$

In 1949, S. Bochner [4] introduced the concept of the well-known Bochner curvature tensor merely as a Kähler analogue of the Weyl conformal curvature tensor but the geometric significance of it in the light of Boothby-Wangs fibration was presented later by D.E. Blair [2]. The notion of C-Bochner curvature tensor in a Sasakian manifold was introduced by M. Matsumoto, G. Chūman [13] in 1969. The C-Bochner curvature tensor in trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) is given by

$$\begin{split} B(X,Y)Z &= R(X,Y)Z + \frac{1}{6} \Big[g(X,Z)QY - S(Y,Z) - g(Y,Z)QX + S(X,Z)Y + g(\phi X,Z)Q\phi Y \\ &- S(\phi Y,Z)\phi X - g(\phi Y,Z)Q\phi X + S(\phi X,Z)\phi Y + 2S(\phi X,Y)\phi Z + 2g(\phi X,Y))Q\phi Z \\ &+ \eta(Y)\eta(Z)QX - \eta(Y)S(X,Z)\xi + \eta(X)S(Y,Z)\xi - \eta(X)\eta(Z)QY \Big] \\ &- \frac{D+2}{6} \Big[g(\phi X,Z)\phi Y - g(\phi Y,Z)\phi X + 2g(\phi X,Y)\phi Z \Big] \\ &+ \frac{D}{6} \Big[\eta(Y)g(X,Z)\xi - \eta(Y)\eta(Z)X + \eta(X)\eta(Z)Y - \eta(X)g(Y,Z)\xi \Big] \\ &- \frac{D-4}{6} \Big[g(X,Z)Y - g(Y,Z)X \Big], \end{split}$$
(46)

where $D = \frac{r+2}{4}$.

Let us consider a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g), which admits an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) and also the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $B(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$. Then for all $X, Y, Z \in TM$ we can write

$$S(B(\xi, X)Y, Z) + S(Y, B(\xi, X)Z) = 0.$$
(47)

Now using (14) in (47) we get

$$\left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta\right) \left[g(B(\xi, X)Y, Z) + g(B(\xi, X)Z, Y)\right] + (\beta - \mu) \left[\eta(B(\xi, X)Y)\eta(Z) + \eta(B(\xi, X)Z)\eta(Y)\right] = 0.$$

$$(48)$$

Again from (14) it follows that $QX = (\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \beta)X + (\beta - \mu)\eta(X)\xi$, which implies

$$Q\xi = \left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu\right)\xi.$$
(49)

Also taking $X = \xi$ in (46) we obtain

$$B(\xi, Y)Z = R(\xi, Y)Z + \frac{1}{6} \Big[S(\xi, Z)Y - g(Y, Z)Q\xi + \eta(Y)\eta(Z)Q\xi - \eta(Y)S(\xi, Z)\xi \Big] \\ + \frac{4}{6} \Big[\eta(Z)Y - g(Y, Z)\xi \Big].$$

Using equations (9), (15) and (49) in the above equation yields

$$B(\xi, Y)Z = \left[(\alpha^2 - \beta^2) - \frac{1}{6} \left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu \right) - \frac{4}{6} \right] [g(Y, Z)\xi - \eta(Z)Y].$$
(50)

In view of (50) the equation (48) becomes

$$\left[(\alpha^2 - \beta^2) - \frac{1}{6} \left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu \right) - \frac{4}{6} \right] (\beta - \mu) [g(X, Y)\eta(Z) + g(X, Z)\eta(Y) - 2\eta(X)\eta(Y)\eta(Z)] = 0.$$

Replacing *Z* = ξ in the above equation and recalling (4), finally we arrive at

$$\left[(\alpha^2 - \beta^2) - \frac{1}{6} \left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu \right) - \frac{4}{6} \right] (\beta - \mu) g(\phi X, \phi Y) = 0$$
(51)

for all vector fields $X, Y \in TM$. Hence from (51) we can conclude that either

$$\left[(\alpha^2 - \beta^2) - \frac{1}{6} \left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu \right) - \frac{4}{6} \right] = 0$$
(52)

or $\mu = \beta$. Also for $\mu = \beta$ proceeding similarly as equation (27) it can be easily shown that the manifold becomes an Einstein manifold. Again if $\mu \neq \beta$ using (18) in (52) we have

$$r = 10\lambda + 2\mu + 12\beta - 8, \tag{53}$$

which implies that the manifold becomes a manifold of constant scalar curvature. Therefore we can state the following assertion.

Theorem 10. Let (M,g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $B(\xi, X) \cdot S = 0$, then either the manifold is an Einstein manifold or it is a manifold of constant scalar curvature $r = 10\lambda + 2\mu + 12\beta - 8$.

Now for the case $\mu \neq \beta$, using the equation (17) in (53) we obtain $\lambda = 2(1 - \beta)$.

Corollary 4. Let (M,g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g,ξ,λ,μ) with $\mu \neq \beta$. If the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $B(\xi,X) \cdot S = 0$, then the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as $\beta < 1$, $\beta = 1$ or $\beta > 1$ respectively.

7 η -Einstein solitons on trans-Sasakian 3-manifolds satisfying $S(\xi, X) \cdot R = 0$

In this section, we study the curvature condition $S(\xi, X) \cdot R = 0$, where by \cdot we denote the derivation of the tensor algebra at each point of the tangent space as follows

$$S((\xi, X) \cdot R)(Y, Z)W := ((\xi \wedge_S X) \cdot R)(Y, Z)W$$

$$:= (\xi \wedge_S X)R(Y, Z)W + R((\xi \wedge_S X)Y, Z)W$$

$$+ R(Y, (\xi \wedge_S X)Z)W + R(Y, Z)(\xi \wedge_S X)W,$$
(54)

where the endomorphism $X \wedge_S Y$ is defined by $(X \wedge_S Y)Z := S(Y, Z)X - S(X, Z)Y$.

Now let us consider a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g), which admits an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) and also the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $S(\xi, X) \cdot R = 0$. Then using this condition and the equation (54) we can write

$$S(X, R(Y, Z)W)\xi - S(\xi, R(Y, Z)W)X + S(X, Y)R(\xi, Z)W - S(\xi, Y)R(X, Z)W + S(X, Z)R(Y, \xi)W - S(\xi, Z)R(Y, X)W + S(X, W)R(Y, Z)\xi - S(\xi, W)R(Y, Z)X = 0$$
(55)

for all vector fields $X, Y, Z, W \in TM$. Taking inner product of (55) with the vector field ξ and then replacing $W = \xi$ we obtain

$$\begin{split} S(X,R(Y,Z)\xi) &- S(\xi,R(Y,Z)\xi)\eta(X) + S(X,Y)\eta(R(\xi,Z)\xi) - S(\xi,Y)\eta(R(X,Z)\xi) \\ &+ S(X,Z)\eta(R(Y,\xi)\xi) - S(\xi,Z)\eta(R(Y,X)\xi) \\ &+ S(X,\xi)\eta(R(Y,Z)\xi) - S(\xi,\xi)\eta(R(Y,Z)X) = 0. \end{split}$$

In view of (8) and (10) the foregoing equation becomes

$$(\alpha^{2} - \beta^{2})[S(X,Y)\eta(Z) - S(X,Z)\eta(Y) - S(\xi,Y)\eta(X)\eta(Z) + S(\xi,Z)\eta(X)\eta(Y)] - S(\xi,\xi)\eta(R(Y,Z)X) = 0.$$
(56)

Putting $Y = \xi$ in (56) and then recalling (9) we get

$$\begin{aligned} (\alpha^2 - \beta^2) \big[S(X,\xi)\eta(Z) - S(X,Z) - S(\xi,\xi)\eta(X)\eta(Z) \\ &+ S(\xi,Z)\eta(X) - S(\xi,\xi) \big[g(X,Z) - \eta(X)\eta(Z) \big] \big] = 0. \end{aligned}$$

Using equations (14) and (15) in the previous equation yields

$$(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)[(r - 2\lambda - 2\mu + \beta)\eta(X)\eta(Z) - (r - 2\lambda - \mu - \beta)g(X, Z)] = 0.$$

Replacing *X* = ξ in above, we arrive at

$$(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)(2\beta - \mu)\eta(X) = 0, \quad \forall X \in TM.$$
(57)

Since for non-trivial case $\alpha^2 \neq \beta^2$, from the above equation (57) it follows that $\mu = 2\beta$. Therefore in view of this and recalling (17) we finally obtain $r = 6\lambda + 8\beta$. Therefore we can state the following assertion.

Theorem 11. Let (M, g) be a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold admitting an η -Einstein soliton (g, ξ, λ, μ) . If the manifold satisfies the curvature condition $S(\xi, X) \cdot R = 0$, then it becomes a manifold of constant scalar curvature $r = 6\lambda + 8\beta$.

8 η -Einstein solitons on trans-Sasakian 3-manifolds with torse-forming vector field

This section is devoted to study the nature of η -Einstein solitons on trans-Sasakian 3-manifolds with torse-forming vector field.

Definition 6. A vector field *V* on a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold is said to be torse-forming vector field [20] if

$$\nabla_X V = f X + \gamma(X) V, \tag{58}$$

where *f* is a smooth function and γ is a 1-form.

Now let (g, ξ, λ, μ) be an η -Einstein soliton on a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) and assume that the Reeb vector field ξ of the manifold is a torse-forming vector field. Then ξ being a torse-forming vector field, by definiton from equation (58) we have

$$\nabla_X \xi = f X + \gamma(X) \xi, \qquad \forall X \in TM,$$
(59)

f being a smooth function and γ is a 1-form.

Recalling (6) and taking inner product on both sides with ξ we have

$$g(\nabla_X \xi, \xi) = (\beta - 1)\eta(X).$$
(60)

Again from the equation (59), applying inner product with ξ we obtain

$$g(\nabla_X \xi, \xi) = f\eta(X) + \gamma(X).$$
(61)

Combining (60) and (61) we get $\gamma = (\beta - 1 - f)\eta$. Thus from (59) it implies that for torse-forming vector field ξ in a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold we have

$$\nabla_X \xi = f(X - \eta(X)\xi) + (\beta - 1)\eta(X)\xi.$$
(62)

Therefore using (62) from the formula of Lie differentiation it follows

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g)(X,Y) = g(\nabla_X\xi,Y) + g(\nabla_Y\xi,X) = 2f[g(X,Y) - \eta(X)\eta(Y)] + 2(\beta - 1)\eta(X)\eta(Y).$$
(63)

Since (g, ξ, λ, μ) is an η -Einstein soliton, the equation (1) holds. So in view of (63), equation (1) reduces to

$$S(X,Y) = \left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda + f\right)g(X,Y) + (f - \mu - \beta + 1)\eta(X)\eta(Y).$$
(64)

This implies that the manifold is an η -Einstein manifold. Again putting $Y = \xi$ in (64) we get

$$S(X,\xi) = \left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu - \beta + 1\right)\eta(X).$$
(65)

Combining (65) with (11) gives us

$$\left(\frac{r}{2} - \lambda - \mu - \beta + 1\right) = 2(\alpha^2 - \beta^2). \tag{66}$$

Again tracing out the equation (64) we obtain

$$r = 6\lambda + 2\mu + 4f + 2\beta - 2.$$
 (67)

Using the above equation (67) in (66), finally we get $\lambda = f - (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)$. Therefore we have the following result.

Theorem 12. Let (g, ξ, λ, μ) be an η -Einstein soliton on a trans-Sasakian 3-manifold (M, g) with torse-forming vector field ξ . Then the manifold becomes an η -Einstein manifold and the soliton is expanding, steady or shrinking according as $f > (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)$, $f = (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)$ or $f < (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)$ respectively.

References

- Blaga A.M. On gradient η-Einstein solitons. Kragujevac J. Math. 2018, 42 (2), 229–237. doi:10.5937/KgJMath1802229B
- [2] Blair D.E. On the geometric meaning of the Bochner tensor. Geom. Dedicata 1975, 4 (1), 33–38.
- [3] Blair D.E. Riemannian geometry of contact and symplectic manifolds. Birkhäuser, Second Edition, 2010.
- [4] Bochner S. Curvature and Betti numbers. II. Ann. of Math. (2) 1949, 50 (1), 77-93. doi:10.2307/1969353
- [5] Călin C., Crasmareanu M. η-Ricci solitons on Hopf hypersurfaces in complex space forms. Rev. Roumaine Math. Pures Appl. 2012, 57 (1), 53–63.
- [6] Cho J.T., Kimura M. *Ricci solitons and real hypersurfaces in a complex space forms*. Tohoku Math. J. (2) 2009, 61 (2), 205–212. doi:10.2748/tmj/1245849443
- [7] Catino G., Mazzieri L. Gradient Einstein solitons. Nonlinear Anal. 2016, 132, 66–94. doi:10.1016/j.na.2015.10.021
- [8] Dutta T., Basu N., Bhattacharyya A. Almost conformal Ricci solituons on 3-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifold. Hacet. J. Math. Stat. 2016, 45 (5), 1379–1392. doi:10.15672/HJMS.20164514287
- [9] Gray A. Einstein like manifolds which are not Einstein. Goem. Dedicata 1978, 7 (3), 259–280.
- [10] Gray A., Hervella L.M. The sixteen classes of almost Hermitian manifolds and their linear invariants. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4) 1980, 123, 35–58. doi:10.1007/BF01796539
- [11] Hamilton R.S. Three-manifolds with positive Ricci curvature. J. Differential Geom. 1982, 17 (2), 255–306. doi:10.4310/jdg/1214436922
- [12] Marrero J.C. The local structure of trans-Sasakian manifolds. Ann. Mat. Pura. Appl. (4) 1992, 162, 77–86. doi:10.1007/BF01760000
- [13] Matsumoto M., Chūman G. On the C-Bochner curvature tensor. TRU Math. 1969, 5 (1), 21–30.
- [14] Oubina J.A. New class of almost contact metric structures. Publ. Math. Debrecen. 1985, 32 (4), 187–193.
- [15] Pahan S. η-Ricci solitons on 3-dimensional Trans-Sasakian manifolds. Cubo 2020, 22 (1), 23–37. doi:10.4067/S0719-06462020000100023
- [16] Pokhariyal G.P., Mishra R.S. Curvature tensor's and their relativistic significance. Yokohoma Math. J. 1970, 21, 105–108.
- [17] Szabó Z.I. *Structure theorems on Riemannian spaces satisfying* R(X, Y)R = 0. *I. Local version.* J. Differential Geom. 1982, 17, 531–582. doi:10.4310/jdg/1214437486
- [18] Turan M., De U.C., Yildiz A. Ricci solitons and gradient Ricci solitons in three-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifolds. Filomat 2012, 26 (2), 363–370. doi:10.2298/FIL1202363T
- [19] De U.C., Tripathi M.M. Ricci tensor in 3-dimensional Trans-Sasakian manifolds. Kyungpook Math. J. 2003, 43 (2), 247–255.
- [20] Yano K. On torse-forming direction in Riemannian space. Proc. Imp. Acad. Tokyo. 1944, 20 (1), 340–345.

Received 03.09.2020 Revised 14.01.2021

Ключові слова і фрази: солітон Айнштайна, η-солітон Айнштайна, транс-Сасакяновий многовид, тензор Річчі типу Кодацці, С-тензор кривизни Бохнера.

Гангулі Д., Дей С., Бхаттачарія А. *Про транс-Сасакянові* З-*многовиди як η-солітони Айнштайна* // Карпатські матем. публ. — 2021. — Т.13, №2. — С. 460–474.

Ця стаття має на меті обговорення класу 3-вимірних транс-Сасакянових многовидів, що допускають η -солітони Айнштайна. Ми вивчили η -солітони Айнштайна на 3-вимірних транс-Сасакянових многовидах, де тензори Річчі мають тип Кодащі та є циклічно паралельними. Ми також обговорили деякі умови кривизни, що допускають η -солітони Айнштайна на 3-вимірних транс-Сасакянових многовидах, а векторне поле торцеутворююче. Ми також показали приклад 3-вимірного транс-Сасакянового многовиду відносно η -солітону Айнштайна для перевірки наших результатів.